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Certain disclosures contained herein including, without limitation, certain information appearing in “Item 4 —
Information on the Company”, and in particular “Item 4 — Exploration & Production”, “Item 5 — Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects” and “Item 11 — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” contain forward-
looking statements regarding future events and the future results of Eni that are based on current expectations, estimates,
forecasts, and projections about the industries in which Eni operates and the beliefs and assumptions of the management of
Eni. Eni may also make forward-looking statements in other written materials, including other documents filed with or
furnished to the US. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In addition, Eni’s senior management may make
forward-looking statements orally to analysts, investors, representatives of the media and others. In particular, among other
statements, certain statements with regard to management objectives, trends in results of operations, margins, costs, return on
capital, risk management and competition are forward looking in nature. Words such as ‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘targets’,
‘goals’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, ‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, variations of such words, and similar expressions are
intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject
to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that will occur in the future. Therefore, Eni’s actual results may differ materially and adversely from those
expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in this Annual Report on Form 20-F under the section entitled “Risk factors” and
elsewhere. Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of Eni speak only as of the date they are made. Eni does not
undertake to update forward-looking statements to reflect any changes in Eni’s expectations with regard thereto or any
changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based. The reader should, however, consult

any further disclosures Eni may make in documents it files with the SEC.
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS

In this Form 20-F, the terms “Eni”, the “Group”, or the “Company” refer to the parent company Eni SpA and its
consolidated subsidiaries and, unless the context otherwise requires, their respective predecessor companies. All references to
“Italy” or the “State” are references to the Republic of Italy, all references to the “Government” are references to the
government of the Republic of Italy. For definitions of certain oil and gas terms used herein and certain conversions, see
“Glossary” and “Conversion Table”.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Eni, included in this Annual Report, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Unless otherwise indicated, any reference herein to “Consolidated Financial Statements” is to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Eni (including the Notes thereto) included herein.

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references herein to “dollars”, “$”, “U.S. dollars”, “US$” and
“USD” are to the currency of the United States, and references to “euro”, “EUR” and “€” are to the currency of the European
Monetary Union.

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references herein to “Division” and “segment” are to any of
the following Eni’s business activities: “Exploration & Production” (or “E&P”), “Global Gas & LNG Portfolio” (or “GGP”),
“Enilive, Refining and Chemicals” (or “Enilive, Refining & C”), “Plenitude & Power” and “Corporate and Other activities”.

References to Versalis or Chemical are to Eni’s chemical activities which are managed through its fully-owned subsidiary
Versalis and Versalis’ controlled entities.

References to Plenitude are to Eni’s retail gas and power activities and renewables business which are managed through
its fully-owned subsidiary Plenitude and Plenitude’s controlled entities. The results of the operations of Plenitude are included
in the segment information “Plenitude & Power” for financial reporting purposes.

Exhibit 99 which contains Eni’s disclosure pursuant to the EU Taxonomy regulation does not form part of this Form 20-F
and is not incorporated herein.

STATEMENTS REGARDING COMPETITIVE POSITION

Statements made in “Item 4 — Information on the Company” referring to Eni’s competitive position are based on the
Company’s belief, and in some cases rely on a range of sources, including investment analysts’ reports, independent market
studies and Eni’s internal assessment of market share based on publicly available information about the financial results and
performance of market participants. Market share estimates contained in this document are based on management estimates
unless otherwise indicated.
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GLOSSARY

Below is a selection of the most frequently used terms throughout this Annual Report on Form 20-E Any reference herein
to a non-GAAP measure and to its most directly comparable GAAP measure shall be intended as a reference to a non-IFRS
measure and the comparable IFRS measure.

Financial terms

Identified net gains (losses)

Leverage

Net borrowings

TSR
(Total Shareholder Return)

Identified net gains (losses) include certain significant income or charges pertaining to either:
(1) infrequent or unusual events and transactions, being identified as non-recurring items
under such circumstances; (ii) certain events or transactions which are not considered to be
representative of the ordinary course of business, as in the case of environmental provisions,
restructuring charges, asset impairments or write ups and gains or losses on divestments
even though they occurred in past periods or are likely to occur in future ones. Exchange rate
differences and derivatives relating to industrial activities and commercial payables and
receivables, particularly exchange rate derivatives to manage commodity pricing formulas
which are quoted in a currency other than the functional currency are reclassified in operating
profit with a corresponding adjustment to net finance charges, notwithstanding the handling
of foreign currency exchange risks is made centrally by netting off naturally-occurring
opposite positions and then dealing with any residual risk exposure in the derivative market.
Finally, special items include the accounting effects of fair-valued commodity derivatives
relating to commercial exposures: in addition to those which lack the criteria to be designed as
hedges, also those which are not eligible for the own use exemption, including the ineffective
portion of cash flow hedges, as well as the accounting effects of settled commodity and
exchange rates derivatives whenever it is deemed that the underlying transaction is expected
to occur in future reporting periods. Correspondently, special charges/gains also include the
evaluation effects relating to assets/liabilities utilized in a natural hedge relation to offset a
market risk, as in the case of accrued currency differences at finance debt denominated in a
currency other than the reporting currency, where the cash outflows for the reimbursement
are matched by highly probable cash inflows in the same currency. The deferral of both the
unrealized portion of fair-valued commodity and other derivatives and evaluation effects are
reversed to future reporting periods when the underlying transaction occurs.

A non-GAAP measure of the Company’s financial condition, calculated as the ratio between
net borrowings and shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling interest. For a discussion
of management’s view of the usefulness of this measure and its reconciliation with the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, “Ratio of total debt to total shareholders equity
(including non-controlling interest)” see “Item 5 — Financial Condition”.

Eni evaluates its financial condition by reference to “net borrowings”, which is a non-GAAP
measure. Eni calculates net borrowings as total finance debt less: cash, cash equivalents and
certain very liquid investments not related to operations, including among others non-
operating financing receivables and securities not related to operations. Non-operating
financing receivables consist of amounts due to Eni’s financing subsidiaries from banks and
other financing institutions and amounts due to other subsidiaries from banks for investing
purposes and deposits in escrow. Securities not related to operations consist primarily of
government and corporate securities. For a discussion of management’s view of the
usefulness of this measure and its reconciliation with the most directly comparable GAAP
measure, “Total debt” see “Item 5 — Financial condition”.

Management uses this measure to assess the total return on Eni’s shares. It is calculated on a
yearly basis, keeping account of the change in market price of Eni’s shares (at the beginning
and at end of year) and dividends distributed and reinvested at the ex-dividend date.

iv
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Business terms

ARERA (Italian Regulatory

The Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environment is the Italian

Authority for Energy, Networksindependent body which regulates, controls and monitors the electricity, gas and water sectors

and Environment) formerly
AEEGSI (Authority for
Electricity Gas and Water)

Associated gas

Average reserve life index
Barrel/BBL
BOE

Compounding

Concession contracts

Condensates

Consob

Contingent resources

Conversion capacity

Conversion index

Deep waters
Development
Enhanced recovery

Eni carbon efficiency index

and markets in Italy. The Authority’s role and purpose is to protect the interests of users and
consumers, promote competition and ensure efficient, cost-effective and profitable nationwide
services with satisfactory quality levels. Furthermore, since December 2017 the Authority also
has regulatory and control functions over the waste cycle, including sorted, urban and related
waste.

Associated gas is a natural gas found in contact with or dissolved in crude oil in the reservoir.
It can be further categorized as Gas-Cap Gas or Solution Gas.

Ratio between the amount of reserves at the end of the year and total production for the year.
Volume unit corresponding to 159 liters. A barrel of oil corresponds to about 0.137 metric tons.

Barrel of Oil Equivalent. It is used as a standard unit measure for oil and natural gas. The latter
is converted from standard cubic meters into barrels of oil equivalent using a certain coefficient
(see “Conversion Table” on page ix).

Activity specialized in production of semifinished products in granular form, resulting from the
combination of two or more chemical products.

Contracts currently applied mainly in Western countries regulating relationships between
states and oil companies with regards to hydrocarbon exploration and production. The
company holding the mining concession has an exclusive right on exploration, development
and production activities and for this reason it acquires a right to hydrocarbons extracted
against the payment of royalties on production and taxes on oil revenues to the state.

Condensates are a mixture of hydrocarbons that exists in the gaseous phase at original
reservoir temperature and pressure, but that, when produced, is in the liquid phase at surface
pressure and temperature.

The Italian National Commission for listed companies and the stock exchange (Commissione
Nazionale per le Societa e la Borsa).

Contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be
potentially recoverable from known accumulations, but the applied project(s) are not yet
considered mature enough for commercial development due to one or more contingencies.

Maximum amount of feedstock that can be processed in certain dedicated facilities of a refinery
to obtain finished products. Conversion facilities include catalytic crackers, hydrocrackers,
visbreaking units, and coking units.

Ratio of capacity of conversion facilities to primary distillation capacity. The higher the ratio,
the higher is the capacity of a refinery to obtain high value products from the heavy residue of
primary distillation.

Waters deeper than 200 meters.
Drilling and other post-exploration activities aimed at the production of oil and gas.
Techniques used to increase or stretch over time the production of wells.

Ratio between GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2 in tonnes CO5eq.) of the main industrial

activities operated by Eni divided by the productions (converted by homogeneity into barrels
of oil equivalent using Eni’s average conversion factors) of the single businesses of reference.
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EPC
EPCI

Exploration

FPSO
FSO
Greenhouse Gases (GHG)

Infilling wells

LNG

LPG
Margin

Mineral Potential

Natural gas liquids (NGL)

Net GHG Lifecycle Emissions

Net Carbon Footprint

Net Carbon Intensity

Network Code

Oilfield chemicals

Over/Under lifting

Plasmix

Engineering, Procurement and Construction.
Engineering, Procurement, Construction and Installation.

Oil and natural gas exploration that includes land surveys, geological and geophysical studies,
seismic data gathering and analysis and well drilling.

Floating Production Storage and Offloading System.
Floating Storage and Offloading System.

Gases in the atmosphere, transparent to solar radiation, that trap infrared radiation emitted by
the earth’s surface. The greenhouse gases relevant within Eni’s activities are carbon dioxide
(CO2), methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N20). GHG emissions are commonly reported in CO2
equivalent (CO2eq) according to Global Warming Potential values in line with IPCC AR4, 4th
Assessment Report.

Infilling wells are wells drilled in a producing area in order to improve the recovery of
hydrocarbons from the field and to maintain and/or increase production levels.

Liquefied Natural Gas obtained through the cooling of natural gas to minus 160 °C at normal
pressure. The gas is liquefied to allow transportation from the place of extraction to the sites
at which it is transformed back into its natural gaseous state and consumed. One tonne of
ING corresponds to 1,400 cubic meters of gas.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas, a mix of light petroleum fractions, gaseous at normal pressure and
easily liquefied at room temperature through limited compression.

The difference between the average selling price and direct acquisition cost of a finished
product or raw material excluding other production costs (e.g. refining margin, margin
on distribution of natural gas and petroleum products or margin of petrochemical products).
Margin trends reflect the trading environment and are, to a certain extent, a gauge of industry
profitability.

(Potentially recoverable hydrocarbon volumes) Estimated recoverable volumes which cannot
be defined as reserves due to a number of reasons, such as the temporary lack of viable
markets, a possible commercial recovery dependent on the development of new technologies,
or for their location in accumulations yet to be developed or where evaluation of known
accumulations is still at an early stage.

Liquid or liquefied hydrocarbons recovered from natural gas through separation equipment or
natural gas treatment plants. Propane, normal-butane and isobutane, isopentane and pentane
plus, that were previously defined as natural gasoline, are natural gas liquids.

GHG Scope 1+2+3 emissions associated with the value chain of the energy products sold by
Eni, including both those deriving from own productions and those purchased from third
parties, accounted on equity basis, net of offset, mainly from Natural Climate Solutions.

Overall Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions associated with Eni’s operations, accounted for
on an equity basis, net of carbon sinks mainly from Natural Climate Solutions.

Ratio between the Net GHG lifecycle emissions and the energy content of products sold
accounted for on an equity basis.

A code containing norms and regulations for access to, management and operation of natural
gas pipelines.

Innovative solutions for supply of chemicals and related ancillary services for Oil & Gas
business.

Agreements stipulated between partners which regulate the right of each to its share in the
production for a set period of time. Amounts lifted by a partner different from the agreed
amounts determine temporary Over/Under lifting situations.

Plasmix is the collective name for the different plastics that currently have no use in the market
of recycling and can be used as a feedstock in the new circular economy businesses of Eni.

vi
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Possible reserves

Probable reserves

Primary balanced refining

capacity

Possible reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than
probable reserves.

Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be

recovered than proved reserves but which, together with proved reserves, are as likely as not
to be recovered.

Maximum amount of feedstock that can be processed in a refinery to obtain finished products
measured in BBL/d.

Production Sharing AgreementContract regulates relationships between states and oil companies with regard to the

(PSA)

Proved reserves

REDD+

exploration and production of hydrocarbons. The mineral right is awarded to the national oil
company jointly with the foreign oil company that has an exclusive right to perform
exploration, development and production activities and can enter into agreements with
other local or international entities. In this type of contract the national oil company assigns to
the international contractor the task of performing exploration and production with the
contractor’s equipment and financial resources. Exploration risks are borne by the contractor
and production is divided into two portions: “Cost Oil” is used to recover costs borne by the
contractor and “Profit Oil” is divided between the contractor and the national company
according to variable schemes and represents the profit deriving from exploration and
production. Further terms and conditions of these contracts may vary from country to country.

Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of
geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be
economically producible, from a given date forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing
economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations, prior to the time at
which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is
reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for
the estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator
must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable time. Existing
economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir
is to be determined. The price shall be the average price during the 12-month period prior to the
ending date of the period covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic
average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period, unless prices
are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon future conditions.
Reserves are classified as either developed and undeveloped. Proved developed oil and gas
reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing
equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively
minor compared to the cost of a new well, and through installed extraction equipment and
infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate if the extraction is by means not
involving a well. Proved undeveloped oil and gas reserves are reserves of any category that
are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where
a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.

The REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation) scheme was
designed by the United Nations (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change -
UNFCC). It involves conserving forests to reduce emissions and improve the natural storage
capacity of CO2, as well as helping local communities develop through socio-economic
projects in line with principles on sustainable management, forest protection and nature
conservation.

Renewable Installed Capacity Renewable Installed Capacity is measured as the maximun generating capacity of Eni’s share of

Reserves

power plants that use renewable energy sources (wind, solar and wave, and any other non-
fossil fuel source of generation deriving from natural resources, excluding, from the avoidance
of doubt, nuclear energy) to produce electricity. The capacity is considered “installed” once
the power plants are in operation or the mechanical completion phase has been reached. The
mechanical completion represents the final construction stage excluding the grid connection.
Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and gas and related substances anticipated
to be economically producible, as of a given date, by application of development projects to
known accumulations. In addition, there must exist, or there must be a reasonable expectation
that there will exist, the produce or a revenue interest in the production, installed means of
delivering oil and gas or related substances to market, and all permits and financing required to
implement the project.

vii
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Reserve life index

Reserve replacement ratio

Scope 1 GHG Emissions

Scope 2 GHG Emissions

Scope 3 GHG Emissions

Ratio between the amount of proved reserves at the end of the year and total production for
the year.

Measure of the reserves produced replaced by proved reserves. Indicates the company’s
ability to add new reserves through exploration and purchase of property. A rate higher than
100% indicates that more reserves were added than produced in the period. The ratio should
be averaged on a three-year period in order to reduce the distortion deriving from the purchase
of proved property, the revision of previous estimates, enhanced recovery, improvement in
recovery rates and changes in the amount of reserves — in PSAs — due to changes in
international oil prices.

Direct greenhouse gas emissions from company’s operations, produced from sources that are
owned or controlled by the company.

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the generation of electricity, steam and heat
purchased from third parties.

Indirect GHG emissions associated with the value chain of Eni’s products.

SERM (Standard Eni Refining It approximates the margin of Eni's refining system in consideration of the refinery

Margin)
Ship-or-pay

Take-or-pay

Title Transfer Facility

UN SDGs

Upstream/Downstream

Upstream GHG Emission
intensity

Clause included in natural gas transportation contracts according to which the customer is
requested to pay for the transportation of gas whether or not the gas is actually transported.

Clause included in natural gas supply contracts according to which the purchaser is bound to
pay the contractual price or a fraction of such price for a minimum quantity of gas set in
the contract whether or not the gas is collected by the purchaser. The purchaser has the option
of collecting the gas paid for and not delivered at a price equal to the residual fraction of the
price set in the contract in subsequent contract years.

The Title Transfer Facility, more commonly known as TTF, is a virtual trading point for natural
gas in the Netherlands. TTF Price is quoted in euro per megawatt hour and, for business day, is
quoted day-ahead, i.e. delivered next working day after assessment.

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are the blueprint to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for all by 2030. Adopted by all United Nations Member States in 2015, they
address the global challenges the world is facing, including those related to poverty,
inequality, climate change, environmental degradation, peace and justice. For further detail
see the website https://unsdg.un.org

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are the blueprint to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for all by 2030. Adopted by all United Nations Member States in 2015, they
address the global challenges the world is facing, including those related to poverty,
inequality, climate change, environmental degradation, peace and justice. For further detail
see the website https://unsdg.un.org

Ratio between 100% Scope 1 GHG emissions from Upstream operated assets and 100% gross
operated production (expressed in barrel of oil equivalent).
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ABBREVIATIONS
mmCF = million cubic feet
BCF = billion cubic feet mmtonnes = million tonnes MW
mmCM = million cubic meters BCM MW = megawatt GWh
BCM = billion cubic meters BOE GWh = gigawatthour TWh
BOE = barrel of oil equivalent TWh = terawatthour
/d = per day
KBOE = thousand barrel of oil equivalent ly = per year
mmBOE = million barrel of o0il equivalent E&P = the Exploration & Production segment
BBOE = billion barrel of oil equivalent GGP = the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segment
BBL = barrels
KBBL = thousand barrels
mmBBL = million barrels
BBBL = billion barrels
mmBTU = million British thermal unit
ktonnes = thousand tonnes
KW = kilowatt
GW = gigawatt
Geal = giga calorie
CONVERSION TABLE
1 acre =0.405 hectares
1 barrel =42 U.S. gallons
1 BOE = 1 barrel of crude oil = 5,232 cubic feet of natural gas

1 barrel of crude oil per day = approximately 50 tonnes of crude oil per year

1 cubic meter of natural gas = 35.3147 cubic feet of natural gas

1 cubic meter of natural gas = approximately 0.00675 barrels of oil equivalent

1 kilometer = approximately 0.62 miles
1 short ton =0.907 tonnes

1 long ton =1.016 tonnes

1 tonne = 1 metric ton

1 tonne of crude oil = 1 metric ton of crude oil

= 2,000 pounds

= 2,240 pounds

= 1,000 kilograms

= approximately 2,205 pounds

= approximately 7.3 barrels of crude oil
(assuming an API gravity of 34 degrees)
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Item 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISORS
NOT APPLICABLE

Item 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
NOT APPLICABLE

Item 3. KEY INFORMATION

RISK FACTORS

The Group’s performance is exposed to the volatility of the prices of crude oil and natural gas and to changing margins
of refined products and oil-based chemical products

The price of crude oil and natural gas is the main driver of the Company’s operating performance, cash flow,
business prospects and its ability to remunerate its shareholders, given the current size of Eni’s Exploration & Production
segment relative to other Company’s business segments in terms of key financial metrics like operating profit, returns and
invested capital.

The price of crude oil has a history of volatility because, like other commodities, it is influenced by the ups and
downs in the economic cycle and by several macro-variables that are beyond management’s control. In the short term,
crude oil prices are mainly determined by the balance between global oil supplies and demand, the global levels of
commercial inventories and producing countries’ spare capacity, as well as by expectations of financial operators who
trade crude oil derivatives contracts (futures and options) influencing short-term price movements via their positioning.
A downturn in economic activity normally triggers lower global demand for crude oil and possibly oversupplies and
inventories build-up, because in the short-term producers are unable to quickly adapt to swings in demand. Whenever
global supplies of crude oil outstrip demand, crude oil prices weaken. Factors that can influence the global economic
activity in the short-term and demand for crude oil include several, unpredictable events, like trends in the economic
growth which shape crude oil demand in big consumer countries like China, India and the United States, financial crisis,
monetary variables (the level of inflation and of interest rates), geo-political crisis, local conflicts and wars, social
instability, pandemic diseases, the flows of international commerce, trade disputes and governments’ fiscal policies,
among others.

Long-term demands for crude oil is driven, on the positive side, by demographic growth, improving living standards
and GDP (Gross Domestic product) expansion; on the negative side, factors that in the long-term may significantly reduce
demands for crude oil include availability of alternative sources of energy (e.g., nuclear and renewables), technological
breakthroughs, shifts in consumer preferences, and finally measures and other initiatives adopted or planned by
governments to tackle climate change and to curb carbon-dioxide emissions (CO, emissions), including stricter
regulations and control on production and consumption of crude oil. Eni’s management believes the push to reduce
worldwide greenhouse gas emissions and the ongoing energy transition towards a low carbon economy are likely to
materially affect the worldwide energy mix in the long-term and may lead to structural lower crude oil demands and prices.
See the section dedicated to the discussion of climate-related risks below.

Notwithstanding the USA being the first oil producer in the world since the shale oil revolution of 2011, global oil
supplies are controlled to a large degree by the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) cartel and its
allied countries, like Russia and Kazakhstan, known as the OPEC+ alliance. Saudi Arabia plays a crucial role within the
cartel, because it is estimated to hold huge amounts of reserves and a vast majority of worldwide spare production
capacity. This explains why geopolitical developments in the Middle East and particularly in the Gulf area, like regional
conflicts, acts of war, strikes, attacks, sabotages, and social and political tensions can have a big influence on crude oil
prices. Furthermore, due to expectations of a slowdown in the growth rate of the US shale oil production or of a possible
decline in the long-term due to capital discipline and industrial factors like a shrinking number of premium locations and
high-yield wells, the OPEC+ alliance could exert in perspective an increasingly larger influence over the crude oil market.
Finally, sanctions imposed by the United States and the EU against certain producing countries may influence trends in
crude oil prices.

To a lesser extent, extreme weather events, such as hurricanes in areas of highly concentrated production like the
Gulf of Mexico, and operational issues at key petroleum infrastructures may have an impact on crude oil prices.
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In 2023, the price of the Brent benchmark crude declined by 18% compared to 2022 due to rising production levels in
non-OPEC countries and expectations among financial market participants of a slowdown in economic activity and hence
in demand for crude oil, whereas the China recovery was elusive, and the Europe economies have been stagnating. Prices
were supported by curbs to production levels and quotas made by the countries of the OPEC+ alliance. In 2024, the
Company expects that crude oil prices will remain at the same level as in 2023 due to continuing production gains and an
uncertain macroeconomic backdrop, under the assumption that the OPEC+ alliance still retain its policy of supporting the
price of crude oil.

The short-term drivers of prices and demands for natural gas are like those of crude oil. The development of massive
liquefaction capacity that has occurred in recent years in countries like the USA, Qatar and Australia has helped to
develop a global liquid market of natural gas, with traders being able to redirect LNG from one geography to another
based on price arbitrages. Differently from crude oil, the absolute levels of natural gas prices change from region to
region due to specific supply dynamics (e.g. in 2023 the price of natural gas in USA was one fifth that of Europe, because
Europe is a net importer, whilst the USA is currently an oversupplied market due to growing domestic production), while
consumption of natural gas is significantly exposed to seasonal patterns and competition from renewables. All those
trends may result in a higher degree of volatility in natural gas prices compared to crude oil. In the long-term, demands for
natural gas are exposed to the risks of the transition to a low-carbon economy.

In 2023, natural gas prices declined significantly compared to 2022, with European benchmarks down more than 60%,
due to an oversupplied global market and lower consumption driven by lower industrial activity in Europe, energy
savings measures, competition from renewables and mild winter weather. We expect weak natural gas prices in 2024 due
to continuation of the trends observed in 2024.

The volatility of hydrocarbons prices significantly affects the Group’s financial performance. Lower hydrocarbon
prices from one year to another negatively affect the Group’s consolidated results of operations and cash flow; the
opposite occurs in case of a rise in prices. This is because lower prices translate into lower revenues recognised in the
Company’s Exploration & Production segment at the time of the price change, whereas expenses in this segment are
either fixed or less sensitive to changes in crude oil prices than revenues. In 2023, lower hydrocarbons prices, down by
18% and 66% respectively for the Brent crude oil and the European spot price of natural gas, reduced our operating profit
and cash flow from operating activities by an estimated amount of approximately €5 billion and €3 billion respectively.

Finally, movements in hydrocarbons prices significantly affect the reportable amount of production and proved
reserves under our production sharing agreements (“PSAs”), which represented about 55% of our proved reserves as of
end of 2023. The entitlement mechanism of PSAs foresees the Company is entitled to a portion of a field’s reserves, the
sale of which is intended to cover expenditures incurred by the Company to develop and operate the field. The higher the
reference prices for Brent crude oil used to estimate Eni’s proved reserves, the lower the number of barrels necessary to
recover the same amount of expenditure, and vice versa. In 2023 our reported production and reserves were increased by
an estimated amount of respectively 3 KBOE/d and by 30 mmBOE due to a decreased Brent reference price. Considering
the current portfolio of oil&gas assets, the Company estimates its production to vary by up to 1 KBOE/d for each one-
dollar change in the price of the Brent crude oil.

Eni’s Enilive, Refining and Chemical businesses are in cyclical economic sectors. Their results are impacted by
trends in the supply and demand of oil products and plastic commodities, which are influenced by the macro-economic
scenario and by product margins. Margins for refined and chemical products depend upon the speed at which products’
prices adjust to reflect movements in oil prices.

All these risks may adversely and materially impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business
prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock
repurchases and the price of Eni’s share.
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Risks in connection with Russia’s military aggression of Ukraine and the Middle East conflict in the Gaza strip

Russia’s military aggression of Ukraine began in late February 2022 and has continued to drag throughout 2023
without any prospects of quick solution. This conflict has already negatively impacted the global economy by triggering
an energy crisis in Europe, by souring the political relationships between Western countries and Russia, by disrupting
supply chains and by increasing cybersecurity threats. In response to Russia’s aggression, the EU nations, the UK, and
the USA have adopted massive economic and financial sanctions to curb Russia’s ability to fund the war, which is
negatively affecting the economic activity.

An uncertain global macroeconomic backdrop has been further compounded since last October by a resurgence of
tensions in Middle East, culminating in Israelis military invasion of the Gaza strip and risks of enlargement of the conflict.

A prolonged armed conflict in those two areas, a possible escalation of the military action in Middle East, and a
further tightening up of the economic sanctions against Russia represent elements of uncertainty that could eventually
sap consumers’ confidence and deter investment decisions, increasing the risks of a worldwide macroeconomic recession
and with it, expectations of a reduction in hydrocarbons demands. This scenario would lead to lower commodity prices
and would adversely and significantly affect our results of operations and cash flow, as well as business prospects, with
a possible lower remuneration of our shareholders.

Risks in connection with our presence in Russia and our commercial relationships with Russia’s State-owned
companies

The most important exposure of Eni to Russia is relating to the purchase of natural gas from Russian state-owned
company Gazprom and its affiliates, based on long-term supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses. In the past, the
volumes supplied from Russia have represented a material amount of our global portfolio of natural gas supplies (see
table “Natural gas supply” in Item 4 — Global Gas & LNG Portfolio, providing information about the last three-year
period). In 2023, natural gas supplies from Russia decreased materially to 12% of our total purchases of natural gas (down
from 28% in 2022) due to unilateral decisions from our Russian supplier to suspend deliveries, against the backdrop of a
commercial dispute between the two parties. We intend to continue our effort to substitute Russian-origin natural gas in
our portfolio, with the aim to continue to reduce such dependence in the shortest possible timeframe, including the
termination of the current contracts.

The Group's business plans have been factoring the assumption of reducing to zero the supplies from Russia and
sales plans have been adapted accordingly by limiting sales commitments. To cope with the expected reduced availability
of Russian natural gas, the Group has increased purchases from other geographies through various commercial
initiatives, such as using contractual flexibilities to increase deliveries from existing long-term contracts or by developing
integrated upstream-midstream projects leveraging equity natural gas reserves and new liquefactions capacity. The
process of replacing Russian-origin natural gas, including terminating existing contracts, may entail operational and
financial risks which may be significant.

Other Eni assets in Russia are immaterial to the Group results of operations (see Item 4).

There is strong competition worldwide, both within the oil industry and with other industries, to supply energy and
petroleum products to the industrial, commercial, and residential energy markets

The current competitive environment in which Eni operates is characterized by volatile prices and margins of energy
commodities, limited product differentiation and complex relationships with state-owned companies and national
agencies of the countries where hydrocarbons reserves are located to obtain mineral rights. As commodity prices are
beyond the Company’s control, Eni’s ability to remain competitive and profitable in this environment requires continuous
focus on technological innovation, the achievement of efficiencies in operating costs, effective management of capital
resources and the ability to provide valuable services to energy buyers. It also depends on Eni’s ability to gain access to
new investment opportunities. Competitive trends represent a risk to the profitability of all Eni’s business segment:
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e E&P may be negatively affected by its relatively smaller scale compared to other players in the
industry;

e The business of marketing natural gas in the European wholesale market managed by the GGP
segment is exposed to pricing competition considering anticipated weak demand trends in Europe
and an oversupplied market;

e  The businesses of oil refining and production of basic petrochemicals conducted in Europe are
exposed to industry cyclicality, weak demand, overcapacity, competition from players with wider
scale and cost advantages which are operating in geographies characterized by lower energy costs
and environmental exposures compared to Europe, and finally growing market penetration on more
sustainable products and solutions; and

e  The business of marketing natural gas and electricity to the retail market, which is managed by our
subsidiary Plenitude, is exposed to the competitive nature of the retail market that is characterized by
an almost full liberalization, a large number of suppliers and customers’ ability to switch rapidly from
one supplier to another.

More information about the competitive trends of Eni’s segments are disclosed in Item 4.

Rising concerns about climate change and effects of the energy transition could continue to lead to a fall in demand
and potentially lower prices for hydrocarbons. Climate change could also have a physical impact on our assets and
supply chains. This risk may also lead to additional legal and/or regulatory measures, resulting in project delays or
cancellations, potential additional litigation, operational restrictions, and additional compliance obligations

Societal demand for urgent action on climate change has increased, especially since the Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC) Special Report of 2018 on 1.5°C effectively made the more ambitious goal of the Paris Agreement
to limit the rise in global average temperature this century to 1.5 degrees Celsius the default target. This increasing focus
on climate change and drive for an energy transition have created a risk environment that is changing rapidly, resulting in
a wide range of governmental actions at global, local and company levels, increasing pressure from civil society and the
investing and lending community to speed up our decarbonization plans. The potential impact and likelihood of the
associated exposure for Eni could vary across different time horizons, depending on the specific components of the risk.

We expect that a growing share of our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions will be subject to regulation, resulting in
increased compliance costs and operational restrictions. Regulators may seek to limit certain oil and gas projects or make
it more difficult to obtain required permits. Additionally, climate activists are challenging the grant of new and existing
regulatory permits. We expect that these challenges and protests are likely to continue and could delay or prohibit
operations in certain cases. Our strategy to achieve our target of becoming net zero on all emissions from our operations
has resulted in and could continue to require additional costs. We also expect that actions by customers to reduce their
emissions will continue to lower demand and potentially affect prices for fossil fuels, as will GHG emissions regulation
through taxes, fees and/or other incentives. This could be a factor contributing to additional provisions for our assets
and result in lower earnings, cancelled projects and potential impairment of certain assets.

The pace and extent of the energy transition could pose a risk to Eni if we decarbonize our operations and the
energy we sell is not aligned to the demand of to society. If we are slower than society, customers may prefer a different
supplier, which would reduce demand for our products and adversely affect our reputation besides materially affecting
our earnings and financial results. If we move much faster than society, we risk investing in technologies, markets or low-
carbon products that are unsuccessful because there is limited demand for them.

The physical effects of climate change such as, but not limited to, increases in temperature and sea levels and
fluctuations in water levels could also adversely affect our operations and supply chains.

Certain investors have decided to divest their investments in fossil fuel companies. If this were to continue, it could
have a material adverse effect on the price of our securities and our ability to access capital markets. Stakeholder groups
are also putting pressure on commercial and investment banks to stop financing fossil fuel companies. Some financial
institutions have started to limit their exposure to fossil fuel projects. Accordingly, our ability to use financing for these
types of future projects may be adversely affected. This could also adversely affect our potential partners’ ability to
finance their portion of costs, either through equity or debt.

4
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In some countries, governments, regulators, organizations, and individuals have filed lawsuits seeking to
hold oil companies liable for costs associated with climate change or seeking to have oil companies condemned to speed
up decarbonization plans based on alleged crimes against the environment or human rights violations. While we believe these
lawsuits to be without merit, losing could have a material adverse effect on our business. We expect to see additional
regulatory requirements to provide disclosures related to climate risks.

In summary, rising climate change concerns, the pace at which we decarbonize our operations relative to society and
effects of the energy transition have led and could lead to a decrease in demand and potentially affect prices for fossil fuels.
The Company’s traditional oil and gas business may increase or decrease depending upon regulatory or market forces, among
other factorslf we are unable to find economically viable, publicly acceptable solutions that reduce our GHG emissions and/or
GHG intensity for new and existing projects and for the products we sell, we could experience financial penalties or extra costs,
delayed or cancelled projects, potential impairments of our assets, additional provisions and/or reduced production and
product sales. future results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, shareholder returns,
including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares may be adversely and
significantly affected.

The above mentioned risks may emerge in the short, medium, and long term.

a) Regulatory risk: increasing worldwide efforts to tackle climate change may lead to the adoption of stricter
regulations to curb carbon emissions and this could lead to increasing expenditures in the short term and may end up
suppressing demands for our products in medium-to-long term.

Regulatory actions intended to reduce greenhouse gas emissions include adoption of cap-and-trade regimes, carbon
taxes, carbon-based import duties or other trade tariffs, minimum renewable usage requirements, restrictive permitting,
increased mileage and other efficiency standards, mandates for sales of electric vehicles, mandates for use of specific fuels or
technologies, and other incentives or mandates designed to support transitioning to lower-emission energy sources.
Depending on how policies and regulations are formulated and applied, such policies and regulations could negatively affect
our investment returns, make our hydrocarbon-based products more expensive or less competitive, lengthen project
implementation times, and reduce demand for hydrocarbons, as well as shift hydrocarbon demand toward relatively lower-
carbon alternatives. Current and pending greenhouse gas regulations or policies may also increase our compliance costs, such
as for monitoring or sequestering emissions.

b) Market/Technological risk: in the long-term demands for hydrocarbons may be materially reduced by the projected
mass adoption of electric vehicles, the development of green hydrogen, the deployment of massive investments to grow
renewable energies also supported by governments fiscal policies and the development of other technologies to produce
clean feedstock, fuels, and energy.

In the long term, the weight of hydrocarbons in the global energy mix may decline due to an expected increase in the
amount of energy generated by renewables, the possible emergence of new products and technologies, as well as changing
consumers’ preferences.

A large portion of Eni’s business depends on the global demand for oil and natural gas. If existing or future laws,
regulations, treaties, or international agreements related to GHG and climate change, including state incentives to conserve
energy or use alternative energy sources, technological breakthroughs in the field of renewable energies, hydrogen,
production of nuclear energy or mass adoption of electric vehicles trigger a structural decline in worldwide demand for oil and
natural gas, Eni’s results of operations and business prospects may be materially and adversely affected in case the Company
fail to adapt its business model at the same pace of the energy transition as the economy.

c) Legal risk: several lawsuits are pending in various jurisdictions against oil&gas companies based on alleged
violations of human rights, damage to environment and other claims and such legal actions may be brought against us.

In recent years, there has been a marked increase in climate-based litigation. Courts could be more likely to hold
companies who have allegedly made the most significant contributions to climate change to account. Courts may condemn oil
and gas companies to compensate individuals, communities, and states for the economic losses due to global warming as a
consequence of their alleged responsibility in supporting hydrocarbons and their alleged awareness of knowingly hurting the
environment. In some cases, companies’ boards have been summoned for having allegedly failed to take effective actions to
contrast climate change.




Table of Contents

For example, we are defending in California against claims brought to us by local administrations and certain associations
of individuals who are seeking compensation for alleged economic losses and environmental damage due to climate change.

Private individuals, associations and NGOs may also bring legal actions against states or companies to get them
condemned to adopt stricter targets in reducing GHG emissions and that could entail more restrictive measures on businesses.
For example, in 2023, certain NGOs and several private citizens filed a complaint before an Italian court alleging that Eni and
agencies of the Italian State are liable for climate change. The plaintiffs claimed economic losses and other damages and
requested that Eni revises its decarbonisation strategy and immediately stops any harmful conducts, alleging several
environmental crimes and violations of human rights.

As such, climate litigation represents a significant risk. In case the Company is condemned to reduce its GHG emissions at
a much faster rate than planned by management or to compensate for damage related to climate change due to ongoing or
potential lawsuits, we could incur a material adverse effect on our results of operations and business’s prospects.

d) Reputational risk: the consideration of oil&gas companies as poorly performing investments from an
environmental standpoint by financial market participants, could reduce the attractiveness of their securities or limit their
ability to access the capital markets. Activist investors have been seeking to interfere in companies’ plans and strategies
through matter of shareholders’ resolutions.

The reputational risk of oil&gas companies owes to the growing perception by governments, financial institutions, and
the general public that those companies may be liable for global warming due to GHG emissions across the hydrocarbon value
chain, particularly related to the use of energy products, and may be poorly performing players in the ESG dimensions. This
could possibly impair their reputation and make their securities and debt instruments less attractive than other industrial
sectors to investors.

Banks, financing institutions, lenders and insurance companies are cutting exposure to the fossil fuel industry due to the
need to comply with ESG mandate or to reach emission reduction targets in their portfolios and this could limit our ability to
access new financing, could drive a rise in borrowing costs to us or increase the costs of insuring our assets.

As a result of those developments, we could expect the cost of capital to the Company to rise in the future and
reduced ability on part of Eni to obtain financing for future projects in the oil&gas business or to obtain it at competitive rates,
which may curb our investment opportunities or drive an increase in financing expenses, negatively affecting our results of
operations and business prospects.

e) climate change adaptation: extreme weather phenomena, which are allegedly caused by climate change, may
disrupt our operations

The scientific community has concluded that increasing global average temperature produces significant physical effects,
such as the increased frequency and severity of hurricanes, storms, droughts, floods, or other extreme climatic events that
could interfere with Eni’s operations and damage Eni’s facilities. Extreme and unpredictable weather phenomena can result in
material disruption to Eni’s operations, and consequent loss of or damage to properties and facilities, as well as a loss of
output, loss of revenues, increasing maintenance and repair expenses and cash flow shortfall.

As a result of these trends, climate-related risks could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s results of
operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends and the
price of Eni’s shares.

Investments in our low-carbon products and services may not achieve expected returns

We are building our portfolio of low-carbon products and services such as electricity generated from solar and wind
power, biofuels, projects for permanent geological sequestration of CO,, and charging for electric vehicles through organic and
inorganic growth.

In expanding our offerings of these low-carbon products and services, we expect to undertake acquisitions and form
partnerships. The success of these transactions will depend on our ability to realise the synergies from combining our
respective resources and capabilities, including the development of new processes, systems and distribution channels. For
example, it may take time to develop these areas through retraining our workforce and recruitment for the necessary new skills.
It may take longer to realise the expected returns from these transactions.

The operating margins for our low-carbon products and services may not be as high as the margins we have experienced
historically in our oil and gas operations.
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Therefore, developing our low-carbon products and services is subject to challenges which could have a material adverse
effect on future results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, shareholder returns,
including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares may be adversely and
significantly affected.

Risks deriving from Eni’s exposure to weather conditions

Significant changes in weather conditions in Italy and in the rest of Europe from year to year may affect demand for
natural gas and some refined products. In colder years, demand for such products is higher. Accordingly, the results of
operations of Eni’s businesses engaged in the marketing of natural gas and, to a lesser extent, the Enilive and Refining
business, as well as the comparability of results over different periods may be affected by such changes in weather conditions.
Over recent years, this pattern could have been possibly affected by the rising frequency of weather trends like milder winter
or extreme weather events like heatwaves or unusually cold snaps, which are possible consequences of climate change.

The Group is exposed to significant operational and economic risks associated with the exploration and production of
crude oil and natural gas

The exploration and production of oil and natural gas require high levels of capital expenditures and are subject to
specific operational and economic risks as well as to natural hazards and other uncertainties. The natural hazards and the
economic risks described below could have an adverse, significant impact on Eni’s future growth prospects, results of
operations, cash flows, liquidity, and shareholders’ returns.

a) Operational risks in connection to drilling and extraction operations

The physical and geological characteristics of oil and gas fields entail natural hazards and other operational risks
including risks of eruptions of hydrocarbons, discovery of hydrocarbon pockets with abnormal pressure, crumbling of well
openings, oil spills, gas leaks, risks of blowout, fire or explosion and risks of earthquake in connection with drilling and
extraction activities. Eni has material offshore operations which are inherently riskier than onshore activities. In 2023,
approximately 70% of Eni’s total oil and gas production for the year derived from offshore fields, mainly in Egypt, Norway
Libya, Angola, Kazakhstan, Indonesia, Venezuela, the United Arab Emirates, Congo and the United States. Offshore accidents
and oil spills could cause damage of catastrophic proportions to the ecosystem and to communities’ health and security due to
the apparent difficulties in handling hydrocarbons containment in the sea, pollution, poisoning of water and organisms, length
and complexity of cleaning operations and other factors. Furthermore, offshore operations are subject to marine risks,
including storms and other adverse weather conditions and perils of vessel collisions, which may cause material adverse
effects on the Group’s operations and the ecosystem.

b) Exploratory drilling efforts may be unsuccessful

Exploration activities are mainly subject to the mining risk, i.e. the risk of dry holes or failure to find commercial quantities
of hydrocarbons. The costs of drilling and completing wells have margins of uncertainty, and drilling operations may be
unsuccessful because of a large variety of factors, including geological failure, unexpected drilling conditions, pressure or
heterogeneities in formations, equipment failures, well control (blowouts) and other forms of accidents. A large part of the
Company exploratory drilling operations is located offshore, including in deep and ultra-deep waters, in remote areas and in
environmentally sensitive locations (such as the Barents Sea, the Gulf of Mexico, deep water leases off West Africa, Indonesia,
the Mediterranean Sea and the Caspian Sea). In these locations, the Company generally experiences higher operational risks
and more challenging conditions and incurs higher exploration costs than onshore. Furthermore, deep and ultra-deep water
operations require significant time before commercial production of discovered reserves can commence, increasing both the
operational and the financial risks associated with these activities.

Because Eni plans to make significant investments in executing exploration projects, it is possible that the Company will
incur significant amounts of dry hole expenses in future years. Unsuccessful exploration activities and failure to discover
additional commercial reserves could reduce future production of oil and natural gas, which is highly dependent on the rate of
success of exploration projects and could have an adverse impact on Eni’s future performance, growth prospects and returns.
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c) Development projects bear significant operational risks which may adversely affect actual returns

Projects to develop and market reserves of crude oil and natural gas normally entail long lead times because of the
complexity of the activities required to achieve the production start-up. Those activities include appraising a discovery,
defining contractual and fiscal terms and conditions with state-owned entities and other partners to reach a final investment
decision, and building and commissioning large-scale plants and equipment. Delays in the construction of key plants and
facilities or in obtaining all necessary authorizations from competent authorities, costs overruns due to unplanned drilling and
other operational conditions, as well as unexpected events resulting in temporarily stoppage of activities (e.g. third-party
claims, environmentalists protests, changes to the work scope requested by governmental authorities, contractors’
underperformance) could significantly and adversely affect projects’ expected returns. Moreover, projects executed with
partners and joint venture partners reduce the ability of the Company to manage risks and costs, and Eni could have limited
influence over and control of the operations and performance of its partners. The occurrence of any of such risks may
negatively affect the time-to-market of the reserves and may cause cost overruns and start-up delays, lengthening the project
pay-back period. Those risks would adversely affect the economic returns of Eni’s development projects and the achievement
of production growth targets, also considering that those projects are exposed to the volatility of oil and gas prices which may
be substantially different from those estimated when the investment decision was made, thereby leading to lower return rates.

Finally, if the Company is unable to develop and operate major projects as planned, or in case actual reservoir
performance and natural field decline do not meet management’s expectations, it could incur significant impairment losses of
capitalized costs associated with reduced future cash flows of those projects.

The Group is currently engaged in the execution of several development projects to put into production its proved oil and
natural gas reserves. The Company has changed its approach on how to manage development projects in the hydrocarbon
segment, which normally feature long-lead times. In recent years we have implemented a phased approach to developing
activities so to accelerate the production start-up, as well we have favoured near field development to exploit synergies with
existing infrastructures and reutilization/reconversion of existing plants and vessels. This strategy in developing activities is
intended to shorten the time-to-market of reserves and to accelerate the pay-back period. However, the achievement of the
expected time-to-market and execution of development projects on time and on budget depends on several elusive factors
which are inherently difficult to schedule:

* appraising a discovery to evaluate the technical and economic feasibility of a development project,

« finalizing negotiations with joint venture partners, governments and state-owned companies, suppliers and potential
customers to define project terms and conditions, including, for example, the fiscal take, the production sharing terms with
the first party, or negotiating favorable long-term contracts to market gas reserves;

+ obtaining timely issuance of permits and licenses by government agencies, including obtaining all necessary
administrative authorizations to drill locations, install producing infrastructures, build pipelines and related equipment to
transport and market hydrocarbons;

« effectively carrying out the front-end engineering design in order to prevent the occurrence of technical inconvenience
during the execution phase;

« timely manufacturing and delivery of critical plants and equipment by contractors, like floating production storage and
offloading (FPSO) vessels, floating units for the production of liquefied natural gas (FLNG) and platforms, as well as
building transport infrastructures to export production to final markets;

* preventing risks associated with the use of new technologies and the inability to develop advanced technologies
to maximise the recoverability rate of hydrocarbons or gain access to previously inaccessible reservoirs;

* carefully planning the commissioning and hook-up phase where mismanagement might lead to delays to achieve
first oil;

* changes in operating conditions and cost overruns. We expect the prices of key input factors such as labour, basic
materials (steel, cement, and other metals) and utilities to remain elevated in the next year or two until inflationary pressures
throughout the entire supply chain moderate on the back of a slowing economy. We also expect daily rates of leased rigs
and other drilling vessels and facilities to not come down as much as oil companies competes for a stable amount of supply
of this kind of equipment considering the restructuring the oilfield service sector has undergone due to reduced capital
spending by their clients.
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All the above-mentioned factors can cause delays and cost overruns therefore negatively impacting expected rate of
returns of projects, also considering the volatility of hydrocarbons prices.

d) Inability to replace oil and natural gas reserves could adversely impact results of operations and financial
condition, including cash flows

Future oil and gas production is a function of the Company’s ability to access new reserves through new discoveries,
application of improved techniques, success in development activity, negotiations with national oil companies and other
owners of known reserves and acquisitions.

An inability to replace produced reserves by discovering, acquiring, and developing additional reserves could adversely
impact future production levels and growth prospects. If Eni is unsuccessful in meeting its long-term targets of reserve
replacement, Eni’s future total proved reserves and production will decline.

e) Uncertainties in estimates of oil and natural gas reserves

The accuracy of proved reserve estimates and of projections of future rates of production and timing of development
costs depends on several factors, assumptions and variables, including:

e the quality of available geological, technical and economic data and their interpretation and judgment;

e management’s assumptions regarding future rates of production and costs and timing of operating and development
costs. The projections of higher operating and development costs may impair the ability of the Company to
economically produce reserves leading to downward reserve revisions;

e changes in the prevailing tax rules, other government regulations and contractual terms and conditions;

e results of drilling, testing and the actual production performance of Eni’s reservoirs after the date of the estimates
which may drive substantial upward or downward revisions; and

e changes in oil and natural gas prices which could affect the quantities of Eni’s proved reserves since the estimates
of reserves are based on prices and costs existing as of the date when these estimates are made. Lower oil prices may
impair the ability of the Company to economically produce reserves leading to downward reserve revisions.

Many of the factors, assumptions and variables underlying the estimation of proved reserves involve management’s
judgment or are outside management’s control (prices, governmental regulations) and may change over time, therefore
affecting the estimates of oil and natural gas reserves from year-to-year.

The prices used in calculating Eni’s estimated proved reserves are, in accordance with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “U.S. SEC”) requirements, calculated by determining the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-
the-month commodity prices for the preceding 12 months. For the 12-months ending at December 31, 2023, average prices were
based on 83 $/barrel for the Brent crude oil, lower than the 2022 reference price 101 $/barrel, resulting in us having 37 million
BOE of reserves that have become uneconomical at a lower price and were therefore removed from proved reserves.

Accordingly, the estimated reserves reported as of the end of 2023 could be significantly different from the quantities of
oil and natural gas that will be ultimately recovered. Any downward revision in Eni’s estimated quantities of proved reserves
would indicate lower future production volumes, which could adversely impact Eni’s business prospects, results of
operations, cash flows and liquidity.
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f) The development of the Group’s proved undeveloped reserves “PUD” may take longer and may require higher levels
of capital expenditures than it currently anticipates, or the Group’s proved undeveloped reserves may not ultimately be
developed or produced

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 38% of the Group’s total estimated proved reserves (by volume) were
undeveloped and may not be ultimately developed or produced. Recovery of PUD requires significant capital expenditures and
successful drilling operations. The Group’s reserve estimates assume it can and will make these expenditures and conduct
these operations successfully. These assumptions may prove to be inaccurate and are subject to the risk of a structural decline
in the prices of hydrocarbons, which could reduce available funds to develop PUD and/or make development uneconomical.
The Group’s reserve report as of December 31, 2023 includes estimates of total future development and decommissioning costs
associated with the Group’s proved total reserves of approximately €42.6 billion (undiscounted, including consolidated
subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities; €44.3 billion in 2022). It cannot be certain that estimated costs of the development
of these reserves will prove correct, development will occur as scheduled, or the results of such development will be as
estimated. In case of change in the Company’s plans to develop those reserves, or if it is not otherwise able to successfully
develop these reserves as a result of the Group’s inability to fund necessary capital expenditures due to a prolonged decline in
the price of hydrocarbons or otherwise, it will be required to remove the associated volumes from the Group’s reported proved
reserves.

8) The oil&gas industry is a capital-intensive business and needs large amount of funds to find and develop reserves.
In case the Group does not have access to sufficient funds its oil&gas business may decline

The oil and gas industry is a capital intensive business. Eni makes and expects to continue making substantial capital
expenditures in its business for the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas reserves. Historically, Eni’s
capital expenditures have been financed with cash generated from operations, proceeds from asset disposals, borrowings
under its credit facilities and proceeds from the issuance of debt and bonds. The actual amount and timing of future capital
expenditures may differ materially from Eni’s estimates as a result of, among other things, changes in commodity prices,
changes in cost of oil services, available cash flows, lack of access to capital, actual drilling results, the availability of drilling
rigs and other services and equipment, the availability of transportation capacity, and regulatory, technological and
competitive developments. Eni’s cash flows from operations and access to capital markets are subject to several variables,
including but not limited to:

e the amount of Eni’s proved reserves;

e the volume of crude oil and natural gas Eni is able to produce and sell from existing wells;
e the prices at which crude oil and natural gas are marketed,

e Eni’s ability to acquire, find and produce new reserves; and

e the ability and willingness of Eni’s lenders to extend credit or of participants in the capital markets to invest in Eni’s
bonds considering that adoption of ESG targets by lenders may restrict our access to third-party financing.

If cash generated by operations, cash from asset disposals, or cash available under Eni’s liquidity reserves or its credit
facilities or issuance of new bonds is not sufficient to meet capital requirements, the failure to obtain additional financing could
result in a curtailment of operations relating to development of Eni’s reserves, which in turn could adversely affect its results
of operations and cash flows and its ability to achieve its growth plans. In the four-year plan we are forecasting significant
capital expenditures in a range of €5.5-6 billion on average per year to fund new exploration and development projects and
production ramp ups and considering expected continuation of inflationary trends in upstream costs. In case of a decline in
hydrocarbons prices, we may be forced to take on new finance debt from banks and financing institutions to pursue our
development plans and that could increase our financial risk profile. Finally, funding Eni’s capital expenditures with additional
debt will increase its leverage and the issuance of additional debt will require a portion of Eni’s cash flows from operations to
be used for the payment of interest.
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h) Oil and gas activity may be subject to increasingly high levels of income taxes and royalties

Oil and gas operations are subject to the payment of royalties and income taxes, which tend to be higher than those
payable in other commercial activities. Management believes that the marginal tax rate in the oil and gas industry tends to
increase in correlation with higher oil prices, which could make it more difficult for Eni to translate higher oil prices into
increased net profit. However, the Company does not expect that the marginal tax rate will decrease in response to falling oil
prices. Adverse changes in the tax rate applicable to the Group’s profit before income taxes in its oil and gas operations would
have a negative impact on Eni’s future results of operations and cash flows.

In 2022, in response to a surge in hydrocarbons and electricity prices also due to the disruption risks in connection with
the Russian military aggression of Ukraine, governments of EU member states and of UK enacted solidaristic contributions in
the form of one-off or temporary windfall levies to increase the fiscal take on the profits of energy companies relating to the
portion of those profits deemed to exceed historical averages, to collect funds to alleviate the financial burden on households
and businesses due to rising costs of fuels and energy. These windfall taxes negatively affected our results of operations and
cash flow in 2022 and, to a lesser extent, in 2023.

Notwithstanding hydrocarbons and electricity prices have significantly declined in 2023 compared to 2022, they are still
perceived to remain at historically high values by governments and consumers. Given rising pressures on public finances due
to an expected economic slowdown and the general consideration that the oil&gas companies may be benefiting from the
ongoing geopolitical tensions in Ukraine and the Middle East, management cannot rule out the possibility of the introduction
of new windfall taxes and other extraordinary levies targeting the hydrocarbons sector, which could negatively affect the
Group’s results of operations and cash flows.

i) The present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved reserves will not necessarily be the same as the current
market value of Eni’s estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves

In the Supplementary oil & gas information, it is indicated the present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved
reserves that may differ from the current market value of Eni’s estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves. In accordance with
the SEC rules, Eni bases the estimated discounted future net revenues from proved reserves on the 12-month unweighted
arithmetic average of the first day of the month commodity prices for the preceding twelve months. Actual future prices may be
materially higher or lower than the SEC pricing method in the calculations. Actual future net revenues from crude oil and
natural gas properties will be affected by factors such as:

e the actual prices Eni receives for sales of crude oil and natural gas;

the actual cost and timing of development and production expenditures;

the timing and amount of actual production; and
e  changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

The timing of both Eni’s production and its incurrence of expenses in connection with the development and production of
crude oil and natural gas properties will affect the timing and amount of actual future net revenues from proved reserves, and
thus their actual present value. Additionally, the 10% discount factor Eni uses when calculating discounted future net
revenues may not be the most appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect from time to time and risks
associated with Eni’s reserves or the crude oil and natural gas industry in general.

The Group may fail to execute in whole or in part its asset disposition plan and/or realise the returns and proceeds
expected from it.

Our financial plan for the next four-year period 2024-2027 contemplates a gross capital expenditures program of around
€35 billion and asset dispositions of about €8 billion (net of expected disbursements for acquisitions) leading to a net cash flow
for investing activities of about €7 billion per year on average. The ability of the Group to successfully realize such asset
dispositions is exposed to several risks, such as the Group’s failure to find purchasers of the assets and effect the dispositions
at the price or on the terms that were anticipated. These risks are particularly significant in the current environment dominated
by high interest rates, where, therefore, financing for perspective buyers could be limited, and volatility, where asset valuations
can fluctuate significantly and unpredictably. The Group’s failure to realise in whole or in part its disposition plan and/or
realise the expected returns and proceeds may adversely affect the Group’s cash flows and, therefore, the Group’s ability to
fund its capital expenditure programs and/or distribution policy.

Further, dispositions have their own risks associated with the separation of operations and personnel, the potential
provision of transitional services and the allocation of management resources. Dispositions may also involve continued
financial involvement of the Group in the divested business, such as through guarantees, indemnities or other financial
obligations and may result in lost synergies that could negatively impact our balance sheet, income statement and cash flows.
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Risks related to political considerations

As at 31 December 2023, about 82% of Eni’s proved hydrocarbon reserves were located in non-OECD (Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development) countries, mainly in Africa, Central Asia and Middle East where the socio-political
framework, the financial system and the macroeconomic outlook are less stable than in the OECD countries. In those non-
OECD countries, Eni is exposed to a wide range of political risks and uncertainties, which may impair Eni’s ability to continue
operating economically on a temporary or permanent basis, and Eni’s ability to access oil and gas reserves. Particularly, Eni
faces risks in connection with the following potential issues and risks:

® socio-political instability leading to internal conflicts, revolutions, establishment of non-democratic regimes, protests,
attacks, and other forms of civil disorder and unrest, such as strikes, riots, sabotage, blockades, vandalism and theft of
crude oil at pipelines, acts of violence and similar events. These risks could result in disruptions to economic activity,
loss of output, plant closures and shutdowns, project delays, loss of assets and threats to the security of personnel.
They may disrupt financial and commercial markets, including the supply of and pricing for oil and natural gas, and
generate greater political and economic instability in some of the geographical areas in which Eni operates.
Additionally, any possible reprisals because of military or other action, such as acts of terrorism in Europe, the United
States or elsewhere, could have a material adverse effect on the world economy and hence on the global demand for
hydrocarbons;

e lack of well-established and reliable legal systems and uncertainties surrounding the enforcement of contractual rights;

e unfavorable enforcement of laws, regulations and contractual arrangements leading, for example, to expropriation,
nationalization or forced divestiture of assets and unilateral cancellation or modification of contractual terms, tax or
royalty increases (including retroactive claims) and restrictions on exploration, production, imports and exports;

e sovereign default or financial instability since those countries rely heavily on petroleum revenues to sustain public
finance. Financial difficulties at country level often translate into failure by state-owned companies and agencies to
fulfil their financial obligations towards Eni relating to funding capital commitments in projects operated by Eni or to
timely paying for supplies of equity oil and gas volumes; exports;

e difficulties in finding qualified international or local suppliers in critical operating environments; and

e complex processes of granting authorizations or licenses affecting time-to-market of certain development projects.

Areas where Eni operates and where the Company is particularly exposed to political risk include, but are not limited to
Libya, Venezuela, Nigeria, and Egypt.

Eni’s operations in Libya are exposed to significant geopolitical risks. The social and political instability of the Country
dates to the revolution of 2011 that brought a change of regime and a civil war with a material impact on our operations in that
year. A divided political landscape emerged from those events, which caused a prolonged period of internal instability which
has triggered several acts of internal conflict, clashes, civil turmoil, and unrest involving the opposing factions amidst failed
attempts to hold general elections and appoint a national government, resulting in several disruptions to Eni’s activities in the
Country in that timeframe, albeit of a smaller scale compared to 2011. In 2023, notwithstanding a stalemate in the process of
reunification of the Country, the coexistence of the Government of National Unity installed in Tripoli and the self-appointed
National Stability Government installed in the east of the country has paved the way to a relatively higher degree of stability.
In 2023, Eni production in Libya was 162 KBOE/d, equal to 11% of the Group’s total production, and was in line with
management’s plans. Management believes that Libya’s geopolitical situation will continue to represent a source of risk and
uncertainty to Eni’s operations in the country and to the Group’s results of operations and cash flow.
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The financial difficulties of Venezuela partly due to the US sanction regime have impaired our ability to conduct profitable
operations in the country. Currently, after having completely impaired other projects in past reporting periods, the Company
retains just one asset in Venezuela: the 50%-participated Cardén IV joint venture, which is operating an offshore natural gas
field and is supplying its production to the national oil company, Petroleos de Venezuela SA (“PDVSA”), under a long-term
supply agreement. PDVSA has failed to regularly pay the receivables for the gas volumes supplied by Cardon IV venture and
consequently a significant amount of overdue receivables is outstanding at the closing date of the financial year 2023 and a
credit loss provision has been booked to reflect the counterparty risk. As of 31 December 2023, Eni’s invested capital in
Venezuela was approximately €1 billion, mainly relating to trade receivable owed to us by PDVSA. Due to a partial lifting of US
sanctions on the trade of Venezuelan crude oil, Eni was able in 2023 to obtain the reimbursement in-kind of a portion of its trade
receivables, so to partly offset the increase of the year due to the current natural gas production and revenues. However, there
is still a great deal of uncertainty about any possible evolution of the US sanctions against Venezuela and our ability to recover
our outstanding receivables.

The Group has significant credit exposure towards state-owned and privately-held local companies in Nigeria in relation
to their share of funding of petroleum projects operated by Eni. A significant amount of receivables owed to us was past due
as at December 31, 2023 because of Eni’s Nigerian counterparts inability to reimburse their share of expenditures funded by us
reflecting a deteriorated financial framework of the Country.

Furthermore, Eni’s operations in Nigeria were negatively affected by continuing acts of theft of oil at onshore pipelines in
past years and, to a lesser extent, also in 2023.

Egypt has been experiencing financial restraints due to an economic slowdown and a contraction in reserves of foreign
currencies. Eni is currently supplying its equity share of natural gas production to local state-owned oil companies that have
failed to pay trade receivables owed to us in a timely manner. On the basis of the commitments of the country's authorities to
normalize the outstanding exposure towards Eni, an expected credit loss was estimated taking into account the expected timing
of collection.

Sanction targets

The most relevant sanction programs for Eni are those issued by the European Union and the United States of America
and, as of today, the restrictive measures adopted by such authorities in respect of Russia.

As consequence of Russia’s military aggression of Ukraine, the European Union, the United Kingdom, the United States
and the G-7 countries adopted a comprehensive system of sanctions against Russia to weaken its economy and its ability to
finance the war. The sanction system is constantly evolving.

The main targets of the sanctions are the Russian Central Bank and the major financial institutions of the country, as well
as Russia’s exports of crude oil and refined products to international markets. Considering the complexity of the sanctions and
the existing Eni’s contracts for natural gas supply from Russia and the need to make payments to Russian counterparties, the
Company is exposed to the risk of possible violations of the sanction’s regime.

Eni adopted the necessary measures to ensure that its activities are carried out in accordance with the applicable rules,
ensuring continuous monitoring of the evolution in the sanction framework, to adapt on an ongoing basis its activities to the
applicable restrictions.

Furthermore, an escalation of the international crisis, resulting in a tightening of sanctions, could entail a significant
disruption of energy supply and trade flows globally, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

From 2017, the United States have enacted a regime of economic and financial sanctions against Venezuela. The scope of
the restrictions, initially targeting certain financial instruments issued or sold by the Government of Venezuela, was gradually
expanded over 2017 and 2018 and then significantly broadened during the course of 2019 when PDVSA, the main national
state-owned enterprise, was added to the “Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List” and the Venezuelan
government and its controlled entities became subject to assets freeze in the United States. Even if such U.S. sanctions are
substantially “primary” and therefore dedicated in principle to U.S. persons only, retaliatory measures and other adverse
consequences may also interest foreign entities which operate with Venezuelan listed entities and/or in the oil sector of the
country. The U.S. sanction regime against Venezuela was further tightened in 2020 by restricting any Venezuelan oil exports,
including swap schemes utilized by foreign entities to recover trade and financing receivables from PDVSA and other
Venezuelan counterparties. This latter tightening of the sanction regime has reduced the Group’s ability to collect the trade
receivable owed to Eni for its activity in the country in 2021 and 2022, except for limited waivers agreed with US relevant
authorities. which have recently relaxed the sanction regime. In the final part of 2023, the US sanction regime against Venezuela
was relaxed and that has enabled Eni to lift some PDVSA’s entitlements of crude oil and to compensate overdue amounts of
trade receivables owed to us in connection with our supplies of equity natural gas to PDVSA.
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Eni carefully evaluates on a case-by-case basis the adoption of adequate measures to minimize its exposure to any
sanctions risk which may affect its business operation. In any case, the U.S. sanctions add stress to the already complex
financial, political, and operating outlook of the country, which could further limit the ability of Eni to recover its investments in
Venezuela.

Specific risks of the Company’s gas business in Italy

a) Current, negative trends in the competitive environment of the European natural gas sector may impair the Company’s
ability to fulfil its minimum off-take obligations in connection with its take-or-pay, long-term gas supply contracts

Eni is currently party to a few long-term gas supply contracts with state-owned companies of key producing countries,
from where most of the gas supplies directed to Europe are sourced via pipeline (Russia, Algeria, Libya and Norway). These
contracts which were intended to support Eni’s sales plan in Italy and in other European markets, provide take-or-pay clauses
whereby the Company has an obligation to lift minimum, preset volumes of gas in each year of the contractual term or, in case
of failure, to pay the whole price, or a fraction of that price, up to a minimum contractual quantity. Similar considerations apply
to ship-or-pay contractual obligations which arise from contracts with transmission system operators or pipeline owners,
which the Company has entered into to secure long-term transport capacity. Long-term gas supply contracts with take-or pay
clauses expose the Company to a volume risk, as the Company is obligated to purchase an annual minimum volume of gas, or
in case of failure, to pay the underlying price. The structure of the Company’s portfolio of gas supply contracts is a risk to the
profitability outlook of Eni’s wholesale gas business due to the current competitive dynamics in the European gas markets. In
past downturns of the gas sector, the Company incurred significant cash outflows in response to its take-or-pay obligations.
Furthermore, the Company’s wholesale business is exposed to volatile spreads between the procurement costs of gas, which
are linked to spot prices at European hubs or to the price of crude oil, and the selling prices of gas which are mainly indexed to
spot prices at the Italian hub.

Eni’s management is planning to continue its strategy of renegotiating the Company’s long-term gas supply contracts in
order to constantly align pricing terms to current market conditions as they evolve and to obtain greater operational flexibility
to better manage the take-or-pay obligations (volumes and delivery points among others), considering the risk factors
described above. The revision clauses included in these contracts state the right of each counterparty to renegotiate the
economic terms and other contractual conditions periodically, in relation to ongoing changes in the gas scenario. Management
believes that the outcome of those renegotiations is uncertain in respect of both the amount of the economic benefits that will
be ultimately obtained and the timing of recognition of profit. Furthermore, in case Eni and the gas suppliers fail to agree on
revised contractual terms, both parties can start an arbitration procedure to obtain revised contractual conditions. All these
possible developments within the renegotiation process could increase the level of risks and uncertainties relating the
outcome of those renegotiations.

b) Risks associated with the regulatory powers entrusted to the Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and
Environment in the matter of pricing to residential customers

Eni’s wholesale gas and retail gas and power businesses are subject to regulatory risks mainly in Italy’s domestic market.
The Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environment (the “Authority”) is entrusted with certain powers in
the matter of natural gas and power pricing. Specifically, the Authority retains a surveillance power on pricing in the natural
gas market in Italy and the power to establish selling tariffs for the supply of natural gas to residential and commercial users
who opt to adhere to regulated tariffs until the market is fully opened. Developments in the regulatory framework intended to
increase the level of market liquidity or of deregulation or intended to reduce operators’ ability to transfer to customers cost
increases in raw materials may negatively affect future sales margins of gas and electricity, operating results, and cash flow. In
the current environment characterized by rising energy costs, it is possible that the Authority may enact measures intended to
limit revenues of inframarginal power generation and to reduce the indexation of the cost of the raw materials in pricing
formulae applied by retail companies that market natural gas and electricity to residential customers and that development
could negatively affect our results of operations and cash flow in the domestic retail business of natural gas and power. In the
current energy context, characterized by many regulatory interventions at EU and national level aimed at ensuring security of
supply and curbing consumptions and energy prices for final customers, also our GGP business that engages in the wholesale
marketing of natural gas and the power generation business that sell produced electricity on the spot market could be exposed
to a regulatory risk, although on a smaller scale than the retail business due to well-established and liquid spot markets for
natural gas and electricity.
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Risks related to environmental, health and safety regulations and legal risks
a) The Group is exposed to material HSE risks due to the nature of its operations

The Group engages in the exploration and production of crude oil and natural gas, processing, transportation and refining
of crude oil, transport of natural gas by pipeline, transport of LNG by carriers, storage and distribution of petroleum products
and the production of base chemicals, plastics, and elastomers. The Group’s operations expose Eni to a wide range of
significant health, safety, security, and environmental risks. Flammability and toxicity of hydrocarbons, technical faults,
malfunctioning of plants, equipment and facilities, control systems failure, human errors, acts of sabotage, attacks, loss of
containment and climate-related hazards can trigger adverse consequences such as explosions, blow-outs, fires, oil and gas
spills from wells, pipeline and tankers, release of contaminants and pollutants in the air, ground and water, toxic emissions, and
other negative events. The magnitude of these risks is influenced by the geographic range, operational diversity, and technical
complexity of Eni’s activities. Eni’s future results of operations, cash flow and liquidity depend on its ability to identify and
address the risks and hazards inherent to operating in those industries.

b) Eni expects to incur material operating expenses and expenditures in future years in relation to compliance with
applicable environmental, health and safety regulations, including compliance with any national or international
regulation on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Eni’s activities are highly regulated. Laws and regulations intended to preserve the environment and to safeguard health
and safety of workers and communities impose several obligations, requirements, and prohibitions to the Company’s
businesses due to their inherent nature because of flammability, dangerousness, and toxicity of hydrocarbons and of objective
risks of industrial processes to explore, develop, extract, refine, handling and transport oil, natural gas, liquified natural gas and
products. These laws and regulations require acquisition of a permit before drilling for hydrocarbons may commence, restrict
the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment in connection with
exploration, drilling and production activities, including refinery and petrochemical plant operations, limit or prohibit drilling
activities in certain protected areas, require to remove and dismantle drilling platforms and other equipment and well plug-in
once oil and gas operations have terminated, provide for measures to be taken to protect the safety of the workplace, the
health of employees, contractors and other Company collaborators and of communities involved by the Company’s activities,
and impose criminal and civil liabilities for polluting the environment or harming employees’ or communities” health and safety
as result from the Group’s operations. These laws and regulations control the emission of scrap substances and pollutants,
discipline the handling of hazardous materials and waste and set limits to or prohibit the discharge of soil, water or
groundwater contaminants, emissions of toxic gases and other air pollutants or can impose taxes on carbon dioxide emissions,
as in the case of the European Trading Scheme that requires the purchase of an emission allowance for each tons of carbon
dioxide emitted in the environment above a pre-set threshold, resulting from the operation of oil and natural gas extraction and
processing plants, petrochemical plants, refineries, service stations, vessels, oil carriers, pipeline systems and other facilities
owned or operated by Eni.

Breaches of environmental, health and safety laws and regulations as in the case of negligent or willful release of
pollutants and contaminants into the atmosphere, the soil, water or groundwater or exceeding the concentration thresholds of
contaminants set by the law expose the Company to the incurrence of liabilities associated with compensation for
environmental, health or safety damage and expenses for environmental remediation and clean-up. Furthermore, in the case of
violation of certain rules regarding the safeguard of the environment and the health and safety of employees, contractors, and
other collaborators of the Company, and of communities, the Company may incur liabilities in connection with the negligent or
willful violations of laws by its employees as per Italian Law Decree No. 231/2001.

Management expects that the Group will continue to incur significant amounts of operating expenses and expenditures in
the foreseeable future to comply with laws and regulations and to safeguard the environment and the health and safety of
employees, contractors and communities involved by the Company operations, including:

® costs to prevent, control, eliminate or reduce certain types of air, soil and water emissions and handle waste and other
hazardous materials, including the costs incurred in connection with government action to address climate change (see
the specific section below on climate-related risks);

e remedial and clean-up measures related to environmental contamination or accidents at various sites, including those
owned by third parties, as well as decommissioning costs of productive infrastructures and well plugging of industrial
hubs and oil and gas fields once production and manufacturing activities are discontinued;

e damage compensation claimed by individuals and entities, including local, regional or state administrations in
case Eni is found liable of a HSE incident, contamination, pollution of groundwater, soil or the atmosphere, or
violations of HSE laws.
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As a further consequence of any new laws and regulations or other factors, like the actual or alleged occurrence of
environmental damage at Eni’s plants and facilities, the Company may be forced to curtail, modify or cease certain operations
or implement temporary shutdowns of facilities. Furthermore, in certain situations where Eni is not the operator, the Company
may have limited influence and control over third parties, which may limit its ability to manage and control such risks.

¢) the Group is exposed to operational risks in connection with the transportation of hydrocarbons

All of Eni’s segments of operations involve, to varying degrees, the transportation of hydrocarbons. Risks in
transportation activities depend on several factors and variables, including the hazardous nature of the products transported
due to their flammability and toxicity, the transportation methods utilized (pipelines, shipping, river freight, rail, road and gas
distribution networks), the volumes involved and the sensitivity of the regions through which the transport passes (quality of
infrastructure, population density, environmental considerations). All modes of transportation of hydrocarbons are particularly
susceptible to risks of blowout, fire and loss of containment and, given that normally high volumes are involved, could present
significant risks to people, the environment and the property.

d) the Group is not insured against all potential HSE risks

Eni retains worldwide third-party liability insurance coverage, which is designed to hedge part of the liabilities associated
with damage to third parties, loss of value to the Group’s assets related to adverse events and in connection with
environmental clean-up and remediation. Management believes that its insurance coverage is in line with industry practice and
is enough to cover normal risks in its operations. However, the Company is not insured against all potential risks. In the event
of a major environmental disaster, such as the incident which occurred at the Macondo well in the Gulf of Mexico several years
ago, Eni’s third-party liability insurance would not provide any material coverage and thus the Company’s liability would far
exceed the maximum coverage provided by its insurance. The loss Eni could suffer in case of a disaster of material proportions
would depend on all the facts and circumstances of the event and would be subject to a whole range of uncertainties,
including legal uncertainty as to the scope of liability for consequential damages, which may include economic damage not
directly connected to the disaster. The Company cannot guarantee that it will not suffer any uninsured loss and there can be
no guarantee, particularly in the case of a major environmental disaster or industrial accident, that such a loss would not have
a material adverse effect on the Company.

The Company has invested and will continue to invest significant financial resources to continuously upgrade the
methods and systems for safeguarding the reliability of its plants, production facilities, well execution, vessels, transport and
storage infrastructures, the safety and the health of its employees, contractors, local communities, and the environment, to
prevent risks, to comply with applicable laws and policies and to respond to and learn from unforeseen incidents. However,
these measures may ultimately not be completely successful in preventing and/or altogether eliminating risks of adverse
events. Failure to properly manage these risks as well as accidental events like human errors, unexpected system failure,
sabotages, cyberattacks or other unexpected drivers could cause any if the incidents described herein of various magnitude
which could lead in a worst case scenario serious consequences, including loss of life, damage to properties, environmental
pollution, legal liabilities and/or damage claims and consequently a disruption in operations and potential economic losses that
could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects,
financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the
price of Eni’s shares.
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LEGAL, IT AND FINANCIAL RISKS
a) Eni is exposed to the risk of material environmental liabilities in connection with pending litigation

Eni has incurred in the past and may incur in the future material environmental liabilities in connection with the
environmental impact of its past and present industrial activities which has given rise to litigation with administrative bodies
and third parties. Eni is also exposed to claims under environmental requirements and, from time to time, such claims have been
made against the Company. Furthermore, environmental regulations in Italy and elsewhere typically impose strict liability. Strict
liability means that in some situations Eni could be exposed to liability for clean-up and remediation costs, environmental
damage, and other damages as a result of Eni’s conduct of operations that was lawful at the time it occurred or of the
management of industrial hubs by prior operators or other third parties, who were subsequently taken over by Eni. In addition,
plaintiffs may seek to obtain compensation for damage resulting from events of contamination and pollution or in case the
Company is found liable for violations of any environmental laws or regulations. Due to the history and development of the
Group, Eni is particularly exposed to this kind of risk in Italy. The Group is performing remediation and cleaning-up activities at
several Italian industrial hub where the Group’s products were produced, processed, stored, distributed, or sold, such as
chemical plants, mineral-metallurgic plants, refineries, and other facilities, which were subsequently disposed of, liquidated,
closed, or shut down. Eni has been alleged to be liable for having polluted and contaminated proprietary or concession areas
where those dismissed industrial hubs were located. State or local public administrations have sued Eni for environmental and
other damages and for clean-up and remediation measures in addition to those which were performed by the Company, or
which the Company has committed to performing, including allegations of violations of criminal laws (for example for alleged
environmental crimes such as failure to perform soil or groundwater reclamation, environmental disaster and contamination,
discharge of toxic materials, amongst others). Although Eni believes that it may not be held liable for having exceeded in the
past pollution thresholds that are unlawful according to current regulations, but were allowed by laws then effective, or
because the Group took over operations from third parties, it cannot be excluded that Eni could potentially incur such
environmental liabilities. Eni’s financial statements account for provisions relating to the expected costs to clean up and
remediate contaminated areas and groundwater at Eni’s shut-down Italian sites, where legal or constructive obligations exist
and the associated costs can be reasonably estimated in a reliable manner, representing management’s best estimates of the
Company’s existing environmental liabilities.

Although the Company has provided for known environmental obligations that are probable and reasonably estimable, it
is likely that the Company will continue to incur additional liabilities. The amount of additional future costs are not fully
determinable due to such factors as the unknown magnitude of possible contamination, the unknown timing and extent of the
corrective actions that may be required, the determination of the Company’s liability in proportion to other responsible parties,
and the extent to which such costs are recoverable from third parties. These future costs may be material to results of
operations in the period in which they are recognized, but the Company does not expect these costs will have a material effect
on its consolidated financial position or liquidity.

b) Risks related to legal proceedings and compliance with anti-corruption legislation

Eni is the defendant in a number of civil and criminal actions and administrative proceedings. In future years Eni may incur
significant losses due to: (i) uncertainty regarding the final outcome of each proceeding; (ii) the occurrence of new
developments that management could not take into consideration when evaluating the likely outcome of each proceeding in
order to accrue the risk provisions as of the date of the latest financial statements or to judge a negative outcome only as
possible or to conclude that a contingency loss could not be estimated reliably; (iii) the emergence of new evidence and
information; and (iv) underestimation of probable future losses due to circumstances that are often inherently difficult to
estimate. Certain legal proceedings and investigations in which Eni or its subsidiaries or its officers and employees are
defendants involve the alleged breach of anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and regulations and other ethical misconduct.
Such proceedings are described in the “Item 18 - Notes to the consolidated financial statements”, under the heading “Legal
Proceedings”. Ethical misconduct and noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations, including noncompliance with
anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, by Eni, its officers and employees, its partners, agents or others that act on the Group’s
behalf, could expose Eni and its employees to criminal and civil penalties and could be damaging to Eni’s reputation and
shareholder value.

17




Table of Contents
¢) Risks from acquisitions

Eni is constantly monitoring the market in search of opportunities to acquire individual assets or companies with a view
of achieving its growth targets or complementing its asset portfolio. Acquisitions entail an execution risk — the risk that the
acquirer will not be able to effectively integrate the purchased assets to achieve expected synergies. In addition, acquisitions
entail a financial risk — the risk of not being able to recover the purchase costs of acquired assets, in case of a prolonged
decline in the market prices of commodities. Eni may also incur unanticipated costs or assume unexpected liabilities and losses
in connection with companies or assets it acquires. If the integration and financial risks related to acquisitions materialize,
expected synergies from acquisition may fall short of management’s targets and Eni’s financial performance and
shareholders’ returns may be adversely affected. At the beginning of 2024, Eni completed the acquisition of the group
Neptune Energy with a transaction value of €2 billion, which represent the largest acquisition made by Eni in recent years and
this deal could entail integration risks.

d) Eni’s crisis management systems may be ineffective

Eni has developed contingency plans to continue or recover operations following a disruption or incident. An inability to
restore or replace critical capacity to an agreed level within an agreed period could prolong the impact of any disruption and
could severely affect business, operations and financial results. Eni has crisis management plans and the capability to deal
with emergencies at every level of its operations. If Eni does not respond or is not seen to respond in an appropriate manner to
either an external or internal crisis, this could adversely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business
prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock
repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.

e) Disruption to or breaches of Eni’s critical IT services or digital infrastructure and security systems could adversely
affect the Group’s business, increase costs and damage Eni’s reputation

The Group’s activities depend heavily on the reliability and security of its information technology (IT) systems and digital
security. The Group’s IT systems, some of which are managed by third parties, are susceptible to being compromised,
damaged, disrupted or shutdown due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing software, databases or
components, power or network outages, hardware failures, cyberattacks (viruses, computer intrusions), user errors or natural
disasters. The cyber threat is constantly evolving. The oil and gas industry is subject to fast-evolving risks from cyber threat
actors, including nation states, criminals, terrorists, hacktivists and insiders. Attacks are becoming more sophisticated with
regularly renewed techniques while the digital transformation amplifies exposure to these cyber threats. The adoption of new
technologies, such as the Internet of Things (IoT) or the migration to the cloud, as well as the evolution of architectures for
increasingly interconnected systems, are all areas where cyber security is a very important issue. The Group and its service
providers may not be able to prevent third parties from breaking into the Group’s IT systems, disrupting business operations
or communications infrastructure through denial of service, attacks, or gaining access to confidential or sensitive information
held in the system. The Group, like many companies, has been and expects to continue to be the target of attempted
cybersecurity attacks. While the Group has not experienced any such attack that has had a material impact on its business, the
Group cannot guarantee that its security measures will be sufficient to prevent a material disruption, breach or compromise in
the future. As a result, the Group’s activities and assets could sustain serious damage, services to clients could be interrupted,
material intellectual property could be divulged and, in some cases, personal injury, property damage, environmental harm and
regulatory violations could occur. If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could adversely impact the Group’s results
of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the
amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s share.

f) Violations of data protection laws carry fines and expose the Company and/or its employees to criminal sanctions
and civil suits

Data protection laws and regulations apply to Eni and its joint ventures and associates in the vast majority of countries in
which they do business. The General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR) came into effect in May 2018 and
increased penalties up to a maximum of 4% of global annual turnover for breach of the regulation. The GDPR requires
mandatory breach notification, a standard also followed outside of the EU (particularly in Asia). Non-compliance with data
protection laws could expose Eni to regulatory investigations, which could result in fines and penalties as well as harm the
Company’s reputation. In addition to imposing fines, regulators may also issue orders to stop processing personal data, which
could disrupt operations. The Company could also be subject to litigation from persons or corporations allegedly affected by
data protection violations. Violation of data protection laws is a criminal offence in some countries, and individuals can be
imprisoned or fined. If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could adversely impact the Group’s results of
operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the
amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.

18




Table of Contents

g) Eni is exposed to treasury and trading risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk,
commodity price risk and credit risk and may incur substantial losses in connection with those risks

Eni’s business is exposed to the risk that changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or the prices of energy
commodities and products will adversely affect the value of assets, liabilities or expected future cash flows. The Group does
not hedge its exposure to volatile hydrocarbons prices in its business of developing and extracting hydrocarbons reserves and
other types of commodity exposures (e.g. exposure to the volatility of refining margins and of certain portions of the gas long-
term supply portfolio) except for specific markets or business conditions. The Group has established risk management
procedures and enters financial derivatives contracts to hedge its exposures to different commodity indexations and to
currency and interest rates risks. However, hedging may not function as expected. In addition, Eni undertakes commodity
trading to optimize commercial margins or with a view of profiting from expected movements in market prices. Although Eni
believes it has established sound risk management procedures to monitor and control commodity trading, this activity
involves elements of forecasting and Eni is exposed to the risk of incurring significant losses if prices develop contrary to
management expectations and to the risk of default of counterparties.

Eni is exposed to the risks of unfavorable movements in exchange rates primarily because Eni’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in Euros, whereas Eni’s main subsidiaries in the Exploration & Production sector are utilizing the U.S.
dollar as their functional currency. This translation risk is unhedged. As a rule of thumb, a depreciation of the U.S. dollar
against the euro generally has an adverse impact on Eni’s results of operations and liquidity because it reduces booked
revenues by an amount greater than the decrease in U.S. dollar-denominated expenses and may also result in significant
translation adjustments that impact Eni’s shareholders’ equity.

Eni’s credit ratings are potentially exposed to risk from possible reductions of the sovereign credit rating of Italy. Based
on the methodologies used by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, a potential downgrade of Italy’s credit rating may have a
potential knock-on effect on the credit rating of Italian issuers such as Eni and make it more likely that the credit rating of the
debt instruments issued by the Company could be downgraded.

Eni is exposed to credit risk. Eni’s counterparties could default, could be unable to pay the amounts owed to it in a timely
manner or meet their performance obligations under contractual arrangements. These events could cause the Company to
recognize loss provisions with respect to amounts owed to it by debtors of the Company and cashflow shortfall.

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding for the Group may not be available, or that the Group is unable to
sell its assets on the marketplace to meet short-term financial requirements and to settle obligations. Such a situation would
negatively affect the Group’s results of operations and cash flows as it would result in Eni incurring higher borrowing
expenses to meet its obligations or, under the worst conditions, the inability of Eni to continue as a going concern. If any of
the risks set out above materializes, this could adversely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity,
business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock
repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.
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Item 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
History and development of the Company

Eni, the former Ente Nazionale Idrocarburi, a public law agency, established by Law No. 136 of February 10, 1953, was
transformed into a joint stock company by Law Decree No. 333 published in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Italy No. 162
of July 11, 1992 (converted into law on August 8, 1992, by Law No. 359, published in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Italy
No. 190 of August 13, 1992). The Shareholders’ Meeting of August 7, 1992 resolved that the company be called Eni SpA. Eni is
registered at the Companies Register of Rome, register tax identification number 00484960588, R.E.A. Rome No. 756453. Eni is
expected to remain in existence until December 31, 2100; its duration can however be extended by resolution of the
shareholders.

The name of the agent of Eni in the United States is Marco Margheri, Washington DC — USA 601, 13th street, NW 20005.

The Company engages in producing and selling energy products and services to worldwide markets, with operations in
the traditional businesses of exploring for, developing, extracting and marketing crude oil and natural gas, manufacturing and
marketing oil-based fuels and chemicals products and gas-fired power as well as energy products from renewable sources. The
Company is implementing a strategy designed to reduce in the long term its dependence on hydrocarbons and to increase the
weight of decarbonized products in its portfolio with the aim of reaching the target of net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by
2050 to pursue the most ambitious target of the Paris Agreement to limit global average temperature increase to 1.5°C by the
end of the century. Management believes this strategic shift away from traditional hydrocarbons will place the Company in a
very competitive position in the market for the supply of de-carbonized products, combining value creation, business
sustainability and economic and financial robustness, lessening the Company’s dependence on the volatility of the results of
the hydrocarbons businesses. To execute this strategy, the Company has established two business Groups.

The Natural Resources Business Group is committed to build up in a sustainable way, the value of Eni’s Oil & Gas
upstream portfolio, with the objective of reducing its carbon footprint by scaling up energy efficiency and expanding
production in the natural gas business, and its position in the wholesale market. Furthermore, it is focused on the development
of projects to capture and store CO, emissions and of carbon sink, mainly through initiatives of Natural Climate Solutions like
the projects for forests conservation and rehabilitation, carried out mostly in developing Countries, that qualify as REDD+
projects.

The Energy Evolution Business Group is engaged in the evolution of the businesses of power generation, transformation
and marketing of products from fossil to bio, blue and green. In particular, it is focused on growing power generation from
renewable energy and biomethane, it coordinates the bio and circular evolution of the Company’s refining system and chemical
business, and it further develops Eni’s retail portfolio, providing increasingly more decarbonized products for mobility,
household consumption and small enterprises. The Business Group includes results of the Enilive and Refining business, the
chemical business managed by Versalis SpA and its subsidiaries, the Eni Plenitude SpA Societa Benefit (“Plenitude”) and its
subsidiaries which combines renewables generation, gas and power retail and business customers, electric vehicle charging
and energy services in a unique and integrated business model. In addition to these activities, this business Group include the
results of power generation from thermoelectric plants and the activities of environmental reclamation and requalification
implemented by the subsidiary company Eni Rewind.

For IFRS segmental reporting purposes, Eni’s principal segments of operations are described below:

e Exploration & Production: engages in oil and natural gas exploration and field development and production, as well as
in LNG operations, in 35 countries, most notably Italy, Libya, Egypt, Norway, the United Kingdom, Angola, Congo,
Nigeria, Mexico, the United States, Kazakhstan, Algeria, Iraq, Indonesia, Ghana, Mozambique, Qatar, Céte d'Ivoire and
the United Arab Emirates. In 2023, Eni’s average daily production amounted to 1,529 KBOE/d on an available- for-sale
basis. As of December 31, 2023, Eni’s total proved reserves amounted to 6.4 BBOE, which include subsidiary
undertakings and proportionally consolidated entities and Eni’s share of reserves of equity-accounted joint ventures
and associates.

e Global Gas & LNG Portfolio: engages in the wholesale activity of supplying and selling natural gas via pipeline and
LNG, and the international transport activity. It also comprises gas trading activities targeting both hedging and
stabilizing the Group’s commercial margins and optimizing the gas asset portfolio. In 2023, Eni’s worldwide sales of
natural gas amounted to 50.51 BCM, of which 24.40 BCM was in Italy. The LNG business includes the purchase and
marketing of LNG worldwide, with a large proportion of equity LNG supplies.
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e FEnilive, Refining and Chemicals: engages in the supply of biofeedstock and crude oil supply, in the storage,
production, distribution and marketing of biofuels, oil products, biomethane, smart mobility solutions and mobility
services, and in the distribution of basic chemical products, intermediates, elastomers and chemicals from renewable
sources. The results of operations of the Enilive and Refining business and of the chemical business have been
combined in a single reporting segment because the businesses exhibit similar characteristics. Oil and products trading
activities are designed to perform supply balancing transactions in the market and to stabilize or hedge commercial
margins. As of December 31, 2023, the balanced traditional and bio-feedstocks based refining capacity was 528
KBBL/d and 1.65 million tonnes/year, respectively. In 2023, processed volumes of crude oil and other feedstock,
including renewable feedstock, amounted to 19.75 mmtonnes (of which traditional refinery throughputs were
18.88 mmtonnes and bio refinery throughputs were 0.87 mmtonnes) and sales of refined products were
28.01 mmtonnes, of which 22 mmtonnes were in Italy. Retail sales of refined products at Eni’s service stations
amounted to 7.51 mmtonnes in Italy and in the rest of Europe. In 2023, Eni’s retail market share in Italy through its
“Eni” branded network of service stations was 21.4%.

In the Chemical business Eni, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Versalis, engages in the production and marketing
of basic petrochemical products, plastics and elastomers. Versalis is developing the business of manufacturing
chemical products from renewable raw materials, bioplastics and bio-based products. Activities are concentrated in
Italy, in Europe and in the rest of the world. In 2023, production volumes of chemicals amounted to 5,663 ktonnes.

e Plenitude & Power: engages in the activities of retail marketing of gas, power and related services, in the production
and wholesale marketing of power produced by both thermoelectric plants and from renewable sources, as well as in
the e-mobility services. It also comprises trading activities of CO2 emission allowances to help stabilize/hedge the
Clean Spark Spread (CSS) of gas-fired power production and the power sales commercial margin. As of December 31,
2023, Eni’s customer base was over 10 million retail points of delivery (gas and electricity) in Europe (of which 8.2
million were in Italy). In 2023, retail power sales to end customers, managed by Plenitude and subsidiary companies in
France, Greece and Iberian Peninsula, amounted to 17.98 TWh. Retail gas sales, in Italy and in European markets,
amounted to 6.06 BCM.

Eni is engaged in the renewable energy business (solar photovoltaic and wind facilities both onshore and offshore)
through Plenitude which engages in building, commissioning and managing renewable energy producing plants. As of
December 31, 2023, the installed capacity from renewable sources was 3.0 GW, up by 0.8 GW compared to 31 December
2022 (2.2 GW).

When considering installed capacity at other Eni's business segments, Eni Group installed capacity from renewables
amounted to 3.1 GW as of December 31, 2023 (2.3 GW as of December 31, 2022)

With reference to the e-mobility business, as of December 31, 2023, Eni’s network of charging stations for electric
vehicles included approximately 19,000 installed charging points distributed throughout the European territory, in
particular in Italy.

As of December 31, 2023, the installed operational capacity of Eni’s thermoelectric plants was 2.2 GW, with a total
power generation of 20.66 TWh in 2023.

e Corporate and Other activities: include the costs of the main business support functions, as well as, the results of the
Group environmental clean-up and remediation activities performed by the subsidiary Eni Rewind and the economics
of the forestry projects (REDD+), projects for CO2 capture and storage and/or utilization and agribusiness.

Eni’s registered head office is located at Piazzale Enrico Mattei 1, Rome, Italy (telephone number: +39-0659821).
Eni branches are located in:

San Donato Milanese (Milan), Via Emilia, 1; and

San Donato Milanese (Milan), Piazza Ezio Vanoni, 1. Internet address: eni.com

A list of Eni’s subsidiaries is provided in “Item 18 — Note 37 — Other information about investments — of the Notes on
Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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Strategy

The Company is executing a strategy designed to embrace the energy transition and drive a significant improvement in
our businesses’ financial and industrial performance. Through this strategy, we intend to advance the Company’s
transformation and to grow in a low-carbon economy, delivering on Eni’s stated long-term goal of achieving the carbon
neutrality of our industrial processes and products by 2050, addressing GHG emissions of scope 1, 2, and 3. We plan to
monetize the value of our legacy businesses and skills while accelerating the development of new businesses related to the
energy transition, where we expect high growth and consistent returns. The strategic guidelines that will drive our plans going
forward are:

e To actively contribute to the achievement of the 17 UN SDGs, which are reflected in Eni’s mission, particularly the
goals of tackling climate change and securing universal access to reliable, affordable, and clean energy;

e To maximize the integration of the portfolio along the entire energy value chain;

e To retain capital discipline built upon selecting investment opportunities following strict return criteria and executing a
divestment plan to balance growth expenditures better and to maintain strong financial metrics and flexibility;

e To ensure competitive and progressive returns to shareholders;

e To grow the natural gas component of our business, also expanding trading opportunities by strengthening
integration between the E&P and GGP segments, as well as to develop the businesses of renewable energies, biofuels,
marketing of energy and fuels to retail customers, biochemistry, the circular economy, and carbon removal solutions;

® To leverage our proprietary technologies to underpin the development of new businesses;

e To develop our distinctive satellite business model by leveraging our asset portfolio in two ways. First, we have
established controlled entities focused on specific, high-growth market segments related to the energy transition,
which can attract dedicated third-party capital, thus enabling Eni to unlock the value of such businesses. As part of
this, in March 2024, we finalized an agreement with an institutional investor who has subscribed to a dedicated share
capital increase of our Plenitude subsidiary, engaged in renewables, energy retail, and EV recharging, acquiring a 7.6%
minority interest with about €0.6 billion cash proceeds credited to Eni. Secondly, we have created financially
independent jointly controlled entities or associates in our legacy businesses by contributing our assets to newly
established ventures with other operators in specific geographies, aiming to maximize operational and financial
synergies, enhance growth opportunities, and harvest dividends. As part of this latter approach, in recent years, we
established Azule Energy in Angola and Var Energi in Norway by spinning-out our oil&gas assets in such
geographies to financially independent entities, which have been paying significant dividends to Eni (e.g., in 2023, we
collected €1.47 billion of dividends from those entities);

e To leverage alliances and collaboration with a wide range of stakeholders by developing mutually beneficial solutions
and synergies. As part of this guideline, we have successfully grown our vertically integrated agricultural business in
several African countries to produce a renewable feedstock for manufacturing biofuels with a low carbon footprint at
our biorefineries in Italy. This project applies the best sustainability and circular economy standards by repurposing
abandoned land and favorably contributing to local job creation and development without competing with the food
chain.

Our financial plans for the next four-year period 2024-2027 assume a flat Brent crude oil price of 80 $/bbl, a gross capital
expenditures program of around €35 billion, and the execution of asset disposals of about €8 billion (net of expected
disbursements for acquisitions) leading to a net cash flow for investing activities of about €7 billion per year on average. Our
future performance is expected to be driven by: profitable production growth in E&P, expansion of the renewable generation
capacity, continuing margin optimizations at our GGP business leveraging integration with upstream equity projects, steady
profitability in the refining business helped by product optimization and cost efficiencies, the upgrading of the manufacturing
capacity of biofuels and the ramp up of vertical integration with the agricultural business in Africa to secure cheap and reliable
feedstock for our biorefineries, strong marketing performance in retail sales of increasingly decarbonized fuels and energy
products and the restructuring of our petrochemical business managed by Versalis by growing sales of biochemicals and high-
performance polymers.

Our expectations for improving profitability and cash generation at a constant scenario basis in the next four-year plan,
driven by the execution of our strategy, coupled with our current strong balance sheet and financial flexibility, will enable us to

enhance shareholders’ remuneration going forward (see Item 5 — remuneration policy).
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We plan to maintain a strong balance sheet and leverage ratio, which is projected to remain close to our stated medium-
term range of 0.15-0.25 at the beginning of the plan and then declining towards the low end of the range at the end of the plan,
by means of a disciplined approach to capital selection, a cost saving program of €1.8 billion, the execution of a disposal
program of €8 billion (net of expected cash-outs for acquisitions) and continuing cash flow improvement actions (see Item 5 in
the looking forward section).

Decarbonization strategy

The Company’s medium- and long-term strategy and action plan are expected to drive a significant improvement in our
carbon footprint, in line with our objective of the carbon neutrality of all our industrial activities, processes, and products sold
to customers by 2050. The pathway that is designed to lead Eni to carbon neutrality by 2050 consists of a series of targets that
include first net zero emissions (Scope 1+2) of the Upstream business by 2030 and Eni Group by 2035 and then achieving net
zero emissions by 2050 of all Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions associated with the life cycle of products sold.

The implementation of our strategy and our action plan over the coming years are expected to drive a gradual reduction in
our Scope 1+2+3 GHG emissions until we achieve carbon neutrality in 2050 per the following intermediate steps and goals:

e Net Zero Carbon Footprint Upstream (Scope 1+2) by 2030, with intermediate targets of -50% by 2024 and -65% by 2025
vs. 2018, and Net Zero Carbon Footprint Eni by 2035;

e -35% of Net GHG Lifecycle Emissions (Scope 1+2+3) by 2030 vs. 2018, -55% by 2035 and -80% by 2040;

® -15% of Net Carbon Intensity of energy products sold by2030 vs. 2018 and -50% by 2040.

We plan to utilize carbon offsets to compensate for the remaining emissions, mainly from natural climate solutions,
contributing about 5% of the total supply chain emissions reduction by 2050. This pathway consists of a multitude of
decarbonization levers, which function according to market dynamics. It is designed to be in line with society's evolution and
the so-called energy trilemma, namely the need to combine the three key objectives of environmental sustainability, security of
supply, and energy affordability.

Significant effort has been made in recent years, enabling the achievement of important milestones that form the basis of
our future goals:

e Rebalancing the upstream portfolio favoring the gas component, thanks partly to recent business combinations (e.g.,
Neptune Energy, bp Algeria). These transactions reflect a commitment to target a 60% gas production level (including
condensates) by 2030 and above 90% after 2040;

e Continuing biorefining development, with the startup of the Chalmette plant in the United States, agreements to
convert the Livorno refinery in Italy, and agreements for the potential development of plants in South Korea and
Malaysia. These actions are instrumental in achieving an "organic" refining capacity of more than 5 million tons by
2030 (with an intermediate target of more than 3 million tons by 2023);

e Increasing Plenitude's installed renewable capacity, with the goal of installing more than 15 GW by 2030 (with
intermediate targets of 4 GW by 2024 and more than 8 GW by 2027), rising to 60 GW by 2050 (in the context of growing
the customer base to more than 20 million by 2050);

e Establishing Plenitude as one of the most significant players in the electric vehicle charging service in Italy and
Europe, through Be Charge and with its approximately 19,000 electric vehicle charging points installed in 2023.
Business development for sustainable mobility includes installing about 40,000 electric vehicle charging points by
2027 and about 160,000 by 2050;

e Increasing new energy carriers production (e.g., power with CCS) and magnetic fusion, with the first operational plant
expected in the early 2030s;

e Acquiring leadership positions in the UK and Italy to develop dedicated CO2 storage hubs for hard-to-abate
emissions.

A gradual growth in the share of investments dedicated to new energy products and services will support the evolution
toward a decarbonized product portfolio. The share of spending dedicated to Oil & Gas activities is expected to be gradually
reduced, and major investment projects will be evaluated in line with emission reduction targets and the commitment to phase
out investments in highly emissive "unabated" activities or products as a necessary condition to achieve carbon neutrality by
mid-century. Expenditure earmarked for zero and low-carbon activities will amount to €12.8 billion over the 2024-27 four-year
plan.

23




Table of Contents
TCFD disclosures on carbon neutrality by 2050

Aware of the need to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in line with international climate objectives, Eni has embarked on
an industrial transformation that will enable it to achieve net zero by 2050. To ensure transparency to its stakeholders, Eni is
committed to promoting comprehensive and effective climate change disclosure. Eni confirms its commitment to the
recommendations of the Financial Stability Board's Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), which it has
adopted since 2017, the first applicable reporting year. Therefore, this disclosure is structured according to the four thematic
areas outlined by the TCFD: Governance, Risk Management, Strategy, Metrics, and Targets; presented below. For further
discussion, see "Eni for - A Just Transition" and Eni's response to the CDP Climate Change 2023 questionnaire.

In addition, Eni is undergoing a monitoring exercise on the development of soft and hard law regulations related to climate
risk, aimed at assessing its tools' resilience and possible adaptation (with particular attention to the recently updated (June
2023) OECD Guidelines, the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and the European Sustainability Reporting
Standards (ESRS)). This exercise may lead to integrating new tools for corporate climate disclosure.

Climate change-related risk management

The process of identifying and assessing climate-related risks is part of the Eni Integrated Risk Management Model,
developed to ensure that decisions consider risks from an integrated, comprehensive, and forward-looking perspective. The
process guarantees the detection, consolidation, and analysis of Eni risks and supports the BoD in verifying the compatibility
of the risk profile with the strategic objectives from a medium to long term perspective by monitoring the evolution of the key
risks and de-risking actions. Risks, including climate change, are assessed considering both the probability of occurrence and
the quantitative and qualitative impacts on Eni's objectives determined in a given time horizon if the risk were to occur. Risks
are also represented on matrices that allow them to be compared and classified by relevance.

Risks related to climate change are analyzed, assessed, and managed considering the TCFD’s recommendations. These
recommendations refer to both risks associated with energy transition (regulatory, legal, market scenario, technological
evolution, and reputational aspects) and physical risk (acute and chronic) through an integrated and transversal approach
involving the relevant functions as well as the business lines. Risks related to executing planned strategic actions to mitigate
climate change are also considered.

The energy transition policies implemented by the governments of numerous states significantly influence the context in
which Eni operates. These policies define the course of action to realize the commitments made by countries under the Paris
Agreement, particularly with the agreement reached at COP28 on Global Stocktake, which makes explicit reference for the first
time to the need to "transition away from fossil fuels." Commitments to achieving carbon neutrality and the possible change of
consumer preferences could lead to a structural decrease in demand for hydrocarbon in the medium to long term and an
increase in the operating costs of the oil & gas sector.

Uncertainties about demand trends and the economic feasibility of decarbonization technologies make long-term
investment decisions increasingly risky. In addition, the increasing polarization of the public debate on climate change and the
rigorous scrutiny by various stakeholders could lead to difficulties in accessing capital and challenge the "license to operate"
of the companies. In response to these emerging trends, Eni is committed to the execution of a portfolio repositioning strategy
based on gradually reducing the weight of hydrocarbons to benefit the growth of renewable energy, biofuels, sustainable and
environmentally friendly chemicals, as well as the development of emission capture/abatement technologies and low-carbon
energy carriers.

a) Regulatory risk: increasing worldwide efforts to tackle climate change may lead to adopting stricter regulations to curb
carbon emissions, which could increase expenditures in the short term and may end up suppressing demand for our
products in the medium to long term.

At the global level, given countries' commitment to decarbonization, it is conceivable that regulatory developments will
lead to the diffusion of new carbon pricing mechanisms and obligations to introduce minimum market shares of renewable/low-
carbon fuels in the medium to long term. Regarding the European context, Eni is subject to the European Emission Trading
Scheme (EU ETS) and the UK Emission Trading Scheme (UK ETS) for about half of its direct GHG emissions. Under this
mechanism, the company must purchase emission allowances to cover the excess over its free allocations. Regarding the non-
EU area, several developing economies have announced the implementation of carbon pricing mechanisms. However, these
CO2 prices are expected, at least at an initial stage, to be low and have an insignificant impact on Eni's activities. In addition,
the possible adoption of measures aimed at decreasing hydrocarbon consumption or introducing mining restrictions could
reduce the growth prospects of the traditional business, resulting in the need to accelerate portfolio diversification.
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b) Market/Technological risk: in the long term, the projected mass adoption of electric vehicles, the development of green
hydrogen, the deployment of massive investments to grow renewable energies supported by government fiscal policies, and
the development of other technologies to produce clean feedstock fuels and energy may materially reduce hydrocarbons
demand.

Currently, the market is characterized by high uncertainty due to the simultaneous action of several variables: geopolitical
tensions, decarbonization policies (extremely uneven geographically), and supply and demand trends. This scenario
accentuates the complexity of investment decisions and decreases the predictability of how and when the energy transition
will take place. Additionally, technological innovation plays a crucial role in the transition plans of Oil & Gas companies. In the
medium to long term, several technologies aimed at building a low-carbon energy consumption model could reach the
commercial stage, for example, in electric mobility, energy storage from renewable sources, and the development of new energy
carriers. Eni is developing new technologies and energy carriers to transform its portfolio, such as emission capture and
storage, hydrogen production/transport, and magnetic confinement fusion. Failure to anticipate shifts in the supply/demand
trends and fundamental technologies in the energy transition could significantly affect growth prospects, operating results,
cash flow, and shareholder returns.

c) Legal risk: several lawsuits are pending in various jurisdictions against Oil & Gas companies based on alleged
violations of human rights, damage to the environment, and other claims; such legal actions may be brought against us.

Several public and private entities have initiated legal proceedings against major Oil & Gas companies based on
presumptions of liability for climate change-related impacts, alleged human rights violations, and so-called "greenwashing"
practices. Some institutional investors or members of civil society have obtained judgments condemning oil companies to
adopt faster decarbonization plans (although various levels of judgment have yet to be heard); in other cases, they have
demanded recognition of the Board's responsibility for managing climate strategy or have promoted shareholder resolutions
interfering with corporate plans. In 2023, Eni was sued by NGOs and private citizens for alleged responsibility for climate
change. Eni is also a party to some proceedings in California brought by various business entities that complain of revenue
losses due to climate change and claim compensation from oil companies. These events demonstrate how some institutions
and stakeholders are questioning the license to operate of western oil companies perceived by them as unvirtuous or reluctant
to adapt their business model and capital allocation processes to the decarbonization scenario, creating new risk profiles for
operators in the legal field.

d) Reputational risk: the consideration of Oil & Gas companies as poorly performing investments from an environmental
standpoint by financial market participants could reduce the attractiveness of their securities or limit their ability to
access the capital markets. Activist investors have been seeking to interfere in companies’ plans and strategies through
matters of shareholders’ resolutions.

In the increasing polarization of the public debate on climate change, part of civil society (environmental movements,
NGOs, younger generations), government institutions, and other stakeholders perceive Oil & Gas companies as primarily
responsible. This debate increases pressure on oil company boards to accelerate transition strategies and plans and on the
financial sector (asset managers, banks, and insurance companies) to align their portfolios with "Net Zero" targets. Recently,
some large banks and financial institutions, especially in Europe, have announced to stop direct financing of new Oil & Gas
projects. The financial world's disengagement from hydrocarbons could lead to difficulties accessing the capital market and
increasing pressure on Oil & Gas companies' stocks, resulting in higher financing costs and equity risk.

e) Physical risk: extreme weather phenomena, allegedly caused by climate change, may disrupt our operations.

Based on studies in the scientific community, the increased frequency of acute and chronic weather and climate
phenomena with high impact on the economy and life of communities, such as, but not limited to, hurricanes, floods, droughts,
desertification, rising ocean levels, melting of perennial glaciers, and others, is related to climate change. Extreme weather
events could cause prolonged disruptions of industrial operations and damage to facilities and infrastructure, leading to loss
of results and cash flow and increased costs of repair and maintenance, including effects on the supply chain.

Eni has adopted a structured risk management process for identifying and analyzing assets exposed to potential changes
in natural events (acute and chronic) in the medium to long term, which may impact the operability and safety conditions of the
assets themselves. This process allows us to consider different climate scenarios, consistent with varying emission scenarios
and time horizons of short (5/10 years), medium (10/20 years), and long term (20/30 years). Based on data provided by
specialized data providers, the inherent risk of the assets (understood as the inherent exposure an asset has to a specific
natural event due solely to its location and the evolution of the climate scenario) and the residual risk (understood as the risk
level assessed after considering mitigations already in place or planned) are assessed. After mitigation actions, assets that are
still at risk are analyzed in more detail as part of the Asset Integrity process.
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Governance

Role of the BoD. Eni's decarbonization strategy is an integral part of Eni’s business strategy, implemented through a
structured system of Corporate Governance, where the BoD and the CEO play a central role in managing key climate change
issues. Specifically, the BoD examines and approves the Strategic Plan proposed by the CEO, which sets out strategies and
targets, including those related to climate change and energy transition, and, starting in 2019, examines and approves also
Eni’s medium/long-term plan, which aims to outline and monitor the evolution of decarbonization objectives and their
economic and business sustainability in a time frame up to 2050.

Moreover, the BoD evaluates Eni's economic and financial exposure to carbon pricing risk in the preliminary phase to
approve individual investments and monitor the subsequent project portfolio every six months. Annually, the BoD is informed
about the impairment test result performed on the main Cash Generating Units that considers the International Energy Agency
(IEA) Net Zero Emissions (NZE) scenario. Finally, the Board is notified quarterly about the outcomes of Eni's risk assessment
and top risks monitoring, including climate change risk.

Since 2014, the Eni BoD has been supported in performing its duties by the Sustainability and Scenarios Committee (SSC),
established on a voluntary basis, which, among other tasks, periodically examines the integration between strategy,
development scenarios and the medium/ long-term sustainability of the business with a view to energy transition and climate
change. During 2023, the SSC reviewed various topics related to climate change, including R&D activities for the energy
transition, carbon pricing systems, agri-feedstock activities, Nature & Technology based carbon offsets, Eni's positioning on
climate targets and strategies versus peers, Eni's performance in CDP questionnaires, climate resolutions and Shareholders’
Meeting disclosures, Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) projects, and Just Transition related topics.

Concerning the Board composition, based on the self-assessment, about 90% of the Board Members expressed their
positive opinion on the professionalism within the Board — in terms of knowledge, experience, and skills (with particular
reference to advisory, training and publication activities in the energy and environmental field, participation in governmental
and non-governmental, national and international bodies that deal with these issues) — and on the personal contribution that
the individual Board Members make to the Board of Directors in matters of sustainability, ESG and energy transition. These
topics have characterized the work of the new Board since the start of its mandate, including through targeted training
Initiatives.

Role of management. All company structures are involved in the definition or implementation of the carbon neutrality
strategy, reflected in Eni's organizational structure with the two business groups: Natural Resources, active in the optimization
and progressive decarbonization of the Upstream portfolio, Natural Climate Solutions initiatives and CO2 storage projects, and
Energy Evolution, active in the expansion of bio, renewable and circular economy activities and the offering of new energy
solutions and services.

Since 2019, issues related to climate strategy and long-term planning have been managed by the CFO area through
dedicated structures overseeing the process of defining Eni’s decarbonization strategy and the related portfolio of initiatives.
The strategic commitment to reducing carbon footprint is part of the Company’s essential goals, and it is, therefore, reflected in
the Variable Incentive Plans for the CEO and Company’s management. In particular, the Long-Term Stock-based Incentive Plan,
in line with the previous one, includes specific decarbonization, energy transition, and circular economy targets, with a total
weight of 35%, consistent with the objectives communicated to the market and aiming to align with the interests of all
stakeholders. The Short-Term Incentive Plan, in line with the previous one, is closely linked to Eni's strategic transformation
objectives, including decarbonization and energy transition objectives consistent with the Long-Term Incentive Plan, with an
overall weight of 25% for the CEO and, according to weights consistent with the responsibilities assigned, for all Company
management.
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Sensitivity of Oil & Gas asset book values to stress-test scenarios

Our portfolio of oil and gas properties features a large weight of natural gas, the least GHG-emitting fossil energy source.
As of December 31, 2023, natural gas proved reserves represented approximately 52% of Eni’s total proved reserves of its
subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures. The other constituencies of our portfolio of oil&gas properties which are
mitigating the risk of stranded assets are the large weight of conventional projects, featuring low CO2 intensity, and a low
Brent price of breakeven. We estimate our reserves to have an average breakeven price that is fairly lower than current Brent
crude oil prices (this estimation includes our proved reserves and a certain amount of unproved reserves), thus underpinning a
rapid pay-back period.

The low breakeven price of our reserves has been driven by our exploration and development model that features: i)
organic reserve replacement by means of effective exploration, which has been focused on near-field and proven/mature plays
to leverage on existing infrastructures to readily put new reserves into production and to reduce development expenses; ii) a
focus on low-complexity developments; and iii) a phased approach to putting reserves into production featuring early
production start-up and subsequent ramp up to reduce the financial exposure of development projects and accelerate the time-
to-market and the pay-back period. Based on those drivers, we have gradually reduced the breakeven price of our reserves and
improved the resilience to low-carbon scenarios, which also considering the emissive profiles of our assets are expected to
mitigate the risk of stranded reserves going forward. The risk of stranded assets might emerge in case of a structural decline in
hydrocarbons demands because of the transition risks described in previous paragraphs.

Eni’s portfolio exposure to those risks is reviewed annually against changing GHG regulatory regimes, evolving
consumers’ preferences, technological developments, and physical conditions to identify emerging risks.

As part of such review, the management stress-tested the recoverability of the book values of the Company’s oil & gas
assets of the 2023 financial statements by applying the assumptions set forth in the IEA Net Zero “NZE 2050 scenario and
other lowered price assumptions, without assuming any management’s actions on capex rescheduling, reduction or
curtailments, cost revisions or other possible measures to adapt the business to a changed trading environment. The purpose
of those stress tests is to evaluate the reasonableness of the outcome of the impairment review of those assets that is regularly
performed by the management utilizing its own oil pricing, costs and other assumptions and considering proved reserves and
certain amounts of unproved reserves, “the base case”, as well as possible risks of stranded assets that could emerge within
transition pathways that are faster than those forecast by the managements. Those stress tests covered the whole of the oil &
gas cash generating units (CGUs) that are regularly tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. The stress test performed
by Eni’s management of the values-in-use of Eni’s oil&gas assets under the pricing and cost assumptions of the IEA NZE
scenario highlighted a loss of value and potential asset write-downs, all of which were not material based on management’s
judgement. Overall, the stress test confirmed the overall resilience of Eni’s assets. Those stress tests have been performed by
updating pricing and CO2 cost assumptions in management’s cash flow projections and do not assume any change to all other
factors in the models used, such as cost levels, volumes, and the discount rate, to calculate recoverability of carrying amounts.
Sensitivity testing has been performed by applying the alternative commodity price scenarios to cash flows for the whole
period until the end of life of the assets tested.

The results of those stress-tests are disclosed in “Item 18 - Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.
Strategy and Objectives
For “Strategy and Objectives” see paragraph above.

28




Table of Contents
Key performance indicators

2023 2022 2021
of which
Total @ con!;?élgi)ated Total Total
entities
GHG EMISSIONS
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (rnllhonctgr;ré(es 38.69 21.53 3939 40.08
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) by type of source
of which: CO, equivalent from combustion and process 28.67 18.62 29.77 30.58
of which: CO) equivalent from flaring 6.81 239 6.71 714
of which: CO, equivalent from venting 3.04 0.45 2.72 2.12
of which: CO, equivalent from methane fugitive emissions 0.17 0.08 0.20 0.24
Carbon efficiency index (Scope 1 and 2) COzecf/tlgllalgzi 31.90 48,79 3267 31.95
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/100% operated
hydrocarbon gross production (upstream) 20.69 21.72 20.64 20.19
]e)llerciifci;{ Sﬁ?ﬁfﬁ??ééﬁfé’v‘iié)/Eq“”alem (8COeqkWhea) 349 9 388.7 392.9 379.6
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/Refinery throughputs (tonnes
(raw and semi-finished materials) CO,eqg/ktonnes) 232 232 233 228
Direct methane emissions (Scope 1) (ktonnes CH,) 39.1 16.6 49.6 54.5
of which: fugitive upstream 6.0 2.0 7.2 9.2
Upstream methane emission intensity (%) 0.06 n.a. 0.08 0.09
Volumes of hydrocarbon sent to flaring (billion Sm?) 2.1 n.a. 2.1 22
of which: Upstream routine 1.0 n.a. 1.1 1.2
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) (mllhoné(o)r;r;:; 0.73 0.52 0.79 081
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from use of sold
products(b) 174 n.a. 164 176
Net GHG Emissions (Scope 1+2+3)© 200 n.a. 194 210
ENERGY
Electricity produced from renewable sources@ (GWh) 4,242 3,624 2,836 1,166
Primary source consumption (millions of GJ) 497.5 316.2 484.4 529.1
of which: natural/fuel gas 413.9 237.1 395.1 429.0
of which: other primary sources 83.6 79.1 89.3 100.1
Primary energy purchased from other companies 17.1 13.4 17.6 21.7
of which: Electricity 15.0 11.3 15.1 18.3
of which: Other sources® 2.0 2.0 2.5 3.4
Hydrogen consumption 1.6 1.6 1.3 1.7
Total energy consumption 516.2 331.1 503.2 552.5
Energy consumption from renewable sources 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.5
of which: electricity from photovoltaics 0.1 0.1 0.03 0.6
of which: biomass 1.2 1.2 1.1 0.9
Export of electricity to other companies 192.7 173.2 177.8 183.0
Export of heat and steam to other companies 5.2 4.7 5.7 5.4
Energy Intensity Index (refineries) (%) 123.0 123.0 115.5 116.4
Energy consumption from productiop activities/ 100% (Gl/toe)
operated hydrocarbon gross production (upstream) 1.45 n.a. 1.41 1.45
o o e o e e T
PRODUCTION OF BIOFUELS
Sold production of biofuels (ktonnes) 635 n.a. 428 585
R&D
R&D expenditures (€ million) 166 166 164 177
of which: related to decarbonization 135 135 114 114
Patent applications first ﬁlings(ﬂ (number) 28 28 23 30
of which: related to renewable energy sources 14 14 13 11
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@ Unless otherwise indicated, the KPIs related to emission and consumption refer to data 100% of operated/cooperated assets. Direct GHG
emissions (scope 1) cooperated that are related to the Upstream sector amount to approx. 15.4 million tons.

(®) Category 11 of GHG Protocol — Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard. Estimates based on sales of upstream (Eni's share) production in
line with IPIECA methodologies (O&G non-profit association for environmental and social issues).

(©) Net Carbon Footprint Eni (Scope 1+2) plus indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from the use of sold products. Data accounted for on an equity
basis.

() In line with the company's strategic objectives, this indicator is reported on an equity basis. This KPI represents Eni's share and relates
primarily to Plenitude.

(®) Includes steam, heat and hydrogen.

® The 2023 data relating to the patent application first filings, total and from renewable sources, include the contribution of the company
Novamont for a total of 9, all relating to renewable sources.

Key target indicators !

2023 2022 2021 Target

. (million tonnes UPS Net zero

Net Carbon Footprint upstream (Scope 1+2
print upstream (Scope 1+2) C0,eq) 8.9 99 110 @2030
. . Eni Net zero

+

Net Carbon Footprint Eni (Scope 1+2) 26.1 299 36 @2035
Net GHG Lifecycle Emissions (Scope 1+2+3) 398 419 456  Net zero @2050
Net Carbon Intensity (Scope 1+2+3) (gC0O,eq./MJ) 65.6 66.3 66.5 Net zero @2050
Renewable installed capacity® MW 3,056 2,256 1,188 >15GW @2030
>5 million
(million tonnes/year
Capacity of biorefineries tonnes/year) 1.65 1.10 1.10 @2030

@ This KPI represents Eni's share and relates primarily to Plenitude.

1 Indicators accounted for on an equity basis.
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Significant business and portfolio developments

® March 2024 — Eni received the authorization, through Development Consent Order (DCO), from the UK Government’s
Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) to build, operate and maintain the HyNet North West
CO, pipeline to transport captured CO, as part of the HyNet CCS cluster.

e March 2024 - Finalized the sale to Perenco of Eni’s participation interest in several upstream permits in Congo, non-
core to the Company strategy in the Country, after having obtained the approval of relevant authorities.

e March 2024 - Plenitude and Energy Infrastructure Partners (EIP) finalized the agreement for EIP to enter Plenitude's
share capital through a capital increase of €0.6 billion, equal to 7.6% of the Company’s share capital.

e March 2024 - Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Murene 1X exploration well on the Calao discovery
in the CI-205 block (Eni’s interest 90%), in Cote d'Ivoire.

e February 2024 — First shipment of LNG from the Republic of Congo, thanks to the Congo LNG project, sanctioned in
December 2022, came on stream after just 1 year, in line with the initial timeline.

e February 2024 — Plenitude started operations at the new Ravenna Ponticelle photovoltaic plant. The plant has an
installed capacity of 6 MW, covers an industrial area of 11 hectares and comprises over 10,000 photovoltaic panels.

o February 2024 - Successful completion of the Cronos-2 well, drilled to appraise the Cronos discovery in Block 6,
offshore Cyprus.

e January 2024 - The Neptune Energy Group acquisition was finalized. The transaction, comprising Neptune’s entire
portfolio other than its operations in Norway (purchased by Var Energi owned at 63% by Eni) and Germany (carved
out of the transaction).

e January 2024 — Confirmed the decision to build Italy’s third bio-refinery in Livorno.

e January 2024 — Eni obtained ISO 37301:2021 certification of its Compliance Management System from RINA
Services SpA, Italy’s leading certification body.

e January 2024 — Started building a new high-performance computing (HPC) system, HPC6, which aims at significantly
increasing the computational power of HPC4 and HPCS.

e January 2024 - Signed a Letter of Intent between Enilive and Ryanair for the long-term supply of sustainable aviation
fuel at selected Ryanair airports across Italy.
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e January 2024 - Gela biorefinery signed an agreement with Municipality of Gela for the launch of the Multipurpose
Centre Macchitella Lab.

e January 2024 - launched a bond, for a total nominal amount of €1 billion under its existing Euro Medium Term
Note Programme. The 10-year Bond has a re-offer price of 99.277% and will pay an annual coupon of 3.875% which will
remain unchanged to maturity. The proceeds of the bonds issue will be used for general corporate purposes. The
bonds will be traded on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

e December 2023 - Plenitude has signed an agreement with EDP Renovéveis, S.A., to purchase an 80% equity stake in a
portfolio of operational photovoltaic plants (Cattlemen, Timber Road and Blue Harvest) located in the United States.

e December 2023 - Plenitude has reached an agreement with BlueFloat Energy and Sener Renewable Investments to join
their strategic partnership to advance the development of offshore wind projects in Spain.

e December 2023 - GreenlT has signed an agreement with Galileo, the pan-European renewable energy development and
investment platform, for the realization of eight photovoltaic, across three regions in Southern, Central and Northern
Italy.

e December 2023 - signed a voluntary 5-year-term cooperation agreement with the International Organization for
Migration (IOM) to boost youth employment in Libya’s Fezzan region.

e December 2023 - Eni Rovuma Basin (ERB) announced the beginning of production of vegetable oil which will be used
as feedstock in Eni’s biorefineries. This initiative is part of Eni’s strategy to contribute to the decarbonization of
transportation, and it will include Mozambique in the value chain of sustainable mobility.

e December 2023 - Started the distribution of improved cookstoves to families in Rwanda, starting from
the Nyagatare district. The initiative has the target to supply and monitor 500,000 improved cookstoves during the next
10 years to reduce CO, emissions and improve health conditions while cooking

e December 2023 - In the occasion of COP28, Eni has announced its membership as a donor to the Global Flaring and
Methane Reduction trust fund (GFMR), an initiative launched by the World Bank to support governments and
operators in developing countries to eliminate routine flaring and reduce methane emissions from the O&G sector to
near zero by 2030.

e December 2023 - Eni has signed a five-year Sustainability-Linked revolving credit line worth €3 billion, related to two
targets of Eni’s Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework, last updated in April 2023. The margin of the new credit
line is linked to the achievement of sustainability targets relating to Net Carbon Footprint Upstream (Scope 1 and 2), as
well as to the installed capacity for the production of electricity from renewable sources.

o December 2023 - Eni announces that it has received a Gold Standard within the Oil and Gas Methane Partnership 2.0
(OGMP 2.0) program as reported today in the International Methane Emissions Observatory (IMEO) published by the
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP).
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e November 2023 - Eni and Swiss company Open Energy Platform AG (Open EP) signed an agreement to guarantee the
flow of gas to Switzerland and Italy in the event of interruptions or significant flow reductions from Germany. The
agreement will be effective from December 2, 2023 until September 30, 2024. During this period, the Swiss authorities
will not adopt any restrictive measures on Eni’s rights to gas transportation through Switzerland.

e November 2023 - Plenitude signed an agreement with Saipem to install a photovoltaic system with a capacity of about
1 MW at Saipem's offices in Fano, Italy. The system solar power generation capacity will be able to meet almost all the
energy needs of Saipem while improving its energy efficiency and overall sustainability.

e November 2023 - Eni signed an agreement with Saipem, finalized to the study and subsequent potential construction of
plants for the production of biojet, a sustainable aviation fuel, and of the biofuel HVO diesel, produced from 100%
renewable raw materials. The agreement involves the application of Eni's proprietary Ecofining™ technology.

® Qctober 2023 - Versalis has begun the construction of a demo plant in Mantua to develop Hoop®, its proprietary
technology for chemical recycling of mixed plastic waste.

e October 2023 - Eni and the UK Government reached an agreement in principle on the key terms and conditions for the
economic, regulatory and governance model for the transportation and storage of CO, at the HyNet North West
industrial CCS cluster.

e October 2023 - Dogger Bank, the world’s largest offshore windfarm in which Vargrenn holds a 20% stake, produced
power for the first time, transmitted to the UK’s national grid.

e October 2023 - Eni signed a 0.8 bcm/year LNG sales and purchase agreement with Merakes LNG Sellers, starting from
January 2024 for 3 years. This agreement, in addition to the contract with Jangkrik LNG Sellers for 1.4 becm/year, in
place since 2017, expands the overall LNG available from Bontang facility.

e QOctober 2023 - Eni signed a long-term contract with Qatar Energy LNG NFE (5), the JV between Eni Qatar Energy; for
the development of the North Field East (NFE) project in Qatar, for the delivery of up to 1.5;bcm/year of LNG. LNG will
be delivered at the receiving terminal “FSRU Italia”, currently located in Piombino, Italy, with expected deliveries
starting from 2026 with a duration of 27 years.

e October 2023 - Versalis completed the purchase of the remaining 64% participating interest in Novamont from its other
shareholder Mater-Bi.

e October 2023 - Eni signed a Letter of Intent with the pharmaceutical company Dompé to launch joint research and
development activities focusing on the health of people and communities in the areas where Eni operates, as well as
other relevant global health issues.

e October 2023 - Eni announced the important gas discovery at Geng North-1, an exploration well drilled in the
North Ganal PSC, off Indonesia, with a preliminary estimated discovered volume of 5 trillion cubic feet (tcf) of gas and
400 mmbbl condensate in place.
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e September 2023 - Eni UK has been awarded a Carbon Dioxide Appraisal and Storage Licence (CS Licence) for the
depleted Hewett gas field, in the Southern North Sea sector of the UK.

e September 2023 - Eni signed with the Marine XII JV in Congo a purchase contract for LNG volumes from the Congo
LNG project of up to approximately 4.5 bcm/year starting from December 2023. The project and the relative offtakes will
have two phases: in the first phase the Tango FLNG facility will have a liquefaction capacity of 0.9 becm/year, then a
second FLNG with a capacity of 3.6 bcm/year will begin production in 2025.

e September 2023 - Plenitude inaugurated its first photovoltaic plant in the Republic of Kazakhstan, with a 50 MW
installed capacity. The photovoltaic plant will produce up to around 90 GWh of electricity annually.

e September 2023 - Enilive and LG Chem, South Korea's leading chemical producer, announced the beginning of an
evaluation of the development and operation of a new biorefinery at LG Chem's Daesan chemical complex, located
Southwest of Seoul. The biorefinery is envisaged as having a capacity of around 400 ktonnes of organic raw materials
per year and would use Eni's Ecofining™ technology.

e September 2023 - Eni signed an agreement with the local partner Oando PLC (Nigeria’s leading indigenous energy
solutions provider) to divest Eni’ subsidiary Nigerian Agip Oil Company Ltd (NAOC Ltd), with onshore oil & gas
exploration and production activities, as well as the ancillary power generation business. The agreement does not
include Eni’s interest in the SPDC JV.

e September 2023 - Versalis signed an agreement with Technip Energies, aimed at integrating Versalis' Hoop®
and Technip Energies' Pure.rOilTM and Pure.rGasTM purification technologies by developing a technological platform
for the advanced chemical recycling of plastic waste.

e August 2023 — Eni started the production at Baleine oilfield, off the Céte d’Ivoire, demonstrating a rapid time-to-
market, less than two years after the discovery and less than a year and a half after the Final Investment Decision. The
gas production will be delivered to the national grid, enabling the country to meet its domestic electricity requirements,
facilitating energy access, and strengthening its role as a regional energy hub for neighboring countries.

e July 2023 - Vargrenn, a joint venture between Plenitude and HitecVision, and the Irish renewable-focused integrated
utility Energia Group, signed a partnership to co-develop offshore wind projects in Ireland with a potential to deliver
total capacity up to 1.8 GW by 2030.

e July 2023 - GreenlT, a JV owned by Plenitude and CDP Equity, signed an agreement with Hive Energy Limited
and SunLeonard Energy Limited to support the development of four photovoltaic projects with a total capacity of up
to 200 MW. The new sites will be developed in Apulia, Sicily, and Lazio leveraging agri-voltaic technology, installing
raised structures to achieve synergy between agriculture and the production of renewable energy.

e July 2023 - Eni acquired Chevron’s development and production assets in offshore Indonesia. The operation will
ensure the fast-track development of ongoing projects in the area and the integration with Neptune Energy assets.
This acquisition is also in line with Eni's energy transition strategy to increase the share of natural gas production to
60% by 2030. The closing of the transaction is subject to the customary governmental and regulatory approvals.
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e June 2023 - Plenitude finalized the acquisition from Helios UK (Spain) Ltd of a portfolio comprising two photovoltaic
plants with a total capacity of 96.4 MWp in Spain’s Albacete.

e June 2023 - The new Plenitude’s first utility-scale size battery plant of Assemini (Cagliari) realized in Italy started
operations. The plant, with an installed capacity of 15 MW and an energy storage capacity of 9 MWh, has been
realized with battery modules based on Lithium Iron Phosphate (LFP) technology.

e June 2023 - Eniliveand PBF Energy Inc. (PBF) finalized the 50-50 joint venture partnership in St. Bernard Renewables
LLC (SBR), an operating biorefinery co-located with PBF’s Chalmette Refinery in Louisiana (USA). The biorefinery
started operations in June and is currently targeted to have processing capacity of about 1.1 mln tonnes/year of raw
materials, with full pretreatment capabilities. It will produce mainly HVO Diesel using the Ecofining™ process
developed by Eni in cooperation with Honeywell UOP.

e June 2023 - Eni signed with Perenco the agreement for the sale of its participating interest in several production
licences in Congo.

e June 2023 - Eni and its associate Var Energi ASA have signed a sale and purchase agreement to acquire Neptune, a
leading independent exploration and production company with global, low emission, gas-oriented operations, which
also retains several projects for CO, capture. Eni will acquire an asset portfolio which features strong complementarity
at both operational and strategic level with its own, strengthening the presence in key geographic areas, like UK,
Algeria, Indonesia and Australia. Var will consolidate its position in Norway.

e June 2023 - Eni and KazMunayGas (KMG) announced a joint project for a 250 MW Hybrid Renewables-Gas Power
Plant in Zhanaozen, in the Mangystau Region. The project, the first of its kind in the country, comprises a solar power
plant, a wind power plant and a gas power plant for the production and supply of low-carbon and stable electricity to
KMG subsidiaries in the area.

e June 2023 - Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Libya to evaluate possible opportunities to reduce GHG
emissions and develop sustainable energy in the country. Under the terms of the memorandum, Eni will work on
reducing CO, emissions through the reduction of routine gas flaring, fugitive emissions and venting, as well as
possible projects for the reduction of hard-to-abate sector emissions.

e June 2023 - Plenitude through its subsidiary Be Charge signed an agreement with Ikea to provide the installation of 250
latest generation charging station, within the parking areas of stores and Ikea centers throughout the country.

e May 2023 - Kenya Airways made its first flight, powered by Eni Sustainable Mobility's SAF (Sustainable Aviation
Fuel). The conventional JetA1 fuel was blended with Eni Biojet produced by Livorno refinery by distilling the bio-
components produced in the Gela biorefinery

e May 2023 - Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Sonangol to evaluate possible joint initiatives in
the areas of energy transition, including agro-industrial supply chains for the production of low-carbon fuels, the
valorization of biomass for agro-industrial applications and critical minerals.
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e May 2023 - Eni and the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development of Vietnam (MARD) signed in Hanoi a
memorandum of understanding (MoU) to cooperate in identifying initiatives in the fields of agri-feedstock and carbon
credit generation from nature-based carbon offset solution.

e May 2023 - Eni signed a Memorandum of Intent (Mol) with the Government of Republic of Guiné Bissau to explore
potential areas of collaboration in exploration, nature and technology-based climate solutions, agriculture,
sustainability and health. Other areas of collaboration include the evaluation of exploration potential of the country's
offshore area.

e May 2023 - The European Commission and Cassa Depositi e Prestiti awarded more than €100 min to Be Charge for the
construction, by 2025, of a network of over 2,000 “ultra-fast” charging points, with a minimum power of 150 kW along
the main European transport corridors involving eight European countries.

e May 2023 - Eni offloaded the first LNG cargo from Egypt’s Damietta liquefaction plant into Snam’s new regasification
terminal in Piombino, off Tuscany. This was followed the delivery of the first commercial cargo, from Algeria’s Betihoua
plant, in July.

e April 2023 - Eni inaugurated the Congo LNG project, the country's first natural gas liquefaction project and one
of Eni's core supply diversification initiatives.

e April 2023 - Eni and SPP, the Slovakia’s largest energy supplier, signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for a
commercial cooperation in the gas and LNG sector, aimed at evaluating initiatives in the areas of trading and
management of regasification and transportation capacities to secure and strengthen supplies of natural gas to the
Slovak Republic

e April 2023 - The FPSO Firenze sailed out from Dubai to the Baleine field in Coéte d'Ivoire. The FPSO to be
renamed Baleine upon its mooring has been refurbished and upgraded.

e April 2023 - Eni signed agreements to sell biofuels to two of Italy’s largest transport and logistics companies
(Fercam and Spinelli).

e March 2023 - The HyNet North West cluster, comprising five submissions, was confirmed by the UK Department for
Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) to have been granted public funds provided by the UK government to develop
a carbon capture and storage hub to decarbonize hard-to-abate industrial businesses in North-West England.
Furthermore, Eni recently submitted an application to the North Sea Transition Authority (NSTA) for a carbon storage
license to exploit the Hewett depleted natural gas field, in the Southern British North Sea.

e March 2023 - Enivibes, a venture participated in by Eni with an interest of 76%, was established with the goal of
enhancing the market value of a proprietary technology called E-vpms® (Eni Vibroacoustic Pipeline Monitoring
System) The technology is dedicated to the mission-critical monitoring of the integrity of pipelines transporting
liquids.

e March 2023 - GreenIT, a JV owned by Plenitude and CDP Equity (an Italian state agency), signed an agreement with
Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners (CIP) to develop floating offshore wind projects in Latium and Sardinia.

For significant business and portfolio developments occurred from January 2023 to the beginning of March 2023 see also the
Annual Report on Form 20-F 2022 filed to SEC on April 5, 2023.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Exploration & Production

Competitive trends in the industries where the Company operates

In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni is facing competition from both international and state-owned oil companies
for obtaining exploration and development rights and developing and applying new technologies to maximize hydrocarbon
recovery. Because of the larger size of some other international oil companies, Eni may face a competitive disadvantage when
bidding for large scale or capital intensive projects and it may be exposed to the risk of obtaining lower cost savings in a
deflationary environment compared to its larger competitors given its potentially smaller market power with respect to
suppliers, whereas in case of rising input costs due to a shortage of materials, labour and other productive factors Eni may
experience higher pressure from its suppliers to raise the price of goods and services to the Company compared to Eni’s larger
competitors. Due to those competitive pressures, Eni may fail to obtain new exploration and development acreage, to apply
and develop new technologies and to control costs.

Eni’s Exploration & Production segment engages in oil and natural gas exploration and field development and production,
as well as in LNG operations, in 35 countries, most notably Italy, Libya, Egypt, Norway, the United Kingdom, Angola, Congo,
Nigeria, Mexico, the United States, Kazakhstan, Algeria, Iraq, Indonesia, Ghana, Mozambique, Qatar, Cote d'Ivoire and the
United Arab Emirates. In 2023, Eni average daily production amounted to 1,529 KBOE/d on an available-for-sale basis. As of
December 31, 2023, Eni’s total proved reserves amounted to 6,414 mmBOE; proved reserves of subsidiaries totaled 4,842
mmBOE; Eni’s share of reserves of equity-accounted entities was 1,572 mmBOE. Profit per barrel of oil equivalent was 8.58
$/bbl? (compared to 21.07 $/bbl in 2022 and 13.66 $/bbl in 2021).

“Eni’s strategy and short-to-medium term targets in its Exploration & Production segment are disclosed in Item 5 —
Business trends and Management’s expectations of operations.”

Disclosure of reserves
Overview

The Company has adopted comprehensive classification criteria for the estimate of proved, proved developed and proved
undeveloped oil&gas reserves in accordance with applicable U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations, as
provided for in Regulation S-X, Rule 4-10. Proved oil&gas reserves are those quantities of liquids (including condensates and
natural gas liquids) and natural gas which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable
certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward, from known reservoirs, under existing economic conditions,
operating methods, and government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire,
unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain.

Oil and natural gas prices used in the estimate of proved reserves are obtained from the official survey published by
Platt’s Marketwire, except when their calculation derives from existing contractual conditions. Prices are calculated as the
unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of- the-month price for each month within the 12-month period prior to the end
of the reporting period. Prices include consideration of changes in existing prices provided only by contractual arrangements.

Engineering estimates of the Company’s oil&gas reserves are inherently uncertain. Although authoritative guidelines
exist regarding engineering criteria that have to be met before estimated oil&gas reserves can be designated as “proved”, the
accuracy of any reserves estimate is a function of the quality of available data and engineering and geological interpretation
and evaluation. Consequently, the estimated proved reserves of oil and natural gas may be subject to future revision and
upward and downward revisions may be made to the initial booking of reserves due to analysis of new information.

Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled under concession contracts are determined by applying Eni’s equity interest to
total proved reserves of the contractual area, until expiration of the relevant mineral right. Eni’s proved reserves entitlements at
PSAs are calculated so that the sale of production entitlements cover expenses incurred by the Group for field development
(Cost Oil) and recognize a share of profit set contractually (Profit Oil). A similar scheme applies to service contracts.

2 Results of operations from oil and gas producing activities of consolidated subsidiaries, divided by actual sold production, in each case
prepared in accordance with [FRS to meet ongoing U.S. reporting obligations under Topic 932. See the unaudited supplemental oil and gas
information in “Item 18 — Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for a calculation of results of operations from oil and gas
producing activities.
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Reserves governance

Eni retains rigorous control over the process of booking proved reserves, through a centralized model of reserves
governance. The Reserves Department of the Exploration & Production segment is in charge of: (i) ensuring the periodic
certification process of proved reserves; (ii) updating the Company’s guidelines on reserves evaluation and classification and
the internal procedures; and (iii) providing training of staff involved in the process of reserves estimation.

Company guidelines have been reviewed by DeGolyer and MacNaughton (D&M), an independent petroleum engineering
company, which stated that those guidelines comply with the SEC rules?. D&M has also stated that the Company guidelines
provide reasonable interpretation of facts and circumstances in line with generally accepted practices in the industry whenever
SEC rules may be less precise. When participating in exploration and production activities operated by other entities, Eni
estimates its share of proved reserves on the basis of the above guidelines.

The process for estimating reserves, as described in the internal procedure, involves the following roles and
responsibilities: (i) the business unit managers (geographic units) and Local Reserves Evaluators (LRE) are in charge with
estimating and classifying gross reserves including assessing production profiles, capital expenditure, operating expenses and
costs related to asset retirement obligations; (ii) the petroleum engineering department and the operations unit at the head
office verify the production profiles of such properties where significant changes have occurred and operating expenses,
respectively; (iii) geographic area managers verify the commercial conditions and the progress of the projects; (iv) the
Planning and Control Department provides the economic evaluation of reserves; and (v) the Reserves Department, through the
Headquarter Reserves Evaluators (HRE), provides independent reviews of fairness and correctness of classifications carried
out by the above-mentioned units and aggregates worldwide reserves data.

Eni’s Head of Reserves holds a Master's degree in Petroleum Engineering from the Polytechnic of Turin and 5-years
Degree in Civil Hydraulic Engineering from the Alma Mater Studiorum - University of Bologna. He has 20 years of experience
in the upstream industry and in reserves evaluation.

Staff involved in the reserves evaluation process fulfils the professional qualifications requested by the role and complies
with the required level of independence, objectivity and confidentiality in accordance with professional ethics. Reserves
Evaluators qualifications comply with international standards defined by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Reserves independent evaluation
Eni has its proved reserves audited on a rotational basis by independent oil engineering companies*.

The description of qualifications of the persons primarily responsible for the reserves audit is included in the third-party
audit report. In the preparation of their reports, independent evaluators rely upon information furnished by Eni, without
independent verification, with respect to property interests, production, current costs of operations and development, sales
agreements, prices and other factual information and data that were accepted as represented by the independent evaluators.

These data, equally used by Eni in its internal process, include logs, directional surveys, core and PVT (Pressure Volume
Temperature) analysis, maps, oil/gas/water production/injection data of wells, reservoir studies, technical analysis relevant to
field performance, development plans, future capital and operating costs.

In order to calculate the net present value of Eni’s equity reserves, actual prices applicable to hydrocarbon sales, price
adjustments required by applicable contractual arrangements and other pertinent information are provided by Eni to third-party
evaluators.

The volumes and monetary values of the reserves of certain joint venture and affiliated companies are certified on their
behalf in a similar manner by independent petroleum engineering companies and provided to Eni®.

In 2023¢, Ryder Scott Company and Sproule, for consolidated subsidiaries, and DeGolyer and MacNaughton, for equity
accounted entities, provided an independent evaluation of approximately 34%’ of Eni’s total proved reserves at December 31,
2023, confirming, as in previous years, the reasonableness of Eni internal evaluation. In the 2021-2023 three-year period, 77% of
Eni total proved reserves were subject to an independent evaluation.

3 See “Item 19 — Exhibits” in the Annual Report on Form 20-F 2009.

4 For the past three years we have availed ourselves of the independent certification service of DeGolyer and MacNaughton, Ryder Scott, Societe
Generale de Surveillance and Sproule.

5 In 2023 and 2022, Azule Energy and Vir Energi.
6 See "Item 19 - Exhibits".
7 Includes Eni's share of proved reserves of equity-accounted entities.
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Summary of proved oil and gas reserves

The tables below provide a summary of proved oil and gas reserves of the Group companies and its equity-accounted
entities by geographic area for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Sub- Australia

Rest of North Saharan Rest of and Total
HYDROCARBONS (mmBOE) Italy Europe Africa [Egypt Africa Kazakhstan Asia Americas Oceania reserves
Consolidated subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 2023®@ 374 60 964 694 809 933 733 238 37 4,842
developed 261 56 380 555 482 872 379 184 11 3,180
undeveloped 113 4 584 139 327 61 354 54 26 1,662
Dec. 31, 2022® 352 78 806 904 813 941 675 285 79 4,933
developed 271 73 329 655 460 881 383 207 43 3,302
undeveloped 81 5 477 249 353 60 292 78 36 1,631
Dec. 31, 2021 369 81 820 992 1,145 1,032 762 288 82 5,571
developed 283 80 373 852 766 963 445 203 51 4,016
undeveloped 86 1 447 140 379 69 317 85 31 1,555
Equity-accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023®@ 425 8 494 378 267 1,572
developed 235 8 305 267 815
undeveloped 190 189 378 757
Dec. 31, 2022®© 473 9 531 383 285 1,681
developed 257 9 338 285 889
undeveloped 216 193 383 792
Dec. 31, 2021@ 502 10 263 282 1,057
developed 261 10 39 282 592
undeveloped 241 224 465
Consolidated subsidiaries and
equity accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023@ 374 485 972 694 1,303 933 1,111 505 37 6,414
developed 261 291 388 555 787 872 379 451 11 3,995
undeveloped 113 194 584 139 516 61 732 54 26 2,419
Dec. 31, 2022® 352 551 815 904 1,344 941 1,058 570 79 6,614
developed 271 330 338 655 798 881 383 492 43 4,191
undeveloped 81 221 477 249 546 60 675 78 36 2423
Dec. 31, 2021 369 583 830 992 1,408 1,032 762 570 82 6,628
developed 283 341 383 852 805 963 445 485 51 4,608
undeveloped 86 242 447 140 603 69 317 85 31 2,020

(@ Effective January 1, 2023, Eni has updated the conversion rate of gas produced to 5,232 cubi feet of gas equals to 1 barrel of oil (it was 5,263
cubic feet of gas per barrel in previous reporting period). The effect of this update on the change in the initial reserves balance as of January 1,
2023 amounted to 21 mmBOE. Prior-year converted amounts were left unchanged.

(b) Effective January 1, 2022, Eni has updated the conversion rate of gas produced to 5,263 cubic feet of gas equals 1 barrel of oil (it was 5,310
cubic feet of gas per barrel in previous reporting periods). The effect of this update on the change in the initial reserves balance as of January 1,
2022 amounted to 30 mmBOE. Prior-year converted amounts were left unchanged.

(©) Reserves volumes of the Sub-Saharan Africa area, in 2022, are affected by the derecognition of the Angolan companies transferred to the
JV Azule Energy Holdings Ltd.

(@ Reserves volumes of the Sub-Saharan Africa area, in 2021, are affected by the change in the classification of the stake held in
Mozambique Rovuma Venture SpA from joint operation to joint venture.
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Sub- Australia

Rest of North Saharan Rest of and Total
LIQUIDS (mmBBL) Italy Europe Africa Egypt Africa Kazakhstan Asia Americas Oceania reserves
Consolidated subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 2023 211 27 384 139 334 637 485 213 2,430
developed 136 24 204 122 225 576 240 163 1,690
undeveloped 75 3 180 17 109 61 245 50 740
Dec. 31, 2022 188 36 364 167 367 644 433 234 1 2,434
developed 139 32 201 135 212 585 231 171 1 1,707
undeveloped 49 4 163 32 155 59 202 63 727
Dec. 31, 2021 197 34 393 210 589 710 476 237 1 2,847
developed 146 34 225 164 435 641 262 164 1 2072
undeveloped 51 168 46 154 69 214 73 775
Equity-accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023 326 6 207 110 26 675
developed 167 6 107 26 306
undeveloped 159 100 110 369
Dec. 31, 2022® 350 8 235 100 27 720
developed 173 8 135 27 343
undeveloped 177 100 100 371
Dec. 31, 2021 378 9 21 6 414
developed 175 9 9 6 199
undeveloped 203 12 215
Consolidated subsidiaries and
equity accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023 211 353 390 139 541 637 595 239 3,105
developed 136 191 210 122 332 576 240 189 1,996
undeveloped 75 162 180 17 209 61 355 50 1,109
Dec. 31, 2022® 188 386 372 167 602 644 533 261 1 3,154
developed 139 205 209 135 347 585 231 198 1 2,050
undeveloped 49 181 163 32 255 59 302 63 1,104
Dec. 31, 2021 197 412 402 210 610 710 476 243 1 3,261
developed 146 209 234 164 444 641 262 170 1 2,271
undeveloped 51 203 168 46 166 69 214 73 990

(@) Reserves volumes of the Sub-Saharan Africa area, in 2022, are affected by the derecognition of the Angolan companies transferred to the
JV Azule Energy Holdings Ltd.
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Sub- Australia
Rest of North Saharan Rest of and Total
NATURAL GAS (BCF) Italy Europe Africa Egypt Africa Kazakhstan Asia Americas Oceania reserves
Consolidated subsidiaries

Dec. 31, 2023 859 174 3,034 2,901 2,479 1,546 1,303 131 192 12,619
developed 653 167 919 2262 1,350 1,546 725 107 58 7,787
undeveloped 206 7 2,115 639 1,129 578 24 134 4,832
Dec. 31, 2022 869 223 2,323 3,881 2,341 1,560 1,281 264 408 13,150
developed 695 214 670 2,732 1,306 1,560 796 195 223 8,391
undeveloped 174 9 1,653 1,149 1,035 485 69 185 4,759
Dec. 31, 2021 918 247 2,272 4,152 2,953 1,705 1,522 274 428 14,471
developed 729 242 781 3,656 1,759 1,705 971 210 266 10,319
undeveloped 189 5 1,491 496 1,194 551 64 162 4,152
Equity-accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023 515 14 1,501 1,406 1,260 4,696
developed 359 14 1,036 1,260 2,669
undeveloped 156 465 1,406 2,027
Dec. 31, 2022® 646 9 1,562 1,490 1,355 5,062
developed 444 9 1,070 1,355 2,878
undeveloped 202 492 1,490 2,184
Dec. 31, 2021® 654 10 1,285 1,460 3,409
developed 457 10 165 1,460 2,092
undeveloped 197 1,120 1,317
Consolidated subsidiaries and
equity accounted entities
Dec. 31, 2023 859 689 3,048 2,901 3,980 1,546 2,709 1,391 192 17,315
developed 653 526 933 2262 2,386 1,546 725 1,367 58 10,456
undeveloped 206 163 2,115 639 1,594 1,984 24 134 6,859
Dec. 31, 2022® 869 869 2,332 3,881 3,903 1,560 2,771 1,619 408 18,212
developed 695 658 679 2,732 2376 1,560 796 1,550 223 11,269
undeveloped 174 211 1,653 1,149 1,527 1,975 69 185 6,943
Dec. 31, 2021® 918 901 2,282 4,152 4,238 1,705 1,522 1,734 428 17,880
developed 729 699 791 3,656 1,924 1,705 971 1,670 266 12411
undeveloped 189 202 1,491 496 2,314 551 64 162 5,469

(@ Reserves volumes of the Sub-Saharan Africa area, in 2022, are affected by the derecognition of the Angolan companies transferred to the

JV Azule Energy Holdings Ltd.

(®) Reserves volumes of the Sub-Saharan Africa area, in 2021, are affected by the change in the classification of the stake held in Mozambique
Rovuma Venture SpA from joint operation to joint venture.
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Proved reserves of natural gas liquids are immaterial to the Group operations.
Volumes of oil and natural gas applicable to long- term supply agreements with foreign governments in mineral assets

where Eni is operator totaled 2 mmBOE as of December 31, 2023 (5 and 34 mmBOE as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively). Said volumes are not included in reserves volumes shown in the table herein.

Subsidiaries Equity-accounted entities

(mmBOE) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Revisions of previous estimates 303 (64) 4 9 152 216
Improved recovery 7 12 4

Extensions and discoveries 105 118 62 61 8
Purchases of minerals-in-place 4 22 2 2 551

Sales of minerals-in-place (58) (228) ) (1) (49)

Total additions to proved reserves 394 (145) 113 10 719 224
Production for the year (485) (493) (526) (119) 95) (88)

@ The difference compared to production sold of 545.9 mmBOE (566.7 mmboe in 2021 and 532.0 mmboe in 2022) reflected hydrocarbons
volumes of 58.2 mmBOE consumed in operations, changes in inventories and other factors (47.3 mmBOE in 2021 and 55.8 mmBOE in 2022).

Subsidiaries and equity-accounted

entities
(%) 2023 2022 2021
Proved reserves replacement ratio of subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities, all
sources 67 98 55
Proved reserves replacement ratio of subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities,
organic 69 47 55

Eni’s proved reserves as of December 31, 2023 totaled 6,414 mmBOE (liquids 3,105 mmBBL; natural gas 17,315 BCF) and
included the effect of updating the gas conversion factor (up by 21 mmBOE). Eni’s proved reserves reported a decrease of 200
mmBOE, or 3% from December 31, 2022.

All sources additions to proved reserves booked in 2023 were 404 mmBOE; of which 394 mmBOE came from Eni’s
subsidiaries, while 10 mmBOE from Eni’s equity-accounted entities.

The net effect of price changes was a positive 30 mmBOE in 2023 (of which a net positive revision of 27 mmBOE recorded
at Eni’s subsidiaries and a net positive revision of 3 mmBOE recorded at Eni’s equity-accounted entities) due to lower Brent
crude oil reference price used in the reserve estimation process of 83 $/barrel in 2023, compared to 101 $/barrel used in 2022.
This price change led to the removal of reserves which have become uneconomical in the 2023 scenario (negative revision of
37 mmBOE recorded at Eni’s subsidiaries and immaterial revisions were recorded at Eni’s equity-accounted entities) more than
offset by net higher reserves entitlements under PSA contracts (positive revision of 64 mmBOE recorded at Eni’s subsidiaries
and immaterial revisions were recorded at Eni’s equity-accounted entities).
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The methods (or technologies) used in Eni’s proved reserves assessment in 2023 depend on stage of development,
quality and completeness of data, and production history availability. The methods include volumetric estimates, analogies,
reservoir modelling, decline curve analysis or a combination of such methods. The data considered for these analyses are
obtained from a combination of reliable technologies that produce consistent and repeatable results including well or field
measurements (i.e. logs, core samples, pressure information, fluid samples, production test data and performance data) and
indirect measurements (i.e. seismic data). However, for each reservoir assessment the most suitable combination of
technologies and methods is applied providing a high degree of confidence in establishing reliable reserves estimates.

The all sources reserves replacement ratio reported by Eni’s subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities was 67% in 2023
(98% in 2022 and 55% in 2021). The organic reserves replacement ratio was 69% in 2023 (47% in 2022 and 55% in 2021) which
excluded sales and purchases of minerals-in-place.

The all sources reserve replacement ratio during the three years ended December 31, 2023, which included a net increase
of 280 mmBOE related to sales and purchases, was 73%.

The all sources reserves replacement ratio was calculated by dividing additions to proved reserves including sales and
purchases of mineral-in-place by total production, each as derived from the tables of changes in proved reserves prepared in
accordance with FASB Extractive Activities — Oil & Gas (Topic 932) (see the supplemental oil and gas information in “Item 18 —
Consolidated Financial Statements™). The reserves replacement ratio is a measure used by management to assess the extent to
which produced reserves in the year are replaced by booked reserves total additions. Management considers the reserve
replacement ratio to be an important indicator of the Company’s ability to sustain its growth prospects.

However, this ratio measures past performances and is not an indicator of future production because the ultimate
recovery of reserves is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. These include the risks associated with the successful
completion of large-scale projects, including addressing ongoing regulatory issues and completion of infrastructures, reservoir
performance, application of new technologies to improve the recovery factor as well as changes in oil&gas prices, political
risks and geological and environmental risks. See “Item 3 — The Group is exposed to significant operational and economic risks
associated with the exploration and production of crude oil and natural gas — Uncertainties in estimates of oil and natural gas
reserves”.

The average reserves life index of Eni’s proved reserves was 10.6 years as of December 31, 2023, which included reserves
of both subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities.

Eni’s subsidiaries

Eni’s subsidiaries added 394 mmBOE of proved oil and gas reserves in 2023. Additions comprised an increase of 212
mmBBL of liquids and of 878 BCF of natural gas. The breakdown of total additions to proved reserves was the following: (i)
revisions of previous estimates were positive for 303 mmBOE. The main positive revisions were in Bouri and Area D fields in
Libya due to contractual changes and price effects, Val d'Agri field in Italy and M boundi Gas field in Congo. The main
negative changes were reported in Egypt mainly due to the reconfiguration of the Zohr project phase 2, which entailed a
review of the compression design and a downward revision of the relevant reserves, and Blacktip field in Australia. Revisions
also included net positive price effects of 27 mmBOE and the effect of an updating of the gas conversion factor (up 15
mmBOE); (ii) new discoveries and extensions of 105 mmBOE mainly as a result of the final investment decision at the Hail and
Ghasha project in the United Arab Emirates, as well as the Merakes East project in Indonesia; (iii) purchase of minerals-in-place
of 44 mmBOE and mainly related to the acquisition of bp assets in Algeria; and (iv) sales of minerals-in-place of 58 mmBOE
mainly due to the sale of Alliance assets in the United States and a reduction in the stake at the Ghasha concession in the
United Arab Emirates.

Further information and explanations of significant changes with respect to each line item of the movements in net proved
reserves are provided in “Item 18 — Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement - Supplemental oil and gas information”.
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Eni’s share of equity-accounted entities

Eni’s share of equity-accounted entities added 10 mmBOE of proved oil and gas reserves in 2023. The breakdown of total
additions to proved reserves is the following: (i) revisions of previous estimates were positive for 9 mmBOE. The main positive
revisions were in the Coral South project in Mozambique. The main negative changes were in Azule Energy in Angola.
Revisions also included net positive price effects of 3 mmBOE and the effect of an updating of the gas conversion factor (up 6
mmBOE); (ii) purchase of minerals-in-place of 2 mmBOE and related to the acquisition of an interest in the Block 3/05a by Azule
Energy; (iii) sales of minerals-in-place of 1 mmBOE due to the divestment of the Brage field in Véar Energi in Norway.

Further information and explanations of significant changes with respect to each line item of the movements in net proved
reserves are provided in “Item 18 — Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement - Supplemental oil and gas information”.

Proved undeveloped reserves

Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2023 totaled 2,419 mmBOE. At year-end, proved undeveloped reserves
of liquids amounted to 1,109 mmBBL and of natural gas amounted to 6,859 BCF, mainly concentrated in Africa and Asia.
Proved undeveloped reserves of consolidated subsidiaries amounted to 740 mmBBL of liquids and 4,832 BCF of natural gas.

The table below provide a summary of changes in total proved undeveloped reserves for 2023.

Subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities

(mmBOE) 2023

Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2022 2,423

Transfers to proved developed reserves (187)
Extensions and discoveries 104
Revisions of previous estimates 121

Improved recovery

Portfolio 42)
Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2023 2,419

During 2023, Eni matured 187 mmBOE of proved undeveloped reserves to proved developed reserves due to progress in
development activities, production start-ups and project revisions. The main reclassifications to proved developed reserves
related to the following fields/projects: Breidablikk, Fenja, Tommeliten Alpha, Bauge and Frosk in Var Energi, Baleine in Cote
d'Ivoire, Zohr in Egypt and Amoca in Mexico.

For further information, please see the additional information on Oil & Gas producing activities required by the SEC in the
“Item 18 - Notes to the consolidated financial statements”.
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In 2023, capital expenditure amounted to approximately €9.1 billion to progress the development of PUDs.

Reserves that remain proved undeveloped for five or more years are a result of several factors that affect the timing of the
projects development and execution, such as the complexity of development project in adverse and remote locations, physical
limitations of infrastructures or plant capacity and contractual limitations that establish production levels. The Company
estimates that 0.8 BBOE of proved undeveloped reserves have remained undeveloped for five years or more at the balance
sheet date and increased from 2022. The proved undeveloped reserves that have remained undeveloped for five years or more
at the balance sheet date mainly related to: (i) certain Libyan gas fields (0.5 BBOE) where development completion and
production start-ups are planned according to the delivery obligations set forth in a long-term gas supply agreement currently
in force; (ii) Johan Castberg project for Var Energi, the development of which is ongoing and first oil is expected in the last
quarter of 2024 (0.1 BBOE); and (iii) other fields in Italy and Iraq (0.1 BBOE) where development activities are in progress; (iv)
in the Umm Shaif (0.1 BBOE) reservoir in the United Arab Emirates where development is ongoing. (See also our discussion
under the “Risk factors” section about risks associated with oil and gas development projects).

Eni remains strongly committed to put these projects into production in the coming years. The length of the development
period depends on a range of external factors, such as for example the type of development, the location and physical
operating environment of the field or the absence of infrastructure, considering that the majority of our projects are
infrastructure-driven, and not a function of internal factors, such as an insufficient devotion of resources by Eni or a
diminished commitment on the part of Eni to complete the project.

Delivery commitments

Eni, through consolidated subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities, sells crude oil and natural gas from its producing
operations under a variety of contractual obligations. Some of these contracts, mostly relating to natural gas, specify the
delivery of fixed and determinable quantities.

Eni is contractually committed under existing contracts or agreements to deliver in the next three years mainly natural gas
to third parties for a total of approximately 612 mmBOE from producing assets located mainly in Algeria, Australia, Egypt,
Ghana, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Libya, Nigeria, Norway and Venezuela.

The sales contracts contain a mix of fixed and variable pricing formulas that are generally indexed to the market price for
crude oil, natural gas or other petroleum products. Management believes it can satisfy these contracts from quantities
available mainly from production of the Company's proved developed reserves and supplies from third parties based on
existing contracts. Production is expected to account for approximately 99.7% of delivery commitments.

Eni has met all contractual delivery commitments as of December 31, 2023.
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Qil and gas production, production prices and production costs

The matters regarding future production, additions to reserves and related production costs and estimated reserves
discussed below and elsewhere herein are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
the actual results to differ materially from those in such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties relating to
future production and additions to reserves include political developments affecting the award of exploration or production
interests or world supply and prices for oil and natural gas, or changes in the underlying economics of certain of Eni’s
important hydrocarbons projects. Such risks and uncertainties relating to future production costs include delays or
unexpected costs incurred in Eni’s production operations.

In 2023, oil and natural gas production available for sale averaged 1,529 KBOE/d (1,487 KBOE/d in 2022) and increased by
3% due to the ramp-up of the Coral FNLG project off Mozambique and of oil production at Area 1 off Mexico, the start-up of
the Baleine project in Cote d'Ivoire, higher activity in Algeria, which also benefited from the business acquisitions, in
Kazakhstan due to unplanned events occurred in 2022, as well as in Indonesia. These increases were offset by lower
production due to mature fields decline.

Liquids production (768 KBBL/d) increased by 18 KBBL/d, or approximately 2% from the full year of 2022. Production
growth in Kazakhstan and Cote d'Ivoire was partly offset by mature fields decline.

Natural gas production (3,980 mmCF/d) increased by 102 mmCF/d, or approximately 3% compared to the full year of 2022.
Production increases were reported in Algeria, Mozambique in relation to the ramp-up of the Coral Floating LNG project,
Indonesia and Kazakhstan, offset by mature fields decline.

Sales volumes of oil and gas production sold were 546 mmBOE. The 12 mmBOE difference over production on available-for-
sale basis (558 mmBOE in 2023) reflected mainly changes in inventory and other factors. Approximately 67% of liquids
production sold (280 mmBBL) was destined to Eni’s downstream. About 14% of natural gas production sold (1,394 BCF) was
destined to Eni’s Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segment.

The tables below provide Eni subsidiaries and its equity-accounted entities’ production (annual volumes and daily
averages), by final product marketed of liquids and natural gas by country and geographical area of each of the last three fiscal
years.
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Average daily production available for sale (a)

2023 ® 2022 2021

Natural Natural Natural

Liquids gas Hydrocarbons Liquids gas Hydrocarbons Liquids gas Hydrocarbons
(KBBL/d) (mmCF/d) (KBOE/d)  (KBBL/d) (mmCF/d) (KBOE/d)  (KBBL/d) (mmCF/d) (KBOE/d)

Eni consolidated

subsidiaries
Italy 29 178 63 36 208 76 36 218 77
Rest of Europe 18 98 37 20 113 42 19 106 39
United Kingdom 18 98 37 20 113 42 19 106 39
North Africa 123 797 276 122 641 244 124 607 238
Algeria 62 249 110 62 96 81 54 85 70
Libya 59 540 162 58 536 159 67 510 163
Tunisia 2 8 4 2 9 4 3 12 5
Egypt 67 1,242 305 77 1,337 331 82 1,403 346
Sub-Saharan Africa 84 329 147 139 361 207 198 351 265
Angola 52 52 91 91
Congo 36 106 56 40 145 68 44 91 62
Cote d'Ivoire 4 1 4
Ghana 14 76 29 16 76 30 20 77 34
Nigeria 30 146 58 31 140 57 43 183 78
Kazakhstan 114 216 154 87 168 119 101 199 138
Rest of Asia 85 354 153 78 345 143 80 372 150
China 1 1 1 1 1 1
Indonesia 1 343 66 1 271 52 1 269 51
Iraq 23 23 15 15 24 24
Pakistan 50 10 53 10
Timor Leste 7 2 1 17 4 1 40 9
Turkmenistan 6 6 4 4 6 6
United Arab Emirates 54 4 55 56 7 57 47 10 49
Americas 68 45 76 59 54 69 53 55 63
Mexico 22 13 24 14 9 15 11 13 14
United States 46 32 52 45 45 54 42 42 49
Australia and Oceania 36 7 50 10 82 16
Australia 36 7 50 10 82 16
588 3,295 1,218 618 3,277 1,241 693 3,393 1,332
Eni share of equity-
accounted entities
Angola 85 74 100 36 63 49 3 74 17
Mozambique 1 88 18 6 1
Norway 87 244 133 89 274 141 111 297 167
Tunisia 2 2 3 2 3 1 3
Venezuela 5 279 58 4 258 53 2 238 47
180 685 311 132 601 246 119 610 234
Total 768 3,980 1,529 750 3,878 1,487 812 4,003 1,566

@ 1t excludes production volumes of hydrocarbons consumed in operations. Said volumes were 127, 124 and 116 KBOE/d in 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively

(®) Effective January 1, 2023, the conversion rate of natural gas from cubic feet to boe has been updated to 1 barrel of oil equivalent = 5,232 cubic
feet of gas (it was 1 barrel of oil 5,263 cubic feet of gas). The effect of this update on production was 5 KBOE/d in the full year 2023. Prior-year
converted amounts were left unchanged.

(© Effective January 1, 2022, the conversion rate of natural gas from cubic feet to boe has been updated to 1 barrel of oil = 5,263 cubic feet of gas
(it was 1 barrel of oil = 5,310 cubic feet of gas). The effect of this update on production was 8§ KBOE/d in the full year 2022.
Prior-year converted amounts were left unchanged.
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Annual production available for sale (a)

2023 ® 2022© 2021

Natural Natural Natural

Liquids gas  Hydrocarbons Liquids gas  Hydrocarbons Liquids gas  Hydrocarbons
(mmBBL) (BCF) (mmBOE) (mmBBL) (BCF) (mmBOE) (mmBBL) (BCF) (mmBOE)

Eni consolidated

subsidiaries
Italy 10 65 23 13 76 28 13 80 28
Rest of Europe 7 36 13 7 41 15 7 39 14
United Kingdom 7 36 13 7 41 15 7 39 14
North Africa 45 291 100 45 234 89 45 221 87
Algeria 23 91 40 23 35 30 20 31 26
Libya 21 197 59 21 196 58 24 186 59
Tunisia 1 3 1 1 3 1 1 4 2
Egypt 24 453 111 28 488 121 30 512 126
Sub-Saharan Africa 31 120 54 51 132 76 73 128 96
Angola 19 19 33 33
Congo 13 39 20 15 53 25 16 33 22
Cote d'Ivoire 2 2
Ghana 5 28 11 6 28 11 8 28 13
Nigeria 11 53 21 11 51 21 16 67 28
Kazakhstan 41 79 56 32 61 43 37 73 51
Rest of Asia 31 129 56 28 126 52 29 136 55
China
Indonesia 125 24 99 19 98 19
Iraq 9 9 6 6 9 9
Pakistan 18 3 19 4
Timor Leste 3 1 7 1 1 15 3
Turkmenistan 2 2 2 2 2 2
United Arab Emirates 20 1 20 20 2 21 17 4 18
Americas 25 17 28 22 20 25 19 20 23
Mexico 8 5 9 5 3 5 4 5 5
United States 17 12 19 17 17 20 15 15 18
Australia and Oceania 13 3 18 4 30 6
Australia 13 3 18 4 30 6
214 1,203 444 226 1,196 453 253 1,239 486
Eni share of equity-
accounted entities
Angola 31 27 36 13 23 18 1 27 6
Mozambique 32 7 2 1
Norway 32 89 49 33 100 51 41 109 61
Tunisia 1 1 1 1 1 1
Venezuela 2 102 21 1 95 19 1 87 17
66 250 114 48 220 90 44 223 85
Total 280 1,453 558 274 1,416 543 297 1,462 571

@ 1t excludes production volumes of hydrocarbons consumed in operations. Said volumes were 46.2, 45.1 and 42.4 mmBOE in 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

(b) Effective January 1, 2023, the conversion rate of natural gas from cubic feet to boe has been updated to 1 barrel of oil = 5,232 cubic feet of
gas (it was 1 barrel of oil = 5,263 cubic feet of gas). The effect of this update on production expressed in boe was approximately 2 mmboe for the
full year of 2023. Prior-year converted amounts were left unchanged.

(©) Effective January 1, 2022, the conversion rate of natural gas from cubic feet to boe has been updated to 1 barrel of oil = 5,263 cubic feet of gas
(it was 1 barrel of oil = 5,310 cubic feet of gas). The effect of this update on production expressed in boe was approximately 3 mmBOE for the
full year of 2022. Prior-year converted amounts were left unchanged.
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Volumes of oil and natural gas purchased under long-term supply contracts with foreign governments or similar entities in
properties where Eni acts as producer totaled 33 KBOE/d, 35 KBOE/d and 43 KBOE/d in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The tables below provide Eni subsidiaries and its equity-accounted entities’ average sales prices per unit of liquids and
natural gas by geographical area for each of the last three fiscal years. In addition, Eni subsidiaries and its equity-accounted
entities” average production cost per unit of production are provided.

(€]
2021
Sub- Australia

Rest of North Saharan Rest of and
Consolidated subsidiaries Italy Europe Africa Egypt Africa Kazakhstan Asia Americas Oceania _Total
Oil and condensates, per BBL 6126 7060 6803 63.53 69.12 6692  68.39 61.93 5876 66.91
Natural gas, per KCF 1547  15.75 642 4.74 432 0.54 6.21 4.06 425 593
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 7242 7848 5151 3418 5824 4937 5148 55.66 23.03 49.82
Average production cost, per BOE 13.74 1235 791 3.74 10.00 4.96 543 14.72 352 7.39
Equity-accounted entities
Oil and condensates, per BBL 66.72  17.89 44.41 57.75 65.1
Natural gas, per KCF 15.11 5.83 14.68 432 10.71
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 71.19  18.69 70.02 24.99 61.11
Average production cost, per BOE 7.53 7.36 471 0.99 6.00
2022
Consolidated subsidiaries
Oil and condensates, per BBL 6707 9394 9211 8764 103.96 86.94 94.13 92.03 60.89 92.41
Natural gas, per KCF 2032 3022 1052 5.5 4.99 0.69 10.57 6.48 410 8.61
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 8798 12803 7329 4264 @ 83.12 64.59  76.85 8345 2225 69.07
Average production cost, per BOE 14.77  13.15 5.75 422 12.12 5.85 6.56 17.05 6.15 7.94
Equity-accounted entities
Oil and condensates, per BBL 9751 17.82 85.71 88.39 92.97
Natural gas, per KCF 31.02 9.67 33.79 476 19.87
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 121.12 1931 108.43 29.27 98.29
Average production cost, per BOE 11.58 7.57 14.15 1.32 9.86
2023
Consolidated subsidiaries
Oil and condensates, per BBL 6776 7277 7262 71.09 81.79 7271  80.19 75.30 54.02 74.87
Natural gas, per KCF 13.67 1444 9.44 547 5.36 0.74 10.38 322 416  7.28
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 69.80 7431 6064 3798 6051 5401 69.03 68.89 2211 56.23
Average production cost, per BOE 1636  16.21 5.57 422 13.21 5.12 5.90 18.22 10.68  7.84
Equity-accounted entities
Oil and condensates, per BBL 7933 18.00 75.26 67.62 76.60
Natural gas, per KCF 20.53 9.69 11.94 522 12.18
Total hydrocarbons, per BOE 88.95 1931 72.12 30.76 71.32
Average production cost, per BOE 1246  10.09 13.48 1.00 10.70
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Development well activity

In 2023, a total of 165 development wells were drilled (83.6 of which represented Eni’s share) as compared to 187
development wells drilled in 2022 (71.1 of which represented Eni’s share) and 154 development wells drilled in 2021 (47.7 of
which represented Eni’s share).

The drilling of 76 development wells (27.6 of which represented Eni’s share) is currently underway.

The table below summarizes the number of the Company’s net interest in productive and dry development wells
completed in each of the past three years and the s tatus of the Company’s development wells in the process of being drilled
as of December 31, 2023. A dry well is one found to be incapable of producing either oil or gas in sufficient quantities to justify
completion as an oil or gas well.

(units)

Italy

Rest of Europe

North Africa

Egypt

Sub-Saharan Africa
Kazakhstan

Rest of Asia
Americas

Australia and Oceania
Total including equity-
accounted entities

Net wells completed

Wells in progress at

31 Dec.

2023 2022 2021 2023
Productive Dry Productive Dry Productive Dry Gross Net
1.0 1.0 2.0 1.2
4.8 4.6 4.8 16.0 22
9.3 5.7 0.5 2.5 6.0 39
30.1 19.9 17.0 0.8 9.0 6.8
5.6 8.5 38 13.0 4.5
2.0 0.6 1.0 03
229 22.1 14.9 27.0 7.7
6.9 82 39 2.0 1.0

1.0

83.6 70.6 0.5 46.9 0.8 76.0 27.6
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Exploration well activity

In 2023, a total of 39 new exploratory wells were drilled (21.6 of which represented Eni’s share), as compared to 40
exploratory wells drilled in 2022 (18.9 of which represented Eni’s share) and 31 exploratory wells drilled in 2021 (17.4 of which

represented Eni’s share).

The overall commercial success rate was 34.5% (38% net to Eni) as compared to 45% (44% net to Eni) and 54% (49% net
to Eni) in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s net interests in productive and dry exploratory wells completed in each of
the last three fiscal years and the number of exploratory wells in the process of being drilled and evaluated as of December 31,
2023. A dry well is one found to be incapable of producing either oil or gas in sufficient quantities to justify completion as an
oil or gas well. For further information on the ageing of suspended wells see “Item 18 - Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.”

Exploratory Well
Activity

(units)

Italy

Rest of Europe

North Africa

Egypt

Sub-Saharan Africa
Kazakhstan

Rest of Asia
Americas

Australia and Oceania
Total including equity-
accounted entities

Net wells completed

Wells in progress at

Dec. 31
2023 2022 2021 2023

Productive Dry Productive Dry Productive Dry Gross Net
0.1 04 04 1.2 0.1 0.3 31.0 7.8
1.6 1.0 4.0 9.0 6.0
5.0 4.6 44 43 5.0 5.0 10.0 74
03 0.9 3.7 24 1.1 04 350 17.5
0.9 1.3 0.7 1.0 0.7 1.0 15.0 6.8
14 0.7 4.0 23
1.0 0.3
6.3 10.2 10.2 12.9 7.0 7.4 105.0 48.1
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Oil and gas properties, operations and acreage

In 2023, Eni performed its operations in thirty-five countries located in five continents. As of December 31, 2023, Eni’s
mineral right portfolio consisted of 744 exclusive or shared rights of exploration and development oil and gas activities. Total
acreage amounts to 301,308 square kilometers net to Eni (total acreage was 308,550 square kilometers net to Eni as of December
31, 2022). Developed acreage was 27,069 square kilometers and undeveloped acreage was 274,239 square kilometers net to Eni.

In 2023 new leases were purchased or awarded in Egypt, Timor Leste, Indonesia, Algeria, Norway, Angola, the United
Kingdom and Céte d'Ivoire for a total increase in acreage of approximately 21,400 square kilometers. Relinquishment for the
year related mainly to Kenya, Vietnam, Indonesia, Gabon, Egypt, Algeria, Mozambique, Lebanon and Norway covering an
acreage of approximately 31,800 square kilometers. Interest increases were reported mainly in Kenya, Indonesia, Mexico, and
Norway for a total acreage of approximately 7,200 square kilometers. Partial relinquishment was reported mainly in Algeria, the
United Arab Emirates, Indonesia, Cote d'Ivoire, Mexico, Italy, Egypt and Lebanon for approximately 4,100 square kilometers.

Eni’s investment in developed and undeveloped acreage is comprised of numerous concessions, blocks and leases. The
terms and conditions under which the Company maintains exploration and/or production rights to the acreage are property-
specific, contractually defined and vary significantly from property to property. Work programs are designed to ensure that the
exploration potential of any property is fully evaluated before expiration. In some instances, Eni may elect to relinquish acreage
in advance of the contractual expiration date if the evaluation process is complete and there is not a business basis for
extension. In cases where additional time may be required to fully evaluate acreage, Eni has generally been successful in
obtaining extensions. The scheduled expiration of leases and concessions for undeveloped acreage over the next three years
is not expected to have a material adverse impact on the Company.

The gross undeveloped acreages that will expire in the next three years are related to exploration leases, blocks,
concessions in: (i) Rest of Europe, in particular in Cyprus and Albania; (ii) Rest of Asia, in particular in Oman, Vietnam,
Indonesia and the United Arab Emirates; (iii) North Africa, in particular in Morocco, Libya and Egypt; (iv) Sub-Saharan Africa,
in particular in Kenya, Angola, Cote d'Ivoire and Mozambique; and (v) Americas, in particular in Mexico. In most cases
extension or renewal options are contractually defined and may or may not be exercised depending on the results of the
studies and the planned activities. Management believes that a significant amount of acreage will be maintained following
extension or renewal.

The table below provides certain information about the Company’s oil&gas properties. It provides the total gross and net
developed and undeveloped oil and natural gas acreage in which the Group and its equity-accounted entities had interest as of

December 31, 2023. A gross acreage is one in which Eni owns a working interest.
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December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023
Gross Gross Net Net
Total net Number developed undeveloped Total gross developed undeveloped Total net
acreage ® ofinterests acreage W®  acreage® acreage® acreage®® acreage® acreage @
EUROPE 33,632 296 13,340 57,973 71,313 7,774 27,472 35,246
Italy 10,884 111 7,556 4,809 12,365 6,378 4,052 10,430
Rest of Europe 22,748 185 5,784 53,164 58,948 1,396 23,420 24,816
Albania 587 1 587 587 587 587
Cyprus 13,988 7 25,474 25,474 13,988 13,988
Norway 6,686 142 4,838 25,339 30,177 763 7,398 8,161
United Kingdom 1,487 35 946 1,764 2,710 633 1,447 2,080
AFRICA 117,396 297 51,139 226,691 277,830 14,098 99,144 113,242
North Africa 43,080 92 15,269 105,698 120,967 6,360 35,872 42,232
Algeria 8,720 65 10,010 8,067 18,077 3,919 3,953 7,872
Libya 24,644 14 1,963 78,085 80,048 958 23,686 24,644
Morocco 7,529 1 16,730 16,730 7,529 7,529
Tunisia 2,187 12 3,296 2,816 6,112 1,483 704 2,187
Egypt 7,103 53 4,851 29,187 34,038 1,706 10,721 12,427
Sub-Saharan Africa 67,213 152 31,019 91,806 122,825 6,032 52,551 58,583
Angola 6,516 83 10,927 34,958 45,885 912 6,721 7,633
Congo 1,299 19 971 1,320 2,291 586 713 1,299
Cote d'Ivoire 4,000 7 1,658 2,865 4,523 1,382 2,578 3,960
Gabon 2,931
Ghana 495 3 226 930 1,156 100 395 495
Kenya 41,892 3 35,724 35,724 35,724 35,724
Mozambique 3,868 7 719 7,803 8,522 180 3,080 3,260
Nigeria 6,212 30 16,518 8,206 24,724 2,872 3,340 6,212
ASIA 145,585 52 10,389 253,595 263,984 3,540 137,031 140,571
Kazakhstan 1,947 7 2,391 3,853 6,244 442 1,505 1,947
Rest of Asia 143,638 45 7,998 249,742 257,740 3,098 135,526 138,624
China 10 2 43 43 7 7
Indonesia 12,106 12 3,252 16,505 19,757 2,092 10,036 12,128
Iraq 446 1 1,074 1,074 446 446
Lebanon 1,461 1 1,742 1,742 610 610
Oman 58,955 3 102,016 102,016 58,955 58,955
Qatar 38 1 1,206 1,206 38 38
Timor Leste 1,928 5 412 6,232 6,644 122 5,838 5,960
Turkmenistan 180 1 200 200 180 180
United Arab
Emirates 18,662 12 3,017 29,603 32,620 251 17,579 17,830
Vietnam 28,633 4 23,908 23,908 21,251 21,251
Other Countries
© 21,219 3 68,530 68,530 21,219 21,219
AMERICAS 9,186 95 2,152 14,332 16,484 1,023 8,475 9,498
Mexico 3,107 10 34 5,198 5,232 34 3,408 3,442
United States 654 73 857 280 1,137 492 139 631
Venezuela 1,066 6 1,261 1,543 2,804 497 569 1,066
Other Countries 4,359 6 7,311 7,311 4,359 4,359
AUSTRALIA AND
OCEANIA 2,751 4 728 2,608 3,336 634 2,117 2,751
Australia 2,751 4 728 2,608 3,336 634 2,117 2,751
Total 308,550 744 77,748 555,199 632,947 27,069 274,239 301,308

@ Square kilometers

() Developed acreage refers to those leases in which at least a portion of the area is in production or encompasses proved developed reserves.
(© Includes exploration acreage in Russia that are expected to be relinquished.
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The table below sets forth, as of December 31, 2023 and by main producing countries in each geographic area, Eni’s
producing assets, the year in which Eni’s activities started, the Eni’s participating interest in each asset and whether Eni is
operator of the asset. The table does not include the assets held by the joint ventures and associates. In particular: (i) in
Angola, the Azule Energy joint venture (Eni's interest 50%) holds interests in 83 licenses (of which 56 development licenses
and 27 exploration licenses) relating to 20 blocks (of which 5 exploration blocks) and also in the Angola LNG JV; (ii) in Norway,
the Var Energi associate (Eni's interest 63.1%) holds interests in 142 licences (of which 83 development licenses and 59
exploration licenses); (iii) in Mozambique, the Mozambique Rovuma Venture SpA joint venture (Eni's interest 35.71%) is the
operator of the Area 4 production licence; (iv) in Venezuela, where the Cardon IV (Eni's interest 50%), PetroSucre (Eni’s interest
26%) and PetroJunin (Eni’s interest 40%) joint ventures holds interests in the Perla, Corocoro and Junin 5 production fields,
respectively; and (v) in Tunisia, where operate the Société Italo Tunisienne d’Exploitation Pétroliére (Eni’s interest 50%) and
Sodeps (Eni’s interest 50%) joint ventures.
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Adriatic and Ionian Sea: Barbara (100%), Annamaria (100%), Clara NW (51%), Hera Lacinia (100%) and

ITALY (1926) Operated Bonaccia (100%)
Basilicata Region: Val d'Agri (61%)
Sicily: Gela (100%), Tresauro (75%), Giaurone (100%), Fiumetto (100%), Prezioso (100%) and Bronte (100%)
REST OF EUROPE
United Kingdom (1964) Operated Liverpool Bay (100%)
Non-operated Elgin/Franklin (21.87%), Glenelg (8%), J Block (33%), Jasmine (33%) and Jade (7%)
NORTH AFRICA
Operated Sif Fatima II (49%), Zemlet El Arbi (49%), Ourhoud II (49%), Blocks 403a/d (from 65% to 100%), Block ROM
North (35%), Blocks 401a/402a (100%), Block 403 (50%), Block 405b (75%), Berkine South (75%), In Amenas
Algeria (1981) (45.89%) and In Salah (33.15%)
Non-operated Block 404-208 (17.5%)
Onshore contract areas: Area A (former concession 82 - 50%), Area B (former concession 100/ Bu-Attifel and
Libya @ (1959) Operated Block NC 125 - 50%), Area E (El-Feel - 33.3%) and Area D (Block NC 169 - 50%)
Offshore contract areas: Area C (Bouri - 50%) and Area D (Block NC 41 - 50%)
Tunisi 1961
unista asen Operated Maamoura (49%), Baraka (49%), Adam (25%), Oued Zar (50%) and Djebel Grouz (50%)
Operated Shorouk (Zohr - 50%), Nile Delta (Abu Madi West/Nidoco - 75%), Sinai (Belayim Land, Belayim Marine, Abu
Rudeis and Sinai Ras Gharra - 100%), Meleiha (76%), North Port Said (Port Fouad - 100%), Temsah (Tuna,
Temsah and Denise - 50%), Southwest Meleiha (75%), Baltim (50%), North El Hammad Offshore (Bashrush -
EGYPT @®) (1954) 37.5%) and East Obayed (Faramid - 75%).
Non-operated Ras el Barr (Ha'py and Seth - 50%) and South Ghara (25%).
SUB-SAHARAN
AFRICA
Operated Néné-Banga Marine and Litchendjili (Block Marine XII, 65%), Ikalou (85%), Djambala (50%), Foukanda (58%),
Congo (1968) Mwafi (58%), Kitina (52%), Awa Paloukou (90%) and M’Boundi (83%).
Non-operated Yanga Sendji (29.75%) and Likouala (35%).
Cote d'Ivoire (2015) Operated Baleine (77.25%)
Ghana
(2009) Operated Offshore Cape Three Points (44.44%)
Operated OMLs 60, 61, 62 and 63 (20%) and OML 125 (100%)
Nigeria (1962)
Non-operated (c) OML 118 (12.5%)
(d) Karachaganak (29.25%
KAZAKHSTAN @ 50, Operated ganak (29.25%)
Non-operated Kashagan (16.81%)
REST OF ASIA
I .
ndonesia (2001) Operated Jangkrik (55%) and Merakes (65%)
Iraq (2009) Non-operated () Zubair (41.56%)
Turkmenistan
(2008) Operated Burun (90%)
United Arab Emirates (2018) Non-operated Lower Zakum (5%), Umm Shaif and Nasr (10%) and Area B - Sharjah ( 50%)
AMERICAS
Mexi 2019
exico (2019) Operated Area 1 (100%)
Operated Gulf of Mexico: Allegheny (100%), Appaloosa (100%), Pegasus (100%), Longhorn (75%), Devils Towers
United States (1968) P (100%) and Triton (100%)

Alaska: Nikaitchug (100%) and Oooguruk (100%)

Non-operated

Gulf of Mexico: Europa (32%), Medusa (25%), Lucius (14.45%), K2 (13.4%), Frontrunner (37.5%) and
Heidelberg (12.5%)
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@ In certain extractive initiatives, Eni and the host Country agree to assign the operatorship of a given initiative to an incorporated joint
venture, a so-called operating company. The operating company in its capacity as the operator is responsible of managing extractive
operations. Those operating companies are not controlled by Eni.

®) Eni’s working interests (and not participating interests) are reported. This include Eni’s share of costs incurred on behalf of the first party
accordingly to the terms of PSAs inforce in the Country.

© As partners of SPDC JV, Eni holds a 5% interest in 16 onshore blocks and in 1 conventional offshore block and with a 12.86% in 2
conventional offshore blocks.

(9) Eni and Shell are co-operators.

©) Eniis leading a consortium of partners including Kogas and the national oil companies Missan Oil and Basra Oil within a Technical Service
Contract as contractor.

The table below provides the number of gross and net productive oil and natural gas wells in which the Group companies
and its equity-accounted entities had an interest as of December 31, 2023. A gross well is a well in which Eni owns a working
interest. The number of gross wells is the total number of wells in which Eni owns a whole or fractional working interest. The
number of net wells is the sum of the whole or fractional working interests in a gross well. One or more completions in the same
borehole are counted as one well. Productive wells are producing wells and wells capable of production. The total number of
oil and natural gas productive wells is 7,373 (2,534.5 of which represent Eni’s share).

Productive oil and gas wells at Dec. 31,2023 @

(units) 0il Wells Natural gas Wells
Gross Net Gross Net

Italy 130.0 1172 327.0 2894
Rest of Europe 456.0 78.7 226.0 479
North Africa 644.0 292.1 260.0 123.5
Egypt 1,093.0 499.1 150.0 513
Sub-Saharan Africa 2,297.0 387.5 174.0 24.5
Kazakhstan 211.0 577 1.0 03
Rest of Asia 1,030.0 3709 100.0 414
Americas 257.0 143.1 14.0 6.9
Australia and Oceania 3.0 3.0
Total including equity-accounted entities 6,118.0 1,946.3 1,255.0 588.2

@ Multiple completion wells included above: approximateley 997 (303.2 net to Eni)

Eni’s exploration and production activities are subject to a broad range of laws and regulations. These cover virtually all
aspects of exploration and production activities, including matters such as license acquisition, production rates, royalties,
pricing, environmental protection, export, taxes and foreign exchange. The terms and condition of the leases, licenses and
contracts under which these oil&gas interests are held vary from country to country. These leases, licenses and contracts are
generally granted by or entered into with a government entity or state company and are sometimes entered into with private
property owners. These contractual arrangements usually take the form of concession agreements or production sharing
agreements:

- Concession contracts are currently applied mainly in OECD countries and regulate relationships between States and oil
companies with regards to hydrocarbon exploration and production activity. The company holding the mining concession has
an exclusive right on exploration, development and production activities, sustaining all the operational risks and costs related
to the exploration and development activities, and it is entitled to the productions obtained. As compensation for mineral
concessions, it pays royalties on production (which may be in cash or in-kind) and taxes on oil revenues to the state in
accordance with local tax legislation. Both exploration and production licenses are granted generally for a specified period of
time (except for production licenses in the United States which remain in effect until production ceases): the term of Eni’s
licenses and the extent to which these licenses may be renewed vary by area. Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled are
determined by applying Eni’s share of production to total proved reserves of the contractual area, in respect of the duration of
the relevant mineral right.
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In Particular, Eni’s exploration and production activities are regulated by concession contracts or a similar scheme mainly
in Italy, Ghana, Tunisia, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom, the United States, certain assets in Nigeria, Angola
and Australia. In Norway, Eni’s activities are regulated by Production Licenses (PL). According to a PL, the holder is entitled to
perform seismic surveys and drilling and production activities for a given number of years with possible extensions.

- Eni operates under Production Sharing Agreement (PSA) in several of the foreign jurisdictions mainly in African, Middle
Eastern, Far Eastern countries. The mineral right is awarded to the national oil company jointly with the foreign oil company
that has an exclusive right to perform exploration, development and production activities and can enter into agreements with
other local or international entities. In this type of contract, the national oil company assigns to the international contractor the
task of performing exploration and production with the contractor’s equipment (technologies) and financial resources.
Exploration risks are borne by the contractor and production is divided into two portions: “Cost Oil” is used to recover costs
borne by the contractor and “Profit Oil” is divided between the contractor and the national company according to variable
schemes and represents the profit deriving from exploration and production. Further terms and conditions of these contracts
may vary from country to country. Pursuant to these contracts, Eni is entitled to a portion of a field’s reserves, the sale of
which is intended to cover expenditures incurred by the Company to develop and operate the field. The Company’s share of
production volumes and reserves representing the Profit Oil includes the share of hydrocarbons which corresponds to the
taxes to be paid, according to the contractual agreement, by the national government on behalf of the Company. As a
consequence, the Company has to recognize at the same time an increase in the taxable profit, through the increase of the
revenues, and a tax expense. Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled under PSAs are calculated so that the sale of production
entitlements should cover expenses incurred by the Group to develop a field (Cost Oil) and recognize the Profit Oil set
contractually (Profit Oil).

A similar scheme applies to some Service contracts.

Eni’s exploration and production activities are regulated by PSA or scheme similar in Algeria, Angola, China, Congo,
Egypt, Indonesia, Libya, Mexico, Mozambique, Timor Leste in the JPDA area, Turkmenistan, certain assets in Nigeria, and
Kazakhstan.

Development and production activities in Iraq are regulated by a technical service contract. This contractual scheme
establishes an oil entitlement mechanism and an associated risk profile similar to those applicable to PSA.

Eni’s principal oil and gas properties are described below. For further information on main activities of the year see also
“Significant business portfolio”. In the discussion that follows, references to hydrocarbon production are intended to
represent hydrocarbon production available for sale.

Italy

Eni’s activities in Italy are mainly deployed in the Adriatic and Ionian Seas, the Central Southern Apennines and mainland
and offshore Sicily. Eni operates 24 onshore and 48 offshore productive concessions. Exploration activities have been
substantially abandoned in recent years. In 2023, Italy accounted for approximately 4% of Eni’s total worldwide production of
oil and natural gas.

In 2023, 30% of Eni’s domestic production came from fields in the Adriatic and Ionian Seas, 49% from the Central Southern
Apennines and approximately 13% from Sicily.

In the gas assets of the Adriatic and Ionian Seas, activities concerned: (i) maintenance and production optimization
intervention at the Hera Lacinia, Luna and Naomi Pandora fields; and (ii) production start-up of the Donata field.
Decommissioning plan to plug-and-abandon depleted wells and remove non-productive platforms progressed during the year
in compliance with Italian Ministerial Decree 15 February 2019 “Linee guida nazionali per la dismissione mineraria delle
piattaforme per la coltivazione in mare e delle infrastrutture connesse”. The decommissioning process is ongoing for 10
platforms in compliance with the above-mentioned Decree. In addition, campaign to plug-and-abandon non-productive
onshore and offshore wells is ongoing.

In the Val d’Agri concession, activities carried out during the year concerned: (i) sidetrack of existing wells, mainly in the
Monte Enoc area, based on the approved “Work Program”; and (ii) production optimization activities to mitigate field decline.

The construction activities of the Argo and Cassiopea project (Eni’s interest 60%) have progressed. During 2023, the
installation of the sealine transporting the gas from the offshore well to the onshore treatment facilities was completed. The
onshore plant construction is ongoing and approaching completion foreseen in the second quarter of 2024. Natural gas
production start-up is expected in the first half of 2024.
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In Italy a plan (PiTESAI) aiming to identify areas suitable for exploration, development and production of hydrocarbons in
the national territory, including the territorial seawaters, was adopted on December 28th, 2021.

Following the above plan, exploration permits are confirmed only for the part located in “suitable” areas and withdrawn
otherwise.

As far as development concessions are concerned, no significant impacts are recorded for Eni’s petroleum activities in the
Country. See “Regulation of Eni’s businesses”.

In order to boost the national gas production and mitigate the gas price effect on the economy, the Italian Government
issued a first Decree (D.L. Energia) on March 1st, 2022, which also mitigates the effects of PITESAI. A second decree (D.L.
Sicurezza Energetica), with the same target was issued on December 9th, 2023, providing the ground for new upstream
development opportunities.

Following an appeal by Oil&Gas companies, PITESAI was declared void by Lazio Administrative Court (TAR) on
February 13, 2024. The reaction by the Government is still under evaluation.

Rest of Europe

Eni’s operations in the Rest of Europe are mainly conducted in the United Kingdom and in Norway, in this latter country
through Var Energi. In 2023, the Rest of Europe accounted for 11% of Eni’s total worldwide production of oil and natural gas.

Norway. In October 2023, production start-up was achieved at the Breidablikk project with the completion of the drilling
activities and the linkage to the existing facilities in the area.

Main development activities concerned: (i) the Johan Castberg sanctioned project with start-up expected in 2024; and (ii)
the Balder X sanctioned project in the PL 001 license, located in the North Sea. The Balder project scheme provides for drilling
additional productive wells, to be linked to an upgraded Jotun FPSO unit that will be relocated in the area that will support the
development of new discoveries near to the area through upgrading existing infrastructure. Production start-up is expected in
2024.

Var Energi was awarded: (i) in February 2023, 12 exploration licenses, 5 of which are operated, following the “Awards in
Predefined Areas 2022” (APA) by the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy of Norway; (ii) in February 2024, 16 exploration
licenses, 4 of which are operated, following “2023 APA”.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with: (i) the Countach oil and gas discovery in the Goliat PL 229 licence
located in the Barents Sea; (ii) the Kim oil discovery in the PL 185 license in the North Sea; (iii) the Crino oil and gas discovery
in the North Sea; (iv) the Norma gas discovery in the PL 984 in the North Sea; and (v) the Svalin M Ser oil discovery in the PL
169 license.

United Kingdom. Development activities mainly concerned: (i) the Talbot development project (Eni’s interest 33%) with

subsea tie-back to Judy field. First oil is expected at the end of 2024; and (ii) decommissioning planned activity of the Hewett
Area
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North Africa

Eni’s operations in North Africa, with Egypt being discussed separately due to the size of Eni’s reserves in the Country,
are mainly conducted in Algeria, Libya and Tunisia. In 2023, North Africa accounted for 18% of Eni’s total worldwide
production of oil and natural gas.

Algeria. In 2023 the following agreements were finalized: (i) the purchase of 45.89% interest in the In Amenas concession
and 33.15% interest in the In Salah concession; (ii) new contract for the block 404-208 with Eni’s participating interest
increasing to 17.5% (from 12.25%)).

The development activities are as follows: (i) infilling program in several fields of 401a/402a blocks, Sif Fatima II, Ourhoud
II and Zemlet El Arbi blocks as well as In Amenas and In Salah concessions; (ii) workover activities in 404-208, 405b and 403
blocks as well as the conversion of certain wells into water-alternate-gas (WAG) injectors in block 403; (iii) upgrading of the
third treatment train of the BRN plant; (iv) drilling activities and linkage of infilling wells in Berkine South area together with
debottlenecking of oil line. Furthermore, a 10 MW photovoltaic plant is under construction at the BRN field in the block 403, in
addition to the 10 MW plant already completed in 2020. The construction plans for a 12 MW photovoltaic plant at the MLE
field in the block 405b currently under evaluation.

Exploration activities have yielded positive results with the RODE-1 gas discovery in Sif Fatima II concession.
Development activities are expected to start in 2024.

Libya. Currently, Libya represents approximately 11% of the Group’s total production. In 2023, a relatively stabler
sociopolitical environment than in previous years, allowed continuity to production operations creating a favorable backdrop
for reaching agreements with the National Oil Company (NOC) for future development projects in the Country. Despite those
developments, going forward, management believes that Libya's geopolitical situation will continue to represent a source of
risk and uncertainty to Eni's operations in the Country and to the Group results of operations and cash flow. For further
information on this matter, see “Item 3 — Risk factors — Political considerations”.

The rights of Eni to produce at its assets in Libya will expire in 2038 for Contract Areas C, in 2042 for Contract Area E, in
2043 for Contract Areas A, B and D-producing fields, in 2059 for Area D-new developments (A&E Structures).

In January 2023, Eni signed an agreement with NOC for the development of the large gas reserves of A&E Structures, to
increase natural gas production to sustain the domestic market and export volumes to Europe. Production is expected to start
in the next years. The project foresees an onshore Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) hub as well, in line with Eni’s
decarbonization strategy. Furthermore, in May 2023, Eni signed an agreement with NOC to start the development of the Bouri
Gas Utilization (BGUP) project. From a development standpoint the main activities in 2023 were: (i) the sanctioning of the A&E
Structures project and following the award of EPCI contract for the WHPA platform; (ii) the sanctioning of the BGUP project to
reduce CO, emissions and to valorize associated gas of the Bouri field; and (iii) the Sabratha Compression project to support
current production of the Bahr Essalam field and additional production of the A Structure development program. During the
year the relevant EPCI contract was awarded, and the project is currently in execution phase.
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Furthermore, in June 2023, Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Libyan Government of National Accord to
evaluate possible opportunities to reduce GHG emissions and develop sustainable energy in the country, in line with Eni’s
strategy and Libyan government targets to accelerate in a decarbonization and transition energy programs.

Tunisia. Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Sabeh-01 and Wissal-01 wells in the Borj El Khadra
exploration permit. Engineering studies are ongoing to define development scheme of the last discoveries wells with the
Anbar-01 discovery well, drilled in 2022.

Egypt.

In 2023, Egypt accounted for 20% of Eni’s total worldwide production of oil and natural gas, the largest contributor to the
Company overall production level.

In January 2023, Eni signed a Memorandum of Intent (Mol) with EGAS to jointly study opportunities on GHG emissions
reduction in the upstream sector in the Country through a plan of initiatives leading additional gas monetization.

In 2023 production start-up was achieved at the Faramid gas field in the Western Desert concession leveraging on the
existing facilities and plants in the area.

Development activities of the Zohr production project concerned: (i) water shut-off program for gas production
optimization; (ii) EPCI activities for the construction of a news subsea infrastructures; and (iii) development activities to
increase water production treatment capacity by means of the facilities upgrading and the installation of two additional
treatment units.

The rights of Eni to produce at the Zohr Development Lease will expire in 2037.

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate development costs incurred by Eni for developing the Zohr project and
capitalized in the financial statements amounted to $6.2 billion (€5.6 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of December 31,
2023). Development expenditure incurred in the year were €230 million.

As of December 31, 2023, Eni’s proved reserves booked at the Zohr field amounted to 480 mmBOE.

Development activities also concerned: (i) production optimization in the Sinai concession by means of new wells drilled
and workover and water-injection programs; (ii) drilling and completion of an additional production well, already started up, in
the Baltimo-Neho area; (iii) drilling of an additional well in the Nile Delta concession and the upgrading of the Nidoco NW
transport facilities to the treatment plant with an increased production; and (iv) optimization gas production program in the
Rasl el Barr concession leveraging on a new compression unit.

In addition, in the Western Desert concession development activities concerned: (i) the Meleiha Phase 2, in early
production by 2022, by means of the installation of a new pipeline to existing treatment plant; and (ii) production optimization
initiatives leveraging on the drilling program of additional production oil and gas wells.

Eni holds interest in the Damietta liquefaction plant with a capacity of 5.2 mmtonnes/y of LNG associated to approximately
283 BCF/y of feed gas.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with: (i) the Nargis 1X discovery in the East Med area (Eni’s interest 45%);

(i) the two oil and gas discoveries in the Sinai and Nile Delta concessions, respectively; and (iii) the three oil exploration
discoveries in the Western Desert concession.
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Sub-Saharan Africa

Eni’s operations in Sub-Saharan Africa are conducted mainly in Congo, Cote d'Ivoire, Ghana, Mozambique, Nigeria and
Angola, in this latter trough Azule Energy. In 2023, Sub-Saharan Africa accounted for 17% of Eni’s total worldwide production
of oil and natural gas.

Angola. During 2023 Azule achieved an agreement to divest its interest and operatorship of the Cabinda Norte block.

In September 2023 Azule signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Sonangol to jointly collaborate in the
decarbonization program in the country.

In March 2023 the Solenova JV, a solar company jointly owned by Azule and Sonangol, achieved solar energy production
start-up at the 25 MW photovoltaic plant in Caraculo.

Development activities concerned: (i) start-up development activities of the Quiluma and Maboqueiro fields within the
New Gas Consortium project. The project, first non-associated gas development in the country, provides for the installation of
two offshore platform production, an onshore treatment plant and linkage facilities to A-LNG liquefaction plant. Production
start-up is expected in 2026 with an estimated production plateau of approximately 330 mmcf/d; (ii) the Agogo Integrated West
Hub project in the western area of the Block 15/06 was sanctioned. Main contracts were already awarded and production start-
up is expected in 2026 with an estimated production peak of 170 KBOE/d; (iii) optimization development studies progressed at
the PAJ project in the Block 31; and (iv) development activities of the Cuica and Cabaga fields and the Ndungu early
production project were completed in the Block 15/06. Production started up by means of the linkage to existing facilities in the
area.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Lumpembe-1X oil exploration well in the block 15/06. Development
studies are ongoing to possible integration with other discoveries in the southern area of the block. In addition, a five-year
extension of exploration agreement was finalized.

Congo. In March 2024, Eni finalized with Perenco the sale of its participating interest in several production licences in the
country.

In December 2023, the Congo LNG project was started up by means of the offshore installation of the Tango FLNG
liquefaction plant, with a capacity of approximately 35 BCF/y, and the Excalibur Floating Storage Unit (FSU). Development plan
includes the installation of two floating gas liquefaction units (FLNG), one LNG storage unit (FSU), seven new platforms, an
onshore treatment plant and drilling of 41 wells. Main contracts were awarded. The second FLNG unit with a capacity of
approximately 125 BCF/y is already under construction. Start-up is expected in 2025.

The project is expected to monetize the gas volumes of the Marine XII block for the country's energy needs and by
exploiting the surplus gas for LNG production. Development activity is planned to also leverage on the existing assets,
through modular and phased program. Liquefaction gas capacity is planned to achieve approximately 160 BCF/y at plateau.
According to the agreements recently signed, all LNG production will be marketed by Eni.

Other development activities concerned the completion of the Néné Phase 2B project. In particular, drilling and completion
activities of all planned production well were completed.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Poalvou Marine 2 gas and condensates and the Mbenga Marine 1
oil and gas discoveries in the Marine VI Bis (Eni 65%) permit. Both declarations of discovery were notified to the Ministry of
Hydrocarbons.
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Céte d'Ivoire. In August 2023, start-up production was achieved at the Baleine oilfield in the operated offshore CI-101
(Eni’s interest 83%) and CI-802 (Eni’s interest 76.9%) blocks. Management believes this field to contain a large amount of
hydrocarbon.

Full field development includes two additional phases. The Phase 2 sanctioned program is expected to achieve first oil at
the end of 2024. Main contracts for the additional facilities constructions were awarded while the drilling and completion of
additional wells is expected to start up in 2024.

In March 2024 the successful exploration well Murene 1X led to the Calao Discovery in the block CI-205 (Eni’s interest
90%).

Ghana. In the year development activities of the OCTP operated project concerned the completion of: (i) the upgrading
activities of the facilities, FPSO unit and onshore gas plant to increase production capacity; (ii) water produced reinjection
program; and (iii) additional activities to improve the power generation reliability of the gas-fired power plan.

Mozambique. Eni has been present in Mozambique since 2006, following the award of the exploration license relating to
gas rich Area 4 offshore the Rovuma Block.

In 2011, Eni made the important gas discovery of Mamba. The Mamba reservoir extends through Area 4 and the adjacent
Area 1 operated by TotalEnergies. In 2012, Eni made another large gas discovery at the Coral prospect, which falls entirely in
Area 4. During the exploration period, which expired in 2015, six Discovery Areas (DA) were identified. Mozambique Decree
Law 02/2014 provides that individual plans of development can be submitted in respect of each DA.

Under the Area 4 EPCC (Exploration and Production Concession Contract), each Plan of Development once approved by
the Government of Mozambique entitles the Concessionaires to develop and to produce in a term of 30 years, with an
extension option pursuant to the terms of the Area 4 EPCC and the applicable Petroleum Law. Following two separate
transactions occurred respectively in 2013 and in 2017, Eni divested to CNPC and ExxonMobil indirect interests of 20% and
25% respectively in the discoveries of Area 4, by diluting its participating interest in Mozambique Rovuma Venture SpA, the
operator of Area 4. Post transactions, Eni retains a 25% indirect interest in the Area 4 concession.

The other concessionaires of Area 4 are the state-owned oil company ENH, Galp and Kogas, each with a 10% working
interest.

In 2017, the concessionaires of Area 4 made the final investment decision to develop the reserves of the Coral discovery,
sanctioning the Coral South project.

The Coral South project is currently in production. The project provided for the installation of the Coral Sul Floating
Liquefied Natural Gas (FLNG) vessel for the treatment, liquefaction, storage and export, with a capacity of approximately 3.4
mmtonnes/y of LNG, feed by six subsea wells.
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Additional development phases to put into production the Area 4 reserves, are being evaluated by the delegated
operators of Area 4 (Eni and ExxonMobil), which are expected to include offshore development options, based on the expertise
achieved with the Coral South FLNG project, and onshore activities also through synergies with Area 1.

Nigeria. In September 2023, Eni signed an agreement with the local partner Oando PLC to divest Eni’ subsidiary Nigerian
Agip Oil Company Ltd (NAOC Ltd), with onshore oil and gas exploration and production activities, as well as the ancillary
power generation business. The agreement does not include Eni’s interest in the SPDC JV (Eni’s interest 5%). Following the
transaction completion with Oando PLC, Eni will continue to run activities in the country, focusing on its upstream operated
offshore assets, not operated assets and midstream activities through its participation in Nigeria LNG Ltd.

Development activities concerned: (i) drilling and completion of one well to increase gas production in the Obiaafu field
area in the OML 61 block; and (ii) drilling of one production wells and two injection wells at the Bonga field in the OML 18
block and the linkage to production facilities existing in the area.

Development activities of the SPDC joint venture production areas concerned: (i) drilling, completion, and start-up of
seven oil production wells at the Ogbo and Tunu fields; (ii) completion and linkage of four production wells in the Forcados
Yokri area; and (iii) production start-up of an additional gas well in the Gbaran area. In addition, during 2023, FID of the Epu
Phase 2 project was sanctioned.

Eni holds also a 10.4% interest in the Nigeria LNG Ltd joint venture, which runs the Bonny liquefaction plant located in
the Eastern Niger Delta. The plant has a production capacity of 22 mmtonnes/y of LNG associated with approximately
1,270 BCF/y of feed gas. Natural gas supplies to the plant are currently provided under a gas supply agreement from the SPDC
JV, TEPNG JV and the NAOC JV (Eni’s interest 20%). In 2023, the Bonny liquefaction plant processed approximately 740 BCF.
LNG production is sold under long-term contracts and exported mainly to the United States, Asian and European markets by
the Bonny Gas Transport fleet, wholly owned by Nigeria LNG, as well as is sold FOB by means of the fleet owned by third
parties.

Kazakhstan

Eni’s operations in Kazakhstan comprised the Kashagan and the Karachaganak fields. In 2023, Kazakhstan accounted for
10% of Eni’s total worldwide production of oil and natural gas.

Kashagan. Eni holds a 16.81% working interest in the North Caspian Sea Production Sharing Agreement (NCSPSA). The
NCSPSA defines terms and conditions for the exploration and development of the Kashagan field, that was discovered in the
Northern section of the contractual area in the year 2000 in an area extending for 4,600 square kilometers. Management believes
this field to contain a large amount of hydrocarbon resources, which are expected to be developed in phases. The NCSPSA
expires in 2041.
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In addition to Eni, the partners of the Consortium are the Kazakh national oil company, KazMunayGas, with a participating
interest of 16.88%, the international oil companies TotalEnergies, Shell and ExxonMobil, each with a participating interest of
16.81%, CNPC with 8.33%, and Inpex with 7.56%.

In 2023, production at the Kashagan field averaged 70 KBBL/d of liquids and 60 mmCF/d of natural gas net to Eni. The
liquid production is stabilized at the Bolashak plant and then marketed. Gas production is partly processed and sold to the
national oil company, while the raw gas volumes (approximately 50%) is re-injected in the reservoir.

Development plans of the Kashagan field envisage a phased increase in the production capacity. The first development
phase provides for a progressive increase up to 450 kbbl/d. The activities, sanctioned in 2020, include management capacity
increase of associated gas with: (i) increasing gas reinjection capacity by means of upgrading the existing facilities. Activities
were completed in 2022; and (ii) installation of a new onshore treatment unit operated by a third party, currently under
construction, for the remaining part of associated gas volumes.

Management believes that significant capital expenditure will be required in case the partners of the venture would
sanction a second development phase and possibly other additional phases. Eni will fund those investments in proportion to
its participating interest of 16.81%. However, taking into account that future development expenditures will be incurred over a
long-time horizon, management does not expect any material impact on the Company’s liquidity or its ability to fund these
capital expenditures.

As of December 31, 2023, Eni’s proved reserves booked for the Kashagan field amounted to 584 mmBOE.

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate costs incurred by Eni for the Kashagan project capitalized in the financial
statements amounted to $10.2 billion (€9.2 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of December 31, 2023). This capitalized amount
included: (i) $7.5 billion relating to expenditures incurred by Eni for the development of the oil field; and (ii) $2.7 billion relating
primarily to accrued finance charges and expenditures for the acquisition of interests in the Consortium from exiting partners
upon exercise of pre-emption rights in previous years. Cost incurred in the year were €63.6 million.

Karachaganak. Located onshore in West Kazakhstan, Karachaganak is a liquid and gas field. Operations are conducted
by the Karachaganak Petroleum Operating consortium (KPO) and are regulated by a PSA that expires in 2037. Eni and Shell are
cooperators of the venture. Eni’s interest in the Karachaganak project is 29.25%.

In 2023, production of the Karachaganak field averaged 44 KBBL/d of liquids and 156 mmCF/d of natural gas net to Eni.
This field is producing liquids from the deeper layers of the reservoir. The gas is delivered (about 45%) to the Russian gas
plant of Orenburg; management believes this transaction does not violate the current sanction regime imposed to Russia
following the military invasion of Ukraine. The remaining gas volumes are utilized for re-injection in the higher layers of the
reservoir and as fuel gas. Almost the entire liquid production is stabilized at the Karachaganak Processing Complex (KPC) and
exported to Western markets through the Caspian Pipeline Consortium (Eni’s interest 2%) and the Atyrau-Samara pipeline, this
latter also a new route opened in 2023 leading to Germany.
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During 2023 the additional development phase, sanctioned in 2020, of the Karachaganak field progressed and included: (i)
the drilling of three new injection wells; (ii) the construction of a new sixth injection line; (iii) the installation of a fifth
compression gas unit. Start-up is expected in 2024; and (iv) the installation of a sixth compression unit, last development
phase, sanctioned in 2022. Start-up is expected in 2026.

As of December 31, 2023, Eni’s proved reserves booked for the Karachaganak field amounted to 349 mmBOE.

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate costs incurred by Eni for the Karachaganak project capitalized in the financial
statements amounted to $4.9 billion (€4.4 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of December 31, 2023). Cost incurred in the year
were €224 million.

Rest of Asia

Eni’s operations in the Rest of Asia are mainly conducted in Indonesia, Iraq, Turkmenistan and the United Arab Emirates.
In 2023, Eni’s operations in the Rest of Asia accounted for approximately 10% of its total worldwide production of oil and
natural gas.

Indonesia. In 2023, Eni acquired Chevron’s development and production assets in offshore Indonesia.

Development activities concerned: (i) the Merakes East project in the operated East Sepinggan block, in the deep offshore
eastern Kalimantan; (ii) the Maha project in the operated West Ganal offshore block (Eni’s interest 40%). Development
activities were defined; and (iii) upgrading activities of the gas compression facilities in the operated Muara Bakau block.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Geng North-1 gas discovery, in the operated North Ganal offshore
license (Eni’s interest 50.22%). Management believes this field contains a large volume of hydrocarbons.

Iraq. Activities comprised the execution of an additional development phase of the ERP (Enhanced Redevelopment Plan)
at the Zubair field. Main facilities have already been installed. Ongoing development activities include programs to expand
water availability to maintain adequate reservoir pressurization in the long term and to increase water treatment and re-injection
capacity. The field reserves will be progressively put into production by drilling additional productive wells over the next few
years and by means of the collection facilities expansion and the completion of the water reinjection wells.

Turkmenistan. Development activities mainly concerned drilling of infilling wells to maximize hydrocarbons recovery of
the Burun field.

United Arab Emirates. In March 2023 Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with ADNOC for future joint
projects in the areas of energy transition, sustainability and decarbonization.

Development activities of the year concerned: (i) the Dalma Gas Development sanctioned project in the offshore Ghasha
concession (Eni’s interest 10%) and the Umm Shaif Long-Term Development Phase 1 sanctioned project in the Umm Shaif and
Nasr concession (Eni’s interest 10%); (ii) development project of the Hali and Ghasha fields in the Ghasha concession was
sanctioned and two contracts for the planned construction of offshore facilities and onshore treatment plant were awarded;
and (iii) studies for the development of the recent discoveries (2022) in the Block 2 (Eni operator with a 70% interest) are
underway.

Americas

Eni’s operations in Americas are conducted mainly in Mexico, United States and Venezuela. In 2023, Eni’s operations in
the Americas area accounted for approximately 9% of its total worldwide production of oil and natural gas.
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Mexico. Development activities of the year concerned the last full field development phase of the operated Area 1 license.
In particular, activities provide for the construction and installation of two additional platform in the Amoca and Tecoalli fields.
In addition, ongoing drilling activities include the completion of planned wells to achieve production ramp-up.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with the Yatzil discovery in the Area 7 license (Eni operator with a 45%
interest).

United States. Eni holds: (i) interests in 45 exploration and production blocks in the Gulf of Mexico, of which 15 as
operator; and (ii) interests in 27 operated production blocks and interest in 1 non-operated block in Alaska.

In 2023 Eni finalized the divestment of its interests in the Alliance area in Texas.

Venezuela. In 2023, Eni’s production of oil and natural gas averaged 58 KBOE/d and accounted for approximately 4% of
Eni’s total production. Eni’s production comes mainly from the Perla gas field. Other petroleum interests held by Eni in the
Country comprise the Corocoro field in the Gulf de Paria and the Junin 5 oil field in the Orinoco Oil Belt. These latter interests
are immaterial to the Company. The operations in the Country have been negatively affected by a difficult operational
environment mainly due to the deteriorated economic and financial outlook of the Country that has been made worse by the
U.S. sanctions regime, thus limiting the ability of the Company to collect the revenues from the sale of its equity production at
the Perla field. During 2023, the increase in receivables related to natural gas supplies in the period was partially offset by some
in kind repayments through the allocation of PDVSA-owned crude oil cargoes which was also made possible due to a
substantial improvement in the current sanction framework. However, there is still a great deal of uncertainty about any
possible evolution of the US sanctions against Venezuela and Eni’s ability to recover its outstanding receivables.

For further information on this matter, see “Item 3 — Risk factors — Political considerations”.
Capital expenditures

See “Item 5 — Liquidity and capital resources — Capital expenditures by segment”
Disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 (ITRA) created a new subsection (r) in Section 13 of the
Exchange Act which requires a reporting issuer to provide disclosure if the issuer or any of its affiliates engaged in certain
enumerated activities relating to Iran, including activities involving the Government of Iran. In accordance with our general
business principles and Code of Ethics, Eni seeks to comply with all applicable international trade laws including applicable
sanctions and embargoes. The activities referred to below have been conducted outside the U.S. by non-U.S. Eni subsidiaries.
For purposes of the disclosure below, amounts have been converted into U.S. dollars at the average or spot exchange rate, as
appropriate. In 2017, Eni recovered certain overdue trade receivables owed by Iranian state-owned companies relating to the
cost recovery of past projects in accordance with agreements signed in 2016, while the amounts of cost recovery not covered
by such agreements were written down in Eni accounts in the following years. Eni is seeking to recover approximately $30
million of such remaining receivables in compliance with the applicable regulation and once certain administrative compliance
procedures in the country are completed, subsequently allowing the de-registration of the local branch.
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Global Gas & LNG Portfolio
Competitive trends in the industries where the Company operates

In the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio business, Eni is facing strong competition in the European wholesale markets to sell
gas to industrial customers, the thermoelectric sector and retail companies from other gas wholesalers, upstream companies,
traders and other players. The results of Eni’s wholesale gas business are affected by global and regional dynamics of gas
demand and supplies, as well as by the constraints of its portfolio of long-term, take-or-pay supply, whereby the Company is
obligated to offtake minimum annual volumes of gas or in case of failure to pay the corresponding purchase price (see below).
Due to the competitive nature of the business, sales margins tend to be small. We believe wholesale margins of gas will be
negatively affected by competitive pressures in connection with an oversupplied global natural gas market and rising LNG
flows, a structural decline in European consumption due to plant closures or relocations, energy saving measures introduced
by the EU during the gas crisis of 2022 and by the expected growth of renewable sources of energy that will replace natural gas
in supplying electricity to European markets in the medium term.

The results of the LNG business are mainly influenced by the global balance between demand and supplies, considering
the higher level of flexibility of LNG with respect to gas delivered via pipeline.

Global Gas & LNG Portfolio engages in the wholesale activity of supplying and selling natural gas via pipeline and LNG,
and the international transport activity. It also comprises gas trading activities targeting to both hedge and stabilize the Group
commercial margins and optimize the gas asset portfolio. In 2023, Eni’s worldwide sales of natural gas amounted to 50.51 BCM.
Sales in Italy amounted to 24.40 BCM, while sales in Eutopean markets were 23.84 BCM that included 2.29 BCM of gas sold to
certain importers to Italy.

The business results of operations in 2023 and its strategy are described in “Item 5 — Group results of operations” and
“Item 5 — Management’s expectations of operations.”

Supply of natural gas

The supply contracts which were intended to support Eni’s sales plan in Italy and in other European markets, provide
take-or-pay clauses whereby the Company has an obligation to lift minimum, preset volumes of gas in each year of the
contractual term or, in case of failure, to pay the whole price, or a fraction of that price, up to a minimum contractual quantity.
Similar considerations apply to ship-or-pay contractual obligations which arise from contracts with transmission system
operators or pipeline owners, which the Company has entered into to secure long-term transport capacity.

In 2023, Eni subsidiaries’ total supply of natural gas was 50.05 BCM, decreased by 10.54 BCM, or 17.4% from 2022. Gas
volumes supplied outside Italy (44.34 BCM from consolidated companies), imported in Italy or sold outside Italy, represented
approximately 89% of total supplies, decreased by 12.85 BCM, or 23% compared to the previous year, due to lower volumes
purchased in Russia (down by 11.04 BCM), in France (down by 1.28 BCM), in Egypt (down by 0.80 BCM), in the UK (down by
0.49 BCM), in Norway (down by 0.26 BCM) and Libya (down by 0.10 BCM), partially offset by higher purchases in Qatar (up
by 0.35 BCM), in Netherlands (up by 0.23 BCM), in Algeria (up by 0.20 BMC) and in Indonesia (up by 0.20 BCM). Supplies in
Italy (5.71 bem) reported an increase of 68% from the full year 2022.

In 2023, main gas volumes from equity production derived from: (i) Eni fields located in the British and Norwegian
sections of the North Sea (2.1 BCM); (ii) Italian gas fields (1.8 BCM); (iii) Indonesia (0.9 BCM); (iv) Libyan fields (0.6 BCM).
Supplied gas volumes from equity production were approximately 54 BCM representing around 11% of total volumes available
for sale.
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The table below sets forth Eni’s purchases of natural gas by source for the periods indicated.

Natural gas supply 2023 2022 2021
(BCM)

Italy 5.71 3.40 3.59
Outside Italy 44.34 57.19 67.39
Russia 6.16 17.20 30.21
Algeria (including LNG) 12.06 11.86 10.12
Libya 2.52 2.62 3.18
the Netherlands 1.62 1.39 1.41
Norway 6.49 6.75 7.52
the United Kingdom 1.42 1.91 2.65
Indonesia (LNG) 1.56 1.36 1.81
Qatar (LNG) 2.91 2.56 2.30
Other supplies of natural gas 5.89 8.11 2.39
Other supplies of LNG 3.71 3.43 5.80
Total supplies of subsidiaries 50.05 60.59 70.98
Withdrawals from (input to) storage 0.54 0.00 (0.86)
Network losses, measurement differences and other changes (0.08) (0.07) (0.04)
Volumes available for sale of Eni’s subsidiaries 50.51 60.52 70.08
Volumes available for sale of Eni’s affiliates 0.00 0.00 0.37
Total volumes available for sale 50.51 60.52 70.45

Sales of natural gas

Eni is selling gas to wholesale markets in Italy and in a number of European countries. The wholesale market includes sales
to large accounts (industrials and thermoelectric utilities) and on European spot markets.
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In 2023, natural gas sales amounted to 50.51 BCM (including Eni’s own consumption, Eni’s share of sales made by equity-
accounted entities), representing a decrease of 10.01 BCM, or 16.5% from the previous year, due to lower sales in Italy, in
Europe and outside Europe. Sales in Italy (2440 BCM) decreased by 6.27 BCM or 20.4% from 2022, mainly due to lower
volumes marketed in all business segments, mainly to hub and in the wholesale and industrial sectors. Sales in the European
markets amounted to 21.55 BCM, decreased by 13.7% or 3.43 BCM from 2022.

Sales to long-term buyers were 2.29 BCM; down by 58% compared to the previous year due to the lower availability of
Libyan output.

Sales in the Extra European markets (227 BCM) decreased by 0.17 BCM or 7% due to lower LNG sales in the Asian
markets.

The tables below set forth Eni’s sales of natural gas by principal market for the periods indicated.

Natural gas sales by entities 2023 2022 2021
(BCM)
Total sales of subsidiaries 50.51 60.52 69.99
Italy (including own consumption) 24.40 30.67 36.88
Rest of Europe 23.84 27.41 27.69
Outside Europe 2.27 2.44 5.42
Total sales of Eni's affiliates (Eni's share) 0.00 0.00 0.46
Rest of Europe 0.00 0.00 0.32
Outside Europe 0.00 0.00 0.14
Worldwide gas sales 50.51 60.52 70.45
Natural gas sales by market 2023 2022 2021
(BCM)

ITALY 24.40 30.67 36.88
Wholesalers 10.71 1222 13.37
Italian gas exchange and spot markets 6.28 9.31 12.13
Industries 1.50 2.89 4.07
Power generation 0.52 0.83 0.94
Own consumption 5.39 542 6.37
INTERNATIONAL SALES 26.11 29.85 33.57
Rest of Europe 23.84 27.41 28.01
Importers in Italy 2.29 243 2.89
European markets 21.55 24.98 25.12
Iberian Peninsula 2.75 3.93 3.75
Germany/Austria 335 3.58 0.69
Benelux 3.75 4.24 3.47
United Kingdom/Northern Europe 142 1.92 2.65
Turkey 6.90 7.62 8.50
France 331 3.62 5.80
Other 0.07 0.07 0.26
Extra European markets 2.27 2.44 5.56
WORLDWIDE GAS SALES 50.51 60.52 70.45
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The LNG business

Eni LNG business can count currently on a portfolio of contracted long-term supplies mainly fiom: Qatar, Nigeria,
Indonesia and Egypt. In the plan period, Eni intends to develop its LNG business leveraging on the integration with the E&P
segment and the valorization of the equity gas. Final markets of that gas include Europe and Asia. The business’s profitability
will be also driven by enhancing the commercial presence in premium markets and continuing integration with trading activities.

LNG sales 2023 2022 2021
(BCM)
Europe 73 7.0 54
Extra European markets 23 24 5.5
9.6 9.4 10.9

International transport

Eni has transport rights on a large European network of integrated infrastructures for transporting natural gas, which links
key consumption markets with the main producing areas (Russia, Algeria, the North Sea, including the Netherlands and
Norway, and Libya). Eni has contracted the transport capacity under ship-or-pay contracts, which are similar to take-or-pay
contracts.

The main assets of Eni’s transport activities are provided in the table below.

International Transport infrastructure Route

Total Transport Compression
Lines length Diameter capacity stations
(units) (km) (inch) (BCMYy) (No.)
2 lines of
TTPC (Oued Saf Saf-Cap Bon) km 370 740 48 343 5
5 lines of
TMPC (Cap Bon-Mazara del Vallo) 155 775 20/26 335
1 line of
GreenStream (Mellitah-Gela) km 516 516 32 115 1
2 lines of
Blue Stream (Beregovaya-Samsun) km 387 774 24 16.0 1
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International transport activities

The TTPC pipeline, 740-kilometer long, is made up of two lines that are each 370-kilometers long with a transport capacity
of 34.3 BCM/y and five compression stations. This pipeline transports natural gas from Algeria across Tunisia from Oued Saf
Saf at the Algerian border to Cap Bon on the Mediterranean coast where it links with the TMPC pipeline.

The TMPC pipeline for the import of Algerian gas is 775-kilometer long and consists of five lines that are each 155-
kilometers long with a transport capacity of 33.5 BCM/y. It crosses the Sicily Channel from Cap Bon to Mazara del Vallo in
Sicily, the point of entry into the Italian natural gas transport system.

In 2023, the Eni's subsidiaries managing the pipelines from Algeria through Tunisia to Italy have been divested to a newly
established joint venture with Snam, where Eni retaing a 50.1% interest. The GreenStream pipeline, jointly-owned with the
Libyan National Oil Corporation, started operations in October 2004 for the import of Libyan gas produced at the Eni operated
fields of Bahr Essalam and Wafa. It is 516-kilometers long with a transport capacity of 11.5 BCM/y crossing the Mediterranean
Sea from Mellitah on the Libyan coast to Gela in Sicily, the point of entry into the Italian natural gas transport system.

The Blue Stream underwater pipeline (water depth greater than 2,150 meters) links the Russian coast to the Turkish coast
of the Black Sea. This pipeline is 774-kilometer long on two lines and has transport capacity of 16 BCM/y. It is part of a joint
venture to sell gas produced in Russia on the Turkish market.

See "Risks in connection with Russia’s military aggression of Ukraine and the Middle East conflict in the Gaza strip" in
the Risk factors section for further information.

Capital expenditures

See “Item 5 — Liquidity and capital resources — Capital expenditures by segment”.

Enilive, Refining and Chemicals

Enilive and Refining

Competitive trends in the industries where the Company operates

Enilive

Enilive is facing strong competition in the marketing of fuels to retail customers due to low product differentiation and
customers’ sensitivity to prices at pump. We are making investments to upgrade our service stations and to expand our offer to
include biofuels and other energy vectors. Those investments are intended to retain our customers and to improve profitability

by leveraging on cross-selling opportunities and the growing customers’ needs of having more products and services bundled
with the refuelling.

However, customers’ preferences may change very rapidly, and we are exposed to risks of losing customers and sales
volumes in case our competitors adopt more aggressive pricing policies or more effective marketing strategies.
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Refining

Eni’s oil refining business is exposed to structural headwinds of the industry due to muted trends in the European
demand for fossil fuels, with expectations of long-term decline due to market penetration of electric vehicles and growing
supplies of biofuels, refining overcapacity with new additions expected to come online in the next years or to become
operational shortly and continued competitive pressure from players in the Middle East, the United States and Far East Asia.
Those competitors can leverage on larger plant scale and cost economies, availability of cheaper feedstock and lower energy
expenses. Eni’s refining business is incurring expenses for the purchase of allowances in connection with the emission of CO,
in its operations to comply with the requirements of the European ETS, which reduce the competitiveness of Eni’s fuels with
respect to other jurisdictions that do not yet impose those charges to refiners.

Enilive is dedicated to the supply of biofeedstock, processing and production of biofuels in Italy (Venice and Gela
biorefineries) and in the United States with a 50% interest in the Chalmette biorefinery and biomethane. In addition, Enilive is
engaged in the offer of smart mobility solutions, including Enjoy car sharing, and the marketing and distribution of a wide
range of products, including biogenic fuels such as HVO (Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil), bio-LPG and biomethane, hydrogen and
electricity, as well as other oil products such as fuels, bitumen, and lubricants. The business also deals with wholesale
operators, consisting mainly of resellers, industrial companies, service companies, public bodies and municipal companies,
condominiums, operators in the agricultural and fishing sectors.

The Refining business is engaged in the processing of crude oil, production, storage and handling of petroleum products
in Italy, Germany and the Middle East (through a 20% interest in ADNOC Refining) such as gasoline, diesel fuel, biodiesel, LPG
and lubricants.

The business results depend heavily on trends in refining margins, i.e. the spread between the cost of the oil feedstock
and the price of the refined products obtained from the crude processing.

In 2023, the Standard Eni Refining Margin reported an average of 10.1 $/barrel vs. 8.5 $/barrel reported in the comparative
period. Refining margins increased driven mainly by lower prices of natural gas. However, it is noted that under the current
circumstances of narrowing differentials between heavy/sour crudes vs. lighter/sweet grades due to tight supplies of the
former, the SERM does not entirely capture the effective refining margin.

The business results of operations in 2023 and its strategy are described in “Item 5 — Group results of operations” and
“Item 5 — Management’s expectations of operations”.

Supply

In 2023, a total of 19.08 mmtonnes of crude were purchased (compared with 19.15 mmtonnes in 2022), of which 4.57
mmtonnes by equity crude oil. The breakdown by geographic area was the following: approximately 28% of purchased crude
came from Central Asia, 19% from the Middle East, 14% from North Africa, 9% from Italy, 7% from North Sea, 5% from West
Africa and 18% from other areas.

Refining

In 2023, Eni refinery capacity (balanced with conversion capacity) was approximately 264 mmtonnes (equal to 528
KBBL/d), with a conversion index of 47%. Conversion index is a measure of refinery complexity. The higher the index, the wider
the range of crude qualities and feedstock that a refinery is able to process thus enabling refineries to benefit from the cost
economies arising from the discount — versus the benchmark — at which certain qualities of crude (particularly the heavy ones)
may be supplied. Eni’s 100% owned refineries have a balanced capacity of 18.4 mmtonnes (equal to 368 KBBL/d), with a 45%
conversion index. In 2023, Eni’s refineries throughputs in Italy and outside Italy were 18.88 mmtonnes. The average refinery
utilization rate, ratio between throughputs and refinery capacity, is 77%.
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Balanced

refining Utilization c )
capacity rate onversion
Ownership  (Eni's share)  (Eni’s share) index @
(%) (KBBL/d) (%) (%)
Wholly-owned refineries 368 73 45
Ttaly
Sannazzaro 100 180 87 54
Taranto 100 104 66 56
Livorno 100 84 52 11
Partially owned refineries 160 86 51
Italy
Milazzo 50 100 98 60
Germany
Vohburg/Neustadt (Bayernoil) 20 41 63 36
Schwedt 8.33 19 75 34
Total 528 77 47

M Including 20% share in ADNOC Refining, balanced refining capacity amounted to 691 KBBL/d.

(@) Conversion index: catalytic cracking equivalent capacity/topping capacity (%wt).
Italy

Eni’s refining system in Italy is composed of the wholly-owned refineries of Sannazzaro, Livorno and Taranto, as well as its
50% stake in the Milazzo refinery in Sicily. Eni’s refineries operate to maximize asset value according to market conditions and
the integration with marketing activities.

The Sannazzaro refinery has a balanced capacity of 180 KBBL/d and a conversion index of 54%. Located in the Po Valley,
in the center of the Northern Italy, Sannazzaro is one of the most efficient refineries in Europe. The high flexibility and
conversion capacity of this refinery allows it to process a wide range of feedstock. The main equipments in the refinery are: two
primary distillation columns and two associated vacuum units, three desulphurization units, a fluid catalytic cracker (FCC), two
hydrocrackers (HdC), two reforming units, a visbreaking conversion unit integrated with a gasification producing a syngas used
in a combined cycle power generation.

The Taranto refinery has a balanced capacity of 104 KBBL/d and a conversion index of 56%. Taranto has a strong market
position due to the fact that is the only refinery in Southern Continental Italy and is upstream integrated with the Val d’Agri
(Eni 61%) and Tempa Rossa fields in Basilicata through a pipeline. The main equipments are a topping-vacuum unit, a residue
hydrocracking and a gasoil hydrocracking unit, a platforming unit and two desulphurization units.

The Livorno refinery, with a balanced refining capacity of 8 KBBL/d and a conversion index of 11%, is dedicated to the
production of lubricants and specialties. The refinery is connected by pipeline to a depot in Florence (Calenzano). The refinery
has a topping-vacuum unit, a platforming unit, two desulphurization units and a de-aromatization unit (DEA) — for the
production of fuels; a propane de-asphalting (PDA), aromatics extraction and de-waxing units, for the production of base oils;
a blending and filling plant — for the production of finished lubricants.

The Milazzo refinery (Eni 50%) has a balanced capacity of 100 KBBL/d and a conversion index of 60%. Located in Sicily,
Milazzo is mainly dedicated to export and to the supply of Italian coastal depots. The main equipments in the refinery are: two
primary distillation columns and a vacuum unit, two desulphurization units, a fluid catalytic cracker (FCC), one hydrocracker
(HdC), one reforming unit and one LC fining (ebullated bed residue conversion).
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Outside Italy

In Germany, Eni owns an interest of 8.33% stake in the Schwedt refinery (PCK) and an interest of 20% in the Vohburg and
Neustadt refineries (Bayernoil). Eni’s refining capacity in Germany is 60 KBBL/d to supply Eni’s distribution network in the
country.

Ownership Capacity Throughput
share (2023) (2023)
(%) (mmtonnes/y)  (mmtonnes/y)
Wholly-owned

Venezia 100 04 0.2
Gela 100 0.7 0.5

Partially owned refineries
Chalmette 50 0.55 0.2
Total biorefineries 1.65 0.9

Enilive fully owns two biorefineries in Italy, specifically in Venice and Gela.

In Venice biorefinery biofuels production started in June 2014 from the conversion of the existing oil-based refinery. The
biorefinery has a processing capacity of 0.4 mmtonnes/y, leveraging the Ecofining™ proprietary technology to transform
biofeedstock (both vegetable oil and waste and residues) in hydrotreated bio-fuels. Capacity is expected to be increased to 0.6
million tonnes/year with biojet production (SAF) start in 2025.

Since 2020 Gela biorefinery has been using the Ecofining™ conversion technology, developed by Eni, capable of
converting vegetable oils and feedstock consisting of waste and residues, such as used cooking oils and animal fats, into
HVO. The specifics of the plant, with a capacity of 0.7 million tons/year, together with a strong supply strategy, allow HVO to
be produced in compliance with recent regulatory constraints in terms of reducing GHG emissions throughout the product life
cycle. In March 2021, the Biomass Treatment Unit (BTU) was launched to expand the range of raw materials to be treated by
the plant, allowing the processing of waste and residues such as animal fats and used cooking oil, replacing palm oil, which
has not been used since the end of 2022. In the second half of 2024, the biorefinery will be upgraded to produce biojet (SAF).

In June 2023, Enilive and PBF Energy Inc. (PBF) finalized the 50% interest joint venture in St. Bernard Renewables LLC
(SBR), an operational biorefinery co-located with PBF's Chalmette Refinery in Louisiana (USA). The biorefinery started with a
processing capacity of approximately 1.1 million tonnes/year of feedstock (waste and residues and vegetable oils) with full pre-
treatment capabilities. It mainly produces HVO Diesel using the Ecofining™ process developed by Eni in collaboration with
Honeywell UOP.

74




Table of Contents

The table below sets forth Eni’s sales of refined products by distribution channel for the periods indicated.

Availability of refined products 2023 2022 2021
(mmtonnes)
ITALY
Refinery throughputs
At wholly-owned refineries 13.31 13.25 14.01
Less input on account of third parties (1.32) (1.70) (1.71)
At affiliated refineries 4.89 457 421
Refinery throughputs on own account 16.88 16.12 16.51
Consumption and losses (1.17) (1.11) (1.11)
Products available for sale 15.71 15.01 15.40
Purchases of refined products and change in inventories 7.03 7.02 7.38
Products transferred to operations outside Italy (0.43) (0.40) 0.67)
Consumption for power generation (0.31) (0.31) (0.31)
Sales of products 22.00 21.32 21.80
Biorefinery throughputs 0.87 0.54 0.67
OUTSIDE ITALY
Refinery throughputs on own account 2.00 2.72 2.27
Consumption and losses 0.17) (0.19) (0.18)
Products available for sale 1.83 2.53 2.09
Purchases of finished products and change in inventories 3.75 3.54 341
Products transferred from Italian operations 043 0.40 0.67
Sales of products 6.01 6.47 6.17
Refinery throughputs on own account 18.88 18.84 18.78
of which: refinery throughputs of equity crude on own account 4.57 5.02 3.86
Total sales of refined products 28.01 27.79 27.97
Crude oil sales 0.27 0.21 0.60
TOTAL SALES 28.28 28.00 28.57

In 2023, Eni’s refining throughputs on own account in Europe were 18.88 mmtonnes, substantially in line with 2022.

In Italy, the refinery throughputs (16.88 mmtonnes) up by 4.7% from 2022 following higher volumes processed at the
Taranto, Milazzo and Sannazzaro refineries following optimization initiatives, partially offset by higher standstills at the
Livorno plant.

Outside Italy, Eni’s refining throughputs on own account were 2 mmtonnes, down by approximately 0.72 mmtonnes or
26.5% due to plant unavailability at the Bayernoil refinery. Total throughputs in wholly-owned refineries were 13.31 mmtonnes,
substantially in line with the comparative period (13.25 mmtonnes).

The refinery utilization rate, ratio between throughputs and refinery capacity, is 77%.

Approximately 24.4% of processed crude was supplied by Eni’s Exploration & Production segment, representing a
reduction from 2022 (26.8%).

In 2023, biorefineries throughput has been 0.87 mmtonnes, an increase of 0.33 mmtonnes compared to 2022 (up by 61%),

thanks to higher volumes processed at Gela biorefinery and the Chalmette acquisition; these improvements more than offset
lower Venice biorefinery throughput.
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Logistics
Eni is a leading operator in the Italian oil and refined products storage and transportation business.

Oil and refined products are transported: (i) by sea through spot and long-term contracts of tanker ships; and (ii) inland
through a proprietary pipeline and depots network directly operated.

In particular, Eni owns and operates an integrated infrastructure consisting of 15 directly managed depots and one
managed through the subsidiary Petroven, 100% owned since December 2019.

Eni also owns a network of oil and refined products pipelines extending approximately 1,200 kilometers operating. Eni
logistic model is organized in four operative management (Northern depots, Central depots, Southern depots and LPG and
Pipeline) operating in handling and storage of the product flows in order to guarantee high safety, asset integrity and technical
standards (HSE e asset integrity), as well as cost optimization and constant products availability along the country. Eni is also
part of 7 different logistic joint ventures (Sigemi, Seram, Disma, Seapad, Toscopetrol, Porto Petroli Genova and Costiero Gas
Livorno), together with other Italian operators, that operate other localized depots and pipelines.

Secondary distribution is outsourced to independent trucks, selected as market leaders.

Marketing

Enilive markets a wide range of refined petroleum products, primarily in Italy, through a widespread operated network of
service stations, franchises, and other distribution systems.

The table below sets forth Eni’s sales of refined products by distribution channel for the periods indicated.

Oil products sales in Italy and outside Italy 2023 2022 2021
(mmtonnes)
Italy
Retail 532 5.38 5.12
Wholesale 6.45 6.19 6.02
11.77 11.57 11.14
Petrochemicals 0.44 0.39 0.52
Other sales 9.79 9.36 10.14
Total 22.00 21.32 21.8
Outside Italy
Retail 2.19 2.12 2.11
Wholesale 247 2.96 271
4.66 5.08 4.82
Other sales 1.35 1.39 1.35
Total 6.01 6.47 6.17
TOTAL SALES 28.01 27.79 27.97

In 2023, retail sales of refined products (2801 mmtonnes) were higher by 022 mmtonnes or by 0.8% than 2022 as result of higher
volumes marketed abroad partly balanced by lower sales in Italy.

Retail sales in Italy
In 2023, retail sales in Italy were 5.32 mmtonnes, substantially in line with the 2022.

Average gasoline and gasoil throughputs (1,479 kliters) were up by 34 kliters vs. 2022 (1,445 kliters). Eni’s retail market share of 2022
was 21,4%, lower than 2022 (21.7%).

As of December 31, 2023, Enilive’s retail network in Italy consisted of 3,976 service stations, lower by 27 units from December 31, 2022
(4,003 service stations), resulting from the negative balance of acquisitions/releases of lease concessions (23 units), the negative balance

of the Company-owned stations (1 units), of the lower motorway concessions (3 units).
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Retail sales in the Rest of Europe

Retail sales in the Rest of Europe were 2.19 mmtonnes, an increase by 3.3% from 2022 as a result of higher volumes sold mainly in
Germany and Switzerland, partly balanced by the decrease of the volumes in France.

At December 31, 2023, Eni’s retail network in the Rest of Europe consisted of 1,291 units, increasing by 51 unit from December 31,
2022, mainly thanks to the openings in Germany, Spain and France, balanced by the reductions in Austria and Switzerland. Average
throughput (2,166 kliters) increased by 138 kliters compared to 2022 (2,027 kliters).

Other businesses
Wholesale

Enilive is strongly present in wholesale market in Italy, including sales of diesel fuel for automotive use and for heating
purposes, for agricultural vehicles and for vessels as well as sales of fuel oil. Major customers are resellers, agricultural users,
manufacturing industries, public utilities and transports, as well as final users (transporters, condominiums, farmers, fishers,
etc.). Enilive provides its customers with its expertise in the area of fuels with a wide range of products that cover all market
requirements. Customer care and product distribution are supported by a widespread commercial and logistical organization
presence throughout Italy and is articulated in local marketing offices and a network of agents and concessionaires.

In 2023, sales volumes on wholesale markets in Italy (6.45 mmtonnes) increased by 4.2% from 2022, mainly due to higher
sales of jet fuel which offset the reduction registered in the other segments.

Wholesale sales in the Rest of Europe were 1.94 mmtonnes, down by 20.5% from 2022 mainly in Germany, Spain and
Austria.

Supplies of feedstock to the petrochemical industry (0.44 mmtonnes) increased by 12.8%. Other sales in Italy and outside
Italy (11.14 mmtonnes) increased by 0.39 mmtonnes or up by 3.6%, mainly due to higher volumes sold to other oil companies.

LPG

The marketing of LPG in Italy is supported by the refining production and a logistic network made up of two bottling
plants, one owned storage site and coastal storage sites located in Livorno, Naples and Ravenna.

LPG is used as heating and automotive fuel. In 2023, Eni share of LPG market in Italy was 15%.
Outside Italy, the main market of Eni is Ecuador, with a market share of 36.5%.
Lubricants

Eni operates five (owned and co-owned) blending and filling plants, in Italy, Spain, Germany, Africa and in the Far East.
With a wide range of products composed of over 650 different blends Eni masters international state of the art know how for the
fornulation of products for vehicles (engine oil, special fluids and transmission oils) and industries (lubricants for hydraulic
systems, grease, industrial machinery and metal processing). In Italy, Eni is leader in the manufacture and sale of lubricant
bases, manufactured at Eni’s refinery in Livorno. Eni also owns one facility for the production of additives in Robassomero.

In 2023, Eni’s share of lubricants market in Italy was 15.3%, in Europe below 2% and on a worldwide base below 1%. Eni
operates in more than 80 countries by subsidiaries, licensees and distributors.

Oxygenates
Eni’s, through its subsidiary Ecofuel (100% Eni’s share), sells approximately 0.98 mmtonnes/y of oxygenates, mainly ethers
(approximately 3% of world demand, used as a gasoline octane booster) and methanol (mainly for petrochemical use). About

79% of oxygenates are produced in Eni’s plants in Italy (Ravenna), Saudi Arabia (in joint venture with Sabic) and Venezuela (in
joint venture with Pequiven) and the remaining 21% is purchased.
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Chemicals
Competitive trends in the industries where the Company operates

Eni’s chemical business is exposed to strong competition from well-established international players and state-owned
petrochemical companies, considering the commoditized nature of most of the market segments where Eni’s chemicals
business operates (such as the production of basic petrochemical products), which demand is a function of macroeconomic
growth. Many of these competitors based in the Far East and the Middle East have been able to benefit from cost economies
due to larger plant scale, wide geographic moat, availability of cheap feedstock, lower energy prices and proximity to end-
markets. Petrochemical producers based in the United States have regained market share, as their cost structure has become
competitive due to the availability of cheap feedstock deriving from the production of domestic shale gas from which ethane is
derived, which is a cheaper raw material to produce ethylene than the oil-based feedstock utilized by Eni’s petrochemical
subsidiaries. Finally, the running of petrochemicals operations in Europe is less competitive than other geographies due to
relatively higher energy costs and environmental liabilities, as well as a growing consumers’ preference towards replacing
single-use plastics with more sustainable packaging. The weak fundamentals of Eni’s mostly commoditized segments make
them more sensitive to the cyclical nature of the industry and overcapacity. In 2023, the Eni’s chemicals business recorded
significant operating losses due to the above-mentioned trends that have been compounded by a slowdown in demands for
basic commodities. Management believes the profitability prospects of the chemicals business to remain weak in the
foreseeable future and therefore the carrying amounts of the Company’s chemicals plants were marked down to account for
lower recoverable values with an impairment loss of about €0.4 billion.

Eni operates in the businesses of olefins and aromatics, basic and intermediate products, polystyrene, elastomers and
polyethylene. Its major production hubs are located in Italy and Western Europe. Eni is also engaged in the development of
chemicals from renewable sources and recycled materials.

The business results of operations in 2023 and its strategy are described in “Item 5 — Group results of operations” and
“Item 5 — Management’s expectations of operations”.

In 2023, sales of chemical products amounted to 3,117 ktonnes and decreased significantly from 2022 (down by 635
ktonnes, or 16.9%). In particular, the main reductions were recorded in olefins (down by 26.3%), derivatives (down by 19.4%),
aromatics (down by 17.9%) and styrenic (down by 12.0%). In the moulding & compounding business, sales amounted to 67
ktons, down by 11.8% from the comparative period. Those reductions where due to a downturn in global demand for
petrochemical commodities and rising competitive pressures.

Average sale prices of the intermediates business decreased by 17.4% from 2022, with olefins and aromatics down by
19.2% and 15.4%, respectively. The polymers reported a decrease of 25.9% from 2022.

Chemical production of 5,663 ktonnes decreased from 2022 (down by 1,193 ktonnes vs. 2022) due to lower production of
intermediates business (down by 1,020 ktonnes), in particular aromatics and derivatives. The main reductions were registered
at Mantua site (down by 220 ktonnes), Dunkerque (down by 185 ktonnes) and Priolo (down by 162 ktonnes). Those reductions
where in response to lower sales volumes.

Plants nominal capacity decreased from the 2022. The average plant utilization rate, calculated on nominal capacity, was
51.4% (59.0% in 2022).
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The table below sets forth Eni’s main chemical products availability for the periods indicated.

Intermediates

Polymers

Biochem

Moulding & Compounding

Total production

Consumption losses

Purchases and change in inventories
Chemical products availability

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(ktonnes)
3,877 4,897 6,284
1,658 1,873 2,184
57 5 8
71 81 20
5,663 6,856 8,496
(3,247) (3,923) (4,590)
701 819 565
3,117 3,752 4,471

The table below sets forth Eni’s main petrochemical products revenues for the periods indicated.

Intermediates

Polymers

Biochem

Moulding & compounding
Oilfield chemicals

Other revenues

Total revenues

Intermediates

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)
1,497 2,368 2,166
2,152 3,203 3,114
& 25 60
276 327 70
97 & 65
131 209 115
4,236 6,215 5,590

Intermediates revenues (€1,497 million) decreased by €871 million from 2022 (down by 36.8%), following also the decrease
reported in sales volumes (1,651 ktonnes, down by 23.5% vs. 2022). The main reductions were registered in olefins (down by
26.3%) and in aromatics (down by 17.9%). Average prices decreased by 17.4%, in particular olefins (down by 19.2%), aromatics
(down by 15.4%) and derivatives (down by 14.1%). Intermediates production (3,877 ktonnes) registered a decrease of 20.8%
from 2022. Decreases were also registered in olefins (down by 20.1%), in the aromatics (down by 23.0%) and in derivatives

(down by 21.6%).
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Polymers

Polymers revenues (€2,152 million) decreased by €1,051 million or 32.8% from 2022 due to lower sales volumes (down by
144 ktonnes) and the decrease of the average unit prices (down 25.9%).

The sold volumes of polyethylene business reported a decrease (down by 6.7%) due to lower sales of EVA (down by
18.1%), LDPE (down by 10.6%), and HDPE (down by 1.3%), in particular in the elastomers (down by 13.9%) and styrenics
(down by 12%). In addition, average sale prices decreased by 30.5%.

In the elastomers business, were registered lower sales of BR (down by 23.4%), NBR rubbers (down by 16.8%) and SBR
(down by 6.1%). Average unit prices decreased by 18.9%.

The decrease in sales volumes of styrenic was due to lower demand, which negatively affected GPPS sales (down by
15.7%) and HIPS sales (down by 15.1%).

Polymers productions (1,658 ktonnes) decreased by 11.5% from the 2022 due to the lower productions of polyethylene
(down by 4.6%), elastomers (down by 16.2%) and styrenics (down by 16.0%).

Oilfield chemicals, Biochem e Moulding & Compounding

Oilfiled chemicals revenues increased by 16.9% (up by €14 million compared to 2022) as a result of the increased unit price
(up by 14.6%).

Biochem business revenues (€83 million) increased by €58 million from 2022, mainly thanks to the inclusion of Novamont
Group in the consolidation area starting from October 1, 2023.

Moulding & Compounding business revenues decreased by €51 million from 2022 (down by 15.6%) due to lower sales
volumes (down by 12.3%).

Capital expenditures

See “Item 5 — Liquidity and capital resources — Capital expenditures by segment”.
Plenitude & Power

Competitive trends in the industries where the Company operates

Plenitude engages in the supply of gas and electricity to customers in the retail markets mainly in Italy, France, Spain, and
other countries in Europe. Those markets have been almost fully liberalized. Customers include households, large residential
accounts (hospitals, schools, public administration buildings, offices) and small and medium-sized businesses. The retail
market is characterized by strong competition among selling companies which mainly compete in terms of pricing and the
ability to bundle valuable services with the supply of the energy commodity. Due to the commoditized nature of the business,
the ability of residential customers to switch smoothly from one supplier to another and a low level of customer loyalty,
management expects competition to significantly affect the business going forward.

Eni also engages in the business of producing gas-fired electricity that is largely sold in the wholesale market and in
providing the service of peak-load capacity to the Italian grid. The business is exposed to competition from large players and
other electricity producers, like renewables.

Plenitude & Power engages in the activities of retail sales of gas, electricity and related services, in the production and
wholesale sales of electricity from thermoelectric and renewable plants, as well as in e-mobility services. It also includes trading
activities of CO, emission certificates and forward sale of electricity with a view to hedging/optimising the margins of the
electricity.

The business results of operations in 2023 and its strategy are described in “Item 5 — Group results of operations” and
“Item 5 — Management’s expectations of operations.”
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Plenitude

Overall Eni supplies 10.1 million retail clients (gas and electricity) in Italy and Europe. In particular, clients located all over
Italy are 8.2 million.

Gas demand

Eni operates in a liberalized market where energy customers are allowed to choose the gas supplier and, according to their
specific needs, to evaluate the quality of services and offers.

Retail and business gas and power sales

Gas sales by market 2023 2022 2021
ITALY (bcm) 4.11 4.65 5.14
Retail 291 334 3.88
Business 1.20 1.31 1.26
INTERNATIONAL SALES 1.95 2.19 2.71
European markets:

France 1.54 1.69 2.17
Greece 0.26 0.33 0.39
Other 0.15 0.17 0.15
RETAIL AND BUSINESS GAS SALES 6.06 6.84 7.85

In 2023, retail and business gas sales, in Italy and in European markets, amounted to 6.06 BCM, down by 0.78 BCM or
11.4% from 2022. Sales in Italy amounted to 4.11 BCM, a decrease of 11.6% (down by 0.54 BCM) compared to 2022, as a result
of lower sales to the residential segment.

Sales in the European market were 1.95 BCM, decreasing by 11% (down by 0.24 BCM) compared to 2022. Lower volumes
were marketed in France and Greece.

In Europe, Plenitude operates through the subsidiaries Eni Gas&Power France SA (99.999% Plenitude interest) in France,
Gas Supply Company of Thessaloniki (100% Plenitude interest) in Greece, Adriaplin doo (51% Plenitude interest) in Slovenia
and Eni Plenitude Iberia SLU (100% Plenitude interest) in Spain and Portugal.

In 2023, retail and business power sales to end customers, managed by Plenitude and its subsidiaries companies in
France, Greece and Iberian Peninsula, amounted to 17.98 TWh, a decrease by 4.2% from the full year 2022, due to the negative
impact of climatic conditions and lower consumption abroad, partly offset by the increase in sales in Italy.

Renewables

Eni is engaged in the renewable energy business (solar and wind) aiming at developing, constructing and managing
renewable energy producing plants.

Eni’s targets in this business will be reached by leveraging on an organic development of a diversified and balanced
portfolio of assets, integrated with selective asset acquisitions, as well as projects and national and international strategic
partnership.

2023 2022 2021

Energy production sold from renewable sources (TWh) 3.98 2.55 0.99
of which: photovoltaic (¢ 1.74 1.13 0.40
wind 2.24 1.42 0.59

of which: Italy 1.53 0.82 0.40
outside Italy 2.45 1.73 0.59

@ It includes biogas generation.

Energy production from renewable sources amounted to 3.98 TWh in 2023 (of which 1.74 TWh photovoltaic and 2.24
TWh wind) up by 1.43 TWh, or 56% compared to 2022.
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The increase in production compared to the previous year benefitted from the entry in exercise of new capacity, mainly for
the contribution of acquisition of assets in operation in Italy, Spain and the United States as well as for the organic
developments of projects in Italy, United States and Kazakhstan.

TOTAL INSTALLED CAPACITY FROM RENEWABLES AT PERIOD END

(ENT'S SHARE) (gigawatt) 2023 2022 2021
3.0 2.2 1.1

of which: - photovoltaic (including installed storage capacity) 64% 54% 49%
- wind 36% 46% 51%

(gigawatt) 2023 2022 2021

Italy 1.0 0.8 0.5
QOutside Italy 2.0 1.4 0.7
United States 1.3 0.8 0.3
Spain 04 03 0.1
Other (Australia, France, Kazakhstan, UK) 03 03 0.3
TOTAL INSTALLED CAPACITY (INCLUDING INSTALLED STORAGE CAPACITY) * 3.0 2.2 1.1

* Installed storage capacity amounted to 21 MW, 7 MW and 7 MW in the 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

At the end of 2023, the total installed capacity for the generation of energy from renewable sources amounted to 3 GW (in
Eni share and including the storage power), up by 0.8 GW vs 2022 mainly due to the acquisitions in Spain (Bonete) and in the
United States (Kellam plants as well as the acquisition of further 3 photovoltaic plants with a total capacity of approximately
0.4 GW, defined at the end of 2023) and the organic development of projects in Italy, Spain and Kazakhstan.

E-mobility

In a context of the mobility market that includes a constant increase in the number of electric vehicles in circulation in Italy
and in Europe, Plenitude, disposes one of the largest and most widespread networks of public charging infrastructure for
electric vehicles.

As of December 31, 2023, there are 18,990 charging points distributed throughout Europe, in particular in Italy.

Power

As part of its marketing activities in Italy, Eni engages in selling electricity on the Italian market principally on the open
market. Supplies of electricity include both own production volumes through gas-fired, combined-cycle facilities and
purchases on the open market.

Power sales in the open market

In 2023, power sales in the open market were 19.88 TWh, representing a decrease of 11.1% compared to 2022 due to lower
volumes marketed to power exchange.
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Power availability 2023 2022 2021
(TWh)
Power generation sold 20.66 21.37 22.31
Trading of electricity @) 6.64 9.49 11.62
27.30 30.86 33.93
Power sales in the open market 19.88 22.37 28.54
Power sales to Plenitude 7.42 8.49 5.39

@ Include positive and negative imbalances (differences between power introduced in the grid and the one planned).

Power generation

Enipower’s power generation sites are located in Brindisi, Ferrera Erbognone, Ravenna, Mantova, Ferrara and Bolgiano.
As of December 31, 2023, installed operational capacity of Enipower’s power plants was 2.2 GW. In 2023, thermoelectric power
generation was 20.66 TWh, down by 0.71 TWh compared to 2022. Electricity trading (6.64 TWh) reported a decrease of 30%
from 2022, due to the optimization of inflows and outflows of power.

Total
installed
capacity in
2023
(Eni's share)

Site (a) Technology Fuel

MW)
Brindisi 647 CCGT gas
Ferrera Erbognone 536 CCGT gas/syngas
Mantova 375 CCGT gas
Ravenna 433 CCGT/Peaker gas
Ferrara 204 CCGT gas

Power

Bolgiano 33 station gas
Photovoltaic plants 0.1 Photovoltaic ~ Photovoltaic

2,228
@ Installed operational capacity
(b) Managed by EniPower Mantova
Power generation 2023 2022 2021
Purchases
Natural gas (mmCM) 4,144 4218 4,670
Other fuels (ktoe) 156 175 93
- of which steam cracking 85 86 68
Production
Electricity (TWh) 20.66 21.37 22.31
Steam (ktonnes) 6,981 6,900 7,362
Installed generation capacity ) (GW) 2.2 2.3 4.5

*) Eni's share.
Capital expenditures
See “Item 5 — Liquidity and capital resources — Capital expenditures by segment”.
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Corporate and Other activities

These activities include the following businesses:

e the “Other activities” segment comprises results of operations of Eni’s subsidiary Eni Rewind (former Syndial SpA)
which runs reclamation and decommissioning activities pertaining to certain businesses which Eni exited, divested or
shut down in past years; and

e the “Corporate and financial companies” segment comprises results of operations of Eni’s headquarters and
certain Eni subsidiaries engaged in treasury, finance and other general and business support services. Eni’s headquarters
is a department of the parent company Eni SpA and performs Group strategic planning, human resources management,
finance, administration, information technology, legal affairs, international affairs and corporate research and
development functions. From the fourth quarter of 2023, the results of CCUS and Agribusiness, under development, have
been included in the “Corporate and other activities” reporting segment, previously they were reported as part of the
Exploration & Production segment results. Comparative reporting periods have been restated accordingly; however the
overall impact was immaterial. Through Eni’s subsidiaries Eni Finance International SA, Banque Eni SA, Eni International
BV, Eni Finance USA Inc and Eni Insurance DAC, Eni carries out cash management activities, administrative services to
its foreign subsidiaries, lending, factoring, leasing, financing Eni’s projects around the world and insurance activities,
principally on an intercompany basis. Eni Servizi, Eni Corporate University, AGI and other minor subsidiaries are engaged
in providing Group companies with diversified services (mainly services including training, business support, real estate
and general purposes services to Group companies). Management does not consider Eni’s activities in these areas to be
material to its overall operations.

Seasonality

Eni’s results of operations reflect the seasonality in demand for natural gas and certain refined products used in residential
space heating, the demand for which s typically highest in the first quarter of the year, which includes the coldest months and
lowest in the third quarter, which includes the warmest months. Moreover, year- to-year comparability of results of operations is
affected by weather conditions affecting demand for gas and other refined products in residential space heating. In colder years,
which are characterized by lower temperatures than historical average temperatures, demand for gas and products is typically
higher than normal consumption patterns, and vice versa.

Research and development

Eni’s Research and Technological Innovation is a key element to make effective and efficient access to new energy
resources, improve the use of existing ones and at the same time reduce the impact on the environment. The objectives are,
therefore, declined on the following strategic directives:

e process decarbonization: with the aim of reducing, capturing, transforming or storing CO2, increasing energy
efficiency, reducing emissions and promoting energy vectors with a low carbon footprint;

e circular and bio-products: with the aim of reducing, recycling and reusing products and by-products, transforming
waste into value-added products for biorefinery, sustainable mobility and biochemicals;

e renewables and new energies: with the aim of supporting the development of renewable energies and energy storage
solutions, and to develop breakthrough energy technologies such as magnetic confinement fusion;

e operational excellence: with the aim of developing technologies that ensure the highest level of efficiency and safety,
the lowest environmental impact, while reducing costs and time to market of our activities.

A key point of Eni’s research and innovation is the integrated and transversal approach being a lever to create value, with
the aim of minimizing the time to market that from research leads to the development of technologies and their implementation
on an industrial scale.

In 2023, Eni filed 28 patent applications (23 in 2022).

In 2023, Eni’s overall expenditure in R&D amounted to €166 million which were almost entirely expensed as incurred (€164
million in 2022). In 2023, about 80% of total R&D expenditures were dedicated to the decarbonization, renewable energies and
circular economy.
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Research and Development in Eni is characterized by three main factors: in-house expertise, Open Innovation model and
development of the entire technology chain. About 1,000 researchers are engaged in research activities, with expertise ranging
from upstream to downstream, from renewables to the environment. This knowledge base is complemented by a network of 70
national and international universities and research centers and becomes even more effective with an opening to the market
and to startups, both in Italy and abroad, through Joule (startup accelerator) and Eni Next (Corporate Venture Capital).

Eni’s approach in research and development is aimed at enhancing the entire technology value chain: thorough
identification of a portfolio of technology solutions to be provided to the business, to meet the challenges of an evolving
world with important decarbonization goals, and the definition of an approach to accelerating the industrial deployment of
technologies, also through financial instruments or specific vehicles, such as the setup of Eniverse, Eni corporate venture
building company.

In this way, Eni Innovation follows all stages of the process: while we develop proprietary technologies already applicable
to our businesses to increase efficiency, we continue to support the search for innovative solutions for business of tomorrow.

Talking about technological path under development, in the decarbonization path Carbon Capture Utilization and Storage
(CCUS) represents an important lever, where technologies, skills and innovation are and will be key to success. Innovative
solutions are studied in terms of capture technologies as well as new power generation systems with integrated capture. Hub
solutions, transport networks and offshore injection network in depleted fields are also studied, taking advantage of the
expertise acquired on gas developments, through an incremental innovation approach.

Great expectations at the decarbonization level come from Carbon Utilization initiatives, where our research efforts are
significant. In particular, CO, reduction to methane or methanol (e-fuels) and mineralization technologies are being developed.
Mineralization of CO, with minerals that are widely available in nature allows significant amounts of gas to be permanently
fixed in inert, stable and non-toxic phases. The distinctive and innovative feature of our technology lies in the fact that we
have been able to develop properties that allow the product to be used in the formulation of cements, thus opening the way to
a potentially huge market.

Of equal importance is the approach typical of the circular economy, i.e. with a focus on research and development that
looks at the entire lifecycle of technologies, with the aim of developing new and creative solutions along the entire value chain,
making it possible to achieve significant savings in resources and energy, with considerable benefits for the environment.

To be effective, however, it needs to be implemented through integrated multidisciplinary approaches and with the
involvement of all the actors in the value chain: companies, institutions, civil society.

Finally, scientific research and digitization will make it possible to do even more: smart digital solutions to be applied in all
areas can, on their own, contribute substantially to reducing CO, emissions by 2030. In fact, the ongoing digitalization process
has the potential to accelerate the energy transition process, generating important benefits in terms of efficiency and
environmental impact. Numerous projects have been launched at Eni: for example, for each physical asset a “digital twin” will
be created through which it will be possible to predict and control operations in advance; with the widespread application of
sensors and the use of advanced algorithms, Eni expects to be able to improve the performance and reduce the emissions of its
activities.

&




Table of Contents
Insurance

In order to control the insurance costs incurred by each of Eni’s business units, the Company constantly assesses its risk
exposure in both Italian and foreign activities. The Company has established a captive subsidiary, Eni Insurance DAC, in order
to efficiently manage transactions with mutual entities and third parties providing insurance policies. Internal insurance risk
managers work in close contact with business units in order to assess potential underlying business and other types of risks
and possible financial impacts on the Group’s results of operations and liquidity. This process allows Eni to accept risks in
consideration of results of technical and risk mitigation standards and practices, to define the appropriate level of risk retention
and, finally, the amount of risk to be transferred to the market. Eni enters into insurance arrangements through its shareholding
in the Everen Ltd (a mutual insurance and re-insurance company that provides its members with a broad coverage of insurance
services tailored to the specific requirements of oil and energy companies) and with other insurance partners in order to limit
possible economic impacts associated with damages to both third parties and the environment occurring in case of both
onshore and offshore accidents. The main part of this insurance portfolio is related to operating risks associated with oil&gas
operations which are insured making use of insurance policies provided by the Everen Ltd. In addition, Eni uses reputable,
high quality insurance companies which are well established in the market. Insured liabilities vary depending on the nature and
type of circumstances; however, underlying amounts represent significant shares of the plafond granted by insuring
companies. In particular, in the case of oil spills and other environmental damage, current insurance policies cover costs of
cleaning-up and remediating polluted sites, damage to third parties and containment of physical damage up to $1.1 billion for
offshore events and $1.3 billion for onshore plants (refineries). These are complemented by insurance policies that cover
owners, operators and renters of vessels with the following maximum amounts: $1.3 million for tankers and charters and up to
$1 billion for FPSOs used by the Exploration & Production segment for developing offshore fields.

Management believes that the level of insurance maintained by Eni is generally appropriate for the risks of its businesses.
However, considering the limited capacity of the insurance market, we believe that Eni could be exposed to material uninsured
losses in case of catastrophic incidents, like the one that occurred in the Gulf of Mexico in 2010 which could have a material
impact on our results, liquidity prospects, share price and reputation. See “Item 3 — Risk factors — Risk associated with the
exploration and production of oil and natural gas”.

Environmental matters

Environmental regulation

Eni is subject to numerous EU, international, national, regional and local environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations concerning its oil&gas operations, products and other activities, including legislation that implements international
conventions or protocols. In particular, exploration, drilling and production activities require acquisition of a special permit that
restricts the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment. The
particular laws and regulations can also limit or prohibit drilling activities in the certain protected areas or provide special
measures to be adopted to protect health and safety at workplace and health of communities that could have been affected by
the Company’s activities. These laws and regulations may also restrict emissions and discharges to surface and subsurface
water resulting from the operation of natural gas processing plants, petrochemical plants, refineries, pipeline systems and other
facilities that Eni owns. In addition, Eni’s operations are subject to laws and regulations relating to the production, handling,
transportation, storage, disposal and treatment of waste materials. Environmental laws and regulations have a substantial
impact on Eni’s operations. Some risk of environmental costs and liabilities is inherent in certain operations and products of
Eni, and there can be no assurance that material costs and liabilities will not be incurred. See “Item 3 — Risk factors”.

We believe that the Company will continue to incur significant amounts of expenses in order to comply with pending
environmental, health and safety protection and safeguard regulations, particularly in order to achieve any mandatory or
voluntary reduction in the emission of GHG in the atmosphere and cope with climate change and water quality of discharges,
as well as availability.

The Group balance sheet has accrued the expenses for environmental liabilities in place at the closing date, which will
likely require a disbursement on part of the Company in future reporting periods and for which a reliable estimate can be made.
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Management believes that it is possible that in the future Eni may incur significant or material environmental expenses
and liabilities in addition to the amounts already accrued due to: (i) the likelihood of as yet unknown contamination; (ii) the
results of ongoing surveys or surveys to be carried out on the environmental status of certain Eni’s industrial sites as required
by the applicable regulations on contaminated sites; (iii) unfavourable developments in ongoing litigation on the
environmental status of certain of the Company’s sites where a number of public administrations, the Italian Ministry of the
Environment or third parties are claiming compensation for environmental or other damages such as damages to people’s
health and loss of property value; (iv) the possibility that new litigation might arise; (v) the probability that new and stricter
environmental laws might be implemented; and (vi) the circumstance that the extent and cost of environmental restoration and
remediation programs are often inherently difficult to estimate leading to underestimation of the future costs of remediation
and restoration, as well as unforeseen adverse developments both in the final remediation costs and with respect to the final
liability allocation among the various parties involved at the sites.

International and European Union Environmental Laws Framework

At global level, the most important policy framework to strengthen the global response to the threat of climate change is
the Paris Agreement, an international treaty, entered into force on November 4, 2016. Although the Paris Agreement does not
apply directly to Eni, it includes commitments from all countries to reduce their emissions and work together to adapt to the
impacts of climate change, and calls on countries to strengthen their commitments over time.

In this context, during the last UN Climate Change Conference of Parties (COP 28), taken place in Dubali, the Parties agreed
to “transitioning away from fossil fuels in energy systems, in a just, orderly and equitable manner, accelerating action in this
critical decade, so as to achieve net zero by 2050 in keeping with the science”. In case this goal is effectively pursued by the
Parties through policies and regulations, than the hydrocarbons demand could structural decrease in the medium to long term
time, coupled with a potential increase of operational expenses for the O&G sector. On the other side, the final decision of
COP28 highlights also some important levers for the decarbonization of the energy system that could represent a new business
opportunity for Eni, such as renewables, Carbon Capture and Storage, low carbon hydrogen, transitional fuels, nuclear energy.

Alongside the COP28, several initiatives have been launched or strengthened. Among them, Eni supported (i) the Global
Flaring and Methane Reduction (GFMR) Partnership, a new multi-donor trust fund focused on helping developing countries
cut carbon dioxide and methane emissions generated by the oil and gas industry and (ii) the Oil and Gas Decarbonization
Charter (OGDC), where Signatories have committed to net-zero operations by 2050 at the latest, and ending routine flaring by
2030, and near-zero upstream methane emissions.

Regarding the European Union (EU), during 2023, almost all new or emended directives and regulations, proposed in the
"Fit for 55" package (July 2021) entered into force, among which the most impactful are: (i) 42.5% renewable share in the overall
energy consumption by 2030; (ii) 40% GHG reduction for non-ETS sectors by 2030 vs 2005 and 62% GHG reduction for ETS
sectors by 2030 vs 2005; (iii) 11.7% reduction in energy consumption by 2030, compared to the 2020 reference scenario at EU
level.

Within the revised Renewable Energy Directive (RED III), the EU institutions established also a new binding and
challenge target for transport sector set at 29% renewable share in the final energy consumption of the transport sector by
2030 or alternatively a 14,5% reduction in GHG intensity compared to a fossil fuel baseline. The new Directive also requires
Member States to increase the consumption of advanced biofuels and of Renewable Fuels of Non-Biological Origin (RFNBO)
to 5.5% in 2030, of which at least 1% from RFNBO. In a separate regulation, the EU regulator also introduced a minimum
blending mandate for Sustainable Aviation Fuels and a limit to the carbon intensity of the energy used on board ships, to
support the uptake of sustainable maritime fuels. These mandates coupled with adequate incentives could increase the
demand of sustainable biofuels that Eni is already committed to supply to the market.

Regarding the ETS directive, main changes that will impact Eni are the (i) scope extension to the building, road transport
and shipping sectors, (ii) downward revision of the cap (iii) potentially fewer free allowances allocation due to a revision of the
emissions benchmark. EU also adopted the new Carbon Border Adjustment Measure (CBAM) aimed at ensuring a level
playing field between EU and non-EU installations, thus securing the EU industrial competitiveness, in the following sectors
cement, electricity, fertilisers, iron and steel, aluminum and hydrogen. However, for the time being, Eni operations are only
marginally covered by the CBAM.
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In the energy efficiency field, the new directive introduces a series of measures and embraces the “energy efficiency first”
principle. The main features and changes from the previous directive includes:

e increasing annual energy savings from 0.8% (at present) to 1.3% (2024-2025), then 1.5% (2026-2027) and 1.9% from
2028;

e introducing an annual energy consumption reduction target of 1.9% for the public sector;
e cxtending the annual 3% buildings renovation obligation to all the levels of public administration;

e introducing a different approach, based on energy consumption, for business to have an energy management system
or to carry out an energy audits;

e bringing in a new obligation to monitor the energy performance of data centres, with an EU-level database collecting
and publishing data.

e promoting local heating & cooling plans in larger municipalities. Progressively increasing the efficient energy
consumption in heat or cold supply, also in district heating.

In 2022, the efforts of the European Commission legislators focused on several proposals to support enhanced non-
financial disclosure obligations for financial market participants, financial advisors and large corporations.

On 23 February 2022, the European Commission published its proposal for a Directive on Corporate Sustainability Due
Diligence. The future Directive and its national transposition rules should apply to large (more than 250 employees) and very
large companies (more than 500 employees) and require the creation of a system to monitor, prevent and mitigate the negative
impacts on the environment, working conditions and individual rights and freedoms of both the company's activity and the
upstream and downstream value chain (suppliers, distributors, retailers, etc.).

A provisional agreement between the EU institutions was reached at the end of December 2023 which needs to be
formally approved and adopted by both institutions.

The Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) is another key initiative of the Green Deal for Europe and is part
of a broader regulatory framework with non-financial disclosure requirements. On 5 January 2023, Directive 2022/2464/EU came
into force, updating the EU rules on corporate sustainability disclosures by broadening the scope and introducing detailed
reporting requirements, also with a view to combating greenwashing. The CSRD amends Directive 2013/34/EU on non-financial
business information by introducing ad hoc provisions on corporate sustainability reporting.

Air quality remains at the center of the European environmental policies and strategies. In 2019 the European Commission
has completed a fitness check of the two EU Ambient Air Quality (AAQ) Directives (Directives 2008/50/EC and 2004/107/EC).
In October 2022 the European Commission has proposed stronger rules on ambient air quality, setting an ‘interim’ 2030 EU air
quality standards, aligned more closely with 2021 World Health Organization guidelines, while putting the EU on a trajectory to
achieve zero pollution for air at the latest by 2050, in synergy with climate-neutrality efforts. In particular, the key proposed
change is a tighter annual limit value for fine particulate matter (PM2.5) of 10 pg/m3, effective from 2030, down from the current
limit of 25 pg/m3. In November 2023, the Council adopted its negotiating mandate for talks with the European Parliament to
shape the final text of the legislation.

The Industrial Emission Directive (IED) 2010/75/EU is fundamental for European industries, it provides the framework for
granting permits for about 50,000 industrial installations across the EU. It lays down rules on the integrated prevention and
control of air, water and soil pollution arising from industrial activities. As part of the IED framework, additional emission limit
values are defined by the sector specific and cross sector Best Available Technology (BAT) Conclusions. As foreseen in the
European Green Deal roadmap, the European Commission got int the heart of the review of the IED (Industrial Emission
Directive) . On 5 April 2022, the EU Commission presented a proposal for a directive revising, updating, and modernising
Directive 2010/75/EU. The text published in the EU Official Journal proposes a revision of the measures to tackle pollution
from large industrial installations in order to offer better environmental and human health protection. At the same pace the
European Commission is revising the European Pollutant Release and Transfer Register (E- PRTR) Regulation to improve
environmental data reporting. In November 2023, the Council and the European Parliament successfully concluded negotiatons
with a provisional political agreement. The deal is pending formal adoption by both istitutions.

In particular, the main areas of improvement include: expansion of sectoral coverage and new pollutants of concern, better
coherence with related environmental legislation and collecting information that helps contribute to the circular economy
and decarbonisation and enhancing the quality, ease and speed of public access to information.
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On 12 May 2021, the European Commission adopted the EU Action Plan: "Towards a Zero Pollution for Air, Water and
Soil" (and annexes) - a key deliverable of the European Green Deal whose objectives are “The zero pollution vision for 2050 is
for air, water and soil pollution to be reduced to levels no longer considered harmful to health and natural ecosystems, that
respect the boundaries with which our planet can cope, thereby creating a toxic-free environment”. In July 2021 the conclusion
of the EU consultation on the revision of the Wastewater Directive was published. The 25th October 2022, the European
Commission published the proposal for the new Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive (UWWTD). The proposal focuses on
the quality of rivers, lakes, groundwaters and seas through cost-effective wastewater treatment. It includes essential points,
such as the energy-water nexus, nutrients recovery and new requirements for microplastics and other micropollutants in line
with the Circular Economy Action Plan. The sector is supposed to become energy-neutral by 2040. Moreover, the proposal
also aims for new standards and limit values, an extended producer responsibility, better and digitalized monitoring and
tracking of pollution, and a cooperation between health and wastewater competent authorities.

The European Commission decided to revise the Waste Framework Directive, in order to reduce waste generation,
improve waste collection and optimize recycling, increase the collected amount of waste oil and ensure its treatment according
to the EU waste hierarchy; a call for ideas took place between 25th January 2022 and 22nd February 2022 and a legislative
proposal was presented on 5th July 2023, including measures aimed to tackle food and textile waste.

In January 2023 the European Parliament approved a text for the revision of the Regulation 1013/2006 regarding the
international waste shipments. The Swedish presidency, which started on 1 January, aims to reach a general approach on the
file at the Environment Council on 20 June 2023. The proposal of European Commission, which was presented on 17 November
2021, aimed to set stricter rules on waste export, also requiring independent audits in the facilities outside the EU, to
strengthen the contrast to illegal shipments and to facilitate the waste shipments in the internal market of EU, also through the
digitalization of procedures.

The Council adopted its general approach on 24 May 2023. Interinstitutional negotiations concluded on 17 November
2023 with a provisional agreement. The agreed text, endorsed by Member State representatives on 6 December 2023 and by the
ENVI committee on 11 January 2024, now awaits formal adoption by Parliament and the Council. The vote of the EP is expected
by 1Q2024. According to the agreement, export of plastic waste from the EU to non-OECD countries will be prohibited; only if
strict environmental conditions are met, individual countries may receive such waste five years after the entry into force of the
new rules. Other waste suitable for recycling will be exported from the EU to non-OECD countries only when they ensure that
they can deal with it in a sustainable manner, by the mean of independent audits. At the same time, it will be easier to ship
waste for recycling within the EU thanks to digitalised procedures. The new regulation should also support the development
of waste market to boost circular economy and increase the security of supply of raw materials, and tackling waste trafficking,
by a stronger cooperation between EU Member States and more deterrent sanctions, and with the direct involvement of the EU
Anti-Fraud Office in the investigations by Member States these issues.

In March 2020 the European Commission adopted a new Circular Economy Action Plan (CEAP), one of the main building
blocks of the European Green Deal. With measures along the entire life cycle of products, the new Action Plan aims to make
our economy fit for a green future, strengthen our competitiveness while protecting the environment and give new rights to
consumers.

As part of the European Green Deal and the new circular economy action plan, the European Commission put forward a
revision of the PPWD in November 2022. The initiative's objective is to ensure that all packaging is reusable or recyclable in an
economically feasible way by 2030. The aim is to reinforce the essential requirements for packaging to ensure its reuse and
recycling, boost the uptake of recycled content, and improve the requirements' enforceability. Measures are also envisaged to
tackle over-packaging and reduce packaging waste. On 18th December 2023 the European Council adopted its negotiating
position, aiming at a balance between keeping the proposal's ambition to reduce and prevent the generation of packaging
waste, and allowing member states sufficient flexibility.

Some governments have already introduced carbon pricing schemes. Eni’s operating and compliance expenses could
increase in the short-to-medium term in case of widespread adoption of carbon tax mechanisms. Currently, about half of the
direct GHG emissions coming from Eni’s operated assets are included in national or supranational Carbon Pricing Mechanisms,
such as the European Emission Trading Scheme (ETS), which provides an obligation to purchase, on the open market,
emission allowances in case GHG emissions exceed a pre-set amount of emission allowances allotted for free. In 2023 to comply
with this carbon emissions scheme, Eni purchased on the open market allowances corresponding to 11.5 million tons of CO2
emissions incurring expenses of around €950 million (16.73 million tons in 2022 for a total expense of €950 million). Due to the
likelihood of new regulations in this area and expectations of a reduction in free allowances under the European ETS and the
likely adoption of similar schemes in other jurisdictions, Eni could incur increased investments and significantly higher
operating expenses in case the Company is unable to reduce the carbon footprint of its operations.
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European Union Health and Safety Laws Framework

Legislative Decree No. 81/2008 concerned the protection of health and safety in the workplace and was designed to regulate
the work environments, equipment and individual protection devices, physical agents (noise, mechanical vibrations,
electromagnetic fields, optical radiations, etc.), dangerous substances (chemical agents, carcinogenic substances, etc.),
biological agents and explosive atmosphere, the system of signs, video terminals.

With Law 215 of 17 December 2021, important innovations were introduced into Legislative Decree 81/08. These changes bring
a much-needed initial novelty and update to a number of prevention and control issues in the workplace, such as:

e Regional coordination committees;

e Joint organisms;

e Role of the “Preposto”;

e National prevention information system;
e Vigilance;

e Suspension of activities;

e Training.

On June 1, 2007, the REACH Regulation of the European Union came into force (Regulation (EC) No. 1907/2006
concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals).

The Commission is currently reviewing the REACH Regulation, through a public consultation aimed at SMEs, citizens and
stakeholders with the aim of obtaining opinions on the expected impacts of the envisaged changes.

The overall objective of this revision is to ensure that the provisions of the REACH Regulation reflect the Commission's
innovation ambitions for safe and sustainable chemicals and a high level of health and environmental protection, while
preserving the internal market, as foreseen in the Chemical Strategy for Sustainability adopted on October 14, 2020.

This strategy is part of the EU's zero pollution ambition, a key commitment of the European Green Deal, and aims to better
protect citizens and the environment from harmful chemicals as well as stimulate innovation by promoting the use of safer and
more sustainable chemicals.

The European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) contributes to the implementation of the strategy with its scientific and
regulatory expertise, databases, digital tools and networks, and practical experience in chemicals regulation, where necessary.

The European Regulations are constantly evolving which materialize with the publication of adjustments and delegated
regulations on specific topics; those that have had the greatest impact on Eni and the companies that produce and market
products in recent years are:

- Regulation (EU) 2020/878 published on 26 June 2020, amending Annex II of REACH relating to the "Requirements for
completing safety data sheets (SDS)" for substances and mixtures, in force since 16 July 2020, applicable from 1 January 2021.
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This represents a challenging moment for the company that manages a large number of SDSs, as starting from 1 January
2023 all SDSs will necessarily have to be drawn up in accordance with this Regulation.

- Regulation (EU) 2017/542 of 22 March 2017 which amends Regulation (EC) no. 1272/2008 (CLP) of the European
Parliament and of the Council on classification, labeling and packaging of substances and mixtures of the European Parliament
and of the Council on classification, labeling and packaging of substances and mixtures through the addition of an annex on
harmonized information on emergency health response and its subsequent amendments. In fact, starting from January 2021, in
Italy, new dangerous preparations for consumer and professional use must be notified on the ECHA portal through the PCN
(Poison Centers Notification). While previously, information on the dangerous mixture had to be sent to the ISS by 30 days
from the date of placing on the market, now the submission of information has to be done to ECHA before the mixture is placed
on the market.

- Delegated Regulation 2023/707 amending CLP Regulation, in force fron 20 April 2023, which sets out new hazard classes
and criteria for the classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures.

- Update of Annex VII of REACH Regulation (5 update in 2023)

- Evolution on PFAS (Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances) regulation and restrictions that involved about 10000
substances. ECHA’s scientific committees will now start evaluating the proposal in terms of the risks to people and the
environment, and the impacts on society.

It applies to all chemical substances and mixtures placed on the EU market under REACH. It also applies to active
substances in biocidal products and plant protection products, which are normally prioritised for harmonised classification in
the EU.

Compliance with REACH requirements and the involvement of all stakeholders in the Company are coordinated and
supervised by the HSEQ/Product Safety function.

Since 2022 Eni has been actively involved in the public consultation of the REACH Regulation and the CLP Regulation
and recently Ecodesign for Sustainable Products (ESPR) Regulation for an analysis of the resulting impacts.

Legislative Decree 101/20 has adopted Directive No. 2013/59/EU establishing safety standards in order to protect people
from the risks deriving from ionizing radiation. The Decree regulates the protection of people subject to exposure to ionizing
radiation from artificial and natural radioactive sources.

European institutions have also increased their activities in the area of environmental protection in the field of
hydrocarbon extraction.

On June 12, 2013, the Directive No. 2013/30/EU was issued with the aim of replacing the existing National Legislations and
uniform the legislative approach at European level. The Directive, also named Offshore Directive, was transposed into Italian

law by means of Legislative Decree 145 of August 18, 2015.
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The main elements of the EU Directive are the following:

e The Directive introduces licensing rules for the effective prevention of and response to a major accident. The licensing
authority in Member States will have to make sure that only operators with proven technical and financial capacities
are allowed to explore and produce oil&gas in EU waters. Public participation is expected before exploratory drilling
starts in previously un-drilled areas.

e Independent national competent authorities, responsible for the safety of installations, are in charge of verifying the
provisions for safety, environmental protection, and emergency preparedness of rigs and platforms and the operations
conducted on them. Enforcement actions and penalties apply in case of non-compliance with the minimum set
standards.

e Obligatory emergency planning calls for companies to prepare reports on major hazards, containing an individual risk
assessment and risk-control measures, and an emergency response plan before exploration or production begins.
These plans have to be submitted to National Authorities.

e Technical solutions presented by the operator need to be verified independently prior to and periodically after the
installation is taken into operation.

e Companies are required publish on their websites information about standards of performance of the industry and the
activities of the national competent authorities, as well as reports of offshore incidents.

e Companies are required prepare emergency response plans based on their rig or platform risk assessments and keep
resources at hand to be able to put them into operation when necessary. These plans are periodically tested by the
industry and National Authorities.

e Oil and gas companies are fully liable for environmental damage caused to the protected marine species and natural
habitats. For damage to waters, the geographical zone is extended to cover all EU waters including the exclusive
economic zone (about 370 km from the coast) and the continental shelf, where the coastal Member States exercise
jurisdiction. For water damage, the present EU legal framework for environmental liability is restricted to territorial
waters (about 22 km offshore).

e Operators working in the EU are required to demonstrate they apply the same accident-prevention policies overseas as
they apply in their EU operations.

We believe that Eni operations are currently in compliance with all those regulations in each European country where they
have been enacted.

Adoption of stricter regulation both at national and European or international level and the expected evolution in
industrial practices would trigger cost increases to comply with new HSE standards. Eni exploration and development plans to
produce hydrocarbon reserves and drilling programs could also be affected by changing HSE regulations and industrial
practices. Lastly, the Company expects that production royalties and income taxes in the oil&gas industry will probably
increase in future years.

Moreover, in order to achieve the highest safety standards of our operations in the Gulf of Mexico, Eni entered into a
consortium led by Helix that worked at the containment of the oil spill at the Macondo well. The Helix Well Containment Group
(HWCG) performs certain activities associated with underwater containment of erupting wells, evacuation of hydrocarbon on
the sea surface, storage and transport to the coastline.
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Worldwide Eni approach was to join international consortiums for main equipment and to develop in-house technologies
to improve the intervention capability. Eni Emergency Response Kit consists of:

Outsourced equipment contracted by Eni Head Quarter;
Access Agreement to Subsea Capping Equipment consortium;
Access Agreement to Global Dispersant Stockpile consortium;
Eni Head Quarter proprietary equipment;

Rapid Cube;

Killing System relating to drilling operations.

In addition to the above, Eni is a participant member of Oil Spill Response Limited, the largest international industry-
funded cooperative which exists to respond to oil spills wherever in the world they may occur, by providing preparedness,
response and intervention services.

As regards major accidents, the Seveso III (Directive No. 2012/18/EU) was adopted on July 4, 2012 and entered into force
on August 13, 2012. Italy has transposed it into national legislation through the Legislative Decree No. 105/2015 (June 26,

2015).

The main changes in comparison to the previous Seveso Directive are:

technical updates to take into account the changes in EU chemical classification, mainly regarding the 2008 European
CLP Regulation of substances and mixtures;

expanded public information about risks resulting from Company activities;
modified rules in participation by the public in land-use planning projects related to Seveso plants; and
stricter standards for inspections of Seveso establishments.

Eni has carried out specific activities aimed at guaranteeing the compliance of its own industrial site.

HSE activity for the year 2023

Eni is committed to continuously improving its model for managing health, safety and environment issues across all its
businesses in order to minimize risks associated with its own industrial activities, ensure reliability of its industrial operations
and comply with all applicable rules and regulations.

In 2023, Eni’s business units continued to obtain certifications of their management systems, industrial installations and
operating units according to the most stringent international standards. The total number of certifications achieved was 333, of

which:

98 certifications according to the ISO 14001 standard;

10 registrations according to the EMAS regulation;

26 certifications according to the ISO 50001 standard (certification for an energy management system);
106 according to the new ISO 45001 standard;

41 according to the ISO 9001 standard (certification of the quality management system).
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In 2023 the percentage of Eni industrial installations and operating units with a significant HSE risk covered by
certification is 84% for the ISO 45001 standard and 83% for the ISO 14001 standard.

In 2023, total HSE expenses (including cross-cutting issues such as HSE management systems implementation and
certification, etc.) amounted to €1,419 million (-7% vs 2022).

Environment.

In 2023, Eni incurred total expenditures of €1,065 million for the protection of the environment (with a decrease of 7% with
respect to 2022). Environmental expenditures are mainly related to remediation and reclamation activities (€519 million), waste
management (€223 million), water management (€153 million), air protection (€64 million) and spill prevention (€44 million).

Safety.

Eni is constantly engaged in the research and development of all the actions necessary to guarantee safety in the
workplace, in particular in the development of models and tools of risks assessment and management and in the promotion of a
safety culture, in order to pursue its commitment to zero accidents.

In 2023, the new legislation did not have a significant impact on the procedures already in place for occupational and
process safety. In 2023, the commitment to reduce accidents continues at Eni, which has also focused on new projects:

- application of the THEME methodology on analysing worker behaviour and human reliability in order to identify action
strategies to strengthen human barriers and safe behaviour;

- deployment of the new training course dedicated to Operational Safety Management, reserved for operational and
HSEQ area personnel, with the aim of familiarising them with the basic principles and minimum safety requirements to be
applied in risky activities;

- deployment of the new training course on Process Safety Management, addressed to HSE as well to operating
personnel, in order to provide them with basic information relevant to Process Safety and its Management System;

- training of expert personnel on the new RC Eni investigation methodology, which enables the identification of root
causes and effective action to prevent the recurrence of accidents;

- extension to all operational sites of the digital Safety Presense tool, which, with the help of artificial intelligence and
machine learning, enables predictive analysis by exploiting the data available in the safety reporting, sending the site an alert
when it detects a high frequency of recurring hazardous situations that retrace a past accident.

- the Campaign of diffusion of Process Safety Fundamentals has continued and gained additional maturity in all Eni
subsidiaries. Process Safety Fundamentals are key operating principles that, if respected, may contribute to the reduction of
approximately one third of Company Process Safety Events.

In terms of industrial hygiene, great attention was paid to the identification and management of personal protective
equipment (PPE). In 2023 continues at Eni the extension to all operational sites of the Integrated System Personal Protective
Equipment web system aimed at the digital management of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and the promotion of specific
training initiatives to raise awareness of the importance of correct identification and use of them.

In addition, during year 2023, Eni has also focused on development of a new training course dedicated to operational
industrial hygiene management, reserved for operational and HSEQ area personnel, with the aim of increase and share
knowledge, principles and requirements to be applied in sampling and monitoring of risk agents.

Eni has developed a radiation protection system capable of managing the risk deriving from the use of artificial radioactive
sources (for example in systems for monitoring fluid levels and density) and from the presence of natural radioactive sources
(Radon and TENORM).

In particular, has validated a methodology for the mapping of TENORM matrices in Eni sites all over the word and has
implemented management systems for monitoring the disposal of matrices contaminated by natural radionuclides
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In 2023, the total recordable injury rate (TRIR) of the workforce decreased compared to 2022 (0.40 versus 0,41 in 2022),
despite the number of total recordable injuries increased (122 versus 113 in 2022). There was 1 fatality to contractors in
upstream operations in Nigeria.

In the area of emergencies, particular attention was paid to the prevention and management of emergencies induced by
natural risks and in November 2021 a Memorandum of Understanding was signed between Eni and the Department of Civil
Protection, to further strengthen cooperation and define emergency plans specific for each type of risk with an impact on the
continuity of energy supply on the national territory.

Emergency preparedness is regularly tested during exercises where the response capacity is tested in line with dedicated
plans, including the timely alerting of the chain of command and of the resources necessary to face the event. The operational
sites maintained a high level of preparedness for emergencies by carrying out over 6,000 exercises.

Costs incurred in 2023 to support the safety levels of operations and to comply with applicable rules and regulations were
€288 million.

Health activity for 2023.

Eni protects and promotes the health, considering its physical, mental and social dimensions, of its people, workers,
families and communities, through a management system based on the principles of precaution, prevention and promotion.

The total amount spent in 2023 was €57.9 million divided into: occupational health and industrial hygiene activities,
medical assistance and health emergencies, health promotion, Global Health activities in favor of communities.

The correct management of health-related risks is guaranteed with the constant updating of the health profile
assessments of the countries of presence, which take into account the expectations of stakeholders and the potential impacts
on health deriving from company’s activities, with continuous monitoring of any presence of epidemic and pandemic
outbreaks. In order to guarantee people's health at every stage of the business cycle, a dedicated management system is active
in all operational areas, in collaboration with qualified healthcare providers and national and international university and
government institutions and research centres. Eni acts following local regulations and highest international standards and
guarantees continuous updating of staff training and skills. Health at the center of the company's strategy and operating
models contributes to achieving a "just" energy transition for people in the geographical areas in which the company operates.

In 2023, a customer satisfaction survey was conducted on the entire Eni population in Italy to evaluate the perception of
Eni’s people on the health services provided. From the analysis, Eni is perceived as a community active in promotion and
prevention and generally committed to spreading a culture of health.
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Main 2023 initiatives:

- Occupational health and industrial hygiene:

* Medical and occupational hygiene activities aimed at the evaluation, identification and control of risk factors that may
have an impact on the well-being of workers.

 Scientific research activities in relation to the energy transition, focusing in biorefineries, biogas production and
agribusiness processes.

e Testing of new Internet of Things technologies: 49 sensors were tested at on-shore operating sites in Italy for
monitoring the healthiness of indoor working environments to protect the health of workers.

- Medical assistance and health emergency:

+ Services for the prevention, diagnosis, treatment and management of acute and chronic pathologies, for workers and,
where applicable, family members.

* Continuous updating of epidemic and pandemic response plans.

» Online psychological support service available for employees in Italy and abroad, covering 70% of employees,
expected to extend to 85% by 2027.

* Psychological First Aid Service (PFA) available to all employees in Italy and abroad in cases of catastrophic and
unexpected events.

» Specific services regarding gender health and assistance have been activated, such as in Italy a helpline dedicated to
victims of gender harassment and violence.

» "Piu Salute" has been extended throughout Italy, a package of free health care services for Eni people and their families
which provides extended care 24 hours a day, to respond to needs, from telemedicine to home medical services, from
booking at health facilities to the anamnestic interview.

- Health promotion:

» Raising awareness in relation to endemic diseases, such as tuberculosis and malaria, sexually transmitted diseases,
non-communicable diseases, such as diabetes and hypertension.

« Extension of the “Previeni con Eni” service to many Italian cities, a free biennial checkup for cancer and cardiovascular
prevention.

* Provision of the influenza vaccination campaign in Italy.
- Global health:

e 11 Health Impact Assessment (HIA) studies completed, of which 6 integrated ESHIA studies to evaluate the potential
impacts of industrial projects on the health of the communities involved.

» 38 health development initiatives have been implemented in 15 countries, reaching over 330,000 beneficiaries

+ Collaboration with health institutions and organizations in the countries of presence was strengthened by signing of
12 agreements.

In 2023 Eni activated a virtuous public-private partnership with the ILO aimed at improving safety and health at work and
access to social health protection measures. The beneficiaries will be 150,000 small farmers in the agro-industrial sector in
Kenya and Ivory Coast, where Eni is developing projects for the production of vegetable oil, not in competition with the food
chain, to supply biorefineries.

Regulation of Eni’s businesses

The Group engages in the exploration and production of oil and natural gas, processing, transportation and refining of crude oil,
transport of natural gas, storage and distribution of petroleum products and the production of base chemicals, plastics, and elastomers.
By their nature, the Group’s operations expose Eni to a wide range of significant health, safety, security, and environmental risks.
Technical faults, malfunctioning of plants, equipment and facilities, control systems failure, human errors, acts of sabotage, attacks,
loss of containment and climate-related hazards can trigger adverse consequences such as explosions, blow-outs, fires, oil and gas
spills from wells, pipeline and tankers, release of contaminants and pollutants in the air, ground and water, toxic emissions, and other
negative events. The magnitude of these risks is influenced by the geographic range, operational diversity, and technical complexity of
Eni’s activities. Eni’s future results of operations, cash flow and liquidity depend on its ability to identify and address the risks and
hazards inherent to operating in those industries.
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The production of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and is subject to conditions imposed by governments throughout the
world in matters such as the award of exploration and production leases, the imposition of specific drilling and other work obligations,
higher-than-average rates of income taxes, additional royalties and taxes on production, environmental protection measures, control
over the development and decommissioning of fields and installations, and restrictions on production. A description of the main
regulations which impose restrictions and liabilities to the Company’s businesses is provided below.

Overview

The matters regarding the effects of recent or proposed changes in Italian legislation and regulations or EU directives
discussed below and elsewhere herein are forward-looking statements and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
the actual results to differ materially ffom those in such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include the
precise manner of the interpretation or implementation of such legal and regulatory changes or proposals, which may be
affected by political and other developments.

Regulation of exploration and production activities

Eni’s exploration and production activities are conducted in many countries and are therefore subject to a broad range of
legislation and regulations. These cover virtually all aspects of exploration and production activities, including matters such as
license acquisition, production rates, royalties, pricing, environmental protection, export, taxes and foreign exchange. The terms
and conditions of the leases, licenses and contracts under which these oil&gas interests are held vary from country to country.
These leases, licenses and contracts are generally granted by or entered into with a government entity or state company and are
sometimes entered into with private property owners. These arrangements usually take the form of licenses or production
sharing agreements.

Licenses (or concessions) give the holder the right to explore for and exploit a commercial discovery. Under a license, the
holder bears the risk of exploration, development and production activities and provides the financing for these operations. In
principle, the license holder is entitled to all production minus any production taxes or royalties, whichmay be in cash or in-kind.
Concession contracts currently applied mainly in Western countries regulating relationships between States and oil companies
with regards to hydrocarbon exploration and production activity. Both exploration and production licenses are generally for a
specified period of time (except for production licenses in the United States which remain in effect until production ceases). The
term of Eni’s licenses and the extent to which these licenses may be renewed vary by area. Contractual clauses governing
mineral concessions, licenses and exploration permits regulate the access of Eni to hydrocarbonreserves. The company holding
the mining concession has an exclusive right on exploration, development and production activities, sustaining all the
operational risks and costs rlated to the exploration and development activities, and it is entitled to the productions realized.
A's a compensation for mineral concessions, pays royalties on production (which may be in cash or in-kind) and taxes on oil
revenues to the state in accordance with local tax legislation.

Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled are determined by applying Eni’s share of production to total proved reserves of
the contractual area, in respect of the duration of the relevant mineralright.

Eni operates under Production Sharing Agreement (PSA) in several foreign jurisdictions mainly in African, Middle Eastern
and Far Eastern countries. The mineral right is awarded to the national oil company jointly with the foreign oil company that has
an exclusive right to perform exploration, development and production activities and can enter into agreements with other local
or international entities. In this type of contract, the national oil company assigns to the international contractor the task of
performing exploration and production with the contractor’s equipment (technologies) and financial resources. Exploration risks
are borne by the contractor and production is divided into two portions: “Cost Oil” is used to recover costs borne by the
contractor and “Profit Oil” is divided between the contractor and the national company according to variable schemes and
represents the profit deriving from exploration and production. Further terms and conditions of these contracts may vary from
country to country.

Pursuant to these contracts, Eni is entitled to a portion of a field’s reserves, the sale of which is intended to cover
expenditures incurred by the Company to develop and operate the field. The Company’s share of production volumes and
reserves representing the Profit Oil includes the share of hydrocarbons which corresponds to the taxes to be paid, according to
the contractual agreement, by the national government on behalf of the Company. Therefore, the Company recognizes at the
same time an increase in the taxable profit, through the increase in revenues, and a tax expense. Proved reserves to which Eni is
entitled under PSAs are calculated so that the sale of production entitlements should cover expenses incurred by the Group to
develop a field (Cost Oil) and recognize the Profit Oil set contractually (Profit Oil). A similar scheme to PSA applies to Service
contracts.

In general, Eni is required to pay income tax on income generated from production activities (whether under a license or
PSA). The taxes imposed upon oil&gas production profits and activities may be substantially higher than those imposed on
other businesses.
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Regulation of the Italian hydrocarbons industry

The matters regarding the effects of recent or proposed changes in Italian legislation and regulations or EU directives
discussed below and elsewhere herein are forward-looking statements and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
the actual results to differ materially ffom those in such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include the
precise manner of the interpretation or implementation of such legal and regulatory changes or proposals, which may be
affected by political and other developments.

Exploration & Production

The Italian hydrocarbons industry is regulated by a combination of constitutional provisions, statutes, governmental
decrees and other regulations that have been enacted and modified from time to time, including legislation enacted to
implement EU requirements (collectively, the “Hydrocarbons Laws”).

Exploration permits and production concessions. Pursuant to the Hydrocarbons Laws, all hydrocarbons existing in their
natural condition in strata in Italy or beneath its territorial waters (including its continental shelf) are property of the State.
Exploration activities require an exploration permit, while production activities require an exploiting concession granted by the
Ministero dell’Ambiente e della Sicurezza Energetica - MASE or, in some specific cases (e.g. special-status region) by the
Region.

The initial duration of an exploration permit is six years, with the possibility of obtaining two three-year extensions and an
additional one-year extension to complete activities underway. Upon each of the three-year extensions, 25% of the area under
exploration must be relinquished to the State (only for initial acreages larger than 300 square kilometers). The initial duration of
a production concession is 20 years, with the possibility of obtaining a ten-year extension and additional five-year extensions
until the end of the field economic life.

These provisions are to be coordinated with a new law effective as of February 12th, 2019 (Law 12/2019 — ex “D.L.
Semplificazioni”) and further amendments, which requires certain Italian administrative bodies to define and adopt within end
September 2021 a plan (PiTESAI) aiming to identify areas suitable for exploration, development, and production of
hydrocarbons in the national territory, including the territorial seawaters. The plan has been adopted on December 28th, 2021.

However, PITESAI has been considered too restrictive by industry operators (including Eni) which lodged an appeal
before Lazio Regional Administrative Court — Rome (TAR Lazio). On February 13th, 2024, TAR Lazio ruling declared void
PiTESAL As a consequence, MASE could adopt a new plan to identify suitable areas hydrocarbon exploration, development
and production activities or could file an appeal before the Council of State in order to restore the validity of PITESAL

That said, pending the final judgement and for the sake of completeness we provide below a brief description of
PiTESAI’s main provision.

Exploration permits maintain their efficacy in areas identified as “suitable” and limited to gas exploration target ; on the
contrary, in “unsuitable” areas, exploration permits are withdrawn.

As far as development and production concessions are concerned, they can be maintained or extended if their
infrastructures are located in suitable areas with production ongoing or suspended by less than 7 years; ; on the contrary, for
development and production concessions whose infrastructures are located in unsuitable areas, further extensions can be
granted only if:

e they are productive or have been unproductive for less than 5 years (offshore case);

e they are productive or have been unproductive for less than 5 years and they have successfully passed a cost-benefit
analysis (onshore case);

e ongoing concessions applications can be filed for gas exploitation only having associated reserves greater than
150Msme.

Starting from June 1st, 2019, the above mentioned law increases 25 times the current annual fee for all licensees
(exploration permits and production concessions).

Moreover, the Fiscal decree no. 124/2019, converted into Law 157/2019 established (art. 38) the property tax on marine
structures (IMPI) starting from year 2020.
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On March 1st, 2022, the Italian government issued a first Decree (D.L. Energia) aimed at boosting the national production
by mitigating the effects of PITESAI This was converted into law on April 27th, 2022.

A second decree, with the same objectives was issued on December 9th, 2023, providing the ground for new upstream
development opportunities converted into law on 2nd February, 2024.

Regardless of the validity and the effects of PITESAI, it is important to highlight that such plan did not entail any
significant and adverse consequence on Eni’s development and producing activities at its Italian concessions or on assets
useful lives even due to provisions of the two recent above mentioned

Royalties. The Hydrocarbons Laws require the payment of royalties for hydrocarbon production. As per Legislative
Decree No. 625 of November 25, 1996, subsequent modifications and integrations (the last modification was introduced by Law
160/2019 — Budget Law 2020, art. 1 par. 736 & 737) and Law Decree No. 83 of June 22, 2012, royalties are equal to 10% for gas
and oil productions onshore, to 10% for gas and 7% for oil offshore, with exemptions only for on shore gas concessions with
production lower than 10 Msmc/year and off shore gas concessions with production lower than 30 Msmec. (Only in the
Autonomous Region of Sicily, following the Regional Law No. 9 of May 15, 2013, royalties onshore for oil and gas are equal to
20.06%, with no exemptions).

Gas & Power

Risks associated with the regulatory powers entrusted to the Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and
Environment in the matter of pricing to residential customers

Eni’s wholesale gas and retail gas and power businesses are subject to regulatory risks mainly in Italy’s domestic market.
The Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environment (the “Authority”) is entrusted with certain powers in
the matter of natural gas and power pricing. Specifically, the Authority retains a surveillance power on pricing in the natural
gas market in Italy and the power to establish selling tariffs for the supply of natural gas to residential and commercial users
who are opting for adhering to regulated tariffs until the market is fully opened. Developments in the regulatory framework
intended to increase the level of market liquidity or of deregulation or intended to reduce operators’ ability to transfer to
customers cost increases in raw materials may negatively affect future sales margins of gas and electricity, operating results,
and cash flow

Wholesale gas market in Italy

In the last decade, and even more in the last years, a number of new rules have been introduced in order to improve
liquidity and efficient functioning of the Italian wholesale gas market, fostering competition and at the same time improving the
system security of supply. Among such new rules, it could be worth mentioning:

— Market based mechanisms for the allocation of storage capacities and of regasification capacities: moving away from
the past allocation criteria based on tariffs, new auction mechanisms were implemented that enabled market players to express
the market-value of storage and of regasification capacities, while at the same time ensuring the allowed revenues of storage
operators and LNG terminal operators by means of specific parallel measures. Thanks to these reforms, much higher levels of
capacity bookings have become structural for both types of infrastructures, and more LNG deliveries have been attracted in
recent years to the country.

— An organized market platform (MGAS) for gas trading and gas balancing market, managed by the independent operator
Gestore dei Mercati Energetici (GME) which also acts as a central counterparty, where different market participants (including
TSO) can carry out spot and forward transactions at the “Punto di Scambio Virtuale” (PSV — Virtual Trading Point). In addition,
since February 2018 voluntary market making activity has been introduced in the spot section of the gas exchange MGAS:
such activity is based on the service provided by some liquidity providers, in order to boost liquidity and trading activity on
the same exchange, initially for the day-ahead market but with possible future extension to the within-day section and to the
forward section of the MGAS.

— A gas balancing regime, entered into force since October 2016 as an evolution of the one already in place and in
compliance with the EU regulatory framework. This system is based on the principle that network users have to balance their
daily position, also in accordance with the timely information provided by the TSO about the daily gas consumption. The new
gas balancing regime provides the incentive for shippers to balance their position via penalizing imbalance prices and at the
same time it provides the possibility for shippers to modify intra-day their gas flow nominations and to trade on the market
with other shippers and/or with the TSO itself (that can access the market under some constraints, in order to address overall
system balancing needs that may arise on top of shippers’ activities).
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In the context of the energy crisis following the Russian-Ukrainian war, and in the framework of the emergency and
transitional regulations at EU level, the Italian competent authorities introduced in 2022 a number of new regulatory measures
aimed at ensuring the system security of supply in the short-term and improving it in the longer term, such as specific market
based solutions in order to: i) further incentivize storage booking and filling, ensuring the compliance with the new filling
trajectories set by the European regulation; ii) further facilitate market access to existing regasification capacities; iii) quickly
develop new regasification capacities and making them accessible to the market. Such new measures may represent risk factors
as well as business opportunities.

Natural gas prices in the retail sector in Italy

Following the liberalization of the natural gas sector introduced in the year 2000 by Decree No. 164, prices of natural gas
in the wholesale market which includes industrial and power generation customers are freely negotiated. However, the ARERA
retains a power of surveillance on this matter as per Law No. 481/1995 (establishing the ARERA) and Legislative Decree No.
164/2000. Furthermore, the ARERA is still entrusted (as per the Presidential Decree dated October 31, 2002) with the power of
regulating natural gas prices to residential customers, also with a view of containing inflationary pressure deriving from
increasing energy costs. Consistently with those provisions, companies which sell natural gas to residential customers are
currently required to offer to those customers the regulated tariffs set by ARERA beside their own price proposals.

In 2013, a new tariff regime was fully enacted by ARERA targeting Italian residential clients who are entitled to be
safeguarded in accordance with current regulations. Clients who are eligible for the tariff mechanism set by the ARERA are
residential clients. With Resolution No. 196 effective from October 1, 2013, the ARERA reformulated the pricing mechanism of
gas supplies to those customers by providing a full indexation of the raw material cost component of the tariff to spot prices at
the TTF (Title Transfer Facility) hub in Northern Europe, replacing the then current regime that provided a mix between an oil-
based indexation and spot prices.

This tariff regime also reduced the tariff components intended to cover storage and transportation costs. Finally, it also
increased the specific pricing component intended to remunerate certain marketing costs incurred by retail operators, including
administrative and retention costs, losses incurred due to customer default and a return on capital employed.

This new gas tariff indexation aiming at safeguarding the households was initially intended to remain effective till July 1,
2019 (as provided by Law 124/17). However, this deadline had been already prorogated by one year (as per Law Decree
91/2018), and finally has been prorogated to January 2024. From that point onwards, in Italy households other than vulnerable
customers will no longer have access to regulated tariffs for gas supplies. Consumers will have to choose among the different
pricing proposals made by gas selling companies, while only vulnerable customers will be entitled to the regulated tariff after
January 2024. The ARERA has established that gas selling companies comply with certain requirements about the offerings to
customers which include at least two pricing indexations (fixed and variable), both complemented with contractual conditions
regulated by the ARERA. Management believes that this development will increase competition in the Italian retail market for
selling gas.

Given the context of rising prices that occurred between 2021 and 2022 in gas market, ARERA carried out a series of
investigations to evaluate interventions on commodity prices and then decided to switch the gas raw material reference from
TTF to PSV, with monthly update of the component covering wholesale natural gas supply costs for regulated customers.

In the electricity market the regulated prices phase out has been effective from July 1, 2021, for small enterprises
(enterprise which employs fewer than 50 persons and whose annual turnover and/or annual balance sheet total does not
exceed €10 million). For microenterprises (enterprise which employs fewer than 10 persons and whose annual turnover and/or
annual balance sheet total does not exceed €2 million) the regulated prices phase out became effective from April 2023, while
for non-vulnerable households the deadline was furtherly prorogated to July 2024. The publication of the results of the
bidding process took place on February 6, 2024. It will be critical that the manner in which the winners handle clients be
properly monitored to avoid unfair practices.

Other regulatory developments in the gas and electric sector in Italy and Europe

Within the scope of the costs and criteria for accessing the main logistic infrastructures of the gas system, the main risk
factors for the business are linked to the periodic processes for defining the economic conditions and the rules for accessing
transportation, LNG regasification and storage services, which periodically involve all the European countries in which Eni
operates. The regulation criteria for gas transportation tariffs in Italy, France and Belgium have recently been redefined for the
four-year period 2024-2027, but the re-definition of transportation tariffs criteria at pre-established deadlines, as well as the
timely definition on an annual basis of the specific applicable tariff values, is an element that all European countries have in
common and which in the future could determine impacts on logistic costs. Further rule changes — representing risk factors as
well as business opportunities - could concern the regasification and storage sector, also in consideration of the market
context following the energy crisis in 2022-2023 and of need to pursue new solutions to ensure European security and
diversification of supplies.
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Moreover, the energy crisis scenario that materialized in 2022 has directed legislators, at European and individual country
level, towards evolutions - albeit temporary - of the legislation and the consequent regulations that can impact the market
dynamics, with the aim of containing prices for end customers and improve the security of supplies (e.g. possible obligations
to reduce final consumption, caps on prices of derivatives on wholesale gas products traded on regulated markets, possible
storage obligations, obligations of ex-ante notification to the European Commission concerning new supply contracts).

From a retail perspective, there were a number of various measures adopted at national level. For example, in 2021, the
Spanish government in a measure to protect final consumers with low voltage supplies (>10kW power), reduced VAT from 21%
to 10% and in 2022 proceeded to lower it further, to 5%. However, while retailers invoice final costumers 5% VAT, distribution
companies continue to invoice retailers at the normal 21% rate. The Spanish government has announced that the value-added
tax rate for energy bills will gradually return to 21% in 2024.

In France, during 2022, electricity and gas regulated tariffs were maintained below cost with a compensation distributed to
all suppliers. For 2023, the government increased the frozen regulated electricity and gas tariffs by 15%. Although suppliers
will continue to be compensated for 2023, this freeze will continue to have a negative impact on the competitiveness of
alternative suppliers. Moreover, the amount of compensation is based on sales prices, which are set by the government below
the suppliers' real costs. The ad hoc compensation mechanism introduced in 2022 for apartment blocks has also been extended
until the end of 2023 and now covers both electricity and gas consumption. The government has also introduced a new
support mechanism for SME electricity consumption throughout 2023. The compensation that suppliers gave to their
customers (both condominiums and SMEs) was financed by the government. Therefore, their financial and commercial impact
is limited. For 2024, electricity regulated tariffs are no longer capped. Public mechanisms to support professional consumers
were maintained only for contracts signed at a high price before the end of June 2023.

In Italy there have been some government interventions to contain retail prices such as:
- cancellation of general system charges in the electricity sector, which in the gas sector even assume negative value;
- strengthening of social bonuses in both sectors;
- decrease of VAT in the gas sector (until December 31, 2023).

In the medium term, we could expect that gas demand at European level will be supported by the need of accelerating the
phase-out of coal-based power generation in view of the decarbonisation targets. On the other side, with the implementation of
the EU Green Deal and of the subsequent and more ambitious decarbonisation interventions, in the coming years the
regulation of the gas sector will presumably be affected by potentially significant changes, as a consequence of adjustments in
the market design and/or new obligations or constraints on operators in the sector which will accompany the evolution of
European regulations, in the context of energy transition and consistently with the decarbonisation objectives of the energy
sector (including the related objectives for the development of renewable or decarbonised gases, for the promotion of
technologies enabling greater integration between the electricity and gas sectors, for the reduction of methane emissions).
These changes will likely cause pressure on the natural gas business, but on the other side they will likely open and support
new business opportunities in the renewable and decarbonized gases business that Eni is ready to pursue.

With regard to power sector, Italian Capacity Market auctions, taken place in November 2019 and in February 2022,
allocated capacity with delivery in 2022, 2023 and 2024 to the power producers. During the delivery period the operators
selected by the auctions will receive a fixed premium and, in return for this payment, they must i) offer power capacity on
energy markets (day- ahead Market and intraday Market) and/or on the dispatching services market; ii) pay the difference
between a market reference price and a pre-determined strike price whenever the reference price exceeds the strike price. Eni
has been awarded all the capacity offered in the tenders so it will receive a net benefit for its existing Eni group’s power plants
during the delivery period (2022, 2023 and 2024) and for a new power plant, that will be built in Ravenna, for a period of fifteen
years (starting in 2023). There is a residual risk that the tenders could be canceled due to the administrative appeal filed by
some power companies against the tender procedure.
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At the end of 2023, with a consultation concerning some changes in the Italian Capacity Market Guidelines, Terna (the
Italian TSO) started the process towards the Capacity Market’s auctions with delivery 2025, 2026 and 2027 which it will
complete by Terna with the publication of the final release of the Capacity Market Guidelines and by ARERA with the
publication of the auction reserve price and of the other economic variables. The auctions will likely take place before 4Q 2024.
The extension of Capacity Market, it will stabilize the revenue of power generation from gas until 2027. The Capacity Market
for the allocation capacity with delivery 2028 will be carried on if a new adequacy assessment conducted by the TSO will
confirm the presence of adequacy concerns. After 2028, Capacity Market Guidelines shall be completely rebuilt because the
current mechanism has been approved by European Commission till December 31, 2028.

Besides, in the next years Italian power market design could significantly be affected by the implementation of European
market model. The main innovations concern the introduction of negative prices and the launch of new Intraday Market based
on continuous trading and gate-closure close to delivery period (h -1 gate closure), both adopted in the second half of 2021,
fostering the cross-border integration of European energy and balancing market (coupling of intraday market, coupling of
balancing reserves markets) the implementation of new regulatory provisions concerning the rules which govern the Italian
balancing market (the so called “Nuovo Testo Integrato del Dispacciamento” or “Nuovo TIDE”), that shall enter into force
from 1.1.2025. Management believes that all these issues will increase competition, in particular in the Italian balancing market
which will be also affected by the incentive granted to Terna in order to minimize the balancing market cost.

The ongoing revision of the European electricity market design carried by the Commission, as a result of the crisis, could
lead to profound changes which would be felt across EU markets. In a public consultation launched in January, the
Commission proposes a large range of policy changes to protect consumers from high prices. On 14 March the Commission’s
proposal for a regulation would amend four pieces of legislation: the Electricity Directive 2019/944 and Regulation 2019/943,
RED II (2018/2001, regarding support schemes for renewables) and Regulation 2019/942 establishing ACER. The proposal is
more targeted and limited in the changes that were initially anticipated, most notably it conserves the merit-order pricing
system. However, as it currently stands, it would introduce several obligations on suppliers. First, an obligation to offer fixed-
price, fixed-term contracts, without first guaranteeing the possibility of charging termination fees. Second, it opens the
possibility for Member States to require suppliers to cover part of their risk exposure using PPAs. Finally, it establishes the
framework for declaring future price crisis, in which case Member States may impose below cost regulated prices, however,
conditions are set whereby suppliers must be compensated for selling energy below cost, that there should be no
discrimination between suppliers and that all suppliers are eligible to provide below cost offers on the same basis. This reform
is likely to be adopted before the end of the year, and once the regulation enters into force, member states will have to prepare
the necessary national measures within 6 months.

At present, the emergency interventions adopted by the government to compensate for the phenomenon of high energy
prices are finished. In fact, in addition to the suspension of tax credits for companies (starting from I111Q2023) and the
reinstatement of system charges for the electricity sector (starting from 11Q23), the 5% VAT reduction for gas, which was still in
place until IVQ2023, is also terminated. Currently, only a few measures are provided for the most vulnerable households (for
example the extraordinary contribution for electricity bonus holders confirmed for 1Q24).

Regarding the development of power generation from renewable sources, there are many issues under discussion that
could represent risk factors for the sector. Noting the critical issues related to the complexity of the authorization processes,
Law No. 201 of Nov. 28, 2023 (Art. 3) extended from 16 to 24 months the provisions of Art. 26 of the Competition Law 2021
(118/2022) on the adoption of one or more legislative decrees on simplification, thus moving the deadline for the exercise of the
delegation to August 25, 2024.

In addition, the pending Decree on Eligible Areas and Regional Burden Sharing, the approval of which is desirable in a
timely manner to ensure investment in the sector, and the Decree on Incentivizing Renewable Energy Plants Close to
Competitiveness (FERX), which confirms the introduction of inflation adjustment mechanisms for tariffs, represents an element
of uncertainty for the achievement of the expected energy transition goals.

With regard to the development of offshore power generation, particularly with floating technology, a certain framework
of rules is strongly expected with reference to the finalization of maritime spatial planning tools and the publication (by the
Ministry of Environment and Energy Security) of the guidelines/vademecum related to the necessary fulfillments for the
purpose of initiating the single procedure for the authorization of such plants, as per the provisions of Legislative Decree No.
199 of November 8, 2021 (Art. 23). In addition, a strong impact for pipeline projects will be the definition of the Decree on
incentives aimed at innovative plants or those still far from market competitiveness (RES2) and an adjustment of the regulatory
framework related to port areas: a first positive step in this direction is represented by the provisions of DL 181/2023, which
started the process for the identification of two port areas in the South of Italy for the development of investments of the
shipbuilding sector for the production, assembly and launching of floating platforms and related electrical infrastructure.
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Refining and marketing of petroleum products

Refining. The current regulations on refining activity in Italy provides that Italian administrative bodies authorize plans
filed by refining operators intended to set up new processing and storage plants and to upgrade capacity, while all other
changes that do not affect capacity can be freely implemented. This regime was streamlined by Law Decree No. 5/2012 (as
converted in Law 35/2012) that defined mineral oil processing and storage plants as “strategic installations” that need
authorization from the State, in agreement with the local administrations. The Decree introduced a unitized process of
authorization that must be finalized within 180 days, subject to compliance with applicable environmental regulations.

In 2022 refining operations benefitted from a number of interventions aimed at lowering utility costs, temporarily adopted
by the legislator as part of the energy crisis response package. Some of these measures were confirmed in 2023 (es. reducing
the parafiscal levies — Oneri di Sistema — charged on gas bills, tax credits until Q2 2023, reduction of VAT on gas

consumptionss).

Marketing. Following the enactment of the Law Decree No. 1/2012, an increase level of competition in the retail marketing
of fuels have been introduced. The rules regulating relations between oil companies and managers of service stations have
been changed introducing the difference between principal and non-principal of a service station. Starting from June 30, 2012,
principals have been allowed to freely supply up to 50% of their requirements. In such case, the distributing companies have
the option to renegotiate terms and conditions of supplies and brand name use. As for non-principals, the law allows the
parties to renegotiate terms and conditions at the expiration of existing contracts and new contractual forms can be introduced
in addition to the only one allowed so far, i.e. exclusive supply. The law also provides for an expansion of non-oil sales.
Furthermore, the Budget Law 2018 (Law 205/2017) provides some measures for preventing of tax evasion in the sale of oil
products that in the past produced anticompetitive effects on the sector. The law requires the advance payment of Value
Added Tax (VAT) on oil products before the extraction from deposits or the sale to consumer.

In 2019, the Law no 157/2019 introduced a set of measures to prevent illegal conduct/practices linked to fiscal fraud for the
exchange of products in the retail fuel market. These regulatory initiatives will also address for more competition and efficiency
of the sector. In 2020, the Budget Law 2021 (Law 178/2020) extends some measures to prevent fiscal frauds and introduces
electronic communication for some information.

Service stations. Legislative Decree No. 32 of February 11, 1998, as amended by Legislative Decree No. 346 of September
8, 1999 and Law Decree No. 383 of October 29, 1999, as converted in Law No. 496 of December 28, 1999, significantly changed
Italian regulation of service stations. Legislative Decree No. 32 replaces the system of concessions granted by the Ministry of
Industry, regional and local authorities with an authorization granted by city authorities while the Legislative Decree No. 112 of
March 31, 1998 still confirms the system of such concessions for the construction and operation of service stations on
highways and confers the power to grant to Regions. Decree No. 32 also provides for: (i) the testing of compatibility of existing
service stations with local planning and environmental regulations and with those concerning traffic safety to be performed by
city authorities; (ii) the option to extend by 50% the opening hours (currently 52 hours per week) and a generally increased
flexibility in scheduling opening hours; (iii) simplification of regulations concerning the sale of non-oil products and the
permission to perform simple maintenance and repair operations at service stations; and (iv) the opening up of the logistics
segment by permitting third -party access to unused storage capacity for petroleum products. Subsequently, various
regulations have been enacted in Italy with the aim of improving network efficiency, modernizing service stations and opening
up the market. Currently, all service stations are provided with self-service equipment and the sale of non-oil products has
been broadly introduced by local administrative bodies.

Law Decree No. 1/2012 also allowed the installation of fully automated service stations with prepayment, but only outside
urban areas. Law No. 133 of August 6, 2008, by intervening in competition provisions, removes some national and regional
regulations, which might limit the liberty of establishment and introduces new provisions particularly concerning the
elimination of restrictions concerning distances between service stations, the obligation to undertake non-oil activities and the
liberalization of opening hours.

In 2023, the Law Decree 5/2023 provided measures for the transparency and control of the prices of the road transport
sector fuels. Ministry of Industry and Made in Italy calculates and publishes on its website: (i) the arithmetic average, on a
regional basis, of the prices communicated by fuel sellers operating on the service stations located off highway and (ii) the
arithmetic average, on a national basis, of fuel prices communicated by operators located in highway. Subsequently, pursuant
to the abovementioned Law Decree 5/2023, the Ministerial Decree of March 31, 2023 provided the rules for the exposition of
the relevant average reference prices for the fuel sellers.

The new regulatory framework provided by the legislative decree No 257/2016 — implementing EU Directive 2014/94/UE on
alternative fuel infrastructures — has introduced minimum requirements for the construction of infrastructure for the
development of alternative fuels to mitigate the environmental impacts of the transport sector. The legislation established,
furthermore, an adequate number of charging stations accessible to the public to be created throughout the country by 2020.

8L 197/22, DL 34/23, DL 79/23, DL 131/23
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Law no. 124/2017 aims to promote the structural reorganization of the fuel distribution network also in order to increase
competition and efficiency. The law requires the closure of fuel stations that are incompatible with road safety regulations and
environmental streamlining procedures for the decommissioning. The Law Decree 76/2020 extended the simplified procedures
for the fuel station decommissioning by 2023.

The 2021 Budget law (Law 178/2020) introduced the obligations for concessionaires’ highway stations to provide electric
charging points (up to 50 kW) within their own area of competence. Finally, the Law Decree 76/2020 introduced simplified
procedures for the installation of electric charging points and stations and incentives to be recognized by local authorities (i.e.
tax reduction or exemption for public land use).

Moreover, the annual Competition Law for 2022 (legislative decree No 118/2022) provides for competitive, transparent and
non-discriminatory procedures for the selection of the operators responsible for the installation of electric recharging points
on the highways network (fast and ultra-fast).

In 2022, Law Decree No 17/2022 provided a new incentive framework for purchasing low-emission vehicles. The incentive
framework has been confirmed for 2023.

Management believes that these measures will favor competition in the Italian retail market and enhance the
competitiveness of efficient players.

Renewables uptake in the transport sector. In order to support the achievement of the renewables target in the transport
sector established by the EU and national laws, the Ministerial Decree of March 2, 2018, provides the legislative framework to
incentivize the production of both biomethane and other advanced biofuels to be used in the transport sector.

The Decree provides incentives for plants starting operations between 2018 and 2022 and for plants that are converted to
biomethane production.

The incentive consists in an allocation of a Certificate (CIC) for every 10 Geal of biomethane produced. The certificate has
a market value since fossil fuel marketers have to sell a minimum percentage of biofuels annually, for which they receive the
same Certificates.

In order to access to incentives, producers must comply with legal and technical regulations governing the quality and
certification of the produced biomethane, verified by the competent Authority (Gestore dei Servizi Energetici, GSE).

These measures aim to favor advanced biofuels production through the valorization of waste, notably of agricultural and
farm/zootechnical waste.

Regarding biomethane, the incentive scheme has been replaced, following approval by the European Commission, by the
Ministerial Decree of September 15, 2022. The mechanism consists of an operating aid — in the form of a CfD linked to the
market value of natural gas and of the biomethane Guarantee of Origin, auctioned through a competitive procedure — and an
investment aid — covering up to 40% of the eligible investment costs and funded by the NRRP. The mechanism differentiates
between new plants and refurbishments and between agro or waste-based plants. Law 136/2023 introduced an inflation-linked
indexation for the base tariffs set by MD September 15, 2022. In every auction, tariffs will be updated following the total
inflation accrued between November 2021 and the auction’s opening month.

At the end of 2020, the Ministerial Decree of October 2014 on conditions, criteria and implementation of biofuels
(conventional and advanced) obligations for suppliers was modified. Among the novelties, were introduced the increase of the
overall 2021 target from 9% to 10% and a new additional target of 0,5% of advanced liquid biofuels to be mandatory blended
by each supplier (outside the incentive scheme provided by DM 2018).

Law 238/2021 (European Law 2019-2020) confirmed the GHG saving requirement (6%) previously set for the year 2020 only
and revised the calculation methodology for the current 7% maximum threshold for food-and-crop derived biofuels. The law
excludes from the calculation fuels based on double counting feedstock.

The Directive (EU) 2018/2001 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources has been transposed with the
Legislative Decree No 199/2021. The Decree set new targets for RES penetration in the transport sector (16%) and introduced
some innovations in the transport sector’s regulatory framework: i) palm-oil, PFAD and EFB based fuels cannot contribute to
RES targets in the transport sector. However, they can be taken into account if certified as low-ILUC risk ii) biomethane
support schemes — as defined by the Ministerial Decree of March 2, 2018 — have been updated iii) Recycled Carbon Fuels
count as renewable towards the general target, on the basis of the upcoming EU delegated acts and iv) confirms the use of
some wastes as feedstock for the production of biofuels.
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Law Decree No 17/2022 (converted into Law No 34/2022) further developed the regime set in Legislative Decree No
199/2021 (transposing Directive (EU) 2018/2001 - REDII), introducing an obligation for the fuels suppliers to supply pure
bioliquids to be used in the transport sector (additional to the existing obligation on biofuels). The measure requires a
mandatory cumulative share of at least 300 ktonnes released in 2023, with volumes increasing by 100 ktonnes per year and
reaching 1 million tonnes per year from 2030 onwards.

The measure also incentivizes, by means of investment aid, existing refineries conversions aimed at producing the above-
mentioned pure biofuels. The incentive is financed by the Fund for the decarbonisation and green conversion of existing
refineries, established under the Ministry of environment and energy security with an overall budget of € 260 million for the
three- year period 2022-24, and will be regulated by a specific Ministerial Decree.

Provisions regarding both supply obligation and reconversion funding have been implemented by Decree No 107/2023
and No 343/2023 of the Minister of the Environment and Energy Security.

In particular, the methods and criteria for implementing supply obligations for the period 2023-2030 were regulated by
Ministerial Decree No 107/2023 which also defines the trajectories for achieving all biofuels targets (traditional, advanced, pure
biofuel and including the specific biomethane subtargets). The Decree No 107/2023 was then integrated by the Ministerial
Decree No 343/2023. To comply with the national supply obligations, biofuels blended, with a minimum rate of 20%, are
assimilated to the pure form only for a transitional period 2023-2024.

With 2021 budget law and other several Acts (Law Decree 34/2020,104/2020, Legislative Decree 187/2021), new measures
and extension of existing provisions for sustainable mobility have been adopted in order to decarbonize the transport sector,
through incentive mechanisms for low emission vehicles.

National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP — Piano Nazionale Ripresa e Resilienza). The NRRP, as approved by the
Italian Parliament in April 2021, includes relevant proposal for the R&M business area. It allocates €230 million to develop at
least 40 recharging stations based on hydrogen for light and heavy vehicles by 2026. It also assigns €730 million for the
installation of charging infrastructures for electric vehicles, envisaging the entry in operation, by 2025, of a minimum of 7.500
rapid recharging stations along freeways (at least 175 kW) as well as 13.000 rapid recharging stations in urban areas (at least 90
kW).

Petroleum product prices. Petroleum products’ prices were completely deregulated in May 1994 and are now freely
established by operators. Oil and gas companies periodically report their recommended prices to the Ministry of Economic
Development; such recommendations are considered by service station operators in establishing retail prices for petroleum
products.

Compulsory stocks. According to Legislative Decree of January 31, 2001, No. 22 (“Decree 22/2001”) enacting Directive
No. 1993/98/EC (which regulates the obligation of Member States to keep a minimum amount of stocks of crude oil and/or
petroleum products) compulsory stocks, must be at least equal to the quantities required by 90 days of consumption of the
Italian market (net of oil products obtained by domestically produced oil). In order to satisfy the agreement with the
International Energy Agency (Law No. 883/1977), Decree No. 22/2001 increased the level of compulsory stocks to reach at least
90 days of net import, including a 10% deduction for minimum operational requirements. Decree No. 22/2001 states that
compulsory stocks are determined each year by a decree of the Minister of Ecological Transition based on domestic
consumption data of the previous year, defining also the amounts to be held by each oil company on a site-by-site basis. The
Legislative Decree No. 249/2012, entered into force on February 10, 2013 to implement the Directive No. 2009/119/EC (imposing
an obligation on Member States to maintain minimum stocks of crude oil and/or petroleum products), sets forth in particular:
(a) that a high level of oil security of supply through a reliable mechanism to assure the physical access to oil emergency and
specific stocks shall be kept; and (b) the institution of a Central Stockholding Entity under the control of the Ministry for
Economic Development that should be in charge of: (i) the purchase, holding, sell and transportation of specific stocks of
products; (ii) the stocktaking; (iii) the statistics on emergency, specific and commercial stocks; and, eventually (iv) the storage
and transportation service of emergency and commercial stocks in favor of sellers of petroleum products not vertically
integrated in the oil chain.

As of December 31, 2023, Eni owned 4.6 mmtonnes of oil products inventories, of which 2.8 mmtonnes as “compulsory
stocks”, 1.5 mmtonnes related to operating inventories in refineries and deposits (including 0.2 mmtonnes of oil products
contained in facilities and pipelines) and 0.1 mmtonnes related to specialty products. Eni’s compulsory stocks were held in term
of crude oil (33%), light and medium distillates (33%), refinery feedstock (23%), fuel oil (9%), and other products (2%) were
located throughout the Italian territory both in refineries (81%) and in storage sites (19%).
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Competition

Like all Italian companies, Eni is subject to Italian and EU competition rules. EU competition rules are set forth in Articles
101 and 102 of the Lisbon Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union entered into force on December 1, 2009 (“Article
101 and “Article 1027, respectively being the result of the new denomination of former Articles 81 and 82 of the Treaty of
Rome as amended by the Treaty of Amsterdam dated October 2, 1997 and entered into force on May 1, 1999) and EU Merger
Control Regulation No. 139 of 2004 (EU Regulation 139). Article 101 prohibits collusion among competitors that may affect
trade among Member States and that has the object or effect of restricting competition within the EU. Article 102 prohibits any
abuse of a dominant position within a substantial part of the EU that may affect trade among Member States. EU Regulation
139 sets certain turnover limits for cross-border transactions, above which enforcement authority rests with the European
Commission and below which enforcement is carried out by national competition authorities, such as the Antitrust Authority
in the case of Italy. On May 1, 2004, a new regulation of the European Council came into force (No. 1/2003) which substitutes
Regulation No. 17/1962 on the implementation of the rules on competition laid down in Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty. In
order to simplify the procedures required of undertakings in case of conducts that potentially fall within the scope of Article
101 and 102 of the Treaty, the new regulation substitutes the obligation to inform the Commission with a self-assessment by
the undertakings that such conducts do not infringe the Treaty. In addition, the burden of proving an infringement of Article
101(1) or of Article 102 of the Treaty shall rest on the party or the authority alleging the infringement. The undertaking or
association of undertakings claiming the benefit of Article 101(3) of the Treaty shall bear the burden of proving that the
conditions of that paragraph are fulfilled. The regulation defines the functions of authorities guaranteeing competition in
Member States and the powers of the Commission and of national courts. The Competition Authorities of the Member States
shall have the power to apply Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty in individual cases. For this purpose, acting on their own
initiative or on a complaint, they may take the following decisions:

e requiring that an infringement be brought to an end;
e ordering interim measures;
® accepting commitments; and

e imposing fines, periodic penalty payments or any other penalty provided for in their national law.

National courts shall have the power to apply Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty. Where the Commission, acting on a
complaint or on its own initiative, finds that there is an infringement of Article 101 or of Article 102 of the Treaty, it may: (i)
require the undertakings and associations of undertakings concerned to bring such infringement to an end; (ii) order interim
measures; (iii) make commitments offered by undertakings to meet the concerns expressed to them by the Commission binding
on the undertakings; and (iv) find that Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty are not applicable to an agreement for reasons of
Community public interest. Eni is also subject to the competition rules established by the Agreement on the European
Economic Area (the “EEA Agreement”), which are analogous to the competition rules of the Lisbon Treaty (ex Treaty of Rome)
and apply to competition in the European Economic Area (which consists of the EU and Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein).
These competition rules are enforced by the European Commission and the European Free Trade Area Surveillance Authority.
In addition, Eni’s activities are subject to Law No. 287 of October 10, 1990 (the “Italian Antitrust Law”). In accordance with the
EU competition rules, the Italian Antitrust Law prohibits collusion among competitors that restricts competition within Italy
and prohibits any abuse of a dominant position within the Italian market or a significant part thereof. However, the Italian
Antitrust Authority may exempt for a limited period agreements among companies that otherwise would be prohibited by the
Italian Antitrust Law if such agreements have the effect of improving market conditions and ultimately result in a benefit for
consumers.

Property, plant and equipment

Eni has freehold and leasehold interests in real estate in numerous countries throughout the world. The Company enters
into operating lease contracts with third parties to hire plant and equipment such as floating production and storage offloading
vessels (FPSO), drilling rigs, time charter, service stations and other equipment. Management believes that certain individual
petroleum properties are of major significance to Eni as a whole. Management regards an individual petroleum property as
material to the Group in case it contains 10% or more of the Company’ worldwide proved oil&gas reserves and management is
committed to invest material amounts of expenditures in developing it in the future. See “Exploration & Production” above for
a description of Eni’s both material and other properties and reserves and sources of crude oil and natural gas.

Organizational structure

Eni SpA is the parent company of the Eni Group. As of December 31, 2023, there were 435 subsidiaries and 144 associates,
joint ventures and joint operations that were accounted for under the equity or cost method or in accordance to Eni’s share of
revenues, costs and assets of the joint operations calculated based on Eni’s working interest. Information on Eni’s investments
as of December 31, 2023 is provided in the “Item 18 - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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Item 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
Item 5. OPERATING AND HINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

This section is the Company’s analysis of its financial performance and of significant trends that may affect its future
performance. It should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto
included in Item 18. The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.

This section contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. For a list of important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements, see the
cautionary statement concerning jorward-looking statements on page ii.

Operating results
2023 trends in the crude oil and natural gas markets

In 2023, crude oil prices averaged 83 $/bbl and declined by 18% compared to the average recorded in 2022, featuring another
year of highly volatile crude oil markets with a considerable number of days when the Brent benchmark crude oil moved by more
than 5 $/bbl in a single trading day. After the spike in prices recorded in the previous year due to Russia’s military aggression in
Ukraine in February 2022, which triggered a short-term rally in the price of crude oil, with the Brent price approaching its all-time
highs at approximately 140 $/bbl in March 2022 and remaining elevated through the first half of 2022, the crude oil market entered a
downturn that has run almost uninterrupted till the end of 2023.

In that timeframe, the oil price has corrected by about40 $/bbl or 33% compared to the price at the end of June 2022 at 125
$/bbl to a 2023 average of about 83 $/bbl. Many factors were behind that trend. First, Russia’s production and export towards
international markets have held remarkably well, defying expectations of market participants who had anticipated a likely supply
shortfall. The imposition of sanctions from G-20 countries to limit Russia’s primary source of revenues has proven ineffective at
impairing Russia’s ability to deliver barrels to countries like China and India.

In addition to Russia, supplies have continued to grow significantly elsewhere, with strong gains from various non-OPEC
countries like Brazil, Guyana, China and above all in the United States, where productivity gains have made for reduced capital
budgets at shale oil companies. The 2023 exit rate of US production at about 13 mmbbl/d has recovered the record level set before
the onset of the COVID pandemic. Also sanctioned production at Iran and Venezuela has made its way to international markets,
helped by a loosened enforcement of the embargo on Iranian oil, as well as a provisional lifting of Venezuela restrictions to export
by US Administration. The OPEC+ alliance with an effort coordinated by Saudi Arabia has soughtto limit supply by agreeing on a
production cut of about 4 million barrels per day, effective till the end 0f2024. OPEC+ agreed cuts were supported by Saudi Arabia
unilateral, voluntary cut of one million barrels per day, effective from July and subject to review each month. However, the cartel
delivered less cuts than announced, while Saudi Arabia has continued to roll over its unilateral cut till the end of 2023 and which is
expected to continue in the first half of 2024.

The second trend behind the decline of crude oil prices was the positioning of hedge funds and commodity traders, who have
gradually reduced their long exposure to the crude oil market by liquidating future contracts on Brent crude oil or the US WTI,
driven by the tightening monetary policy adopted by the US Federal Reserveand other central banks to contrast a resurgence in
inflation. Rising bond yields have reduced the appetite for more risky assets like commodities, also based on expectations of the
negative impact of rising rates on economic activity and demands for commodities. The impact of tightening monetary conditions
was compounded in the first half of 2023 by the failure of several regional banks in the US spreading fears of a financial crisis. In
the last months 0f 2023, with inflation gauges in the US slowing down, hedge funds and commodity traders have again executed
mass liquidation of Brent/WTI long future positions due to the inverted trade short oil/long bonds.

Finally, in response to the Russia’s military aggression of Ukraine, the US Administration has implemented a program of
releasing part of the SPR (Strategic Petroleum Reserve) by selling about one million barrels per day for a six-month period plus
additional sales through the first half of 2023 for a total release of approximately 200 million barrels. Other OECD countries have
executed similar sales to mitigate the war premium in crude oil prices.
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Those development have all pressured crude oil prices downwards.

On the face of major uncertainties in global markets, tightening monetary policies, an uncertain recovery of China post COVID-
lockdowns and a slowdown in the Eurozone driven by weak industrial production, worldwide demands for crude oil has showed
remarkable resilience. This has been driven by continued economic growth in India and other emerging economies, steady Chinese
consumptions despite the economic headwinds and solid US demand.

Global worldwide demand is estimated to have reached an all-time high in 2023 at about 102 million barrels/day, up by about
2% from 2022 . This growth has held down global stocks of crude oil and refined products including both amounts stored onshore
and oil-on-water, putting a floor under Brent prices, which have rebounded whenever they have touched key resistance levels.

Other bouts of volatility were registered on occasion of the resurgence of the conflict in Middle East in October 2023,
culminating in Israelis military invasion of the Gaza strip. However, this rally too was short-lived given weakening fundamentals.

The decline in crude oil prices negatively affected Eni’ results of operations and cash flow in 2023 compared to the previous
year.

Looking forward, we believe that crude oil prices could be further negatively affected by expectations among market
participants regarding a possible slowdown or a recession of the global economy possibly leading to a contraction in demand for
crude oil, thus limiting the chance of a price recovery in 2024. Furthermore, we believe that the global oil market will remain well
supplied due to continued production growth in non-OPEC countries and because of anticipated production increases at several
international oil companies reflecting better performance and efficiency gains. Furthermore, uncertain production discipline on the
part of OPEC+ countries represents a risk factor to this outlook due to the willingness of several countries (e.g. Irag, UAE, Nigeria)
to boost revenues from oil exports. For 2024, management is forecasting a Brent crude oil price of 80 $/bbl.

Natural gas prices, especially in Europe, experienced a deeper correction than crude oil amidst acute volatility, as they were
down by approximately 70% on average in 2023 compared to 2022 (from 130 €/ MWh to 40€ for the spot price at the European
reference hub Title Transfer Facility “TTF”; similar decreases were experienced for the Italian benchmark PSV). This decline was
largely driven by global oversupplies of natural gas and development of additional liquefaction and regassification capacity which
enabled the US to export record amounts towards international markets. In Europe, demand for natural gas was negatively and
significantly affected by an ongoing economic slowdown, a slump in industrial production, energy savings by households and
other consumers and growing competition from renewables. A milder-than-usual winter season compounded the weak
fundamentals. The main source of weakness has remained the contraction of industrial production across the Eurozone, especially
in Germany, which was due to relatively higher energy costs incurred by European undertakings compared to other geographies,
forcing many industrial activities to decrease production or relocate to other regions. As a matter of fact, the cost of natural gas in
Europe is currently running five to six times that of the US, reducing the competitiveness of many industries in Europe, including
our petrochemicals business. US natural gas production, both dry gas and associated gas, has repeatedly broken record after
record through the entire 2023, fueling massive export volumes thanks to rising liquefaction capacity. We believe that the global
market will remain oversupplied for the foreseeable future also considering new LNG capacity additions in North America, Middle
East, and Australia and, after the winter of 2023, another mild winter season in 2024. For 2024, management is forecasting a spot
natural gas price for the main European benchmarks (TTF and PSV) of around 30 €/ MWh equivalent to about 10-12 $/mmBTU.

Our results of operations and cash flow are exposed to the volatility of hydrocarbons prices because we generally do not
hedge our commodity exposure in the business of producing crude oil and natural gas. For 2023, we estimated that the decline in
hydrocarbons prices reduced the operating profit of the E&P segment by about €5 billion and the Group net cash provided by
operating activities by an estimated €3 billion.
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Key consolidated financial data

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Sales from operations 93,717 132,512 76,575
Operating profit (loss) 8,257 17,510 12,341
Adjusted operating profit (Non-GAAP measure) (1) 13,805 20,386 9,664
Net profit (loss) attributable to Eni 4,771 13,887 5,821
Adjusted net profit (Non-GAAP measure) () 8,322 13,301 4,330
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,119 17,460 12,861
Capital expenditures 9,215 8,056 5,234
Acquisitions 2,592 3311 2,738
Disposal of assets, consolidated subsidiaries and businesses 596 1,202 404
Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest 53,644 55,230 44,519
Finance debt (including lease liabilities) 34,065 31,868 33,131
Net borrowings excluding lease liabilities (D 10,899 7,026 8,987
Net profit (loss) attributable to Eni diluted (€ per share) 1.40 3.95 1.60
Dividend per share (€ per share) 0.94 0.88 0.86
Ratio of finance debt (including lease liabilities) to total shareholders’ equity 0.63 0.58 0.74
Ratio of net borrowings excluding lease liabilities to total shareholders’
equity (leverage) ) 0.20 0.13 0.20

(1) For a discussion of the usefulness and a reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures with the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measures see — "Non-GAAP measures of performance" and "Liquidity and capital resources — Financial Conditions" below.

Executive summary

In 2023, notwithstanding a decline in hydrocarbons prices with the benchmark Brent crude oil price down by 18% year-over-
year and spot prices of natural gas at European hubs down by approximately 70%, the Group reported sound, albeit
decreasing financial results.

In 2023, reported operating profit was €8.26 billion, almost €9 billion lower than in 2022 due to price effects and higher
extraordinary charges, net finance expense was €047 billion and income from investments was a positive €2.44 billion. The
reported tax rate was around 52%, higher than in 2022 at 37%, due mainly to unfavorable price effects and the dilutive effect.

Net income for the year was €4.8 billion and included an inventory holding loss and identified items of about €3.5 billion.
Excluding those latter items, management’s most tracked performance indicator “adjusted net profit” which is a NON-GAAP
measure (see page 110 for a definition and reconciliation of adjusted results to reported results) came in at €8.3 billion.

The principal components of the adjusted profit consisted of:

e €13.8 billion of adjusted operating, profit which was driven by a steady performance of the E&P segment with about €10
billion of operating profit and a significant performance of the GGP segment which delivered profit of €3.2 billion. Significant
contributions were also achieved by Enilive, Plenitude and the business of oil refining, whereas the petrochemicals business
incurred about €0.6 billion of operating losses driven by a demand slowdown and increased competitive pressures from
overseas products because of the disadvantaged cost position of European players reflecting comparatively higher energy
and environmental expenses;

e Results from equity-accounted entities and dividends from fair-valued entities contributed €1.75 billion;

e Finance expense decreased compared to the previous year to a loss of €044 billion due to the fact that a large portion
of Eni’s finance debt was at fixed rates, whereas interest income benefitted from an environment of rising yields,
and financial assets held-for-trading contributed significantly because the yield curve flattened sharply in the final
months 2023;

e Finally the Group underlying tax rate was approximately 44% and was calculated by excluding the above
mentioned identified items and their relevant tax effect.
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Those results drove a robust cash flow from operating activities of €15.1 billion, large enough to fund capital expenditures of
€92 billion and asset acquisitions of €2 billion (net of dispositions), leaving a surplus of about €3.6 billion compared to cash returns
to Eni’s shareholders of about €4.8 billion (€3 billion of dividends and a stock repurchase program of €1.8 billion). As a result of
those cash movements and including the repayment of lease liabilities and the incurrence of finance debt in connection with
deferred payment terms agreed with certain suppliers of capital goods, GAAP finance debt was €28.7 billion at December 31, 2023,
almost €2 billion higher than at the end of 2022, while lease liabilities were €5.3 billion, almost in line with 2022. The GAAP measure
of indebtedness which compare gross debt to total equity was around 0.63.

Our net borrowing (Non-GAAP measure defined as finance debt less cash, cash equivalents and held-for-trading securities —
see Glossary) increased by €3.9 billion to €11 billion. In spite of that increase, the management’s tracked measure of financial
structure — leverage (ratio of net borrowings to total equity — see glossary) came in at 0.2, remaining within our stated target range
(0.15 - 0.25).

In 2023, we delivered solid operating performance and progressed our strategy. Hydrocarbons production grew by 3% to 1.529
million boe/day. We started two important reserve development projects: the Baleine oilfield development off Cote d’Ivoire and a
project in Congo to produce LNG from a floating vessel which delivered its first LNG cargo at the end of February 2024. We made
several exploration discoveries, the most significant being the natural gas discovery of Geng off Indonesia, which has opened a
whole set of opportunities considering our strengthened position in the region, also with the acquisition of Chevron’s assets in
that area. In January 2024, we completed the acquisition of upstream operator Neptune Energy Group. The acquired company will
complement Eni’s portfolio in key areas like Indonesia, UK and Algeria; in this latter country earlier in the year we purchased bp’s
interests in certain natural gas fields.

GGP benefitted from some contractual renegotiations and strengthened its market position by way of continuing asset
portfolio optimizations.

Plenitude has achieved the first milestone of its development program in the renewable space by reaching an installed
generation capacity of 3 GW.

Enilive, operational from January 1, 2023, started the international expansion of the biofuels manufacturing business by
establishing a JV with a US operator to run the biorefinery of Chalmette in Louisiana and is progressing towards final investment
decisions at two projects in South Korea and Malaysia in joint venture with local operators.

Despite a market downturn and a sharply increased loss, Versalis has commenced its restructuring by acquiring a controlling
stake in Novamont which is a leader in the production of bioplastics.

Overall, management believes that the fundamentals of the Company have improved. For 2024, we are assuming a continued
decline in European natural gas prices and stable Brent prices at 80 $/bbl and we are planning to make about €9 billion of capital
expenditures. Hydrocarbons production is expected to grow again by about 3%.

See forward guidance in the sections below.
Reported earnings

In 2023, Eni reported a net profit attributable to its shareholders of €4,771 million, driven by an operating profit of €8,257
million (against an operating profit of €17,510 million in 2022) due to lower hydrocarbons prices and a weak performance in the
petrochemicals business, and lower results of investments (decrease of approximately €3 billion) also reflecting the capital gain
recognized in 2022 on the divestment of our consolidated subsidiaries in Angola and establishment of the Azule Energy
Holdings JV. Those negatives were partly offset by decreasing financial expenses mainly driven by higher income on cash
deposits and fair value gains at financial assets held for trading due to a declining yield-curve in the final months of the year,
as well as lower income taxes.

NON-GAAP measures of performance: adjusted results
Adjusted operating profit (loss) and adjusted net profit (loss) are determined by excluding from the reported results
inventory holding gains or losses and identified gains and losses (pre and post-tax, respectively) that in our view do not

reflect business base performance.
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Adjusted operating profit (or loss) and adjusted net profit (or loss) provide management with an understanding of the
results from our underlying operations and are used to evaluate our period-over-period operating performance, as management
believes these provide more comparable measures as they adjust for disposals and special charges or gains not reflective of
the underlying trends in our business. These Non-GAAP performance measures may also assist investors in evaluating the
underlying operating performance of our business and in comparing it with the performance of other oil&gas companies,
because the items excluded from the calculation of such measures can vary substantially from company to company
depending upon accounting methods, management’s judgment, book value of assets, capital structure and the method by
which assets were acquired, among other factors. Nevertheless, other companies may adopt different criteria in identifying
underlying results and therefore our measure of adjusted operating profit (loss) and adjusted net profit (loss) may not be
comparable to the adjusted measures presented by other companies.

In 2023, identified items amounted to a total positive adjustment of €3,551 million in net profit and of €5,548 million in
operating profit, including an inventory pre-tax loss of €562 million (€402 million post-tax) relating to oil and refined products.
Those items mainly comprised: (i) impairment losses of €1 billion in the Exploration & Production segment driven by downward
reserves revisions and a lowered outlook for natural gas prices; (ii) impairment losses of chemical plants to reflect a reduced
profitability outlook following worsening industry fundamentals (€0.4 billion); (iii) the write-down of capital expenditures made
for compliance and stay-in-business at certain CGU with expected negative cash flows in the Refining business (€0.4 billion);
(iv) environmental and remediation provision of €0.65 billion; (v) the mark-to-market of commodity derivatives lacking the
formal criteria to be classified as hedges under applicable accounting standards (€1.3 billion); (vi) a €0.7 billion charge relating
to the natural gas inventory held for trading purposes reflecting the timing difference between the moment the sale occurs
(typically during the peak winter season) and the incurrence of the supply cost (typically during summer months) and is
determined by the difference between the supply cost net of hedging effects and the weighted average cost of supplies
incurred in the quarter which is utilized to value gas inventory for IFRS accounting. These charges were offset by a gain of
€0.8 billion in connection with the sale of a 49.9% interests and consequent loss of control of Eni’s subsidiaries managing the
TTPC/Transmed pipelines and the relevant transportation rights of natural gas volumes imported from Algeria following the
agreement to estabilish a joint venture with Snam SpA, which also included the fair-value revaluation of the interest retained
by Eni in the venture (approximately 50% of the overall gain). For a breakdown of identified gains and losses by business
segments, refer to the reconciliation of the Non-GAAP measures to the most comparable performance measures calculated in
accordance with IFRS, in the Operating prof it (loss) by segment section.

The table below sets forth details of the identified gains and losses included in the net results during the period
presented.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Identified gains and losses of operating profit (loss) 4,986 3,440 (1,186)
- environmental charges 648 2,056 271
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 1,802 1,140 167
- impairment of exploration projects 2 247
- net gains on disposal of assets (11) (41) (100)
- risk provisions 39 87 142
- provision for redundancy incentives 158 202 193
- commodity derivatives 1,255 (389) (2,139)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (16) 149 183
- other L1111 234 (150)
Net finance (income) expense 30 127) (115)
of which:
- exchange rate differences and derivatives reclassified to operating profit (loss) 16 (149) (183)
Net (income) expense from investments (698) 2,834) 851
of which:
- gain on the SeaCorridor deal (834)
- gain on the divestment interest of Var Energi (448)
- net gains on the divestment of Angolan assets (2,542)
Income taxes (1,180) (683) 19
Total non core gains and losses of net profit (loss) 3,138 204) 431)
Attributable to:
- non-controlling interest (11) (19)
- Eni's shareholders 3,149 (185) 431)
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The item “other charges/ (gains)” mainly related to the GGP segment for about €0.8 billion. See the segmental review
below.

The Group underlying performance — i.e. excluding the identified gains and losses as well as the inventory holding profit
— was an adjusted operating profit of €13,805 million compared to €20,386 million in 2022, down by approximately 32% or €6.58
billion. This performance reflected the lower contribution by the E&P segment (down by €6.54 billion) due to a reduction in
crude oil and natural gas prices that impacted realizations on equity production and the derecognition of the subsidiaries
operating in Angola which were contributed to the Azule Energy Holdings JV effective August 15t 2022, the underperformance
of the Chemical business (with a loss of €0.6 billion) due to a slowdown in demand and cost disadvantages, and finally a
significantly deteriorated refining scenario leading to a sharp contraction of Refining adjusted operating profit (down by €1
billion). These negative trends were offset by the Global Gas and LNG portfolio segment delivering a significant performance
with a profit of €3.2 billion (up by €1.2 billion) leveraging on portfolio optimizations, contract renegotiations and a settlement of
an arbitration, as well as by increasis at Enilive and Plenitude & Power.

Excluding identified items and the inventory evaluation profit, adjusted net profit for 2023 was €8,322 million, a €4,979
million decrease compared to 2022. The result was driven by a lower operating performance and results from equity accounted
entities. The Group tax rate, excluding identified items (see paragraph “Taxes” of this item), was 44% and was higher than in
2022 (39% in 2022) as a result of the impact of the UK energy profit levy (effective from the third quarter 2022), adverse
scenario effects and the impact of E&P non-deductible expenses particularly the write-off of exploration expenses. This was
partly offset by a higher proportion of the taxable profit earned by Italian subsidiaries.

The table below provides a reconciliation of those Non-GAAP measures to the most comparable performance measures
calculated in accordance with IFRS.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)
GAAP operating profit (loss) 8,257 17,510 12,341
Inventory holding (gains) and losses 562 (564) (1,491)
Identified net (gains) losses 4,986 3,440 (1,186)
Total net items in operating profit 5,548 2,876 (2,677)
Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 13,805 20,386 9,664
GAAP net profit (loss) 4,771 13,887 5,821
Inventory holding (gains) and losses, post tax 402 (401) (1,060)
Identified net (gains) losses, post tax 3,149 (185) (431)
Total net items in net profit 3,551 (586) (1,491)
Non-GAAP net profit (loss) 8,322 13,301 4,330
Trading environment
2023 2022 2021
Average price of Brent dated crude oil in U.S. dollars () 82.62 101.19 70.73
Average price of Brent dated crude oil in euro® 76.43 96.09 59.8
Average EUR/USD exchange rate®) 1.081 1.053 1.183
Standard Eni Refining Margin (SERM)® 10.1 8.5 (0.9)
Euribor - three month euro rate % ) 343 0.35 (0.55)

(1) Price per barrel. Source: Platt’s Oilgram.

(2) Price per barrel. Source: Eni’s calculations based on Platt’s Oilgram data for Brent prices and the EUR/USD exchange rate reported by the
European Central Bank (ECB).

(3) Source: ECB.

4) In $/BBL FOB Mediterranean Brent dated crude oil. Source: Eni calculations, as difference between the cost of a barrel of Brent crude oil and
the value of the products obtained according to the standard yields of the Eni refining system, less expenses for industrial utilities (mainly
energy expenses indexed at the cost of natural gas).
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Group profit and loss

The table below sets forth a summary of Eni’s profit and loss account for the periods indicated. All line items included in
the table below are derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. For the disclosure

on 2022 Group results compared to 2021 see the Annual Report on Form 20-F 2022, filed to the SEC on April 5, 2023.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Sales from operations 93,717 132,512 76,575
Other income and revenues () 1,099 1,175 1,196
Total revenues 94,816 133,687 77,771
Operating expenses (77,221) (105,497) (58,716)
Other operating (expense) income 478 (1,736) 903
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (7,479) (7,205) (7,063)
Impairment reversals (impairment losses) of tangible and intangible and right of
use assets, net (1,802) (1,140) (167)
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets (535) (599) (387)
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 8,257 17,510 12,341
Finance income (expense) (473) (925) (788)
Income (expense) from investments 2,444 5,464 (868)
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 10,228 22,049 10,685
Income taxes (5,368) (8,088) (4,845)
Net profit (loss) 4,860 13,961 5,840
Attributable to:

- Eni's shareholders 4,771 13,887 5,821
- Non-controlling interest 89 74 19

(1) Includes, among other things, contract penalties, income from contract cancellations, gains on disposal of mineral rights and other fixed

assets, compensation for damages and indemnities and other income.
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Analysis of the line items of the prof it and loss account
a) Sales from operations

The table below sets forth, for the periods indicated, sales from operations generated by each of Eni’s business segments
including intragroup sales, together with consolidated sales from operations.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Exploration & Production 23,903 31,194 21,742
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 20,139 48,586 20,843
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals 52,558 59,178 40,374
Plenitude & Power 14,256 20,883 11,187
Corporate and other activities 1,972 1,886 1,698
Consolidation adjustments (19,111) (29,215) (19,269)
SALES FROM OPERATIONS 93,717 132,512 76,575

2023 compared to 2022. Sales from operations (revenues) for 2023 (€93,717 million) decreased by €38,795 million from
2022 (or down by 29.3%) reflecting a downturn in the commodity environment which took place in 2023 (with a negative impact
of approximately €40 billion) and a decline in volume sold in the Exploration & Production segment (with negative impact of
€2.2 billion) mainly attributable to the derecognition of Eni's subsidiaries operating in Angola from August 1, 2022 thus
contributing for eight months to the 2022 revenues, and in the GGP segment (an impact of -€7.7 billion) due to sharply lower
offtakes related to supply contracts from Russia. The appreciation of 3% of the average EUR vs USD exchange rate in 2023
reduced revenues in the E&P segment by an estimated €0.7 billion. These negatives were partly offset by the increase of €5
billion due to higher traded volumes activities in the Refining business.

The detailed effects of scenario trends as well as volume/mix on the changes (2023 vs. 2022) in sales from operations are
reported in the table below.

Sales from operations: change 2023 vs 2022 change of which: price effects volume/mix
(€ billion)

E&P (7.3) 6.1) 2.2)

GGP (28.4) (20.8) (7.7)

Enilive and Refining (5.3) (10.8) 55

Chemicals 2.0) (12) (0.8)

Plenitude & Power (6.6) 54 (1.2)

Other income and revenues

2023 compared to 2022. Eni’s other income and revenues amounted to €1,099 million in 2023 and include the share of
lease repayments debited to joint operators in Eni-led upstream projects (€121 million), as well as revenues from patents,
licenses and royalties.

b) Operating expenses

The table below sets forth the components of Eni’s operating expenses for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

(€ million)
Purchases, services and other 73,836 102,529 55,549
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of trade and other receivables, net 249 47 279
Payroll and related costs 3,136 3,015 2,888
Operating expenses 77,221 105,497 58,716
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2023 compared to 2022. Operating expenses for 2023 (€77,221 million) decreased by €28,276 million compared to the prior
year, down by 26.8%, primarily reflecting the decrease of purchases, services and other costs (€28,693 million; down by 28.0%
vs. 2022) mainly due to lower supply costs of hydrocarbons (natural gas under long-term supply contracts, refinery and
chemical feedstocks).

Payroll and related costs (€3,136 million) increased by €121 million from 2022 (up by 4%) mainly due to extraordinary
measures taken to help the disposable income of the Group employees in Italy through the award of a lump sum and other
benefits, which was implemented at the end of 2023.

¢) Depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairment losses (impairment reversals) net and write-off

The table below sets forth a breakdown of depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairment losses (impairment reversals)
net and write-off for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Exploration & Production 6,148 6,017 5,976
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 233 217 174
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals 524 506 512
Plenitude & Power 466 358 286
Corporate and other activities and impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination 108 107 115
Total depreciation, depletion and amortization 7,479 7,205 7,063
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible and intangible assets, goodwill and right
of use assets, net 1,802 1,140 167
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets 535 599 387
Total depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairment losses (impairment reversals) of
tangible and intangible and right of use assets, net and write off of tangible and intangible
assets 9,816 8,944 7,617

2023 compared to 2022. In 2023, depreciation, depletion and amortization charges (€7,479 million) increased by €274
million from 2022, mainly in the Exploration & Production segment following start-ups and ramp-ups of new projects, partly
offset by the appreciation of the euro against the US dollar, as well as certain plants start-ups in the Plenitude & Power
segment.

In 2023, the Group recorded impairment losses at property, plant and equipment for a total amount of €1,802 million, out of
which €1,037 million were driven by forecasts of lower natural gas prices and downward reserve revisions, affecting properties
in Italy, the USA and Turkmenistan, net of a revaluation of an oilfield in Congo due to better performance. The Enilive, Refining
and Chemical segment incurred €764 million of impairment losses driven by a reduced profitability outlook in the
petrochemicals segment resulting in the book values of plants in the intermediates, styrene’s and elastomers segments being
marked down to their lower recoverable amounts recognizing an impairment loss of €405 million, and the write-off of
expenditures incurred in the year for compliance and stay-in-business at certain Cash Generating Units with expected negative
cash flows.

Write-off of tangible and intangible assets amounted to €535 million and mainly related to the E&P segment as capitalized
costs of suspended exploratory wells were expensed through profit due to the negative assessment of recoverable reserves or
economic feasibility of exploration projects in Egypt, Mexico, Mozambique, Morocco, the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon,
as well as exploration mineral rights because the Company decided to stop pursuing the underlying initiatives.
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d) Operating prof'it (loss) by segment
The table below sets forth Eni’s operating profit by business segment for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Exploration & Production 8,549 15,963 10,113
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 2,431 3,730 899
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals (1,397) 460 45
Plenitude & Power (464) (825) 2,355
Corporate and other activities (943) (1,956) (863)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination 81 138 (208)
Operating profit (loss) 8,257 17,510 12,341

Exploration & Production. In 2023, the Exploration & Production segment reported an operating profit of €8,549 million,
with a decrease of €7,414 million compared to the operating profit of €15,963 million reported in 2022. The decrease was driven
by lower prices of hydrocarbons reflecting an unfavorable commodity environment, the derecognition of the Angolan
subsidiaries which took effect from August 1, 2022, therefore impacting year-over-year comparability of E&P operating profit.
Finally the appreciation of the EUR vs USD exchange rate negatively affected the operating profit by an estimated €0.44 billion.
In 2023, Eni’s average prices for crude oil and natural gas liquids decreased on average by 15.4%, compared to a decrease of
18.4% recorded in international oil prices for the Brent market benchmark, with the difference due to Eni’s production mix. Eni’s
average natural gas prices decreased by 21.6%, better than the decline in European or other market benchmarks as the Group
natural gas equity production is mostly indexed to the price of crude oil.

In reviewing the performance of the Company’s business segments and with a view to better explaining year-on-year
changes in segment performance, management generally excludes the identified gains and losses presented below to assess
the underlying industrial trends and obtain a better comparison of core business performance across reporting periods. In
2023, identified gains and losses included impairment losses of €1,037 million, credit loss provisions (€129 million, which is
reported in the item “other” charges and gains) just for the part of the expected loss related to temporary conditions of the
receivables which are expected to reverse in future periods or because another transaction was pending with the debtor,
environmental provisions (€81 million) and provisions for redundancy incentives (€40 million).

Excluding those items, the E&P segment reported a Non-GAAP operating profit of €9,934 million, with a decrease of €6,535
million from 2022, down by 39.7%, driven by lower realizations in US dollars at equity production the establishment of the
Azule Energy Holdings JV as explained above, and a negative impact of movements in the EUR vs USD exchange rate.

volume/mix
change of which: price effects effects
(€ million)
Change in E&P Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 2023 vs. 2022 (6,535) (4,889) (1,646)

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Exploration & Production (€ million)
GAAP operating profit (loss) 8,549 15,963 10,113
Impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 1,037 432 (1,244)
Net gains on disposal of assets 2 27 a7
Environmental provisions 81 30 60
Risk provisions 7 34 113
Reclassification of currency derivatives and translation effects to management
measure of business performance 62 (54) 3)
Write off of exploration projects 0 2 247
Other 196 89 131
Total identified gains and charges 1,385 506 (773)
Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 9,934 16,469 9,340
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Global Gas & LNG Portfolio (GGP)

In 2023, the GGP segment reported an operating profit of €2,431 million compared to a profit of €3,730 million in 2022. The
decrease was negatively affected by movements in fair-valued commodity derivatives (from a gain of around €1.8 billion in
2022 to a loss of €97 million in 2023), a large part of which was lacking correlation with the underlying performance due to the
accounting under IFRS, as well as lower sales volumes, reduced natural gas prices and volatility which negatively affected
optimization and trading opportunities, partly offset by the gains recognized on contract renegotiations and the settlement of
an arbitration.

In reviewing the performance of the Company’s GGP business segment and with a view to better explaining year-on-year
changes in the segment performance, management generally excludes certain fair-valued commodity derivatives with gains and
losses recognized through to profit to assess the underlying industrial trends and obtain a better comparison of base business
performance across reporting periods.

We enter into commodity and currency derivatives to reduce our exposure to: (i) the commodity risk due to different
indexation between the purchase cost and the selling price of gas or to lock in a commercial margin once a sale contract has
been signed or is highly probable; and (ii) the underlying exchange rate risk due to the fact that our selling prices are indexed
to the euro and our supply costs are denominated in dollars. These derivatives normally hedge the Group net exposure to
commodities and exchange rates but do not meet the requirements for being accounted for as hedges in accordance to IFRS.
We also entered as part of our ordinary activities into forward gas sale contracts which are intended to be settled with the
delivery of the commodity and which are accounted at fair value because they were not eligible for the own use exemption at
their inceptions, whereas the purchase costs of gas were accounted on an accrual basis.

In explaining year-on-year changes and in evaluating the business performance, management believes that is appropriate to
exclude the fair value of commodity derivatives which lacked the formal criteria to be accounted for as hedges or were not eligible
for the own use exemption, including the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges. We also excluded from our measure of underlying
performance the effects of the settlement of certain commodity derivatives of which the underlying physical transaction had yet to
be finalized with the delivery of the commodity. Furthermore, although the Group classifies within net finance expense those gains
and losses on currency derivatives, as well as on the alignment of trade receivables and payables denominated in dollars into the
accounts of euro subsidiaries at the closing rate, we believe that it is appropriate to consider those gains and losses on currency
derivatives and currency differences at our dollar-denominated trade payables and receivables as part of the underlying business
performance.

In 2022, those fair value effects on commodity derivatives amounted to a gain of €1.8 billion due to certain fixed-price forward
sales which fair values reflected a rapid decrease in natural gas prices at year end.

In 2023, identified items excluded a loss determined as a timing difference between the value of gas inventories accounted for
under the weighted-average cost method provided by IFRS as measured at the balance sheet date and the management’s own
measure of performance, which considers the storage injection season and the withdrawal season and defer the margins captured
by leveraging the seasonal “summer vs. winter” spreads in gas prices net of the effects of the associated commodity derivatives to
when those volumes held in storage are actually sold, normally during the next withdrawal winter season.

Excluding the below-listed gains and charges, the GGP segment reported a Non-GAAP operating profit of €3,247 million, with
an increase of €1,184 million from 2022. This improvement was mainly driven by the benefits associated with contract
renegotiations and a favorable settlement of an arbitration. Furthermore, the segment’s margins were supported by continuous
initiatives of portfolio optimizations, which allowed the business to take advantage of the volatility in natural gas and LNG markets,
while managing the underlying risks and ensuring supplies to customers. However, gains recorded in connection with portfolio
optimizations were lower than in 2022 because the level of both natural gas prices and volatility was significantly lower.

contract
renegotiations
and risk
change of which: price effects provisions
(€ million)
Change in GGP Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 2023 vs. 2022 1,184 (377) 1,561
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Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio (€ million)
GAAP operating profit (loss) 2,431 3,730 899
Impairment losses (impairment reversals), net (1) (12) 26
Provision for redundancy incentives 4 4 5
Fair value gains/losses on commodity derivatives 97 (1,805) (207)
Reclassification of currency derivatives and translation effects to
management measure of business performance (105) 244 206
Other 821 (98) (349)
Total identified gains and charges 816 1,667) (319
Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 3,247 2,063 580

Enilive, Refining and Chemicals. In 2023, the Enilive, Refining and Chemicals segment reported an operating loss of
€1,397 million, compared to an operating profit of 460 million in 2022, a decrease of €1,857 million, driven by a margin and
volume downturn in the Chemical business, lower refining margins and a one-billion swing in the accounting value of oil and
products inventories due lower prices as the value of inventories is stated at the weighted-average cost of supplies of the last
quarter of the year.

The main item excluded from GAAP operating profit in determining the Non-GAAP measure of profitability of this
segment is the inventory holding gain (or loss). Inventory holding gains or losses represent the difference between the cost of
sales of the volumes sold during the period calculated using the cost of supplies incurred during the same period and the cost
of sales calculated using the weighted average cost method. Under the weighted average cost method, which we use for IFRS
reporting, the cost of inventory charged to the income statement is based on its historic cost of purchase, or manufacture,
rather than its replacement cost. In volatile energy markets, this can have a significant impact on reported income thereby
affecting comparability. The amounts disclosed represent the difference between the charge (to the income statement) for
inventory on a weighted average cost method basis (after adjusting for any related movements in net realizable value
provisions) and the charge that would have arisen if an average cost of supplies was used for the period. For this purpose, the
average cost of supplies during the period is principally calculated on a quarterly or monthly basis by dividing the total cost of
inventory acquired in the period by the number of barrels acquired. The amounts disclosed are not separately reflected in the
financial statements as a gain or loss. No adjustment is made in respect of the cost of inventories held as part of a trading
position and certain other temporary inventory positions. We regard the inventory holding gain or loss, including any write-
down to align the carrying amounts of inventories to their net realizable value at the reporting date, as lacking correlation to
the underlying business performance which we track by matching revenues with current costs of supplies.

In addition to the inventory holding profit (or loss), the identified items of this segment for the year 2023 comprised
environmental provisions of €373 million, impairment losses of chemical plants to reflect a reduced profitability outlook (€405
million), as well as the write-down of capital expenditures made for compliance and stay-in-business at certain CGU with
expected negative cash flows in the Refining business (€359 million).

In reviewing the performance of the Company’s business segments and with a view to better explaining year-on-year
changes in the segment performance, management generally excludes the inventory holding gain (or loss) and the other
identified gains and losses described above in order to assess the underlying industrial trends and obtain a better comparison
of base business performance across reporting periods. Excluding those items, the Enilive and Refining business reported a
Non-GAAP operating profit of €1,169 million (an operating profit of €2,183 million in 2022), while the Chemical business
reported a Non-GAAP operating loss of €614 million (a loss of €254 million in 2022).

In 2023, Eni’s refining business with a Non-GAAP operating profit of €441 million was negatively affected by narrowing
spreads between heavy/sour crude qualities vs light/sweet crudes like Brent, due to lower supplies of the former in the
Mediterranean area as a result of the sanction regime against Russia’s crude oil and production cuts implemented by OPEC+
countries. Lower supplies of those crude qualities negatively affected the profitability of Eni’s complex refineries by reducing
the cost advantage in processing low quality crudes that normally trade at a discount vs. Brent to reflect their lower yields of
valuable fuels. Therefore, in an environment of narrowing differentials Eni’s complex refineries stand to be hit. Lower plant
energy expenses driven by a fall in European prices help soften the reduced margins on throughput.
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The reduction in the results of the refining business line was partly offset by better performance of Enilive (Non-GAAP
operating profit of €728 million) and increased sales volumes of biofuels (up by 48%).

i volume/mix/cost
change of which: price effects measures

(€ million)

Change in Enilive and Refining Non-GAAP operating profit
(loss) 2023 vs. 2022 (1,014) (959) (55)

The Chemical business reported a non-GAAP operating loss of €614 million in 2023, compared to a loss of €254 million in
2022 due to lower demand across all business segments driven by a slowdown in the macro environment and comparatively
higher production costs in Europe for energy inputs, which reduced the competitiveness of Versalis production with respect to
US and Asian players.

volume/mix/cost
change of which: price effects measures

(€ million)

Change in Chemicals' Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 2023
vs. 2022 360) (333) (27)

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals (€ million)
GAAP operating profit (loss) (1,397) 460 45
(Profit) loss on inventory 604 (416) (1,455)
Environmental provisions and other costs 373 962 150
Impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 764 717 1,342
Net gains on disposal of assets 9 (10) (22)
Risk provisions 19 52 4
Provision for redundancy incentives 46 46 42
Fair value gains/losses on commodity derivatives 14 4 50
Reclassification of currency derivatives and translation effects to
. 24 (33) (14)

management measure of business performance

Other 117 147 18
Total identified gains and charges 1,952 1,469 107
Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) 555 1,929 152
- Enilive 728 672 n.a.
- Refining 441 1,511 n.a.
- Chemicals (614) (254) 198

Plenitude & Power

In 2023, this segment reported an operating loss of €464 million, an improvement of €361 million compared to the loss of
€825 million of the previous year, mainly due to the positive performance of the gas retail business and leveraging on the
integrated business model which benefited from the improved pricing dynamics.

The items excluded from GAAP operating loss in determining the Non-GAAP measure of profitability mainly include
effects associated with commodity fair-valued derivatives, lacking the formal criteria to be classified as hedges under
IFRS which amounted to a loss of €1,144 million.

Excluding those charges, the Plenitude & Power segment reported a Non-GAAP operating profit of €681 million, with an
increase of €66 million from 2022, or 10.7%. The retail gas and power business and the renewables business managed by
Plenitude reported a Non-GAAP operating profit of €515 million, up by €170 million year-on-year driven by higher margins at
the retail business in Italy leveraging cross-selling opportunities of the integrated value chain, increased sales volumes of
renewables electricity and better results in France.
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The power business reported an adjusted operating profit of €166 million (down by €104 million) due to a deteriorated
price scenario in the wholesales electricity market and lower revenues from participating to the despatching services market.

Corporate and Other activities. These activities are mainly cost centers comprising holdings, financing and treasury
activities in support of operating subsidiaries, central functions like legal counselling, human resources, captive insurance
activities, general and administrative support, as well as research and development, new technologies, business digitalization
and the environmental activity developed by the subsidiary Eni Rewind. Furthermore, from the fourth quarter of 2023 and
effective January 1, 2023, the results of CCUS and Agribusiness of Eni have been included in the “Corporate and other
activities” reporting segment whereas previously they were reported as part of the Exploration & Production segment results.
Comparative reporting periods of 2022 have been restated accordingly; however the overall impact was immaterial. More
information on the Company's segment reporting is disclosed in note n.35 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The aggregate Corporate and Other activities reported an operating loss of €943 million in 2023 compared with a loss of
€1,956 million reported in 2022. The reduced loss reflected lower environmental charges (€193 million in 2023 compared to more
than €1 billion in 2022 which is mainly referred to reliable estimate of the future costs of the reclamation of groundwater) mainly
relating to lower environmental provisions taken at dismissed Italian industrial hubs. Those charges were treated as identified
items. Net of those charges, expenses of support departments were almost stable.

e) Net finance expenses

The table below sets forth a breakdown of Eni’s net financial expenses for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)
Income (expense) on derivative financial instruments (61) 13 (306)
of which - Derivatives on exchange rate (63) (70) (322)
- Derivatives on interest rate 2 81 16
- Options 2
Exchange differences, net 255 238 476
Finance expense from banks on short and long-term debt (874) (635) (569)
Interest expense for lease liabilities (267) (315) (304)
Interest income due to banks 356 57 4
Net income from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 284 (55) 11
Finance expense due to the passage of time (accretion discount) (341) (199) (144)
Other finance income and expense, net 81 67) (24)
(567) 963) (856)
Finance expense capitalized 94 38 68
NET FINANCE EXPENSES 473) (925) (788)

In 2023, net finance expenses were €473 million, €452 million lower than in 2022. The reduction in net financial expense in
2023 compared to 2022 was due to the Company having taken out a large part of its loans at fixed rates, whereas interest
income from cash deposits benefited from a rising yield environment in 2023, whereas fair-valued financial assets held for
trading recorded significant gains because the yield curve flatted in the final months of 2023.

f) Net income from investments
The table below sets forth a breakdown of Eni’s net income from investments for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)
Share of gains (losses) from equity-accounted investments 1,336 1,841 (1,091)
Dividends 255 351 230
Net gains (losses) on disposals 430 483 1
Other income (expense), net 423 2,789 ®)
2,444 5,464 (868)
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In 2023 the Group reported a net profit from investments of €2,444 million, down by about €3 billion from 2022 due the gain
of €2,789 million recognized in 2022 mainly on the divestment of Eni’s subsidiaries in Angola which were contributed to the
newly-established Azule Energy JV, operational from August 1, 2022. Eni’s share of profits generated by equity-accounted
investments was €1,336 million and was mainly driven by profits in the Exploration&Production segment (€1,009 million), the
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals segment (€343 million) and the GGP segment (€49 million), partly offset by losses at Plenitude
& Power segment (€55 million) and Corporate and other activities (€10 million) segment. Eni’s share of profits from equity-
accounted investments declined by about €0.5 billion from 2022 due to price effects, partly offset by the full contribution of the
Azule Energy JV. A break-down of profits earned for the main investments is provided below:

(i) in E&P, we recognized a profit of €356 million at the Vér Energi, a decrease of €335 million from 2022 due the lower
hydrocarbons prices;

(i) the Enilive and Refining ADNOC Refining&Trading associate, where we recognized a profit of €418 million, down from
€529 million in the previous year due to lower refining margins;

(i) the E&P Azule Energy Holdings joint venture, where we recognized a profit of €653 million;
(iv) the E&P Mozambique Rovuma Venture SpA associate for €47 million;
(v) the GGP SeaCorridor associate for €49 million;

(vi) the joint venture Saipem, where we recognized a profit of €56 million, reverting a prior-year loss due the effects of an
ongoing restructuring and improved end-markets.

Dividends of €255 million were paid by minority investments in certain entities which were designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income under IFRS 9, except for dividends which were recorded through profit. These entities
mainly comprised Nigeria LNG Ltd (€179 million), and Saudi European Petrochemical Co (€55 million).

A gain of €420 million was recorded on the divestment of a 49.9% stake in the equity interests of Eni’s subsidiaries
managing the TTPC/Transmed pipelines following the deal with Snam and other non-strategic assets. The retained interests in
the newly-established joint venture was aligned to fair value with a gain through profit and loss of €414 million included in the
line item “other income”.

g) Taxes

In 2023, income taxes decreased by €2,720 million to €5,368 million and compared to the pre-tax profit of €10,228 million
resulted in a tax rate of 52.5% (compared to 36.7% in 2022), driven by unfavorable price effects and the negative impact of the
deal involving the establishment of Azule Energy Holdings JV on the 2023 tax rate, whereas the 2022 tax rate benefitted from
Angolan activities being consolidated until loss of control (August 1, 2022).

In 2022, income taxes included an extraordinary solidarity tax for the year 2022 (€1,036 million) enacted in Italy by Law No.
51 of May 20, 2022, as well as the UK Energy profit levy. Furthermore, the 2022 income taxes included an extraordinary
contribution as enacted by Law No. 197 of December 29, 2022 (Italian 2023 Budget Law) calculated on the 2022 taxable income,
determined considering the distribution of certain revaluation reserves of the parent company.

The adjusted tax rate, which exclude the impact of identified gains and losses, is the measure of tax rate tracked by
management, and increased by 5 percentage points in 2023 compared to 2022, to 44.4% due to the impact of the UK energy
profit levy (effective from the third quarter 2022), adverse price effects and the impact of E&P non-deductible expenses
particularly the write-off of exploration expenses, as well as the transaction involving Azule Energy Holdings JV. Those
negatives were partly offset by a higher proportion of the taxable profit earned by Italian subsidiaries, which are subject to a
lower tax rate (excluding the solidaristic, one-off contributions mentioned above).

In 2023 the uptrend in hydrocarbons and electricity prices that began in 2021 driven by the post-Covid economic
recovery, has moderated due to a global slowdown and an uncertain recovery in China. However, the costs of fuels and energy
has remained elevated, particularly in Europe, and has significantly and adversely affected businesses’ profit margins and
households’ disposable income. In response to high energy costs, several jurisdictions where we operate have refrained from
reducing the fiscal take on the energy sector. In the UK a temporarily windfall tax on oil companies’ profits has been increased
by ten percentage points in 2023 compared to the initial rate of twenty-five percentage points in 2022. In Italy, a solidaristic
contribution enacted at the end of 2022 by the Italian 2023 budget law, marking the second of this type of measure in the same
year, was confirmed in its original formulation without exempting certain equity reserves that Eni believed to lack correlation
with the taxable income from operations. Therefore, the amount accrued in 2022 for this latter Italian solidaristic contribution of
€1.1 billion did not undergone any adjustment. As a result of those windfall taxes, the Group incurred a cash-out of about €0.6
billion in 2023, after having disbursed about €1.2 billion in 2022; part of the payment of the €1.1 billion Italian solidaristic
contribution has been deferred to 2024 thanks to certain implementing rules (€0.45 billion).
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Liquidity and capital resources

Eni’s cash requirements for working capital, dividends to shareholders, capital expenditures, acquisitions and share
repurchases over the past three years were financed primarily by a combination of funds generated from operations, issues of
equity investments (hybrid bonds) and divestments of property, plant and equipment and investments or the reimbursement of
operating financing receivables owed to Eni by unconsolidated entities. The Group continually monitors the balance between
cash flow from operating activities and net expenditures targeting a sound and balanced financing structure.

The following table summarizes the Group cash flows and the principal components of Eni’s change in cash and cash
equivalent for the periods indicated.

This cash flow statement is a GAAP measure of cash flow and is presented herein to help readers understand the change
in the year of the Group net borrowings which is a NON-GAAP measure as explained further on.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Net profit (loss) 4,860 13,961 5,840
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash provided by operating activities:
- amortization and depreciation charges, impairment losses, write-off and other non
monetary items 7,781 4,369 8,568
- net gains on disposal of assets (441) (524) (102)
- dividends, interest, taxes and other changes 5,596 8,611 5,334
Changes in working capital related to operations 1,811 (1,279) (3,146)
Dividends received by equity investments 2,255 1,545 857
Taxes paid (6,283) (8,488) (3,726)
Interests (paid) received (460) (735) (764)
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,119 17,460 12,861
Capital expenditures 9,215) (8,056) (5,234)
Acquisition of investments and businesses (2,592) (3311) (2,738)
Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intagible assets
and investments 596 1,202 404
Other cash flow related to investing activities (348) 2,361 289
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to financial activities 2,194 786 (4,743)
Changes in short and long-term finance debt 315 (2,569) (244)
Repayment of lease liabilities (963) (994) (939)
Dividends paid, share repurchases and changes in minority interest and reserves (4,882) (4.841) (2,780)
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond (138) (138) 1,924
Effect of changes in consolidation and exchange differences of cash and cash
equivalent (62) 16 52
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 24 1,916 (1,148)
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 10,181 8,265 9413
Cash and cash equivalent at year end 10,205 10,181 8,265
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Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)

Net cash provided by operating activities 15,119 17,460 12,861
Capital expenditures (9,215) (8,056) (5,234)
Acquisitions of investments and businesses (2,592) (3311) (2,738)
Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intangible assets
and investments 596 1,202 404
Other cash flow related to capital expenditures, investments and divestments (348) 2,361 289
Repayment of lease liabilities (963) (994) (939)
Net borrowings (1) of acquired companies (234) (512) (777)
Net borrowings (1) of divested companies (155) 142
Exchange differences on net borrowings and other changes (1,061) (1,352) (429)
Dividends paid, share repurchases and changes in minority interest and reserves (4,882) (4,841) (2,780)
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond (138) (138) 1,924
Change in net borrowings(!) before IFRS 16 effects 3,873) 1,961 2,581
Repayment of lease liabilities 963 994 939
Inception of new leases and other changes (1,348) (608) (1,258)
Change in net borrowings after IFRS 16 effects ) (4,258) 2,347 2,262
Net borrowings (1 at the beginning of the year 11,977 14,324 16,586
Net borrowings (1) at year end 16,235 11,977 14,324

(1) Net borrowings is a non-GAAP financial measure. For a discussion of the usefulness of net borrowings and its reconciliation with the most
directly comparable GAAP financial measures see “Financial Condition” below.

In 2023, adjustments to reconcile the net profit reported in the year to net cash provided by operating activities mainly
related to depreciation, depletion, amortization, net impairment charges and results of equity-accounted entities for €7,781
million. Adjustments to net profit also included accrued income taxes (€5,368 million) and net interest expense (€483 million),
which were partly offset by amounts actually paid (€6,283 million and €460 million, respectively).

The dividends received by equity-accounted investments of €2,255 million mainly related to Var Energi, Azule Energy
Holdings, and Adnoc R&T, where other dividends recorded through profit of €255 million mainly related to Nigeria LNG.
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a) Changes in working capital related to operations

In 2023, working capital generated an inflow of €1,811 million. This was mainly due to the decrease in the book value of oil,
natural gas and refined products inventories accounted for under the weighted-average cost method, as well as a negative
change in the fair value of commodity derivatives. Those inflows partly offset corresponding amounts recognized in the profit
and loss account because the negative change in the book values of inventories is debited to profit and loss, and losses in the
fair value of non-hedging commodity derivatives are charged to profit and loss. Other changes reflected the negative inflow(-
€1,501 million) due to the balance between trade receivables collected (€3,322 million) and trade payables paid (-€4,823 million),
which was affected by a lower amount of trade receivables factored with financing institutions, having the due date beyond
the closing date of the financial statements, for €0.5 billion, as well as an increase of overdue trade receivables in Egypt.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(€ million)
Exploration & Production 7,133 6,252 3,824
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 16 23 19
Enilive, Refining and Chemicals 982 878 728
Plenitude & Power 740 631 443
Corporate and other activities 363 276 224
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (19) “) “)
Capital expenditures 9,215 8,056 5,234
Acquisitions of investments and businesses 2,592 3,311 2,738
11,807 11,367 7,972
Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intangible assets
and investments (596) (1,202) “404)

Capital expenditures totaled €9,215 million and €8,056 million, respectively in 2023 and in 2022.

For a discussion of capital expenditures by business segment and a description of year-on-year changes see “Capital
expenditures by segment”.

Cash outflows for acquisitions of €2,592 million mainly related to the acquisition of bp’s natural gas activities in Algeria,
the Chevron interest in the Indonesian assets, the interest in the St. Bernard (Chalmette) biorefinery in US, the purchase of the
remaining participating interest in Novamont, the Plenitude’s renewable assets, and the final price installment of the acquisition
of PLT group made late in 2022. These outflows were partly offset by the divestment of a 49.9% stake in the equity interests of
Eni’s subsidiaries managing the TTPC/Transmed pipelines following the deal with Snam and other non-strategic assets.

b) Dividends paid, share repurchases and changes in non-controlling interests and reserves

In 2023, dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interests and reserves (€3,082 million) related to the dividends
paid to Eni shareholders (€3,046 million which comprised two quarterly installments of the 2022 dividend for about €1.5 million
and the first and the second quarterly installment of the 2023 dividend of €0.22 per share each, amounting to €1.5 billion). As
part of the 2023 buy-back program, the company purchased own shares for an amount of €1,803 million.

As of March 5, 2024, the 2023 buy-back program was completed with an overall amount of 153.5 million shares purchased
for a cash outlay of €2,200 million.

Financial condition

Management assesses the Group’s capital structure and capital condition by tracking net borrowings, which is a non-
GAAP financial measure. Eni calculates net borrowings as total finance debt (short-term and long-term debt) derived from its
Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS less: cash, cash equivalents and certain highly liquid
investments not related to operations including, among others, a liquidity reserve made of held-for-trading securities and
finally other liquid assets not related to operations.
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss constituting part of the Group’s liquidity reserves amounted
to €6.8 billion as of end of 2023 and were accounted as mark-to-market financial instruments. Of this amount, fixed income
securities issued by industrial companies and financial institutions were €5.2 billion. Although the fair value of these
investments is netted from financial debt in our calculation of net borrowings, there is no certainty that these investments
could be readily monetizable at their carrying value, particularly in the event of market stress. For further information, see “Item
18 — Note 7 — Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss — of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.
Non-operating financing receivables consist mainly of deposits with banks and other financing institutions and deposits in
escrow (mainly cash deposits established as a collateral of derivative transactions).

Management believes that net borrowings is a useful measure of Eni’s financial condition as it provides insight about the
soundness of Eni’s capital structure and the ways in which Eni’s operating assets are financed. In addition, management
utilizes the ratio of net borrowings to total shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest (leverage) to assess Eni’s
capital structure, to analyze whether the ratio between finance debt and shareholders’ equity is well balanced compared to
industry standard s and to track management’s short-term and medium-term targets. Management continuously monitors
trends in net borrowings and trends in leverage in order to optimize the use of internally-generated funds versus funds from
third parties. The measure calculated in accordance with IFRS that is most directly comparable to net borrowings is total debt
(short-term and long-term debt). The most directly comparable measure, derived from IFRS reported amounts, to leverage is the
ratio of total debt to shareholders’ equity (including non-controlling interest). Eni’s presentation and calculation of net
borrowings and leverage may not be comparable to other companies.

The tables below set forth the calculations of net borrowings and leverage for the periods indicated and their
reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure.

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Short- Long- Short- Long-

term term Total term term Total
Finance debt (short-term and long-term debt) 7,013 21,716 28,729 7,543 19,374 26,917
Lease liabilities 1,128 4,208 5,336 884 4,067 4,951
Cash and cash equivalents (10,193) (10,193) (10,155) (10,155)
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss (6,782) (6,782) (8,251) 8,251)
Non operating financing receivables (855) 855) (1,485) (1,485)
Net borrowings including lease liabilities 9,689) 25,924 16,235 (11,464) 23,441 11,977

As of December 31,
2023 2022
(€ million)

Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest as per Eni’s Consolidated Financial

Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 53,644 55,230
Ratio of finance debt including lease liabilities to total equity 0.63 0.58
Less: ratio of cash, cash equivalents and certain liquid investments not related to operations to

total equity (0.33) (0.36)
Ratio of net borrowing to total equity 0.30 0.22
Ratio of net borrowing excluding lease liabilities to total equity 0.20 0.13
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At December 31, 2023, total finance debt of €28,729 million consisted of €7,013 million of short-term debt (including the
portion of long-term debt due within twelve months equal to €2,921 million) and €21,716 million of long-term debt. At the same
date, lease liabilities were €5,336 million (short-term portion €1,128 million).

Total finance debt included unsecured bonds for €17,684 million (including accrued interest and discount on issuance).
Bonds maturing in the next 18 months amounted to €2,821 million (including accrued interest and discount).

Eni has established with financing institutions a sustainability-linked framework, on which basis the Group may issue
securities and obtain financing which costs are indexed to the achievement of the following sustainability targets: (i) net
carbon footprint upstream (GHG emission Scope 1 and 2) equal to or less than 5.2 million tons of CO2 equivalent by December
31, 2025; (ii) renewable energy installed capacity of at least or more than 5 GW December 31, 2025. In case the Company misses
those targets, a step-up mechanism will be applied, increasing the interest cost.

As part of this framework, in 2023 Eni has issued two sustainability-linked bonds: a €2,000 million bond placed among
retail investors and a €750 million bond as part of the Euro Medium Term Notes program reserved to institutional investors.

In addition, Eni placed a sustainability-linked senior unsecured convertible bond for a total nominal amount of €1,000
million.

In 2023, net borrowings including lease liabilities amounted to €16,235 million, representing a €4,258 million increase from
2022 driven by a reduction in net cash provided by operating activities.

IFRS 16 lease liabilities amounted to €5,336 million in 2023 (€4,951 million in 2022) and mainly related to the leased FPSO
vessels relating to the offshore project OCPT in Ghana and in Area 1 off Mexico, as well as several minor assets like motorway
concessions, land leases, service station leased for petroleum products marketing activities, as well as leases of vessels for
shipping activities, leased buildings and the car fleet dedicated to the business of car sharing. The IFRS 16 lease liabilities
included €480 million pertaining to joint operators in Eni-led upstream unincorporated joint ventures, which are expected to be
recovered through a partner-billing process.

Net borrowings excluding the lease liabilities, which is the Non-GAAP measure of financial condition mostly tracked by
management would amount to €10,899 million, up by €3,873 million compared to December 31, 2022.

The ratio of finance debt to total equity was 0.63 at 2023 year-end, including the IFRS 16 lease liability (0.58 at 2022 year-
end). Total equity of €53,644 million decreased by €1,586 million from December 31, 2022. This was due to the net profit for the
period (€4,860 million), the negative foreign currency translation differences (€2,010 million) reflecting the appreciation of the
US dollar vs. the euro as of December 31, 2023 vs. December 31, 2022, the positive change in the cash flow hedge reserve of
€541 million reflecting trends in gas prices, partly offset by the payment of dividends to Eni shareholders (two tranches of the
2022 dividend for €1.5 billion and the first and the second quarterly instalment of the 2023 dividend for €1.5 billion) as well as
the buy-back of Eni shares (€1,837 million).

The Group Non-GAAP measure of its financial condition mostly tracked by management was leverage calculated by
excluding the impact of IFRS 16 and was 0.20 at year end (0.13 at the end of 2022).

Capital expenditures by segment

Exploration & Production. In 2023, capital expenditures of the Exploration & Production segment amounted to €7,133
million, mainly related to the development of hydrocarbon fields (€6,293 million). Significant expenditures were directed mainly
in Céte d'Ivoire, Congo, Egypt, Italy, the United Arab Emirates, Libya and Algeria. Exploration expenditures (€784 million) were
directed in particular in Egypt, the United Arab Emirates, Mexico, Congo, Indonesia, Mozambique, Morocco, Cyprus, Lebanon,
Oman, Tunisia and Algeria.
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Global Gas & LNG Portfolio.

In 2023, capital expenditure in the Global Gas & LNG portfolio totaled €16 million.

Enilive, Refining and Chemicals. In 2023, capital expenditures in the Enilive, Refining and Chemicals segment amounted
to €982 million and regarded mainly: (i) traditional and bio refining activity in Italy and outside Italy, biomethane activity (€621
million) for development initiatives, maintaining plants’ integrity and stay-in-business, as well as HSE initiatives; (ii) marketing
activity (€174 million) mainly for regulation compliance and stay-in-business initiatives in the retail network in Italy and in the
rest of Europe.

Plenitude & Power. In 2023, capital expenditures in the Plenitude & Power segment amounted to €740 million and mainly
related to development activities in the renewable business, acquisition of new customers as well as development of electric
vehicles network infrastructure.

Recent dewelopments and significant transactions

The table below sets forth certain indicators of the trading environment for the periods indicated:

Three Three
months months
ended March ended March
31, 31,

2023 2024
Average price of Brent dated crude oil in U.S. dollars () 81.8 832
Average EUR/USD exchange rate @) 1.072 1.086
Standard Eni Refining Margin (SERM) ) 11.1 10.5
Gas at the TTF in $/mmBTU 174 8.7

(1) Price per barrel. Source: Platt’s Oilgram.
(2) Source: ECB.

(3) In $/BBL, FOB Mediterranean Brent dated crude oil. Source: Eni calculations, as difference between the cost of a barrel of Brent crude oil and
the value of the products obtained according to the standard yields of the Eni refining system, less expenses for industrial utilities.

In the period January 1 — March 31, 2024 the Brent crude oil price averaged 83 $/BBL and was substantially in line with the
first quarter 2023 and has been trending slightly above our expectations. The refining margins in the first quarter 2024, as
measured by our benchmark SERM of about 10.5 $/bbl have been trending slightly above our expectations for 2024 and was in
line with the first quarter 2023. Natural gas spot prices at the European Title Transfer Facility have been
averaging approximately 9 $/mmBTU and are trending below both our assumptions for 2024 and compared to the first quarter
2023 and this could negatively affect our results of operations in the first quarter 2024 and beyond. Finally the euro vs the US
dollar exchange rate in the first quarter 2024 averaged at IEUR = 1.09 USD and was in line with both our expectations and the
first quarter 2023.

See “management expectations of operations” below.

The main business transactions that occurred in the first quarter 2024 are reported in Item 4.
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MANAGEMENT’S EXPECTATIONS OF OPERATIONS

Business trends
Exploration & Production

In the next four-year plan 2024-2027, management is planning to increase the cash generation and returns in the E&P
segment leveraging on profitable production growth, capital discipline, fast time-to-market of projects, and cost control. At the
same time, we are planning to reduce CO2 direct emissions at our E&P operations. Our production plans and financial
projections in the E&P segment are based on a flat Brent crude oil price scenario of 80 $/BBL in the four-year plan 2024-2027 in
nominal terms (i.e. taking into account management’s own assumption on the inflationary rate going forward). The 2024
outlook features a small decline in crude oil prices (down by 4% from 2023) based on the assumptions of a balanced supply-
demand environment and a “soft-landing” macroeconomic scenario and considering that global inventories are below recent
year averages. Spot prices of natural gas are anticipated to continue the downward trend observed throughout 2023 due to an
oversupplied market, with prices at the Title Transfer Facility “TTF”, the main European hub, and at the Italian PSV forecast to
decline by about 30% from 2023 down to 10 $/mmBTU and then to partially recover in the subsequent years of our financial
projections. Risks to that outlook include a more pronounced macroeconomic slowdown or a recession also due to tight
monetary policies from central banks, a stronger USD dollar that could weaken growth in emerging economies and increase the
cost of crude oil, continued production additions by US shale producers and other geographies (Brazil, Guyana, Canada) and
the cohesion of the OPEC+ producer alliance in holding production discipline to support prices.

Post 2027, our Brent price assumptions in real terms (i.e. without taking into account inflation) are 68 $/bbl till 2033, then
declining to 48 $ in 2050 to take into account our expectations of the energy transition impacts and a possible significant
decline in demand for crude oil. Our long-term assumptions about the inflationary rate are about 2% per annum.

Due to those risks and uncertainties, management intends to retain a strong focus on capital and cost discipline, on
shortening project cycles and on reducing the time-to-market of our reserves as levers to maintain our development projects
profitable also at lower crude oil prices.

We plan to invest about €5.5-6 billion on average in the next four-year plan 2024-2027 to explore for and develop
hydrocarbons reserves. Those expenditures do not include expected expenditures that will be incurred by our participated joint
ventures and associates, like Var Energi and Azule Energy. Those equity-accounted entities are expected to self-finance their
respective capital expenditure needs, without requiring shareholder’s funds. Furthermore, we expect to incur capital
expenditures that will not be reported as part of the cash flow from investing activities in our future reporting periods since
contractually deferred payment terms to suppliers will give rise to the recognition of finance payables.

We forecast hydrocarbons production (including our share of joint ventures and investees) to grow at a compounded
average growth rate “CAGR” in a range of 3% - 4% in the four-year plan before portfolio activities. Including portfolio
activities the CAGR is expected to be in the range of 2%, driven by organic developments, as well as the consolidation of the
recently acquired assets of Neptune Energy, which is expected to add about 100 KBOE/d to our current production profile
(also including our share of production of the associate Var Energi). Our production plans contemplate a gradual increase of
the proportion of natural gas in the production mix till achieving a share higher than 60% by 2030 (including natural gas
liquids).

Production growth in the four-year plan will be fueled by new fields start-ups and ramp-ups, mainly in Congo, Cote
d’Ivoire, Libya, Indonesia, and Qatar.

We confirm our strategy designed to retain profitable and cash-generative E&P operation, leveraging successful
exploration and effective development and field operation activities to accelerate the time-to-market of reserves and to reduce
the full cycle cost of crude oil and hence the Brent breakeven price. The execution of an asset disposition plan will help bring
forward the cash generation. Asset dispositions will target high-potential discoveries, where we retain large working interests
and we can dilute our stakes maintaining the operatorship in line with our dual exploration model, as well as mature producing
fields. The cash proceeds from asset disposals will reduce the cash requirements to fund the organic growth plans.

We believe that the designed strategy is warranted given current uncertainties in the short- and medium-term outlook due
to a possible macroeconomic slowdown and risks of oversupplies, as well as the risks posed by the energy transition in a
longer term.
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We plan to carefully select our development projects against our pricing assumptions and minimum requirements of
internal rates of return. We intend to reduce financial exposure and the execution risk leveraging a phased approach in
developing our projects. Although we plan to deliver our planned projects on time and on budget, several of our projects are
complex due to scale and reach of operations, environmentally sensitive locations, external conditions, including offshore
operations, industry limits and other considerations including the risk factors described in Item 3. These constraints and
factors might cause delays and cost overruns. In addition, costs of our industrial inputs (labor, materials, field services) are
expected to rise driven by inflation, albeit at a smaller pace than in recent years. Our capital plans included our best
assumptions of expected cost increases due to inflation. To deliver on our expected rate of returns at our projects we are
planning to:

e performing project activities in accordance with a parallel approach rather than a sequential one, for example the
discovery appraisal and pre-fid activities, by upgrading existing plants and vessels and by deploying a phased project
approach to achieve early start-up and then ramping up production, thus reducing the time-to-market and financial
exposure; examples of this approach are the Baleine project in Cote d’Ivoire where we have refurbished and upgraded
an existing vessel thus reducing the timing of first oil and the Congo LNG project, which has started operations in just
twelve months following the investment decision thanks to utilization of existing facilities and technologies;

e signing master agreements with our main supplies to maximize cost savings and by designing facilities using a modular
approach that enables us to extend the useful lives of plants and vessels;

e reducing the time to complete tender processes to sign up contracts with EPC contractors and other key suppliers
reducing the risk of future price revisions;

e leveraging near-field or infrastructure-led exploration that has proven to be successful at increasing the reserves at
already producing fields thus enabling to exploit synergies from existing facilities; in recent years we made several
discoveries of this type including the one in Cote d’Ivoire and others in Congo, Egypt, Algeria, and Mexico;

e continuing in-sourcing of critical engineering and project management phases, for example by exercising tight
control over construction, hook-up and commissioning, which based on our experience could significantly improve the
ability of the Company to carry out projects on time and on budget;

e applying our design-to-cost method whereby the Company has redirected its exploration efforts towards mature and
low-complexity areas where we can achieve fast time-to-market and cost synergies, for example the near-field
discoveries recently made in Egypt and Algeria onshore will provide a rapid time-to-market due to those features. We
expect that cost control and profitable operations will be supported by continued progress in our technologies
designed to improve drilling performance and the recovery factor and digital investment to improve workplace safety
and asset integrity thus reducing asset downtime.

Phased project development and strict integration between exploration and development have improved overall project
execution and cost efficiency. Finally, all our projects undergo a thorough HSE assessment leading to the definition of an
integrated plan to reduce blow-out and other well and operational risks and costs.

According to our plans, exploration will continue ensuring cost-effective replacement of produced reserves, supporting
cash generation and evolving our reserve portfolio towards the planned mix of resources featuring a bigger weight of natural
gas going forward. Our exploration initiatives will comprise two clusters:

e Exploration projects in prospects near-field and in proven/mature areas and in other infrastructure-
lead basins i.e. in permits close to producing fields, where we can leverage existing infrastructures to readily develop
the discovered resources, attaining fast contribution to cash flows and production levels with minimum impact on
expenditures;

e Seclected initiatives in high-risk/high-reward plays, where we retain a large working interest and the operatorship, which
will enable us to apply our dual exploration model in case of material discoveries with a view of accelerating the
conversion of resources into cash.
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In the four-year plan 2024-2027, we will invest more than €1.5 billion in exploration activities.

Our production plans include assumptions relating to production levels in certain countries that are particularly exposed
to risks of disruptions and political instability. To factor in possible risks of unfavorable geopolitical developments in those
countries, which may lead to temporary production losses and disruptions in our operations in connection with, among others,
acts of war, sabotage, social unrest, clashes and other form of civil disorder, we have applied a haircut to our future production
levels based on management’s appreciation of those risks, past experience and other considerations. This contingency factor
does not cover worst-case developments and extreme events, which could determine prolonged production shutdowns.
Furthermore, in recent years we have pursued a strategy intended to diversify the geographic reach of our operations aiming at
reducing the geopolitical risk in our portfolio.

Global Gas & LNG Portfolio

We expect natural gas markets to remain oversupplied in 2024 and beyond due to massive production levels in the US
coupled with new liquefaction capacity additions, a slow recovery of the Chinese economy, ramp-up of nuclear generation
capacity, a slowdown in consumption in Europe driven by a weak industrial sector and energy savings, rising competition from
renewables due to continued capacity additions, and finally good inventory levels because of a mild winter season in the
Northern Hemisphere in 2024. This outlook will pressure natural gas prices. Against this backdrop, our GGP business will cope
with an expected less favorable trading environment than in 2023 due to reduced margin opportunities in connection with
anticipated lower pricing levels and reduced volatility. However, barring comparison with the significant performance of 2023
that was also supported by one-off gains in connection with contract renegotiations, management plans to retain sound
profitability and cash generation in this business in the plan period.

Our planning assumptions are not factoring any purchases of natural gas from Russia, although our long-term supply
contracts with Russia’s state-owned company Gazprom are still valid. Our sales commitments relating to supplies to our retail
subsidiary Plenitude, the supply of natural gas to our thermoelectric segment and ongoing sales contracts will be covered by
purchases under non-Russia outstanding long-term contracts and by increasing off-takes of equity gas, maximizing the
integration between the E&P and the GGP segments.

Against this scenario, the Company’s priority in its GGP business is to retain stable profitability and cash generation
based on the following drivers:

(i) To continuously renegotiate our long-term gas supply and sale contracts to align pricing terms and delivery
quantities to current market conditions and dynamics as they evolve;

(i) To effectively manage our portfolio of assets (supply and sales contracts, their flexibilities and optionality and
logistics availability) in order to extract value from portfolio flexibilities through continuing optimizations;

(iii) To grow the LNG marketing business leveraging on the integration with the E&P segment with the aim of maximizing
the profitability of equity natural gas along the entire value-chain. We plan to increase contracted supplies of
ING through new sources to achieve a robust portfolio of reselling opportunities, targeting a volume of contracted
LNG of more than 18 MTPA by 2027.

We make use of commodity and financial derivatives to hedge against the risks of different indexation formulas in our gas
procurement costs vs. selling prices in relation to contracted sales or highly probable sales. A number of these derivatives are
not accounted as hedges in accordance with IFRS and consequently are recorded through profit and loss and may add a
component of volatility to our results of operations. However, in response to the increased liquidity risks, we have opted to
reduce our risk management activities and that could make our results more volatile. Furthermore, we also make use of
derivatives to improve margins by leveraging market volatility and availability of assets like the flexibilities associated with our
take-or-pay gas contracts, LNG contracts, transport rights to capture arbitrage opportunities (for example the winter vs summer
spread, the spot vs. the Brent indexation spread) and time lags in contracts indexation formulae. Those derivatives are
speculative in nature with gains and losses recognized through profit.
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Refining

In 2023, the business of crude oil refining has delivered a satisfactory performance that was underpinned by strong crack
spreads of gasoil driven by tight availability in Europe and by asset reliability. We believe that market imbalances tied to crude
quality availability and products flows and other bottlenecks in the system will likely help refining margins in 2024, as well as
an expected decline in natural gas prices. However, this business retains a cyclical nature, and we project refining margins to
fall well below current levels in the medium term as new capacity is forecast to enter the market or achieve full ramp-up in the
next years, in places like Nigeria, the Middle and Far East. Our forecasts are also modelling a gradual reduction in consumption
of fossil fuels in our key European markets due to penetration of EV and mandated measures by EU governments to reduce
CO2 emissions. Based on those assumptions we plan to retain a strong focus on plant efficiency and reliability, cost discipline,
measures to optimize natural gas consumption in the operations and the search of viable solutions to eventually restructure
and downsize our oil-based, operated refineries in Italy. Consistent with this market view, we have launched a project to
restructure another refinery in Italy (Livorno), which will follow the same reconfiguration process as the Gela and Venice hubs,
and to transform it into a biorefinery with expected start up in 2026.

Enilive (biofuels & marketing)

Enilive, operational from January 1, 2023, is a new, 100 per cent-owned subsidiary of Eni, which has been established
through the carve-out of Eni’s activities in the field of biofuels manufacturing and in the retail marketing of fuels and non-fuels
products. It also engages in selling fuels to wholesale markets and the cargo market. Enilive will offer increasingly
decarbonized solutions/products to people on the move, leveraging integration with its biorefineries as well as product and
service innovation.

The Group plans to significantly grow the manufacturing capacity of biofuels with the goal of reaching more than 3 million
tons of installed capacity in 2026 through the upgrading of existing plants, the planned entry into operations of another
biorefinery in Italy and international expansion, building on the successful completion of a deal to establish a joint venture
with a US refiner to jointly operate a biorefinery in Louisiana. In the plan period, we expect that other international
opportunities will mature in South Korea in partnership with LG Chem and in Malaysia in partnership with Petronas and
Euglena, where both initiatives will leverage our co-developed “Ecofining” technology to produce hydrotreated vegetable oils
“HVO”, with an expected start-up for both projects in 2026. Management is engaged in building a reliable and sustainable
supply chain of bio-feedstock to be processed at the Company’s manufacturing units. As part of that plan, we are developing
a vertically integrated business model, which contemplates establishing a network of agricultural hubs in many of the
countries of E&P operations, in Africa and in other geographies. This activity is intended to not compete with the food chain
and to produce a vegetable oil at Eni’s dedicated mills by treating supplies of raw vegetables grown by local farmers, supplied
to Eni under long-term agreements. In 2023, this agricultural business has supplied 4 Ktonnes of bio feedstock to our
manufacturing plants in Italy. The agricultural business will be scaled up in the planning period to reach a level of supply in
excess of 700 Ktonnes by 2027, covering more than 35% of our Italian biorefineries throughputs in Italy. This vertical
integration will also boost margins on the production of biofuels, insulating our company from the volatility of raw materials.
We are also planning to develop the offer of sustainable aviation fuels and of biomethane.

In marking activities, where we expect a very competitive environment, we are seeking to retain steady and robust
profitability mainly by focusing on innovation of products and services anticipating customer needs, strengthening our line of
premium products, as well as efficiency. We plan to enhance the network by upgrading several service stations to transform
them from traditional outlets into mobility hubs to capitalize on the growing demand for a wider mobility experience and by
expanding the number of service stations where we will market our innovative HVO-based biofuels and other alternative
energy carriers (for example the service of recharging electric vehicles and biomethane). Profitability will be also supported by
increasing sales of non-fuel products and services leveraging on new formats and partnerships with established operators in
various fields.

Management believes that Enilive will significantly increase its profitability in the plan period, leveraging on the

integration between biofuels production and marketing activities, and because of that it will gain better visibility on the
marketplace. Based on those features, the management believes that Enilive can attract interest from external investors.
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Chemicals business

In 2023, the chemicals sector managed by the subsidiary Versalis reported losses due to the long-term challenged
fundamentals of the business, because of competition from producers in USA, Middle and East Asia, which are advantaged by
plant scale and lower operating expenses, and a slowdown in demand for plastics, which exacerbated price competition.
Furthermore, the Eni’s business was negatively affected by comparatively higher costs of plant utilities indexed to natural gas
(for example the cost of natural gas in Europe is four to five times that of the USA) and environmental obligations which made
overseas products more competitive than ours, and those trends negatively affected products margins and sales volumes.
Those negative trends are likely to continue affecting the business performance in 2024 and beyond. The Company is focused
on executing an industrial plan intended to recover profitability by reducing exposure to the most commoditized market
segments and to achieve a structurally more sustainable and competitive products mix. The main levers of the industrial plan
comprise: (i) to develop the segment of bioplastics and biochemicals leveraging the integration of the recently-acquired
Novamont; (ii) to increase the weight of differentiated products called “specialties” which, based on our experience, are more
profitable than commodity plastics, also leveraging on growing our market share in the compounding and specialized
formulations through Finproject that we acquired in 2021, (iii) to develop the business of the circular economy by increasing
production of polymers made from the mechanical recycling of waste plastics; (iv) to improve integration and efficiency,
balancing the cracking capacity with the internal needs for manufacturing polymers and lowering trade sales of intermediates
which are exposed to the volatility of the cycle. A key driver of our strategy will be our proprietary technologies which can
expand our presence in new markets, like for example the production of bio-ethanol from biomass, or the technology for
producing polymers via the chemical recycling of used plastics that we are going to test by building a pilot plan at one of our
industrial hubs in the plan period.

Plenitude

Plenitude, Eni’s subsidiary managing the Group’s legacy retail marketing of natural gas business, the renewable electricity
business and the network of charging points for EV will leverage the synergies among those businesses to improve its
profitability going forward. We plan to accelerate the development of the installed capacity to produce renewable power to
reach over 8 GW of installed capacity by the end of the plan. Our network of charging points for electric vehicles will be
expanded with the objective of reaching 40 thousand points by 2027. We plan to selectively grow our customer base, with the
target to reach over 11 million customers by 2027 and to boost profitability by extracting more value from the customer
portfolio, by supplying an increasing share of equity renewable energy and bio-methane, as well as by expanding the offer of
new products and services other than the commodity and by continuing innovation in marketing processes including the
deployment of digitalization in the acquisition of new customers, a reduction in the cost to serve and effective management of
working capital. Based on those drivers, management expects that Plenitude will significantly improve its profitability going
forward.

Expected Group financial performance

In 2024, the management expects to fund several large cash requirements. We expect to execute a largely committed capital
budget of about €9 billion to fund the organic growth of the business. We will have disbursements in connection with the
closing of the acquisition of the group Neptune Energy (€2 billion) and of assets in the segment of renewable generation in
USA, which deal was announced at the end of 2023 and the closing occurred in early 2024. We expect to incur a one time cash-
out due to the payment of an Italian solidaristic tax contribution, provisioned in the financial statements (around €0.45 billion).
Finally, we expect to return a substantial amount of cash to shareholders through dividends projected at €3 billion (which will
include the third and fourth instalments of the dividend for fiscal year 2023 and the first two instalments of the 2024 dividend),
as well as through the completion of the 2023 share repurchase program (€0.4 billion) and possibly the start of a new buy-back
program.

Furthermore, our net borrowings will reflect the planned execution of reverse factoring transactions whereby the payables
recognized in connection with the purchase of capital goods will be classified as finance debt due to the deferral of the
payment terms agreed with the suppliers of such goods.

The Company expects to fund those cash requirements through a combination of cash generated from operations, the
execution of a disposal plan and by taking on new finance debt. Those movements will likely result in an increased ratio of net
borrowings (before IFRS 16 effects) to equity (“leverage”), although we expect that the Group leverage will remain very close
to our stated long-term range of 0.15-0.25.

For 2024, we expect net cash provided by operating activities (“operating cash flow”) to be the primary source of cash to
fund our capital plans and returns to shareholders.
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Our operating cash flow is mainly driven by our E&P business due to its relative larger size and higher profitability
compared to our other businesses. Therefore, our operating cash flow is exposed to the volatility of hydrocarbons prices, that
are highly correlated to the macroeconomic cycle, the global balance between demand and supply and the worldwide levels of
inventories, among others. Based on our experience, those backdrop conditions can vary very rapidly and accordingly
hydrocarbons prices corrections can be sudden and severe. Due to those considerations, our operating cash flow features
high variability and little predictability. The 2024 outlook is compounded by many risks and uncertainties in connection with
trends in the global economy and the monetary policy of the US Federal Reserve which will greatly influence movements in
currency markets and the economic performance of developing countries and that will have important consequences on a
possible recovery of crude oil prices, and finally the unsteady recovery trajectory of the economy of China, which is a large
consumer of crude oil. From an industrial standpoint the greatest uncertainties will involve the ability of US shale producers to
continue growing production despite financial discipline, the performance of emerging growth areas like Brazil and Guyana,
developments in the political relationships involving USA, Iran, and Venezuela and finally and above all the cohesion of the
OPEC+ cartel in maintaining the production curbs and quota discipline to support prices. Considering those risks and
uncertainties, we are assuming a Brent crude oil price of 80 $/bbl for 2024, a couple of dollars lower than in 2023. We are also
assuming a continuing downtrend in natural gas prices, which will reduce both E&P results and optimization opportunities of
the portfolio of natural gas contracts managed by our GGP segment. As a result of those expected trends, our results of
operations and cash flows for 2024 are expected to be lower than in 2023. We are assuming spot prices of natural gas at
European hubs to be around 10 $/mmBTU, the Company’s gouge of the refining trading environment, SERM, at 8 $/bbl and an
average EUR vs USD exchange rate at IEUR=1.08 USD.

In contrast to the volatility of our operating cash flows, our funding requirements to develop hydrocarbons reserves are
characterized by a low degree of flexibility in the short term. The E&P segment is a capital-intensive business and needs large
amounts of financial resources to support production volumes and to develop new oil&gas reservoirs. Hydrocarbons
development projects are long lead-time projects due to the complexity of activities to be carried out before production is
achieved and the pay-back period of capital projects may start. Once a final investment decision has been made to develop a
new hydrocarbon field and contracts have been signed to build production facilities and other equipment, management may
face difficulties at postponing or stopping cash outlays in response to a sudden contraction in operating cash flows.
Management can reduce incremental investments at producing fields, like workover or infilling operations, when economic and
operating conditions allow for that. The expected compression of our cash flow from operations in 2024 due to reduced pricing
and other assumptions will be occurring at a time when our funding needs to support our capital plans are forecast to remain at
substantial levels. The planned €9 billion of capital expenditures for 2024 will be driven by new project start-ups and ramp-ups
in E&P, cost inflation and by development of the renewable generation capacity of our subsidiary Plenitude and of other
businesses linked to the energy transition. The businesses linked to the energy transition are currently absorbing cash
because they are in a ramp-up phase.

Furthermore, we expect to fund a significant portion of the planned cash requirements in 2024 through the execution of an
asset disposal plan which will encompass a possible dilution of our working interests at certain E&P assets (for example large
discovery areas or fields currently in production phase), the divestment of non-strategic assets and the sale of minority
interests in certain subsidiaries, which can attract the interest of institutional investors similar to the deal between our
subsidiary Plenitude and EIP, whereby the external investor subscribed to a reserved share capital increase by contributing
€0.6 billion of cash and assuming a 7.6% interest in the share capital of Plenitude. However, the execution of our disposal plan
is exposed to risks in connection with an uncertain macro economic outlook and the announcement of asset disposal plans by
several companies competing with Eni, which could reduce transaction values.

Management is retaining a prudent financial framework, based on capital and cost discipline, selective investment criteria,
pre-set cash allocation priorities and adoption of a ceiling to the maximum amount of debt that the Company may incur. New
capital projects are approved when they fit strict economic criteria, including being profitable in a low-price environment and
having short pay-back periods and reduced time-to-market to limit financial exposure. By applying those criteria, we aim to
increase project resilience to possible risks relating to price volatility and, in the long-term, to the energy transition.

One of the pillars of our financial discipline is the ability of the Company to fund the planned capital expenditures to grow
and maintain the asset base through operating cash flow. For 2024 under our pricing, exchange rate and inflation assumptions,
we expect to generate enough cash flow from operations to fund the planned capital expenditures of about €9 billion, leaving a
surplus to cover other cash requirements.
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To fund other Company cash commitments, including the cash disbursements in connection with already closed
acquisitions, the payment of lease liabilities and of windfall taxes, as well as shareholders returns, we expect to use cash
proceeds from our disposal plans and to take on new finance debt. Those plans are exposed to the volatility of hydrocarbons
prices and refining margins. Brent prices have been trending slightly above our expectations so far in 2024, averaging 83.2
$/bbl in the first quarter of 2024. Currently, we are estimating our operating cash flow to vary by approximately €130 million for
each one-dollar change in the Brent crude oil price with respect to our base case assumption of 80 $/bbl for 2024. Natural gas
prices have been trending just below the Company’s expectation, with the average spot price at the same date at around 9
$/mmBTU; each one-dollar change in the sport prices of natural gas in Europe has almost the same impact as a one-dollar
change in the Brent price (€130 million). The Company’s refining margins have been performing better than expected, with an
average of around 10.5 $/bbl in this first quarter of 2024. Currently, we are estimating our cash flow operations to vary by about
€120 million for each one-dollar change in the SERM.

For planning purposes, management assumed a USD/EUR exchange rate in the range of 1.08 — 1.12 U.S. dollars per euro in
the 2024-2027 period. Given the sensitivity of Eni’s results of operations to movements in the euro versus the U.S. dollar
exchange rate, trends in the currency market represent a factor of risk and uncertainty. In the first quarter of 2024 the USD/EUR
exchange rate was line with our expectations. Currently, we are estimating our cash flow from operating activities to vary by
about €540 million for a 5 USD/cent movement in the USD/EUR cross rate.

For further information see Item 3 — Risk factors and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

This financial framework is completed by the maintenance of a liquidity reserve consisting of cash on hand, marketable
securities and committed credit lines, which have been dimensioned to help the Company withstand a sudden contraction in
operating cash flows, or short-term difficulties in accessing capital markets. At the end of 2023 this liquidity reserve amounted
to €17.8 billion of cash on hand and held-for-trading securities and €9.1 billion of committed borrowings facilities.

Our 2024-2027 plan economics are assuming a Brent crude oil price flat at 80 $/bbl and a spot price of natural gas at the
main European hub at around 10-12 $/mmBTU.

The actions planned in the next four-year period featuring profitable hydrocarbons production growth, an increasing
contribution of our businesses linked to the energy transition managed by our subsidiaries Plenitude and Enilive, continuing
portfolio optimizations in GGP, steady performance of the retail marketing of fuels, margin preservation in the oil refining
business and a restructuring of the petrochemicals business managed by Versalis coupled with capital and cost discipline will
underpin a solid cash generation. On those bases, and considering the proceeds expected from the execution of our disposal
plan, we will be in the position to boost shareholders returns and to retain a robust balance sheet with our core ratio of net
borrowings to total equity — leverage — before the effects of IFRS 16 expected to fall back to the low end of the indicated range
at the end of the plan period. Our financial plans are assuming an increased level of indebtedness at our subsidiary Plenitude,
which is upgrading the generation capacity of renewable energy and electric vehicles infrastructure.

In the next four-year plan 2024-2027, we expect to incur about €35 billion of capital expenditures with the following break-
down for the main businesses:

e around €23 billion to develop new oil&gas projects, mainly natural gas and LNG initiatives, to maintain the production
plateau at existing fields, and to explore for new hydrocarbons reserves, mainly in near-field prospects and mature
areas (exploration will attract more than €1.5 billion of expenditures);

e around €5.4 billion to develop the renewable generation capacity, the network of EV charging points and other
initiatives of Plenitude;

e around €0.9 billion to develop the ongoing initiatives in the businesses under development of upgrading depleted
natural gas fields into hubs to permanently store CO2 and related facilities for transport and compression; those
amounts will include construction of agricultural hubs to produce feedstock for Eni’s biorefineries;

e around €3.4 billion to downstream activities, 50% dedicated to develop the manufacturing capacity of biofuels and
upgrade the network of service stations and 50% to maintain plant reliability and safety in the businesses of oil
refining;

e around €1.2 billion in the petrochemicals business.
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We expect to fund part of the cash requirements of our capital expenditure programs through the execution of a disposal
plan of €8 billion of net cash proceeds, i.e. in excess of the cash-outs related to the closing of the Neptune energy acquisition
and other minor tuck-in acquisitions, over the next four years. By this way, we see our net cash used in investing activities to
average around €7 billion per year in the plan period. Our disposal program will leverage on the possible divestitures of
minority stakes in one or more of our subsidiaries engaged in the businesses of the energy transition and on the possible
dilution of our working interests in some exploration assets and the sale of some producing fields in the E&P segment.

To support the Group cash generation, we are planning to execute a cost saving program of about €1.8 billion.

Due to cash flow unpredictability as a function of the scenario volatility, management is always allocating a portion of
funds to uncommitted projects, which can be more comfortably cancelled or postponed in case of a downturn in the oil prices.
In the four-year plan 2024-2027 out of the planned capital budget of €35 billion, the portion allocated to uncommitted projects
represents 10% in 2024, and an average of 50% in the subsequent 2025-2027 years.

Our financial projections and capital investment decisions are based on management’s appreciation of the cost of capital
to the Group at about 7%. This rate is in line with 2023 due to a perceived decrease of Eni’s equity risk due to the restructuring
executed throughout the downturn and an improved financial structured, which helped offset the increase in risk-free yields.
When making final investment decisions, the thresholds against which specific investment internal rate of returns are
benchmarked, are defined by adding to the above-mentioned cost of capital, a risk premium associated with the country where
the investment will be executed and an additional business risk premium to cover high-risk investments (like exploration
projects).

This financial outlook is subject to the volatility of crude oil prices and to the other risk factors described in Item 3.
Remuneration policy

Management is committed to delivering on a progressive and competitive shareholder remuneration policy, that is
reflective of the expected growth in underlying earnings and cash flows at a constant scenario basis and the increased
resiliency of the business to cyclical fluctuations. In setting the level of shareholders’ remuneration, management also consider
trends in the crude oil prices scenario and in other market variables.

As part of that framework and to reflect improved financial metrics of the Company, management is planning to enhance
shareholders’ remuneration by pegging expected distributions to a percentage ranging from 30 to 35% of the expected cash
flow from operations before changes in working capital, up from the previous stated range of 25 to 30%. Distributions will
contemplate a combination of dividends and share repurchases, with this latter representing the variable component of the
planned remuneration policy. We expect to grow the dividend in future years in line with the expected growth in the Group
underlying financial performance, and to improve the dividend resilience to the scenario.

In case the Group performs better than management’s plans due for example to a better pricing environment than
management expectations or better-than-expected business underlying performance, management intends to distribute up to
60% of the incremental cash flow from operations (up from the previous 35%). In case the scenario evolves contrary to
management’s expectations, the Company intends to preserve shareholders’ returns leveraging on the Company’s financial
flexibility as well as on possible revisions of the capital expenditure plans considering the proportion of uncommitted projects
in our development portfolio.

For 2024, having assessed the progress of the Company in executing its strategy, basing on a sound financial position
and a stable crude oil prices outlook, the management is planning to increase the annual total dividend to €1 per share, up 6%
from €0.94 per share relating to fiscal year 2023. This dividend is expected to be paid in four equal quarterly instalments in
September 2024, November 2024, March 2025 and May 2025. Therefore, the expected cash out for dividend payments in 2024
will include two instalments of the 2023 dividend of €0.23 and €0.24 per share respectively, and two instalments of the planned
2024 dividend of €0.25 per share each (for an overall cash outlay of €3 billion).

Furthermore, consistent with its remuneration policy, Eni plans to commence a new share buyback program of at least €1.1
billion, following due shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting scheduled in May 2024, which could increase to
€3.5 billion. In the next four years, at the management’s scenario, the Company expects to execute an overall buy-back plan of
more than €6.5 billion, significantly reducing the share count.
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Off-balance sheet arrangements

Eni has entered into certain off-balance sheet arrangements, including guarantees, commitments and risks, as described in
“Item 18 — Note 28 — Guarantees, commitments and risks — of the Notes on Consolidated Financial Statements”. Eni’s principal
contractual obligations, including commitments undertake-or-pay or ship-or-pay contracts in the gas business, are described
under “Contractual obligations” below. See the Glossary for a definition of take-or-pay or ship-or-pay clauses.

Off-balance sheet arrangements comprise those arrangements that may potentially impact Eni’s liquidity, capital resources
and results of operations, even though such arrangements are not recorded as liabilities under generally accepted accounting
principles. Although off-balance sheet arrangements serve a variety of Eni’s business purposes, Eni is not dependent on these
arrangements to maintain its liquidity and capital resources; nor is management aware of any circumstances that are
reasonably likely to cause the off-balance sheet arrangements to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Eni has provided various forms of guarantees on behalf of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies, mainly
relating to guarantees for loans, lines of credit and performance under contracts. In addition, Eni has provided guarantees on
the behalf of consolidated companies, primarily relating to performance under contracts. These arrangements are described in

“Item 18 — Note 28 — Guarantees, commitments and risks — of the Notes on Consolidated Financial Statements”.
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding for the Group may not be available, or the Group is unable to sell
its assets on the marketplace as to be unable to meet short-term financing requirements and to settle obligations. Such a
situation would negatively impact the Group results and cash flow as it would result in the Company incurring higher
borrowing expenses to meet its obligations, divesting assets at discount to their fair values or under the worst of conditions
the inability of the Company to continue as a going concern. At present, the Group believes it has access to sufficient funding
and has also both committed and uncommitted borrowing facilities as we retain cash reserves and cash on hand to meet
currently foreseeable funding requirements. The Group cash reserve consists of cash on hand and very liquid financial assets
(short-term deposits and held-for-trading securities) of €17.8 billion and committed borrowing facilities of €9.1 billion for a total
liquidity reserve of about €27 billion. This liquidity reserve according to management plans can alternatively be used to absorb
temporary swings in cash flows from operations, to provide financial flexibility to pursue the Group development programs or
to fund the Group contractual obligations with respect to the repayment of financing debt at maturity up to a 48-month
horizon. For a description of how the Company manages the liquidity risk see “Item 18 — Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”. Due to the continued volatility in commodity markets, we might incur increased liquidity risks due to the need to
deposit larger amounts of cash collateral at financial institutions and commodity-based exchanges to guarantee the settlement
of derivatives contracts (margin calls). The Group is adopting measures to strengthen its financial headroom to cope with
possible market turbulence. To withstand uncertain financial markets and macroeconomic conditions, the Group has retained a
level of financial flexibility in planning future capital requirements to grow the business, as a portion of the capital expenditure
plan of €35 billion of the four-year period 2024-2027 is allocated to uncommitted projects (15% in the first year, rising to 20% in
the subsequent ones).

Working capital

Management believes that, considering unutilized credit facilities, the Company’s liquidity reserves, our credit rating and
access to capital markets, Eni has sufficient working capital for its foreseeable requirements.

Credit risk

In recent years, the Group has experienced a significant level of counterparty default due to Europe and Italy’s weak
economic growth and a downturn in crude oil prices affecting the solvency of national oil state-owned entities and local
companies, which are joint operators in Eni-lead projects. The retail gas & power business managed by Plenitude is particularly
exposed to the credit risk due to its large and diversified customer base, which includes thousands of medium and small-sized
businesses and retail customers whose financial condition has been negatively and adversely affected by the economic
slowdown and high energy costs owing to the natural gas crisis of 2022. Also, certain large industrial accounts at our
wholesale natural gas business have been facing difficulties at paying amounts due to us. It is possible that the ability of our
debtors to pay amounts due to us will deteriorate in the next future, in case of a new spike in the prices of energy commodities
or in case of a deepening of the current economic slowdown, leading us to recognize significant amounts of expected credit
losses in future reporting periods.

For a description of how the Company manages the credit risk see “Item 18 — Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”. For more information about the allowance for doubtful accounts calculated in accordance with the expected credit
loss model see “Item 18 — Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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Volatility of the macro environment

Global financial markets are volatile due to several macroeconomic risk factors and unpredictable developments. In case
new restrictive measures in response to a resurgence of the pandemic or the war in Ukraine and Middle-East tensions lead to a
double-dip in economic activity and energy demand, in the event of extended periods of constraints in the financial markets, or
if Eni is unable to access the financial markets (including cases where this is due to Eni’s financial position or market sentiment
as to Eni’s prospects) at a time when cash flows from Eni’s business operations may be under pressure, the Company may
incur significantly higher borrowing costs than in the past or difficulties obtaining the necessary financial resources to fund
Eni’s development plans, therefore jeopardizing Eni’s ability to maintain long-term investment programs. A reduction in the
investments needed to develop Eni’s reserves and to grow the business may significantly and negatively affect Eni’s business
prospects, results of operations and cash flows, and may impact shareholder returns, including dividends or share price.

Market risk

The fair values of Eni’s financial assets and liabilities as well as expected cash flow from highly probable transactions are
exposed to movements in commodity prices, currency fluctuations and changes in interest rates. Unfavorable movements in
prices and rates could significantly and negatively affect Eni’s results of operations and cash flow.

The Group does not hedge its strategic exposure to volatile hydrocarbons prices in the activity of producing its oil&gas
reserves, except for specific transactions or particular market circumstances. Other strategic, unhedged exposures include
long-term gas supply contracts for the portion not balanced by sales contracts (already stipulated or expected), the margin
deriving from the chemical transformation process, the refining margin and long-term storage functional to the logistic-
industrial activities. The Group enters into commodity derivatives to manage exposure to price volatility in commercial
activities involving the reselling of commodities in view of optimizing margins. Frequently, exposures to price volatility or to
different indexation between the cost of supplies and the reselling prices are not hedged on a transaction-by-transaction basis;
instead, exposures are pooled at Group level and derivatives are activated to hedge net exposures, with gain and losses
recognized through profit.

Eni’s euro-denominated subsidiaries incur revenues and expenses in currencies other than the euro or are otherwise
exposed to currency fluctuations because prices of oil, natural gas and refined products generally are denominated in, or linked
to, the U.S. dollar, while a significant portion of Eni’s expenses are incurred in euros and because movements in exchange rates
may negatively affect the fair value of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the euro. Therefore,
movements in the U.S. dollar (or other foreign currencies) exchange rate versus the euro affect results of operations and cash
flows and year-on-year comparability of the performance. These exposures are normally pooled at Group level and net
exposures to exchange rate volatility are netted on the marketplace using derivative transactions. However, the effectiveness
of such hedging activity is uncertain, and the Company may incur losses also of significant amounts.

Eni is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates that may affect the fair value of Eni’s financial assets and liabilities as well
as the amount of finance expense recorded through profit. Eni enters into derivative transactions with the purpose of

minimizing its exposure to the interest rate risk.

For a description of how the Company manages the Market risk see “Item 18 — Note 28 of the Notes on Consolidated
Financial Statements”.

Research and development
For a description of Eni’s research and development operations in 2023, see “Item 4 — Research and development”.
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Item 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
Directors and Senior Management

The following table lists the Company’s Board of Directors as at December 31, 2023:

Year elected or

Name Position R Age
appointed
Giuseppe Zafarana Chairman 2023 60
Claudio Descalzi CEO 2014 68
Elisa Baroncini Director 2023 57
Massimo Belcredi Director 2023 62
Roberto Ciciani Director 2023 51
Carolyn Adele Dittmeier Director 2023 67
Federica Seganti Director 2023 57
Cristina Sgubin Director 2023 43
Raphael Louis L. Vermeir Director 2020 68

In accordance with Article 17.1 of Eni’s By-laws, the Board of Directors is made up of 3 to 9 members.

The current Board of Directors was appointed by the ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on May 10, 2023 which also
established the number of Directors at nine for a term of three financial years. The Board’s term will therefore expire with the
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2025.

The Board of Directors is appointed by means of a slate voting system: slates may be presented by the shareholders
representing at least 0.5% of the Company’s share capital. According to the Eni By-laws, three out of nine Directors are
appointed from among the candidates of the non-controlling shareholders.

Giuseppe Zafarana, Claudio Descalzi, Elisa Baroncini, Roberto Ciciani, Federica Seganti, and Cristina Sgubin were the
candidates of the Ministry of the Economy and Finance. Massimo Belcredi, Carolyn Adele Dittmeier and Raphael Louis L.
Vermeir were the candidates of institutional investors (non-controlling shareholders). The Shareholders’ Meeting appointed
Giuseppe Zafarana as the Chairman of the Board of Directors and, on May 11, 2023, the Board appointed Claudio Descalzi as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Four Directors out of nine were drawn from the less represented gender, reaching the ratio of at least two-fifths of the
Directors as provided by Italian law and Eni’s By-laws.

The following provides details on the personal and professional profiles of the Directors.

Giuseppe Zafarana was born in Piacenza in 1963 and has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Eni since May 2023.
He is a member of the Italian Corporate Governance Committee. Furthermore, he is Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Fondazione Eni Enrico Mattei (FEEM) since June 28, 2023.

He graduated in Law, Political Sciences and Economic and Financial Security Sciences and obtained a II level Master's
Degree in Corporate Tax Law from the Luigi Bocconi University in Milan.

Experience

His military career began in 1981, when he attended the 81st "Osum II" course at the Corps Academy. He went into
service in 1985 and held several operational assignments in Lombardy, Veneto, Lazio, Calabria and Sicily, commanding various
divisions, taking on assignments in the leading investigative departments of the Corps and carrying out relevant Military staff
functions. From 1995 to 1997, he attended the biennial Advanced Tax Police Course and a highly qualified stage in the United
States of America, on the subject of contrasting organised crime. He was Provincial Commander of Rome (from 2003 to 2008)
and Regional Commander of Lombardy (from 2015 to 2016).

Moreover, he performed several assignments in the training sector, in particular as commander of the Academy of the
Guardia di Finanza, and later served as Chief of Staff of the General Command of the Guardia di Finanza (from 2016 to 2018), and
interregional commander for Central Italy (from 2018 to 2019). From May 2019 to May 2023 he held the office of Commander
General of the Guardia di Finanza. He taught at the Academy of the Guardia di Finanza, the School of the Tributary Police of the
Guardia di Finanza, and the School of the economic-financial Police of the Guardia di Finanza. He has been awarded various
decorations and honours, including the Knight Grand Cross of the Order of Merit of the Italian Republic.
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Claudio Descalzi was born in Milan and has been Eni’s CEO since May 2014. He is a member of the General Council and
of the Advisory Board of Confindustria and Director of Fondazione Teatro alla Scala.

He is a member of the National Petroleum Council. He is one of the founding CEOs of the Oil and Gas Climate Initiative,
and was awarded the Atlantic Council’s Distinguished Business Leadership Award in 2022.

Experience

He joined Eni in 1981 as Oil & Gas field petroleum engineer and then became project manager for the development of
North Sea, Libya, Nigeria and Congo. In 1990 he was appointed Head of Reservoir and operating activities for Italy. In 1994, he
was appointed Managing Director of Eni’s subsidiary in Congo and in 1998 he became Vice President & Managing Director of
Naoc, a subsidiary of Eni in Nigeria. From 2000 to 2001 he held the position of Executive Vice President for Africa, Middle East
and China. From 2002 to 2005 he was Executive Vice President for Italy, Africa, Middle East, covering also the role of member of
the board of several Eni subsidiaries in the area. In 2005, he was appointed Deputy Chief Operating Officer of the Exploration &
Production Division in Eni. From 2006 to 2014 he was President of Assomineraria and from 2008 to 2014 he was Chief Operating
Officer in the Exploration & Production Division of Eni. From 2010 to 2014 he held the position of Chairman of Eni UK.

In 2012, Claudio Descalzi was the first European in the field of Oil&Gas to receive the prestigious “Charles F. Rand
Memorial Gold Medal 2012 award from the Society of Petroleum Engineers and the American Institute of Mining Engineers.
He is a Visiting Fellow at The University of Oxford. In 2014 he founded the Oil and Gas Climate Initiative together with other
CEOs of major Oil & Gas companies to lead the industry’s response to climate change. In December 2015 he was made a
member of the “Global Board of Advisors of the Council on Foreign Relations”. In December 2016 he was awarded an
Honorary Degree in Environmental and Territorial Engineering by the Faculty of Engineering of the University of Rome, Tor
Vergata. In May 2022 he was awarded by the Atlantic Council with the Distinguished Business Leadership Award for the
extraordinary role he has played in the energy sector at an international level, for the technological transformation of the
company aimed at complete decarbonisation by 2050 and for his contribution to the new challenge of Italian and European
energy security. He graduated in physics in 1979 from the University of Milan.

Elisa Baroncini was born in Castel San Pietro Terme (Bologna) in 1966 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. She is
Professor of International Law at the Alma Mater Studiorum — University of Bologna, where she teaches International Trade
and Investment Law, and International Law on Sustainable Development and she is a member of the teaching board of the PhD
program in Juridical Sciences. Founder and Coordinator of DIEcon, the interest group on International Economic Law of the
Italian Society of International Law (SIDI), she co-chaired the interest group on International Economic Law of the European
Society of International Law (ESIL) in 2012-2022 and since December 2023 she was appointed as a Member of the Executive
Council of Society of International Economic Law (SIEL). She is a member of the Journal of World Investment and Trade and of
the review Diritto del commercio internazionale — Bologna Editorial Board.

She is a member of the Scientific Council of the Alma Mater Institute for Advanced Studies and was appointed "TSD
Expert" (international arbitrator) by the European Commission for dispute resolution mechanisms of the European Union new
generation free trade agreements. She is also a member of the "Interuniversity Centre on the Law of International Economic
Organisations" (CIDOIE), and a member of the University of the Associazione delle docenti universitarie dell’Universita di
Bologna (AdDU) Stering Committee. She participates in various associations and organisations active in the fields of
governance and international and European law (Leuven Centre for Global Governance Studies, Society of International
Economic Law, Societa italiana di diritto internazionale, International Law Association (ILA) — Branch of Italy, Associazione
italiana studiosi di diritto dell’Unione europea).

Experience

She is the author of several publications among Italian and foreign publishers and magazines, particularly in the field of
international economic law and the external relations and trade policy of the European Union. She has been a Visiting Professor
at various foreign universities and Visiting Researcher at the European University Institute (EUI), and member and manager of
national and international research projects. She is currently Coordinator of the Re-Globe Jean Monnet Module, Seed Funding
Una Europa WHC@50 project, and Seed Funding Una Europa ImprovEUorGlobe project. Elisa Baroncini's fields of research
include: the crisis of the WTO appellate body and the multilateral litigation reform process; the relationship between trade
liberalisation and non-trade values; the new generation of free trade agreements of the European Union; transparency in
international economic law; the role of the European Parliament and Commission in finalizing international agreements;
UNESCO and international economic law; exceptions related to national security in international economic law; EU trade policy
and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the UN Agenda 2030.

She graduated with honour in law, with the “Baldisseri” award as best dissertation of the year in European Community
Law, from the University of Bologna, where she also obtained a PhD in European Community Law.
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Massimo Belcredi was born in Brindisi in 1962 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. He is currently Full Professor
of Corporate Finance at the Faculty of Economics of the Universita Cattolica del Sacro Cuore in Milan; and Founder and
Director of FIN-GOV (Centre for financial research on corporate governance of the Catholic University).

He is a member of the Steering Committee of Cor-Gov (Master II level in Corporate Governance), of the teaching board of
the Doctorate in Economics and Finance, and the committee of the Department of Economics and Business Management. He is
a member of the Italian Academy of Business Economics (AIDEA) and the Association of Professors of Economics of
Financial Market Intermediaries (ADEIMF). He is also a member of the Rivista Bancaria (Minerva Bancaria) Scientific
Committee. Since 2021 he has been Director of Armonia SGR and a member of the Nedcommunity Scientific Committee. He
provides technical consultancy and advice on the subjects of corporate finance and corporate governance, support for the
board evaluation, remuneration policies, and related-parties transactions.

Experience

He has been a member of the Board of Directors, European Financial Management Association and of the Editorial Board,
Journal of Management Governance. He is author of several national and international publications, primarily in the field of
corporate governance, directors' remuneration, economic analysis of listed companies law, business crises, and has worked as
a consultant for Assonime on corporate governance, company law and crisis and regulation of financial markets matters, also
participating in the working group for the development of the Italian Corporate Governance Code.

Since 2003, he was Director in unlisted and listed companies, as well as companies under the supervision of Public
Authorities (Arca SGR, Banca Italease, BPER Banca, Erg, Gedi and Pirelli Tyre), being also appointed as a member or chairman
of internal committees (Nomination, Remuneration, Control and Risk, Related Parties). He was a member of the Advisory Board
for the transformation and privatisation of municipal companies in the Municipality of Rome, and a member of the competition
commissions for Consob and the Energy and Gas Authority (AEEG). In 2014 he received the "Ambrogio Lorenzetti" award for
corporate governance, category ‘Board of Director’s’. He was Professor at the University of Svizzera Italiana and the
University of Bologna. He graduated in Business and Economics from the Universita Cattolica del Sacro Cuore in Milan, where
he also held the role of researcher and associate professor of Corporate Finance.

Roberto Ciciani was born in Rome in 1972 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. He is a lawyer, currently General
Manager and Director of Directorate I of the Treasury Department at the Ministry of Economy and Finance.

He is a Director and member of the Remuneration Committee of TELT — Lyon-Turin Euroalpine Tunnel.
Experience

He began his career at Studio Legale Compagno. He then took part to the final stage of the 2nd management training
course-competition and took on the role of lawyer at the Tiber River Basin Authority, a public body responsible for landscape
protection (from 2001 to 2002). Since 2002 he has held managerial positions in Directorates 111, IV, V and VI of the Treasury
Department - Ministry of Economy and Finance. He was a member of the Higher Council of the Sicily Foundation (from 2016 to
2019), a Director of Poste Tutela SpA, a company owned by Poste Italiane Group (from 2013 to 2016), and MEFOP SpA, a
majority state-owned company for the development of pension funds (from 2013 to 2019).

He has extensive, meaningful experience in the economic-financial sector, both at international and european level, in
administrative, accounting and management procedures; he has considerable knowledge of risk monitoring and management,
and has developed skills in the analysis of problems relating to international and domestic law and economics, banking,
finance, business, the prevention of tax and financial crimes and market abuse, primarily gained through pre-legislative work at
national, European and international level (definition of standards and international recommendations). He was Professor at
the Sapienza, Tor Vergata and LUISS Guido Carli universities in Rome. He graduated in law from the Sapienza University of
Rome, where he also held a PhD in Administrative Law.

Carolyn Adele Dittmeier was born in Salem (USA) in 1956 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. She is currently
Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Corporate Governance, Sustainability and
Nomination Committee of Alpha Services & Holdings SA and of its unlisted subsidiary Alpha Bank SA, where she is also
responsible for supervising Environmental, Social and Governance issues as a member of the Corporate Governance,
Sustainability and Nominations Committee.
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She is also independent director and Chairman of the Control and Risk Committee of Illycaffé S.p.A. and a member of the
Board of Statutory Auditors of Moncler SpA and of the Bologna University Business School Foundation. She is a member of
the Audit Committee Leadership Network (ACLN), in which she actively participates in benchmark meetings between the
Audit Committee Chairs of major European and North American companies and EcoDa. She is a statutory auditor, certified
public accountant, certified internal auditor and certified risk management assurance professional. She is founder and leader of
the working group dedicated to risk and control matters within the Nedcommunity.

Experience

She began her career at KPMG in 1978, as an auditor at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA, later launching a corporate
governance services practice in [taly. She held the position of Financial Manager and, subsequently, Internal Audit Manager
for the Montedison/Compart Group. From 2002 to 2014 she served as Internal Audit Manager of the Poste Italiane Group, and
of the Supervisory Body, as sole auditor.

From 2012 to 2015 she was a member of the Audit Committee of the FAO (United Nations Food and Agriculture
Organisation), where she became President in 2014. She was also an independent director and chairman of the Control and
Risk Committee at Autogrill SpA and Italmobiliare SpA. From 2014 to April 2023, she was Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of Assicurazioni Generali SpA. From 2016 to the end of 2023, she was senior advisor of Ferrero International SA as a
member of Audit Committee. From 2004 to 2014, she held various positions at the Institute of Internal Auditors (ITA), including
those of president of ECITA and AITA. She is author of publications on risk governance and Internal Auditing and, in 2014 and
2017 respectively, she received the Ambrogio Lorenzetti Award, Board Members category, and the Minerva (Federmanager)
Women of Excellence award. She has been teaching at the LUISS Guido Carli University, with teaching assignments in the
fields of corporate governance, risk management, internal control and internal auditing. She graduated in Economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, USA.

Federica Seganti was born in Trieste in 1966 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. She is currently Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Friuli Venezia Giulia regional finance company Friulia SpA and Chairman of BTX Italian Retail and
Brands Srl, as well as Director of Finest SpA and BancoPosta Fondi SpA SGR (where she is Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Risk Committee).

She is Professor of Finance, Core Faculty at the MIB Trieste School of Management, and of Insurance Operations
Technique at the Department of Economics and Statistics at the University of Udine. She is Director of the Master’s course in
Insurance & Risk Management and the Corporate Master’s course in Risk Management and Finance at the MIB Trieste School
of Management.

Experience

From 1994 to 2022 she was Director in several listed and unlisted companies (Fincantieri SpA, Eurizon Capital SGR,
Autostrada Pedemontana Lombarda SpA, InRete SpA, Autovie Servizi SpA, Autovie Venete SpA), while also being appointed
as a member or Chairman of advisory committees (Nomination, Remuneration, Control and Risks). From 2003 to 2008 she was
Commissioner at Covip - Supervisory Commission on Pension Funds, from 2010 to 2016 a Member of the Occupational
Pensions Stakeholder Group of EIOPA - European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority, and from 2017 to 2019 of
the Strategy Advisory Board of EY Financial Services. From 2017 to April 2023, she was an independent Director of Hera SpA,
where she was also Chairman of the Ethics and Sustainability Committee.

She was a contract professor of Transport Economics at the University of Trieste. She is the author of many publications
and has been awarded three prizes. She has a degree in Political Science from the University of Trieste, and a PhD in Finance
from the School of Finance (University of Trieste, Udine, Florence and Bocconi Milan), as well as an MBA in International
Business from the MIB Trieste School of Management.
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Cristina Sgubin was born in Frosinone in 1980 and has been Eni Director since May 2023. Lawyer, expert in corporate law,
corporate governance and regulation. She is currently Director of SACE, ISPRA (Higher Institute for Environmental Protection
and Research) and Vianini SpA.

She is also Secretary General of Telespazio SpA, a leading international company operating in the satellite sector. She
lectures on both degree and master's courses in Public Economic Law and Administrative Law.

Experience

She gained extensive experience practising as a lawyer for leading national and international law firms, then started a
managerial career. As a lawyer, she has done consultancy work for the IPI (Institute of Industrial Promotion), in-house
company of the Ministry of the Economic Development (“MISE”, now Ministry of Enterprises and Made in Italy) for
Promuovitalia S.p.A. and for the Ministry itself. She was General Counsel of Italo-Nuovo Trasporto Viaggiatori SpA. While
working at Leonardo she subsequently became Head of Regulatory Affairs, and then Chief of Staff to the Chief Executive
Officer. Since 2021 she has been Secretary General of Telespazio, responsible for legal and corporate affairs, compliance,
security and anti-corruption.

She has written monographs, particularly on complex industrial crises, collective works and scientific articles. She had a
law degree from the University of Rome Tor Vergata and a level II University Master's degree in "Law and management of
public services" from the LUMSA University in Rome.

Raphael Louis L. Vermeir was born in Merchtem (Belgium) in 1955 and has been Eni Director since May 2020. Since April
2021 he has been Lead Independent Director, appointment confirmed on May 2023. He is currently an independent advisor for
the mining and oil industry.

He serves as Trustee the Classical Opera Company in London, as well as Chairman of Malteser International and board
member of Sedibelo Platinum Mines. He is Fellow of the Energy Institute and the Royal Institute of Naval Architects.

Experience

He joined ConocoPhillips in 1979, initially working in marine transportation and production engineering services in
Houston, Texas. He then handled upstream acquisitions in Europe and Africa and managed Conoco's exploration activities in
continental Europe from the Paris headquarters. In 1991 Vermeir moved to London to lead the business development activities
for refining and marketing in Europe. In 1996 he became managing director of Turcas in Istanbul (Turkey). He returned to
London in 1999 to lead strategic initiatives in Russia and to complete major acquisition deals in the North Sea. He also headed
an integration team during the Conoco-Phillips merger. In 2007 he became head of external affairs Europe and in 2011 was
appointed as president of operations in Nigeria. Subsequently and until 2015, Vermeir was Vice President of Government
Affairs International for ConocoPhillips.

Raphael Vermeir was a member of the Board of Directors of Oil Spill Response Ltd and until 2011 was Chairman of the
International Association of Oil and Gas Producers for four years in a row. Since 2016 and until April 2021 was Senior Advisor
for Energy Intelligence and Strategia Worldwide. From 2016 and until 2021 he was Chairman of IP week. Since 2016 until 2022 he
was Senior Advisor for AngloAmerican. From April 2021 Raphael Vermeir has been appointed as Lead Independent Director of
Eni. He served as Trustee of St Andrews Prize for the Environment. A Belgian national, he graduated in Electrical and
Mechanical Engineering from the Ecole Polytechnique in Brussels. He holds Masters of Science degrees in engineering and
management from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
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Senior Management

The table below sets forth the composition of Eni’s Senior Management as at December 31, 2023. It includes the CEO, as
General Manager of Eni SpA, as well as the Chief Operating Officers and the executives who report directly to the CEO and to
the Board, and on its behalf, to the Chairman.

Total

Year first number of

appointed years of

to current service at

Name Management position position Eni Age
Claudio Descalzi CEO and General Manager of Eni 2014 42 68
Guido Brusco Natural Resources Chief Operating Officer 2022 26 53
Francesco Gattei Chief Financial Officer 2020 28 54
Giuseppe Ricci Energy Evolutions Chief Operating Officer 2021 38 65
Gianfranco Cariola Internal Audit Director 2021 12 55
Grazia Fimiani Integrated Risk Management Director 2021 27 53
.. Integrated Compliance Director and
Luca Franceschini Board Secretary and Board Counsel 2016 32 37
Claudio Granata Hl}man Capital & Procurement Coordination 2000 40 &
Director

Erika Mandraffino External Communication Director 2020 17 51
Lapo Pistelli Public Affairs Director 2020 8 59
Stefano Speroni Legal Affairs & Commercial Negotiation Director 2020 5 61
Roberto Ulissi Corporate Affairs and Governance Director 2006 17 61
Francesca Zarri Technology, R&D & Digital Director 2020 27 54

The Chief Operating Officer Natural Resources, the Chief Operating Officer Energy Evolution, the Chief Financial Officer,
the Director Legal Affairs and Commercial Negotiations, the Director Corporate Affairs and Governance, the Director
Integrated Compliance, the Director External Communication, the Director Human Capital & Procurement Coordination, the
Director Internal Audit, the Director Public Affairs, the Director Integrated Risk Management, the Director Technology, R&D &
Digital, the Deputies of the Chief Operating Officers, the Director Upstream, the Director of Exploration, the Director Refining
Evolution and Transformation, the Director CCUS, Forestry & Agro-Feedstock, the Director Power Generation & Marketing,
the Head of Accounting and Financial Statements and the Head of Planning, Control and Insurance are members of the
Management Committee”, which provides advice and support to the Chief Executive Officer. Other managers may be invited to
attend meetings based on the agenda. The Chairman of the Board is invited to attend meetings. The duties of the Committee
Secretary are performed by the Director Corporate Affairs and Governance.

As of August 1, 2020, the Head of the Accounting and Financial Statements has been appointed by the Board of
Directors as the Officer in charge of preparing Company’s financial reports pursuant to Italian law, replacing the CFO, acting
upon a proposal of the CEO in agreement with the Chairman, following consultation with the Nomination Committee and with
the approval of the Board of Statutory Auditors.

The Internal Audit Director is appointed by the Board of Directors as Director in charge of the internal control and risk
management system, acting upon a proposal of the Chairman in agreement with the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board of Directors decides with the support of the Control and Risks Committee and the Nomination Committee, after
having heard the Board of Statutory Auditors. The Board Secretary and Board Counsel is appointed by the Board of Directors
upon a proposal of the Chairman.

Other members of Eni’s senior management are appointed by Eni’s CEO and may be removed without cause.

9 The committee includes also the Chairman of the Board and CEQ's of certain Eni's subsidiaries
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Senior Managers

Guido Brusco was born in Maratea (Potenza) in 1970. He graduated with Honors in Mechanical Engineering at “La Sapienza”
University of Rome. He holds the position of Eni’s Chief Operating Officer Natural Resources since February 2022. He joined Eni in
1997, starting his career in the technical areas of the Exploration & Production business holding positions of increasing seniority
across different countries, up to the role of Operations Director in Egypt in 2005 and then in Kazakhstan in 2009. He took up the role
of Managing Director in Kazakhstan in 2013 and subsequently Managing Director in Angola in 2015. Most recently he held the
positions of Executive Vice President for the Sub-Saharan Africa Region and then Director of Eni’s Upstream division. In the current
position as Chief Operating Officer Natural Resources, he oversees Eni’s global oil & gas exploration, development and production
activities, gas and LNG portfolio, sustainable development, CCUS, forestry and agri-feedstock. Since December 2021, he is board
director of Vér Energi, a company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. He has been appointed Chairman of Confindustria Energia,
Italy's Federation of energy sector associations, in July 2023.

Francesco Gattei was born in Bologna in February 1969. He was appointed Chief Financial Officer in Eni on August 1, 2020. He
joined Agip S.p.A. in 1995 and participated in major negotiation processes in Central Asia and Russia, firstly as Business Analyst and
subsequently as Negotiator. From 2001 to 2005 he was Head of Negotiations & Commercial Planning in Libya activities during the
start-up and then the construction phases of the Western Libyan Gas Project. From 2006 to 2008, he returned to Eni’s headquarters to
become Head of Business Planning and Development activities for Africa, Europe, Asia and America during a period of major
business growth, supporting the E&P Division’s Deputy General Director. In 2009, he was appointed Head of Upstream M&A,
contributing to the rationalization of the portfolio, particularly in the UK and United States. In 2011, he became Senior Vice President
of Market Scenarios and Strategic Options in Eni SpA, where he was also appointed Secretary of the Scenario and Sustainability
Committee, a post he held until 2019. In 2014, he was appointed Head of Investor Relations and also acted as Secretary to Eni’s
Advisory Board from 2016 to 2019. In 2019, he moved to Houston to become Upstream Director of the Americas, managing the E&P
business in the United States, Mexico, Venezuela and Argentina. He was a member of the Board of Directors of Saipem from 2014 to
2015. He graduated in Economics and Commerce at the University of Bologna with a thesis on the oil market. He obtained the
MEDEA (Master in Energy and Environmental Management) Master’s from the Scuola Mattei in 1994.

Giuseppe Ricci was born in Casale Monferrato in 1958. He was appointed Chief Operating Officer of Energy Evolution on
January 1, 2021. He joined Eni in 1985 initially working in the study and development of new refining processes at the Sannazzaro
refinery, before becoming involved in the creation and consolidation of the joint venture with Kuwait Petroleum at the Milazzo
refinery. In 2000 he returned to head office as where he was responsible for Refining Processes Development and oversaw the
performance optimisation at the refining facilities of Agip Petroli. He left central technologies to take over, in 2004, as director of the
Gela Refinery, a particularly challenging assignment both from a managerial perspective and in terms of the refining cycle and the
complexity of the plant; in 2006 he was appointed managing director of the refinery. In June 2010 he was made Senior Vice President
of the Industrial Sector for Refining & Marketing, with responsibility for the refineries, storage deposits, oil pipelines and plant and
facilities in Italy, as well as the management of subsidiary and associated companies in Italy and abroad. As Industrial Director he
also held a series of additional responsibilities, such as the chairmanship of Gela and Milazzo. In 2012 he took on the delicate role of
Eni’s Executive Vice President Health, Safety Environment and Quality with responsibility for providing the guidelines, coordination
and control of safety, industrial health, product safety, the environment and quality. On 12 September 2016 he was appointed as Chief
Refining & Marketing Officer and, on July 2020 as Eni’s Deputy Chief Operating Officer of Energy Evolution and Director
Green/Traditional Refinery and Marketing. Since July 2017 up to June 2023 he has been appointed President of Confindustria Energia
and since 2018 President of AIDIC (Italian Association of chemical Engineering).

Gianfranco Cariola was born in Cosenza in 1968, he was appointed as Director Internal Audit at Eni on 1st April 2021. He
is currently member of the FAO Oversight Advisory Committee (the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization).
Between 1993 and 1999, he served as Officer at Guardia di Finanza (Italian Tax Police) General Command. Afterwards, he joined
KPMG- KLegal, where he took on the role of Ordinary Member working for a number of major multinational groups in the field
of risk management, compliance programs and internal control systems. In 2001 he was seconded to KPMG LLP in Washington
DC where he specializes in the structuring of compliance programs and anti-corruption models. In 2003, he moved to the
Internal Audit Department of Eni spa where he initially worked on Eni’s Group compliance 231 models; then, he was appointed
as Senior Audit Vice President and Head of Planning, Methodologies and Eni’s Internal Control System. From 2013 to 2016, he
was the Group Chief Audit Executive and Head of Anti-Corruption and Transparency at RAI spa. Between 2016 and November
2019, he joined Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane spa (FS spa) as Group Chief Audit Executive. On December 2019 he was appointed
as Chief Audit Executive at TIM spa. He graduated in Economics, qualified as Italian Certified Public Accountant, in 2008, he
completed an Executive MBA in General Management at the SDA Bocconi School of Management and the Polytechnic
University of Milan. In 2017 he obtained a second degree, in Economic and Financial Security Sciences.
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Grazia Fimiani was born in Salerno in 1970. She was appointed Director of Integrated Risk Management at Eni on
January 1, 2021. Having graduated with honors in Economics and Commerce from Sapienza University in Rome, she joined Eni
in 1996, following a brief experience in the financial sector. At Eni, she began her professional career in the Human Resources
department, by gaining transversal experience on the processes of Organizational Management, HR Planning and
Development. She then went on to management roles in International Business, in particular in the Gas & Power sector,
acquiring increasing responsibilities until she took on the role of HR Business Partner in the Gas & Power division. During this
period, she coordinated and managed aspects of Human Resources related to business development projects, with particular
reference to the integration of entities/companies subject to acquisition at European level and to the re-engineering of
business processes, required by the growing exposure of the sector to the dynamics of market. In 2014 she was appointed
Head of Human Resources and Organization of Eni reporting to the Chief Services & Stakeholder Relations Officer and, from
July 2020, as the Human Capital & Procurement Coordination Director. In this role she coordinated central functions of the
Organization Management, HR Development, Industrial Relations and all the activities related to HR Business Partner in
several Eni Business areas (Natural Resources, Energy Evolution, Support Functions), as well as the Excellence Centers
focused on Recruitment and Training (Eni International Resources and Eni Corporate University). From 2016 to June 2021 she
was a standing member, representing Eni in the Executive Committee of Valore D. She participated in sessions of ‘In The
Boardroom 4.0 — Eighth Class’ executive training program for Board members. In October 2022, as Eni representative, she was
appointed Council Member of World Business Council for Sustainable Development. She is currently member of Boards of
Directors of Versalis and Eni Trading & Biofuels, as well as of Eni Foundation.

Luca Franceschini was born in Milan in 1966, from July 1, 2020 he is Head of Integrated Compliance and, from January 1,
2021, also Secretary of the Board of Directors. He is lawyer registered with the Italian Bar Association in Rome. After
graduating in Law from the University of Milan, he first joined Eni in 1991 in the legal department of the then Agip S.p.A.,
providing legal assistance, initially, in commercial litigation and procurement area, and, subsequently, in a wide range of
national and international projects in the Exploration & Production sector. In 2000, during the process for the liberalization of
the natural gas sector, he was involved in the spin-off of the gas storage business and in the establishment and operational
start of Stogit SpA, for which he became head of Legal and Corporate Affairs. He made his return to Eni Spa in 2005 as head of
Italian Legal Assistance in the Gas & Power division. Following the concentration of all legal functions in Eni’s central Legal
Department, he takes on positions of increasing responsibility, becoming, in 2009, head of legal assistance for Italian Business
and Antitrust and in 2015, head of Legal and Regulatory Compliance. After the separation of the compliance function from the
Legal Affairs department, in 2016 he became head of the new Integrated Compliance department. In 2017 he was awarded
“Compliance Officer of the Year” by the Top Legal Corporate Counsel Awards and the Inhouse Community Awards. He is a
member of the Scientific Committee of the Advanced Training Course for Corporate Counsel of the Luiss Business School. He
was also member of the boards of directors of Italgas and Stogit.

Claudio Granata was born in Rome in 1960. He was appointed Director Human Capital & Procurement Coordination in Eni
on July 1, 2020. He has been Chairman of the board of Eni Corporate University since November 2014. He started working in
Eni in 1983 and from 1983 to 1994 worked as a labour market and social welfare expert with ASAP (the trade union association
for Eni Companies). From 1994 to 1999 he continued his experience with Eni Corporate as an expert in industrial relations. In
2000 he was made responsible for Staff and Organisation within Eni Servizi Amministrativi, a company that was set up to
centralise Eni’s administrative activities. In 2001 he took over the management of Eni’s territorial divisions, restructuring the
management of staff by geographical area and in 2003 he took on the role of Business HR for Eni Corporate, ensuring support
for departments in the management and development of Eni Corporate’s managerial resources during a period of profound
change (2002-2004), which was characterised by the mergers of Snam and AgipPetroli and the restructuring of staff
organisation. In the same year he was also appointed head of Human Resources and Organisation of SOFID (Eni’s financial
services company). In 2006 he was appointed Human Resources Director of the E&P Division, where he oversaw the planning,
management, development and compensation processes for human resources and organization activities. He also collaborated
with the top management in the reorganisation of macro processes for the division and promoted change management
initiatives. He became a board member of Eni International Resources Ltd in 2006 and was Chairman of the board of Eni
International Resources Ltd from 2012 to 2013. From 2012 to March 2015 he was a board member of Eni UK Ltd. In 2013 he was
appointed Executive Vice President Sustainable Development, Safety, Environment and Quality at E&P, responsible for
overseeing safety, environment and quality processes to promote integration with operational processes and contribute to
improvements in “time to market” and efficiency. He has been Chief Services & Stakeholder Relations Officer in Eni since July
1, 2014. Until May 2016, he was a member of the Board of Directors of the Eni Foundation. He graduated in Economics.
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Erika Mandraffino was born in Syracuse in 1972, mother of two. She was appointed Director External Communication of
Eni on November 1, 2020. After graduating in European Business Administration in London, where she lived almost
uninterruptedly from 1991 to 2005, she began her career as a corporate and financial communications consultant at Ludgate
Communications where she worked from 1996 to 1999. Before joining Eni in 2006 as head of the financial and international
press office, to then become head of Eni Group media relations in 2011, she worked as Director at the Brunswick Group in
London, managing the international communication of European corporates (in Italy, Spain, Holland, Portugal) during crisis
situations, mergers, acquisitions and IPOs. From 2000 to 2001 she worked as a communication consultant at Barabino &
Partners in Rome. From October 2013 to February 2015 she was Saipem’s Senior Vice President of Institutional Relations and
Communication, where she built the external relations department reporting directly to the CEO and managed the company’s
communication in a period of crisis. In 2015 she was called back to Eni as Senior Vice President Media Relations and Corporate
Publishing, a position held until April 2016 when she took on the role of Senior Vice President Media Relations and Social
Networks. In 2018 she became Senior Vice President Global Media Relations and Crisis Communications. From July 1, 2020 she
was Eni’s Director Media Relation reporting directly to the CEO until she assumed the current role. She has also been Chairman
of Versalis S.p.A from May 2018 until January 2021.

Lapo Pistelli was born in Florence in 1964. He was appointed Director Public Affairs of Eni on July 1, 2020. Graduated with
honors in 1988 in International Law at the Political Science faculty “Cesare Alfieri” at the University of Florence, he started
working at a research center, while serving for two mandates in the local administration of Florence. He was member of the
Italian Parliament from 1996 to 2015 (1996/2004 and 2008/2015), and also member of the European Parliament (2004/2008). He
served as Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation of Italy from 2013 to 2015. He resigned from all his
institutional and political roles in July 2015, when he entered Eni. He taught and lectured at the University of Florence, the
Overseas Studies Program of Stanford University and many others international academic institutions. He regularly
contributed to many European and American think tanks and research centers specialized in international relations. He is
member of the board of the European Council on Foreign Relations (ECFR) and of the Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI), and
member of the WE — World of Energy editorial committee. He also collaborates with Limes and Aspenia magazines. He’s
Chairman of OME (Observatoire Mediterranéen de I’Energie).

Stefano Speroni was born in Milano in 1962. He was appointed Director Legal Affairs and Commercial Negotiations of Eni
on July 1, 2020. He has accumulated vast experience in over 30 years of professional activity in the field of corporate affairs,
mergers and acquisitions, private equity operations and capital markets. He has given professional support to Italian and
International listed companies (in a wide range of sectors including aerospace and defence, oil & gas, telecommunications,
transport and infrastructure) in strategic corporate affairs, in share trading, joint ventures and commercial agreements. From
January 2016 to December 2018, he was a Managing Partner for Corporate M&A in Dentons’ Italian practice. He joined Eni in
January 2019 and he was appointed Senior Executive Vice President of Legal Affairs. In 2012, he was one of the founders of the
Grimaldi Legal Studio, after having previously been managing partner of Dewey Ballantine’s Rome practice which involved
managing its Italian activities for around 10 years. He was also a partner in Studio Gianni, Origoni, Grippo Capelli & Partners
(2001 —2003), in the Simmons and Simmons Italian practice (1991 —2001), and manager of the European Corporate Department
and member of the World-wide Remuneration Committee. He is a member of the scientific committee and contributor to SDA
Bocconi’s Private Equity Laboratory and was awarded “Best Lawyer of the Year” 2018 by the Best Lawyers international
directory. He graduated in Law at Universita degli Studi in Milan and is a registered member of the Italian Bar Association in
Milan.

Roberto Ulissi was born in Rome in 1962. Since 2006, he has been Head (now called Director) of Corporate Affairs and
Governance, reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer. He is a Board member and Vice Chairman of Banor SIM. He is a
lawyer. After a number of years spent as a lawyer at the Bank of Italy, in 1998 he was appointed General Manager at the
Ministry of the Economy and Finance head of the Banking and Financial System and Legal Affairs Department. He was a
Board member of Telecom Italia (and Chairman of the Audit Committee), Ferrovie dello Stato, Alitalia, Fincantieri and a
government representative on the Governing Council of the Bank of Italy. He was also a member of numerous Italian and
European committees representing the Ministry of the Economy including, at a national level, the Commission for the Reform
of Corporate Law (“Vietti” Commission) and, at EU level, the Financial Services Policy Group, the Banking Advisory
Committee, the European Banking Committee, the European Securities Committee, and the Financial Services Committee.

He was also special professor of Banking Law at the University of Cassino. He is “Grande Ufficiale della Repubblica
Italiana”. Until December 2020, he was Eni’s Company Secretary (Board Secretary and Corporate Governance Counsel) and
was a Board Member of Eni International BV. From 2018 to 2021 he was the Coordinator of the Corporate Governance Forum of
Company Secretaries of listed companies.
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Francesca Zarri was born in 1969 in Bologna. She was appointed Director of Technology, R&D & Digital of Eni on July 1,
2020. In 1997, she joined Agip S.p.A to work in the Reservoir Department as reservoir modeler and petroleum engineer and in
2000, she worked on Eni operated assets in Scotland (North Sea). In 2004, after moving to the Engineering and Projects
Department, she became the head of the Adriatic Off-shore Projects department, based in Ravenna District. In 2006, she was
back to work on in-field production monitoring and optimization as the Head of the Production Optimization Technology
Department, which at that time, also included most of the Eni’s Laboratories in Bolgiano. From 2007 to 2010, she worked for
West Africa as Project and Development Director of Eni Congo, completing new and demanding project activities in the
country (oil, gas and power). In 2011, she further expanded her experience by diversifying in the procurement function where
she became the Head of American Region then the Head of Procurement Services, as well as the Professional Family. During
the same period she was Eni’s representative for Commercial Committee in the South Stream Project. In 2013, she was back to
follow the development of upstream projects as the Vice President for West Africa Projects Monitoring and Technical
Coordination and later in Eni Congo as Development Projects Director, where she also became the President of Enrico Mattei
School in Pointe Noire. In 2017, she was called to join the role of Head of the Italian Southern District until november 2019,
when she was appointed as Senior Vice President Italian Activites Coordination. Since April 2020, she is the President of
Eniservizi, the President and CEO of SPI and the Eni representative in Assomineraria. Since 2014, she has been the member of
boards of directors of several Eni subsidiaries in Italy and abroad. She earned MS degree in Mining Engineering (100/100) from
the University of Bologna; she also attended, in 1995, the Eni Master MEDEA (Master in Energy and Environmental
Management) with Economics specialization.

Compensation

The information concerning compensation is provided in the Remuneration Report prepared in accordance to Italian
listing standards, which is incorporated herein by reference. See the Exhibit 15. a (i).

As of December 31, 2023, the total amount accrued to the reserve for employee termination indemnities with respect to
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officers, and other Managers with strategic responsibilities (with reference to the
employed ones in service, who, during the course of the 2023 period, filled said roles, even if only for a fraction of the year),
was €1,168 thousand.

Name (€ thousand)
Descalzi Claudio Chief Executive Officer 428
Brusco Guido Chief Operating Officer Natural Resources 6
Ricci Giuseppe Chief Operating Officer Energy Evolution 90
Senior managers @ 644

1,168

@ No. 23 managers.
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Board practices!?
Corporate Governance

The Corporate Governance structure of Eni follows the Italian traditional management and control model, whereby
corporate management is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, which is the core of the organizational system, while
supervisory functions are allocated to the Board of Statutory Auditors. The Company’s accounts are independently audited
by an accredited Audit Firm appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting. On December 23, 2020 Eni adopted the Corporate
Governance Code approved by the Italian Corporate Governance Committee on January 2020 (hereinafter “Code”), effective
from January 1, 2021.

The names of Eni’s Directors, their positions, the year in which each of them was initially appointed as a Director and their
ages are reported in the relevant table above.

Board of Directors’ duties and responsibilities

The Board of Directors has the fullest powers for the ordinary and extraordinary management of the Company in relation
to its purpose. In a resolution dated May 11, 2023, the Board, while exclusively reserving to itself the most important strategic,
operational and organizational powers, appointed Claudio Descalzi as CEO and General Manager, entrusting him with the
fullest powers for the ordinary and extraordinary management of the Company, with the exception of those powers that cannot
be delegated under current law and those retained by the Board.

In the same resolution, the Board of Directors resolved to confer to the Chairman a major role in internal controls and non-
operational functions. In particular, with reference to Internal Audit, the Board of Directors resolved that, in accordance with
the Corporate Governance Code in force at that time, the Head of the Internal Audit Department reports to the Board, and on
its behalf, to the Chairman, without prejudice to its functional reporting to the Control and Risk Committee and the Chief
Executive Officer, as the director in charge of the internal control and risk management system. The Chairman is also involved
in the appointment of the primary Eni officers in charge of internal controls and risk management, as well as in approving
internal rules governing the Internal Audit process. In addition, the Chairman carries out his statutory functions as legal
representative, managing institutional relationships in Italy, together with the Chief Executive Officer.

On the same date (May 11, 2023), the Board of Directors appointed the Secretary of the Board of Directors and Board
Counsel, who reports hierarchically and functionally to the Board and, on its behalf, to the Chairman. He provides assistance
and independent (from the management) legal advice to the Board and the Directors.

With resolution dated May 11, 2023 the Board of Directors updated the specific responsibilities reserved to itself, which
are fully reported below. Accordingly, the Board, in addition to powers that may not be delegated by law and by By-laws, has
the following exclusive powers:

10 The information contained in this chapter is updated to December 31, 2023 and for specific aspects, expressly indicated, up to the date of
approval of this Report.
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the Board:

defines the system and rules of corporate governance for the Company, evaluating and promoting, where
necessary, the appropriate amendments, submitting the same, when appropriate, to the Shareholders' meeting.
Defines the structure of the Group it leads. Approves the Report on corporate governance and ownership, with the
support of the Control and Risk Committee with regard to the internal control and risk management system.
Approves, having received the opinion of the Control and Risk Committee, the guidelines for the internal regulatory
system and the policies on Ethics, Compliance & Governance. Having received the favourable opinion of the
Control and Risk Committee, adopts rules ensuring the transparency and the substantive and procedural fairness of
transactions with related parties and those in which a Director or a Statutory Auditor holds a personal interest or an
interest on behalf of third parties, assessing on an annual basis whether any revision is needed. Upon proposal of
the Chairman, in consultation with the CEO, it also adopts a procedure for the internal handling and the disclosure
of Company documents and information, with particular reference to inside information.

Defines its operational rules and procedures, including the procedures for providing information to directors.
Establishes the Board’s internal Committees, with preliminary, propositional and consultative functions, defines
their composition appointing and revoking their members and Chairmen, favouring the competence and experience
of their members and avoiding an excessive concentration of offices. Determines their duties, and also upon
proposal of the Remuneration Committee and following consultation with the Board of Statutory Auditors, the
compensation of the relevant members; acting upon proposal of the same committees, approves their rules of
procedures and annual budgets. Moreover, establishes in the rules of procedure of the committees the terms and
conditions on which committees can use external consultants.

Upon their appointment and on annual basis, as well as at the occurrence of relevant circumstances, based on the
information provided by the interested party or available to the Company and following the preliminary
investigation of the Nomination Committee, assesses the independence and integrity of its members, as well as the
non-existence of reasons for ineligibility and incompatibility. Defines ex ante the quantitative and qualitative criteria
for assessing the significance of commercial, financial or professional relations, as well as of any remuneration
other than the fixed remuneration that may compromise or appear to compromise independence. Carries out the
assessments vested in it by law in relation to the requirements applicable to Statutory Auditors. Acting upon a
proposal of the Nomination Committee, it expresses its policy on the maximum number of director or statutory
auditor positions that can be held by its members in any other listed company, whether Italian or foreign, or in
financial, banking or insurance companies or in companies of significant size that are compatible with the effective
performance of their role as director, taking into account the time commitment required by the role, and periodically
verifies their compliance, at least on an annual basis. Every year carries out an assessment on the specific
functioning of the Board itself and of its committees, as well as on their size and composition, using an external
independent consultant, appointed upon proposal of the Nomination Committee, also considering the role it has
played in defining strategies and monitoring management and the adequacy of the internal control and risk
management system. The Chairman ensures, with the help of the Board Secretary, the adequacy and transparency
of the self-assessment process of the administrative body, with the support of the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee upon request of the Board, provides assistance in the self- assessment activities of the
Board and its Committees. Taking into account the outcomes of such assessment, with the support of the
Nomination Committee, the Board defines the optimal composition of the Board itself and of its committees, issuing
its advice for shareholders on the size and composition of the new Board before its appointment. With the
assistance of the Nomination Committee, identifies candidates for the office of Director in case of co-optation and,
where possible and appropriate, prepares and submits its own slate for the renewal of the body. Requires to
whoever submits a slate with a number of candidates that is higher than half the number of members to be elected
to provide adequate information, in the documentation presented for filing the slate, on the compliance of the slate
with the advice expressed by the Board, and also with reference to diversity criteria envisaged by the law and by
the Corporate Governance Code, and to indicate the candidate for the office of Chairman of the Board.

Where applicable, appoints and revokes an independent director as “lead independent director”.

Delegates and revokes powers to/from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman, establishing the limits and
methods for exercising these powers and, after examining the proposals of the Remuneration Committee and
following consultation with the Board of Statutory Auditors, determining the remuneration connected with these
duties. The Board may impart directives to the delegated bodies and itself undertake any operations falling within
the delegated powers. Prepares, updates and implements, with the support of the Nomination Committee, a
succession plan for the Chief Executive Officer identifying at least the procedures to be followed in the event of
early termination of office. It also ascertains the existence of adequate procedures for the succession of top
management.
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+ Taking into account the obligations established by current legislation on the matter: (i) establishes the basic
guidelines for the organizational, administrative and accounting structure, including the internal control and risk
management system, of the Company, of subsidiaries with strategic importance and of the Group; (ii) it evaluates
the adequacy of the organizational, administrative and accounting structure of the Company, of the subsidiaries
with strategic importance and of the Group, with particular reference to the internal control and risk management
system, put in place by the Chief Executive Officer.

*  With the support of the Control and Risk Committee and following consultation with the Chairman in regard of the
internal audit activities, establishes the general guidelines for the internal control and risk management system, in
line with the Company's strategies. With reference to the four-year Plan, defines the nature and level of risk
compatible with the strategic objectives of the company, on the basis of an estimate of the probability and impact of
the risks issued (and, if necessary, updated during the year) by the Integrated Risk Management function,
including in its assessments all the risks that may be relevant in terms of sustainable success of the Company.
Upon proposal of the Chief Executive Officer and with the support of the Control and Risk Committee, it annually
defines, within the framework of the four-year Plan, the specific guidelines for the internal control and risk
management system, in line with the Company's strategies, and evaluates their implementation annually, based on a
report from the Chief Executive Officer, without prejudice to the general guidelines on the subject contained in
internal regulations. Upon proposal of the Chief Executive Officer and in agreement with the Control and Risk
Committee and the Board of Statutory, defines the principles concerning the coordination and information flows
between the various subjects involved in the internal control and risk management system. Approves the
guidelines on the internal audit activity, upon proposal of the Chairman, in agreement with the Chief Executive
Officer and having consulted the Control and Risk Committee. Defines the guidelines for the management and
control of financial risks, after having heard the opinion of the Control and Risk Committee, and defines the
financial risk limits for the Company and its subsidiaries. With the support of the Control and Risk Committee (i)
examines the main Company risks, identified by the Chief Executive Officer, taking into account the nature of the
business of the Company and of its subsidiaries, as reported by the Chief Executive Officer to the Board at least
once every three months and (ii) every six months, based on the reports prepared by the Officer in charge of
preparing financial reports of Eni SpA, as well as the reports by the Control and Risk Committee, the Risk Report
and, annually, also on the basis of the Report on compliance with financial risk limits and the Integrated Compliance
Report, evaluates the adequacy of the internal control and risk management system with regard to the nature of the
business and its risk profile, as well as its effectiveness. It also evaluates the adequacy of powers and means given
to the Officer in charge of preparing financial reports, and the actual compliance with the administrative and
accounting procedures prepared by said Officer; (iii) assesses on an annual basis the adequacy of the
organizational structure of the internal control and risk management system with respect to the characteristics of
the company and its risk profile as well as its effectiveness, except for amendments that could make a six-monthly
revision necessary, taking this into account also for the purposes of the evaluation on the adequacy of the internal
controls and risk management system under point ii). Approves the Management, Supervision and Control Model
of the risks on Health, Safety and Environment, Security and Public Safety of the Company, and its substantial
amendments.

* At least annually, approves the Audit Plan prepared by the Head of the Internal Audit Department, with the support
of the Control and Risk Committee and following consultation with the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Board of Statutory Auditors. Evaluates, with the support of the Control and Risk Committee and following
consultation with the Board of Statutory Auditors, the findings contained in the recommendation letter, if any, of
the audit firm and in its additional report, together with any comments of the Board of Statutory Auditors, informing
the Board of Directors on the results of the auditing.

»  Defines, upon proposal of the Chief Executive Officer, the strategic guidelines and objectives of the Company and
of the Group, pursuing its sustainable success and monitoring its implementation. Examines and approves the four-
year Plan and the medium-long term plans of the Company and of the Group and related budgets, also on the basis
of the analysis of the issues relevant to the generation of long-term value, periodically monitoring their
implementation. Examines and approves the plan for the Company’s non-profit activities, after the assessment of
the Sustainability and Scenarios Committee; it also approves operations not included in the non-profit plan whose
cost exceeds € 1 million, provided that reports on operations not included in the plan and not subject to Board
approval are periodically submitted to the Board, in accordance with paragraph below.
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+ Examines and approves, with the support of the Board Committees to the extent applicable, the Annual Financial
Report, which includes the draft of Eni Financial Statements, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
consolidated non- financial statement, the consolidated annual Sustainability Report not already contained within
the non-financial statement and the half-year financial report. It also examines and approves any semi-annual and
quarterly financial reports and preliminary reports, the annual Report on Payments to Governments and any
additional periodic statements or reports in accordance with applicable regulations.

* Receives from Directors with delegated powers at the Board meetings, on at least a bi- monthly basis, reports on
actions taken in exercising their delegated powers, as well as on Group activities and on atypical or unusual
transactions that have not been submitted to the Board for examination and approval, as well as on the execution of
transactions with related parties and those in which the Directors and Statutory Auditors hold an interest in
accordance with the relevant internal procedures. It also receives prior information: (i) on the closure of significant
industrial sites in the refining and chemical sector, when the closure does not follow the liquidation of a company
and (ii) on exiting countries where the Company operates, when entry was authorized by the Board.

*  Receives periodic reports from the Chairman, on the implementation of Board resolutions. At each Board meeting,
receives information from the Board’s internal Committees on the most relevant issues examined during their
meetings and, at least on a semi-annual basis, a report on their activities.

* Assesses general trends in the operations of the Company and of the group on the basis of information received
from Directors with delegated powers, paying particular attention to conflicts of interest and comparing, normally
on a quarterly basis, results — as reported in the annual financial statements and interim financial reports — with
budget forecasts.

* Examines and approves, with the support of the competent board committees, transactions by the Company and by
its subsidiaries with related parties as provided for in the relative procedure approved by the Board, as well as
transactions in which the Chief Executive Officer holds an interest pursuant to art. 2391, first paragraph, of the
Italian Civil Code, that fall under the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer.

« Evaluates and approves any transaction executed by the Company and by its subsidiaries (excluding the joint-
control companies), that has a significant impact on the Company's strategy, performance or financial position.

The Board ensures compliance with the principles of good corporate governance and management of the subsidiaries,
protecting their operational autonomy with specific regard to listed companies and companies for which law or regulations
require it. It also ensures the confidentiality of transactions between said subsidiaries and Eni or third parties for the protection
of the subsidiaries' interests. Without prejudice to the provisions of point 26, transactions with a significant impact include the
following:

a) acquisitions and disposals of equity investments, companies or business units, property rights, leases active and
passive of companies or business units, transfers of assets (with the exception, for all of these, of transactions with and
between subsidiaries), mergers, demergers and liquidations of companies exceeding €200 million in the upstream oil&gas
sector and €150 million in other business sectors, without prejudice to art. 23.2 of the By-laws;

b) acquisitions and disposals (also as part of “unification” agreements) of exploration mining rights exceeding €150
million and productive mining rights exceeding €200 million;

c) capital increases (i) of subsidiaries: for amounts exceeding €1 billion, (ii) of associate companies: for amounts
exceeding €500 million, if proportionate to the interest held, and of any amount, if not proportional to the interest held;

d) investments in fixed assets exceeding €500 million in the upstream oil&gas sector, and €300 million in other sectors;

e) transactions that imply: (i) entry into new countries, with a significant operational presence or with initiatives that
present a particular risk and/or (ii) significant entry into new business sectors;

f) real estate leases, purchase and sale of goods and contracts for the provision of work or services (other than those

intended for investment and gas supplies), with the exclusion of contracts with and between subsidiaries, at a total price
exceeding €1 billion or, if the total price exceeds €500 million, with a duration of more than 20 years;
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g) gas and LNG purchase and supply contracts, of at least 3 billion cubic meters per year and ten-year duration or
changes to gas purchase and supply contracts involving increases in commitments of at least 3 billion cubic meters per year
and increases in duration, inclusive of the residual duration of the contract, exceeding 10 years, with the exception of
modifications made in execution of contractual clauses already included in the original agreement;

h) loans to subjects other than subsidiaries: (i) if in favour of associate companies: for an amount exceeding €300 million,
if in proportion to interest held; and for an amount exceeding €10 million if not proportional to interest held; (ii) if in favour of
non- associate companies: of any amount; (iii) changes in the loans referred to in points (i) and (ii), which determine a
worsening in the approved contractual terms.

The following transactions do not require the approval of the Board:

a. financial commitments assumed in a non-proportional amount to interest held (so-called "carry agreement") within
contracts relating to the exploration and development phase of hydrocarbons, provided that the following conditions are
jointly warranted: (i) the obligations are assumed in favour of the host state or an oil company directly or indirectly wholly-
owned by the host state; (ii) the obligations are distributed in proportion to the interest held in the reference asset by subjects
other than the State or the State oil company (referred to in point i) at the time the financial commitment is made; (iii) with
relation only to carry agreements for the development phase, the risk of repayment of the loan is guaranteed by any future
financial or production flows of the underlying mining investment. The carry agreements, or amendments thereof, stipulated
after the conclusion of the above contracts, are subject to the approval of the Board if they determine a non-proportional
increase in the exposure and for amounts exceeding €200 million;

b. the signing and application of default clauses contained in the contracts regulating the mining activity between
partners of a joint venture;

i) issuing of unsecured and secured guarantees to entities other than subsidiaries: (i) for amounts exceeding €500 million,
if in the interest of the Company or of Eni subsidiaries; (ii) for amounts exceeding €300 million, if in the interest of non-
controlled associated companies; (iii) in any case, for amounts exceeding €10 million if the guarantee is not proportionate to
the interest held in the obligations underlying the guarantee (with the exception of the case in which the non-proportionality is
due to the presence of a carry agreement within the limits indicated in letter h) above); (iv) if in the interest of entities
belonging to "Temporary Business Groupings" for participation in tenders for which Eni or its subsidiaries act as agents, for
an amount exceeding €50 million, or for any amount if there is no provision for the issue of a counter-guarantee by the entities
participating in the "Temporary Business Grouping"; (v) for any amount, if in the interest of third parties; (vi) for an
indeterminate amount, in the interest of any person; (vii) changes to the guarantees referred to in the previous points, which
determine a worsening in guarantees already issued;

j) waiver of rights with a value equal to the thresholds set out in the preceding letters for the acquisition or transfer of the
same rights;

k) Eni S.p.A. intermediation agreements, understood as contracts in which the Company, in relation to a specific business
initiative, appoints an entity for the exclusive purpose of putting the Company in contact with third parties, promoting the
interests of the Company with the aforementioned subjects and facilitating the stipulation/execution of contracts with them.
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* Appoints and revokes — acting upon proposal of the Chief Executive Officer in agreement with the Chairman and
following consultation with the Nomination Committee — the Chief Operating Officers, defining the content and
limits of their powers as well as the provisions for exercising them. In the case of appointment of the Chief
Executive Officer as General Manager, the proposal is made by the Chairman. At the time of the appointment and
periodically, the Board assesses compliance with the integrity requirements provided for by current legislation for
General managers.

+  Upon proposal of the Chairman, appoints and revokes the Board Secretary and Board Counsel, which reports
hierarchically and operationally to the Board and by means of it to the Chairman, and determines the remuneration,
the charter and the annual budget.

* After assessing his compliance with professional and integrity requirements, appoints and removes the Officer in
charge of preparing financial reports — acting upon a proposal of the Chief Executive Officer and in agreement with
the Chairman, following consultation with the Nomination Committee, and having received the favourable opinion
of the Board of Statutory Auditors; also, following the opinion of the Control and Risk Committee, ensures that he
has adequate powers and means to carry out his statutory duties and monitors compliance with the administrative
and accounting procedures established by the abovementioned officer. The Board periodically assesses the
possession of the integrity requirements provided for by current legislation for the Officer in charge of preparing
financial reports.

e Acting upon proposal of the Chairman, in agreement with the Chief Executive Officer, with the support of the
Control and Risk Committee, and following consultation with the Board of Statutory Auditors, it (i) appoints and
removes the Head of Internal Audit Department, with the support of the Nomination Committee (ii) it approves the
Internal Audit budget, ensuring that the Head of Internal Audit Department has adequate resources to carry out his
duties: (iii) establishes his remuneration structure in accordance with the Company’s remuneration policies. The
Head of Internal Audit Department reports hierarchically to the Board and, on its behalf, to the Chairman, without
prejudice to its operational dependence on the Control and Risk Committee and on the Chief Executive Officer.

+  With the support of the Control and Risk Committee, determines the attribution of supervisory functions and the
composition criteria of the supervisory body pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001 and, on the proposal of the
Chief Executive Officer, in agreement with the Chairman: (i) having heard the Nomination Committee and, for
external members, also the opinion of the Board of Statutory Auditors, it appoints and removes the members of the
Supervisory Body referred to in Legislative Decree no. 231 of 2001, determining its composition and (ii) establishing
the remuneration of its members. Upon proposal of the Supervisory Body, approves the related annual "budget".

e Evaluates, with the support of the Cont